DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Dated: June 4, 2024
Name of Facility: White Oak Village Apartments
Located at: 70 Oak Street (28782-3450)

P O Box 1535

Tryon, NC 28782-1535
Telephone No.: 828-859-9161

In accordance with Chapter 58, Article 64 of the North Carolina General Statutes of the State of
North Carolina:

* This Disclosure Statement may be delivered until revised, but not after

May 30, 2025;

Delivery of the Disclosure Statement to a contracting party before execution
of a contract for continuing care is required;

* This Disclosure Statement has not been reviewed or approved by any
government agency or representative to ensure accuracy or completeness of
the infermation set out



DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

WHITE OAK VILLAGE APARTMENTS

ORGANIZATION INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION

National HealthCare Corporation (NHC) is a long- term care company that has been
providing the best in senior care for over 52 years. NHC’s founder, Dr. Carl Adams, was
a physician that had a vision in 1971 to provide higher quality healthcare services for
seniors, His dream was to create a campus concept that offered in-house services for
residents as they age with different needs much like the continuing care retirement
community of today.

At NHC, we believe that care should respect the individual, promote recovery, well being
and independence. We believe in celebrating life every day with our patients and residents.
Our goal has always been to provide a full range of extended care services, designed to
maximize the wellbeing and independence of patients of all ages. We are dedicated to
meeting patient needs through an interdisciplinary approach combining compassionate N

NHC through its qualifying subsidiary companies, develop and manage its own facilities,
and/or manages facilities for third party operators. We are an organization of 13,000
employees, with net operating revenue of more than $1.1 Billion dollars. NHC currently
operates for themselves and third parties 65 skilled nursing facilities with 8,421 beds. NHC
affiliates also operate 24 assisted living communities with 1,365 units, five independent
living communities with 475 units, three behavioral health hospitals, 34 homecare
agencies, and 30 hospice agencies. NHC’s other services inciude Alzheimer’s and memory
care units, pharmacy services, a rehabilitation services company, and providing
management and accounting services to third party post-acute operators, NHC is a
publicly traded for-profit corporation.

NIHC’s goal is to deliver the highest quality services to our residents at the lowest possible
cost. Qur Apartment Managers are trained as cooperative supportive problem solvers and
our full-time corporate staff has daily exposure to the intricacies involved in translating the
concept of quality health care into the actual delivery of health services,

Upon closing and approval by the Department of Insurance, NHC HealthCare/Tryon,
LLC, an affiliate of NHC, will become the license operator of the referenced CCRC,
NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC is a North Carolina for profit limited liability company.

Through the following methods, NHC HealthCare/Tyron, LLC and its parent company,
National HealthCare Corporation, will achieve their objectives:

1. Maximize the utilization of manpower and professional skills to recruit qualified
personnel to staff the facility.

2. Provide overall administration and direction including financial systems
implementation and review, and professional analysis of the several indices of the
facility’s progress.

3. Assist in the development of short- and long-range communications, media, and
public relations programs to increase the visibility of the facility’s activities and to



promote the committee education; evaluate the continuing development of the
facility’s program and resident care policies.

Provide ongoing responsive management to ensure quality cost-effective operation
and the constant sensitivity to changing community needs.

Use of bulk buying power to obtain the best service and buys from vendors.

Provide attractive working conditions and effective recruitment policies in order to
ensure a stable, high caliber level of employee.

Provide a high degree of expertise by being able to call on other communities within
the organization wherein individuals have attained excellence in specific areas.

Assure top quality care, a good reputation, and a successful financial operation.
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FACILITY INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION

White Oak Village combines beauty, dignity, and security to create a remarkably attractive
atmosphere. There are 101 one- and two-bedroom apartments carefully planned to provide
convenience, safety, and privacy at White Oak Village.

In the kitchen, you’ll find all those extras you’ve come to expect — refrigerator, dishwasher,
disposal, stove, and oven. Spend afternoons relaxing on your porch or balcony, in the
company of friends or in undisturbed privacy. Located in each apartment are emergency
call systems connected to the nurses’ station in the adjacent White Oak Manor — Tryon
nursing center, In addition, centrally located are a dining area and lounge.

The White Oak Manor — Tryon nursing center is a licensed 70-bed Medicare and Medicaid
certified nursing facility staffed 24-hours a day with health professionals.

Physical, speech and occupational therapists are available to apartment residents. Activities
at White Oak Village are planned to meet the needs and desires of the individual resident,
They vary from arts and crafts to luaus to evenings at the Fine Arts Center. Excursions and
tours will satisfy everyone’s taste, You're not bound by a schedule but are free to set your
own pace.

NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC is a for profit North Carolina Limited Liability Company.
The 5.93-acre site includes 101 apartments, all with ground floor entrance, and a 70-bed
nursing facility.

Directions to White Qak Village Retirement Community from 1-26 — Take Exit 36
(Tryon/Columbus Exit) on Highway 108 toward Tryon, travel approximately 2.5 miles to
108/176 traffic island and keep left on Highway 108. Go thru first traffic light at Texaco
Triangle Stop. Go thru second traffic light at Stott’s Ford, At third traffic light, turn left on
Palmer Street, go straight at stop by Brock’s Cleaners. At next stop sign, you will be across
from White Oak Manor — Tryon Nursing Center. Turn left and then make an immediate
right turn — located only 4 miles from Interstate 26. Apartment office building is just left
of nursing facility.

As of May 29, 2024 there were 124 residents at White Oak Village occupying 96
apartments, '

The nursing facility is recognized by the following affiliated groups:

1. Licensed by State Health Depattment

2. Certified by Medicare, Medicaid, and VA

3. Member of North Carolina Health Care Facilities Assoc.
4, Member of American Health Care Assoc.

The day-to-day operating manager of White Oak Village Apartments is Rita Motter,
Apartment Coordinator. Please see biography on next page.



APARTMENT COORDINATOR’S BIOGRAPHY

Rita Motter

Duties include apartment supervision and “sales” with primary focus on motivating and
maintaining community atmosphere (strong emphasis on resident retention and social
activity).

WORK EXPERIENCE:

Rita’s background includes a strong history in Assisted Living which includes resident
care, staff development and marketing. For the past 30 years she has been actively involved
in the health care settings.

CURRENT CONTACT INFORMATION:

WHITE OAK VILLAGE APARTMENTS
70 Qak Street (28782-3450)

P O Box 1535

Tryon, NC 28782-1535

Phone; 828-859-9161



Corporate Staff

The operator of White Oak Village Apartments is an affiliate and subsidiary of National
HealthCare Corporation. NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LL.C is owned 100% by NHC/OP, LP which
is owned 99% by National HealthCare Corporation and 1% by NHC/Delaware, Inc, a wholly
owned subsidiary of National HealthCare Corporation.

The Manager of NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC is as follows:

R. Michael Ussery

In addition, the Regional Director overseeing the North Carolina operations will be Greg Forsey,
prior Director of Operations for White Oak.

NHC Corporate Staff:

Stephan F. Flatt
Chief Executive Officer
Years with NHC: 19
Years as CEO: 7

Stephen F. Flatt was appointed to the Board and named Chief Executive Officer effective
January 1, 2017, He joined NHC in June 2005 as Senior Vice President-Development. On
January 1, 2009, Mr. Flatt became NHC’s-President, He served as the President of
Lipscomb University from 1997 through June 2005 and, prior to that, President of Ezell
Harding Christian School in Nashville and Vice President of Financial Affairs and
Institutional Planning at Lipscomb.

R. Michael Ussery
President and Chief Operating Officer

Years with NHC: 44
Years as COO: 15
Years as President: 7

R. Michael Ussery has been with NHC since 1980, On January 1, 2009, Mr. Ussery was
appointed Chief Operating Officer and on January 1, 2017 he was appointed President of
NHC. During his tenure with NHC he has served as Senior Vice President-Operations,
Senior Vice President-Central Region, Regional Vice President, and Administrator in
multiple locations.

Vicki L. Dodson

Senior Vice President, Patient Services
Years with NHC: 40

Years as SVP: 5

Vicki L. Dodson was named Senior Vice President, Patient Services on June 1, 2019. She
joined NHC in 1984 and previously held the title of Assistant Vice. President, Patient
Services since 2017, and, prior to that, served as Electronic Health Record (EHR) Director
and Comprehensive Patient Care Software (CPCS) User Analyst. She began her career with
NHC as a Home Care staff nurse and then served as a Director of Nursing and Regional
Nurse.




B. Anderson Flatt, Sr.
Senior Vice President,
Chief Information Officer
Years with NHC: 7
Years as SVP: 7

B. Anderson Flatt, Sr. brought more than 32 years of experience in health care technology
when he joined NHC in 2017, including roles as Senior-Vice President and Chief
Information Officer at Corizon Health from 2014-2017, Senior Vice-President and Chief
Information Officer at Cigna-Health Spring from 2006-2014, and prior to that, at AIM
HealthCare (now a division of Optum).

Brian F. Kidd

Senior Vice President
Chief Financial Officer
Years with NHC: 16
Years as CFO: 1

Years as Controller

and Principal

Accounting Officer: 7

Brian F. Kidd joined NHC in 2008. Prior to being promoted to Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer in May 2023, Mr, Kidd served as Senior Vice President, Controller
and Principal Accounting Officer since 2017,

Josh A. McCreary
Senior Vice President, General Counsel,

and Secretary
Years with NHC: 5
Years as SVP
Secretary and
General Counsel: 5

Josh A. McCreary joined NHC as Senior Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary in
2019. Prior to joining NHC, Mr. McCreary practiced law for 20 years at Hudson, Reed &
McCreary, PLLC. In private practice, he regularly counseled and represented businesses,
governments, and individuals in a wide variety of transactional, compliance, and litigation
matfers.

NHC’s Corporate Staff can be reached at:
100 E. Vine Street
Murfreesboro, TN 37130



CORPORATE STRUCTURE

NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC is wholly owned by NHC/OP, LP. which is an affiliate and
subsidiary of NHC. NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC has two operating divisions: White Oak Manor
— Tryon (88-bed Nursing) and White Oak Village Apartments (101 Continuing Care Retirement
Apartments). NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC also owns 100% of the real estate and related fixed
equipment. ‘

NHC is financially responsible for all indebtedness including all financial and contract obligations
entered into by any of its’ subsidiaries, including NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC.

NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC is owned 100% by NHC/OP, L.P. and does not have any Board of
Directors.

National HealthCare Corporation owns 99% of NHC/OP, L.P with the 1% ownet being
NHC/Delaware, Inc. NHC’s Board of Directors are listed below:

Board Members:

J. Paul Abernathy, M.D. Director
1523 Mirabella Way
Murfreesboro, TN 37130

J. Paul Abernathy, M.D. (Independent Director) joined the Board in 2003 and is a retired
board-certified general surgeon. He was in private practice at Murfreesboro Medical Clinic
from 1971 until retirement in 1995.

Robert G. Adams Chairman of
2217 Battleground Drive the Board
Murfreesboro, TN 37129

Robert G. Adams (Chairman & Independent Director) has served NHC for 50 years - 20
years as Senior Vice President, 11 years as Chief Operating Officer, 5 years as President,
12 years as CEO and 31 years on the Board. He became Chairman of the Board on
January 1, 2009 and served as Chief Executive Officer from November 1, 2004 until
December 31, 2016. Mr. Adams retired from his position as CEO effective December 31,
2016 but remains non-executive Chairman of the Board. He is the brother of W. Andrew
Adams

W, Andrew Adams Director
801 Mooreland Lane
Murfreesboro, TN 37128

W. Andrew Adams (Independent Director) served NHC as a full-time employee and
director for 32 years and served as its President and CEO until he resigned those positions
in 2004, remaining as Chairman of the Board through 2008. He is the brother of Robert
Adams




Ernest G. Burgess HI Director
7097 Franklin Road
Murfreesboro, TN 37128

Ernest G. Burgess, III (Independent Director) served as NHC’s Senior Vice President of
Operations for 20 years before retiring in 1994. In his past role as Senior Vice President of
Operations, he gained significant operational experience in the long-term care business as
well as experience with financial and accounting matters.

Stephen F. Flatt Director &
100 Vine St. Ste 1400 CEO
Murfreesboro, TN 37130

Please see qualifications above.

Emil E, Hassan Director
8400 Heirloom Blvd
College Grove, TN 37046

Emil E. Hassan (Independent Director) joined the Board in April 2004. In 2004, he retired
from the position of Senior Vice President of manufacturing, purchasing, quality and
logistics for Nissan North America, Inc. while also serving as Chairman and CEO of
Distribution and Auto Services ("DAS”), a Nissan affiliate company. Prior to joining
Nissan, he was with Ford Motor Co. for twelve years, where he held various management
positions in engineering and manufacturing,

Richard F. LaRoche _ Director
2103 Shannon Dr.
Murfreesboro, TN 37129

Richard F. LaRoche (Independent Director) served NHC for 27 years as Secretary and
General Counsel and 14 years as Senior Vice President, retiring from these positions in
May 2002. He has served as an NHC Board member since 2002.

Sandra Y. Trail ' Director
1011 Houston Dr,
Murfreesboro, TN 37130

Sandra Y. Trail (Independent Director) joined the Board in 2022. Ms. Trail has been a
licensed practicing attorney for over 35 years as a sole proprietor and since 2018 as a
principal in the firm of Trail, Coleman and Stearns, PLLC located in Murfreesboro,
Tennessee.

None of the Board Members listed above own 5% or more ownership in National HealthCare
Corporation,



RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION STATEMENT

With one exception, which is explained below, there is no person, association, trust, partnership,
or corporation which has an ownership interest in NIC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC or National
HealthCare Corporation which also has an ownership intérest in a service firm, association, trust
partnership or corporation which provides goods, leases, or services to the facility. Furthermore,
there are no plans for other such arrangements to be developed in the next 12 months.

The one exception is an NHC affiliate, Network Pharmacy WO, LLC (“Network Pharmacy™).
Upon closing, Network Pharmacy will continue to supply prescription drugs, medical and nursing
supplies to White Oak Manor — Tryon nursing facility. The value of the goods purchased by White
Oak Manor — Tryon varies from year to year. For the year ending 9/30/23, the total value was
approximately $214,770.

The sole member (100% owner) of Network Pharmacy, is Nutritional Support Services (“NSS”),
an affiliate of NHC. Please see attached Organizational Chart.

Please See Corporate Structure above, for a listing of officers and Board of Directors for NHC.

AFFILIATION STATEMENT

NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC, NHC/OP, L.P. and National HealthCare Corporation, arc not
affiliasted with a religious, charitable, or other nonprofit organization; therefore, NHC
HealthCare/Tryon, LLC and NHC is responsible for all financial and contract obligations, and
NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC is not a tax-exempt organization.

10
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CRIMINAL VIOLATION STATEMENT

There are no directors, officers, agents, or managing employees of NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC,
or National HealthCare Corporation that have ever been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo
contendere to a felony charge, or been held lable or enjoined in a civil action by final judgment
that involved fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, or misappropriation of property; or (ii)
is subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive court order, or within the past five years,
had any State or Federal license or permit suspended ar revoked as a result of an action brought
by a governmental agency or department for any reafsgi\} £ o
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III.

POLICIES
ADMISSION
Health Criteria — Prospective residents must be ambulatory and be able to function

independently in the activities of daily living. Also, please refer to Section 1 (i) — (iii) of
the Apartment Rental Agreement.

Financial and Insurance Criteria — Prior to admission, the resident must pay the Retention
Deposit, if applicable, and the first month’s rent. We do not require, but recommend, the
resident maintain adequate renter’s insurance covering the personal contents of their
apartment.

Age Requirement — Admissions are limited to those individuals who are 55 years of age or
older.

Changes of Condition Prior to Occupancy — At the time of occupancy, each resident must
meet the health criteria outlined above.

Cancellation/ Termination — In accordance with Section 1 of the Apartment Rental
Agreement, the following describes our cancellation and termination policy:

“The term of this Agreement shall begin on the first day of occupancy, and end
upon the first of the following to occut:

(a) The last day of the month following the Resident’s death, or at such time
thereafter as the Resident’s belongings have been removed from the
premises; or

(b} Resident’s default as hereinafter defined; or

(c) White Oak Village having determined, and having given wriften
notification thereof, that the Resident:

(1) is socially incompatible with the White Oak Village employees,
other residents or guests;

(i)  has demonstrated possible emotional instability.

(iii)  poses arisk to the life and well-being of himself or others;

(iv)  has destroyed, or attempted to destroy, property belonging to White
Oak Village, himself or others; or

(v)  fails to fully comply with all terms and provisions contained in this
Agreement

(vi)  has acted in any other unreasonable fashion or poses for White Oak
Village its employees, residents or guests, any other unreasonable
risks; or

(d)  'The last day of any month prior to which the Resident has given to White
Qak Village:

(1) In the event the Resident is to be transferred, based upon written
medical certification, to a hospital or to White Oak Manor -~ Tryon
Nursing Center, at least ten (10) days prior written notice or

(i)  In the event the Resident is to be transferred based upon written

medical certification, anywhere else, at least thirty (30) days prior
written notice; or

12
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(iii)  In the event the Resident is to be transferred anywhere else,
without written medical certification, at least (60) sixty days prior
written notice; ot

At such time as, if ever, the apartment is destroyed by fire or other calamity,
or if the apartment, or a substantial portion of the complex, is acquired
through condemnation proceedings, making it such, under the
circumstances, that the apartment is no longer reasonably fit for its intended
use.

In the event the Resident is transferred as provided in Paragraph (i) above,
to a hospital, he shall have sixty (60) days from date of transfer to return to
his apartment, and to have the within Agreement remain in full force and
effect, so long as all terms, covenants and conditions here in contained,
including those pertaining to rental payments, have been (and are then
being) fully complied with.

In the event the Resident is transferred, as provided in Paragraph (i) above,
to White Oak Manor — Tryon Nursing Center, the Resident shall have thirty
(30) days from date of transfer to return to his apartment, and to have the
within Agreement remain in full force and effect, so long as all terms,
covenants and conditions herein contained, including those pertaining to
rental payments, have been (and are then being) fully complied with.

In the event that the Resident, upon being transferred elsewhere as provided
above, wishes to again become a tenant of White Oak Village, after the
within Agreement has terminated, and is certified, in writing, by a qualified
physician, as being again able to reside in the apartment complex, White
Oak Village agrees to give the Resident, to the extent reasonably possible,
a priority as far as the next available apartment, with Retention Deposit and
rental rates to be those then in effect, and a new Apartment Rental
Agreement to be entered into.

In the situations described in Paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, White Oak
Village may, but shall have no legal duty to, waive the requirement
regarding written notification based upon terms and conditions mutually
agreeable to both White Oak Village and Resident.”

13



Apartment Rental Agreement (With Retention Schedule Included)

Retention Schedule s as follows:

LENGTH OF OCCUPANCY AMOUNT RETAINED AMOUNT REFUNDED
Upon Occupancy 20% 80%

1 year (prorated daily) 20% additional 60%

2-5 years {prorated daily) 20% per year 40% - 0%

The purpose of paying the Retention Deposit is to reduce the monthly rent when compared to the
Straight Rental payment plan.

Upon a resident’s death, the unearned portion of the Retention Deposit becomes the facility’s
property. In the event of a death of a spouse where the remaining spouse continues to live at White
Oak Village, the Retention Deposit continues to be earned by the facility based on the original
Apartment Agreement. When the remaining spouse dies, the unearned portion becomes the
facility’s property.

Upon termination of the Apartment Rental Agreement (with Retention Schedule Included) for any
reason other than resident’s death, the resident or his legal representative shall be entitled to a
refund of the unearned portion of the Retention Deposit. The amount of refund will be calculated
on a daily basis (365 days per year). Refunds of this nature will be promptly made to the Resident
or his legal representative but under no circumstances later than 30 days after the termination date
of the agreement,

If an executed contract is rescinded or cancelled under the terms of this contract, all unearned fees
and deposits will be fully refundable to the Resident or their Legal Representative within 30 days
following the later of the execution of the contract or the receipt of a disclosure statement and
Resident will not be required to move into apartment during recession period. The amount of
refund will be calculated on a daily basis (365 days per year).

Transfers

A transfer fee may apply if you request a transfer from your current apartment to another, After 10
years of residency in the same apartment, a transfer fee may be waived, A 50% transfer fee will
apply if transfer oceurs within 5-10 years of residency. If request is made prior to 5 years, 100%
of the transfer fee will apply. An exception to the transfer fee may apply if'a prearranged agreement
signed by both parties stipulates a desire to transfer to another specific apartment within one year.
The transfer fee is not a preset cost but is based on cost to refurbish the vacated apartment.

Marriages

Tf a current resident(s) of White Oak Village becomes married, the rent will increase based on the
rent schedules in effect at that time for two persons, No additional deposit is required and the
balance outstanding on any deposit(s) will continue to amortize in accordance with each Resident’s
original Rental Agreement. A new Rental Agreement will be negotiated between White Oak
Village and the husband and wife as Residents. Other than for medical reasons there are no
qualifying requirements for a spouse to meet as a condition for entry. In the event the spouse does
not medically qualify for admission, the agreement will terminate and alternate placement will be
required.

Rent/ Default
If an existing resident is unable to meet their monthly obligation to the facility, the Apartment

Rental Agreement provides the following under Section(s) 16 (No Initial Deposit Agreement) 17
(With Retention Schedule Agreement) “Default™: ‘

14



“This Apartment Rental Agreement is made upon the condition that the Resident shall
faithfully perform all of the terms, covenants and conditions herein contained by him to be
performed as herein set forth or in other agreements heretofore or hereafter entered into
between White Oak Village and the Resident, and Resident shall be in default if:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Any rental payment due hereunder shall at any time be in arrears and
unpaid for fifteen (15) days after receipt by Resident of written notice
making demand therefore; or

Resident shall fail to observe or perform any of the covenants, agreements,
or conditions set forth herein and said failure shall continue for a period of
fifteen (15) days after receipt by Resident of written notice of such failure
from White Oak Village.

Owner’s having determined, and having given written notification thereof,
that the resident:

(i) is socially incompatible with the Owner’s employees, other
residents, or guests; :

(i)  has demonstrated possible emotional instability;
(iii)  poses arisk to the life and well-being of himself or others;

(iv)  has destroyed, or attempted to destroy, property belonging to the
Owner, himself, or others; or

(v) has acted in any other unreasonable fashion or poses for the Owner,
its employees, residents or guests, any other unreasonable risks or

Tn the event of a default, White Oak Village may, at its option, declare the term of this
Agreement ended and repossess the apartment and shall further be entitled to all rights and
remedies set forth herein.” The Owner shall be entitled to be fully reimbursed for all costs
and expenses incurred in enforcing its rights hereunder, including a reasonable attorney’s
fee, and shall be entitled to have accrued, monthly, interest, at the maximum rate allowed
by law, as to any payments due and owing hereunder.”

i5



IV,

SERVICES

The following services are available at no extra charge to residents:

(a)

®

(2)

(h)

(i)

@

()

D

(m)

()

Meals. White Oak Village will provide Resident with one meal per day, the meal
to be determined by White Qak Village and to be served in the common dining
area. If, however, by reason of physical infirmity, the Resident is unable to leave
his apartment, and, if ordered by Resident’s physician, the meal will be served in
Resident’s apartment, and will conform to any reasonable special diet that Resident
requires.

Guest Meals. Are available at $10.00 per meal,

Utilities. All utilities will be paid for by White Oak Village. However, the cost of
installation and monthly telephone service shall be paid by Resident.

Janitorial Services. White Qak Village will provide services in all service areas,
halls and community areas,

Maid Service. White OQak Village will provide maid service twice a month, on a
regularly scheduled basis, to clean Resident’s apartment if so desired by Resident.

Laundry. Once each week, Resident’s flat laundry will be picked up outside the
door of Resident’s apartment, cleaned, and then returned.

Laundromat. Laundry facilities are available free of charge at the apartment
complex for Resident’s use (Resident must provide detergent).

Transportation. Transportation will be available at certain scheduled times, to be
determined by White Oak Village in view of the needs of the Resident and the other
occupants of apartments.

Nursing Center. A bed in the adjoining nursing center will be made available, on a
priority basis, whenever Resident’s health, as determined by Resident’s physician,
SO requires,

Nurse Call System. Is located in the master bedroom and bath of each apartment
and is connected to the nurse’s station at the adjacent nursing facility. If activated,
a trained member of the Nursing Department will respond to the apartment.

Health Services Available. Skilled Nursing Care (Medicare and Medicaid
Certified).

Storage Facilities. White Qak Village shall provide, at Resident’s sole risk,
reasonable storage space for Resident’s belongings other than furniture and other
household furnishings.

Recreational Facilities. Recreational facilities are available for Resident’s use on
first come/first served basis,

Basic Cable TV. Basic Cable TV service is provided by the Owner. Additional
services can be purchased by the Resident.

16
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Personal Services, The following services are available at the Resident’s expense:

Beauty/ Barber Shop

Accommodations for overnight guests

Dry cleaning pick-up and delivery

Daily delivery of local and national newspapers

17



V.

FEES/ RENT

Application/ Registration Fee — a $500 deposit is required to be on the waiting list. This
fee is refundable within 30 days from receipt of such a request.

RETENTION & MONTHLY RENTAL FEES

Apartment Retention Monthly Rental Fee
Type Deposit 1% Person 2™ Person
One Bedroom $25,000 $1,110 $1,460
Two Bedrooms $30,000 $1,390 $1,745

The purpose of the Retention Deposit is to reduce the monthly rent when
compared to the Straight Rental Plan

STRAIGHT RENTAL PLAN
Apartment Retention Monthly Rental I'ee
“Type Deposit 15t Person 21 Person
One Bedroom N/A $1,595 $2,140
Two Bedrooms N/A $1.895 $2.,420

Although White Oak Village will attempt to keep rental increases to a minimum, during
any calendar year following the first full calendar year of this Agreement, White Qak
Village may, due to an increase in the cost of operation, or for any other reason, upon thirty
(30) days prior written notice to the Resident, increase the monthly rental payable
hereunder so long as the sum of the increases in monthly rental during any calendar year
does not exceed the greater of:

1 Six (6%) percent of the average monthly rental during the preceding
calendar year; or

(i)  An amount equal to the average monthly rental during the preceding
calendar year multiplied by the percentage increase in the “Consumer Price
Index” figures for January and December of the preceding calendar year,
the Consumer Price Index being the “Consumer Price Index — U.S. City
Average — All Ttems Figures for Urban Wage Earners and Clerical Workers
(Including Single Workers), which index is currently published in the
“Monthly Labor Review” of the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the United
States Department of Labor, or its successor index.
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WHITE OAK VILLAGE APARTMENTS

SCHEDULE OF FEE CHANGES FOR THE LAST FIVE YEARS

RETENTION DEPOSIT PLAN

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Deposit Rent Deposit Rent Deposit Rent Deposit Rent Deposit Rent
$30,000 $1,380 $30,000 $1,325 $30,000 $1,325 $30,000 $1,260 $30,000 $1,260
530,000 51,745 $30,000 $1,660 $30,000 $1,660 $30,000 $1,580 $30,000 51,580
$25,000 $1,110 $25,000 $1,0585 $25,000 $1,055 $25,000 §1,005 25,000 &£1,008
§25,000 S$1,460 $25,000 $1,390 $25,000 $1,3%0 $25,000 §1,325 $25,000 §1,325
STRAIGHT RENTAL PLAN
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Deposit Rent Deposit Rent Depoeit Rent Deposit Rent Deposit Rent
N/A £1,895 N/A $1, 808 N/A 31,805 N/A 81,720 N/A 31,720
N/A $2,420 N/A 2,305 N/A $2,305 N/A 82,195 N/A §2,195
N/A 41,595 N/A 51,520 N/A $1,520 N/A 81,450 N/A 81,450
N/A $2,140 N/A $2,035 N/A 2,035 N/A $1, 940 N/A £1,940
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FREQUENCY AND AVERAGE

WHITE OAK VILLAGE

DOLLAR CHANGE (RETENTICON DEPQSIT PLAN)

FREQUENCY AND AVERAGE DOLLAR CHANGE (RETENTION DEPOSIT PLAN) - DEFPOSIT

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Bedrooms
Person +65 N/C +65 N/C +75
People . +85 N/C +80 N/C +90
Bedroom
Person +55 N/C +50 N/C +60
People +70 N/C +65 N/C +75
FREQUENCY AND AVERAGE DOLLAR CHANGE (STRAIGHT RENTAL PLAN)
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Bedrooms
Pergon +90 N/C +85 N/C +100
People +115 N/C +110 N/C +125
Bedroom
Person +75 N/C +70 N/C +85
Pacple +105 N/cC +95 N/C +110

Person
People

Person
People

FREQUENCY AND AVERAGE DOLLAR CHANGE (STRAIGHT RENTAL PLAN) - DEPOSIT

2023
N/C
N/C

N/C
N/C

2022
N/C
N/C

N/C
N/C

2021
N/C
N/C

N/C
N/

2020
N/C
N/C

N/C
N/C

2019
N/C
N/C

N/C
N/C

1 Perscm
2 People

1 Person
2 People

2023
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/a

2022
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

2021
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

20

2020
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

2019
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The NHC parent company 10K will be presented in the disclosure statements until such time as
the newly formed provider entities have a complete annual audited financial statement to
present,

i. Audited Financial Statement — Please refer to Attachment I,
2. Five Year Projection Statement — Please refer to Attachment I1.

3, Current Interim Financial Statement — Please refer to Attachment TI1,
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VII. PROJECTED VS. ACTUAL FORECAST COMPARISON

The following pages include:
1. White Oak Manor -- Tryon, Benson Hall, and White Oak Village, Inc.

a. Comparison — Year Ended September 30, 2023
Forecasted Balance Sheet

b. Comparison — Year Ended September 30, 2023
Forecasted Income Statement

C. Comparison — Year Ended September 30, 2023
Forecasted Statements of Cash Flows

d. Exhibit A — Assets Limited to Use — Operating Reserve /
Consolidating Balance Sheet
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White Cak Manor- Tryon, Benson Hall, and WOV, Inc.
Comparison - Year Endet Septernbar 30, 2023
Forecasted Balance Shaets

2028 2023
Actual Forgcast Varlance % Varlance
ASBETS
CURRENT AGSETS
Casnh and Cash Equivalents g 546,524 § 660,000 & {3,078) -1%
Accounts Receivable, Nel 273 4¢3 347,888 [44,388) -14%
Intercompany Accounts - 2B5,981 {285,8991) 0%
Other Currsiit Asssts 23,974 28,858 {4,682
Tetal Gurrant Assets 844,391 1,182,636 s
ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE - OPERATING RESERVE $15,892 487,813 28,178 B%.
MOVEABLE EQUIPMENT 3,070,264 3,047,238 63,026 2%
Less; Accumuitited Depreciation 2,446 BES 2,457 468 {1,803 O%
Caonstruelion in Progress . R
Moveabie Equipmen, Nel 523,394 549,770
Total Assels 5 1,983,782 5 2,220,118
Actual Forecast Varfance % \fariance
LIABILITEES AND SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY (DEFIGIT)
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 5 181,978 § 156,331 {6 355! 4%
Accrued Wages and Olher Liabifties 345.480 343,051 2,438 1%
Intercompany Accounts - - . D%
Medicare Advance Payment -
Assel Retirsment Obligation 34,480 38,460
Total Current Liabilities 535,926 538,842
DEFERRED CREDITS
* Unearnet Deposit Revenue - Nonreiundable 350,506 418,785 {60,279 -16%
Uneamed Deposil Revenue - Refundable - - 0%
Deposlis on Apartmenls 123,000 100,782 2218
Tolat Deferred Gredils 473 508 517,567 i
LONG-TERM DEBT
Tata! Liabiities 1,009,432 1,057,409
SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Common Stock, par value $1 per share; 350,000 shares
authorized, 266,213 shares issued and cutslanding 296,213 296,213
Relained Eamnings (Deficil} 678,137 BE&, 487
Other Camprehensive Income
Total Sharehoider’s Equity (Deficit) 874,350 1,162,710
Total Liabllities and Sharshoiders ‘Equity {Deficit) 3 1,983,782 5 2220118

Ot of balance check - -

Materlality Threshold - veriance is greaier than 10% and $100,000




White Qak Manor- Tryon, Benson Hall, and WOV, inc.
Comparison - Year Ended September 30, 2023

Forecasted lncome Slalermnent

2023 2023
Actual Forecast Variance % Variance
REVENUES
Nat Patienl Service Ravenue 5 7.495.818 7,881,411 $ (385593 5%
Apartment Rents 1,782,076 1,768,800 12,276 b
Daposit amortization 193,016 148,000 (4,084) 2%
Invesimant income {10.267) 21,000 {31,261} -148%
Cther Revenue - Provider Reliaf Funds -
Other Revenue 38,347 18800 18,447 103%
Total Revenues 5,485,898 §,A86.11 :
EXPENSES
Mursing Services 3,303,358 3,690,300 1386, 844) A%,
Anciiaries 643,680 580700 52.980 2%
Dietary Expenses 112133 1.072.020 48.311 5%
Soclal Barvices 128,317 135,860 {6,643) -5%
Retivilies 128,361 137,340 {7,879) -5%,
Medical Records 30 650 29,180 1,430 5%
Laundry and Linen 149,667 144 860 5,007 3%
Housakesping 338,069 347,700 {11.631) -3
Fazllity Operations and Maintsnance 672,960 705,540 (32.5B5) ~5%
Depreciation 183,817 174,420 {10.803)
inerest Expense 371 - 371
Taxes and Insurance 262,046 270,000 (7,854
Empioyee Benefits 544,363 815,100 {170.737)
COMIDA9 Expenses - - -
General ant Administrative 1,867,245 1,693,358 (26,105)
Total Expenses 8,254,228 9,806,250
OPERATING GAIN (LOSS) 245 B8B 81,361
KONGPERATING GAIN (LDSS)
Change in Unrealized Losses on investments (054,384} .
Crner Nonoperating Gain {304 2053 -
Total Nonaperating Loss {359.648) -
Nat Loss {113,b81) 81,861

Matertaflty Threshold - variance Is greater than 10% and $100,000

A} Expected Nursing expense lo increase. Nursing salarles held consistant, contract labor decreased 100K

$54k. The company priorized reducing contract nursing throughout the year.

B} Incomectly expected increase in emplbyee benefits w/ reduction in contract nursing.

. and nursing supplies decreased




Whits Dak Banor- Tryon, Banson Hali, antd WOV, Inc,
Compatlson - Year Ended Septemper 30, 2023
Foreoasted Statements of Cash Flows

2023 2023
Actual Forecast Variance % Variance

GASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING AGTIVITIES

Netincome {loss} 5 98,009 £ 81,861
Adjustments 1o Reconcile Net income to Net Cesh
Provided (\ised) by Operaling Acliviies.
Deprasiation 160,882 174,420 {13.428) ~B%
Deposit Amsarizalion (207,748) {198,000} {8,748} B%
Depusit Recalpts 252,500 231,200 21,300 5%
tncrease in Curran Assats
Acoounts Receivable 32,862 (35,436) GE,298 -193%
Jnercompany Accounts Receivable {285.891) 286,881 -1p0% c
Other Current Assets 9,487 (835} 10,327 -1237%
increase in Current Liabilities:
Actoudnts Payable 37 878 {4,683) 42,238 ~B26%
Medicare Advance Peyments - - - #DIVID!1
Accrued Wages and Other Liabilifies (408,226} 21,617 {429,743) -4887% D
Met Cash Provided by Gperating Activiies {24 444) 15.827) [Ta0E :
CASH FLOWS FRON INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of Property and Equipment {106,882) {54,836 {52.258) 98%
Nal (3hange in Assets Limiled es to Use - Qperaling Resarve 130,485 73,538
et Cash Used in Investing Activiiies 73,5083 18.804
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANGING ACTIVITIES
Distributions 1o Sharehalder - -
Mel Cash Used in Finansing Aciivities - -
NET JINCREASE {DECREASE] iN GASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS {851} 3,078
Cesh and Gash Eguivalents - Beginning of Year 547 775 546,624
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR 5 546,924 5 550000

Materiality Threshold - variance is greater than 10% and $100,000

C1 NCDOI request that infercompany accounts be closed ot which results in a larg adjustment 1o other revenue, The audited financisl
stalements move this adjusiment lo the nonoperating section causing 3 variance fer this line flem. We will continue to work io have (he
forecast to mirror the audited financial sialements.

D) Accrued wages were lower lhan forecasted dus to liming of pay detes. September 2023 was a Wrea payroll month.




Exhibit A — Assets Limited to Use — Operating Reserve / Consalidating Balance Sheet

Researve Calkculation for 2024
Total Projected Operating Expenses: Formula Ehyansiiis - Burlington Charlotte
Projecied SNF Expense| A 8,310,875 12,901.416 15,771,128
Projecied Apartment Expense; B 1,811,603 1,000,872 708,630
O A+B 10,222,478 13,802,388 16,478,758
Total Projecied Depreclation Expanse:
Proiectad SNF Depreciation)| D 70,066 55,578 78,846
Projacied Apartment Depreciation] E 98,767 28,188 24,626
C F D+ E 168,833 04,767 103,472
% of BNF Patient Days Attributable to Apariment Rasidents] G 2.88% 0.37% 0.18%
% of SNF Days Atiributable to SNF only Residents| H 97.32% 99.53% 99.62%
Calculation of Excluded Expenses| | H*A 8,088,144 12,853,681 15,742,740
Caleulaiion of included Expenses{  J G*A 222,731 47,735 28,388
Calculation of included Depreciation} K D*G 1,878 243 142
Expenses Subject to DOl Approved Operating Reserve] L B J-E-IK 2,033,889 1,019,276 712,250
Operating Reserve Percentage] M 25.00% 25.00% 25.00%
Projected Reserve Reqj N L*M 508,422 254 819 178,063
investment Balances | E 515,992 | 307,174 | 217,446 |
Qverf{Short) 7.570 52,355 38,383
Total operating expenses 10,222,478 13,902,388 16,479,758
Pringcipal payment on any long-tern deby + 0 g 0
Depreciation expense - 98,767 29,188 24,626
Amortization expense - 0 0 0
Exiracrdinary items as spproved by the Commissioner - 8,090,022 12,863,824 15,742,682
Debt sarvice Parfion ' - 0 0 0
Total operating Cosis = 2,033,689 1,019,278 712,250
Oceupancy Factor X 26,00% 25.00% 25.00%
Operating Resarve Reguirement = 508 422 254 819 178,063
2,033,689 | 1,019,275 | 712,250 |




ViII. RESERVES, ESCROW AND TRUSTS

IX.

XI.

Sufficient reserves are maintained at all times to pay the residents the total outstanding initial
deposit liability. The amount available at September 30, 2023 was $515,992,

The amount anticipated to meet the operating reserve requirement effective at September 30,
2023 is $508,422.

There are no material differences between (i) the forecast statements of revenues and expenses
and cash flows or other forecast financial data filed pursuant to N.C.G.S, §58-64-20 as a part of
the disclosure statement recorded most immediately subsequent to the start of the provider’s most
recently completed fiscal year and (ii) the actual results of operations during that fiscal year,
together with the revised forecast statements of revenues and expenses and cash flows or other
forecast financial data being filed as a part of the revised disclosure statement. Based on the terms
of the resident agreement, initial deposits are not required to be in an Escrow or Trust Account,

FACILITY DEVELOPMENT/ EXPANSION

No further development or expansion is planned at this time.

OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION, AS APPLICABLE

N/A as there is no past or current litigation, bankruptey filing, receivership, liquidation,
impending actions or perils against NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC or this retirement community.

RESIDENT’S AGREEMENT/ CONTRACT

Please refer to Attachment IV
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ATTACHMENTI

NHC’s 2023 Audited Financial Statements
and

First Quarter 2024 10-Q

The NHC parent company 10K will be presented in the disclosure
statements until such time as the newly formed provider entities
have a complete annual audited financial statement to present.
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C, 20549

FORM 10-K
(Matk One)
X ANNUALREPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023

OR
[0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SICURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from, to

Commission File No, 001-13489

(Bxact name of registrant as specified in its Corporate Charter)

Delaware 52-2057472
(State of Incorperation) {LR.S, Employer Identification No.}

100 T, Vine Street
Murfireesboro, Tennessee 37130
(Address of principal executive offices)
Telephone Number: 615-890-2020

Sceurities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act.

Title of Bach Class Trading Name of Fach Bxchange on which Registered
Symbol(s)
Shares of Common Steck NHC NYSE-American

Securities registered pursuant to Sectlon 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrnt is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ONo X

Indicate by chook mark ifthe registrant is not required to file reports pursiant to Section 13 or Scetion 15(d) of the Act. Yes (1 No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed ali reports required ta be filed by Seetion 13 ot 15(d) of the Scourities Fxwhange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such roports), and {2) has been subject to such fiting requircments for the past 90 days: Yes X Notl

Indicate by check rerk whether the registrant has submitted clectronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted purswant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of
this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such period that the registrant was required to subnit such files). Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a Jarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a nop-accelerated filor, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company.
See the definitions of "large accelerated filer,” "accelerated filer,” "smaller reporting company,” and "emerging growth company™ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, Large
accelerated filer X Accelerated fler [1 Non—accelerated filer (1 Smallerreporting company I Emerging growth company ]

Ifan emerging growth company, indicate by checkmark if the registrant has elected not te use the extended transition period for complying with any new orrevised financial
accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(2) of the Exchange Act. [

Tndicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a ropert on and attestation te its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its intemal control over financial
reporting under Section 404(b} of the Sarbanes-Oxdey Act (15 U.8.C, 7262(e)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report, X

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant inclided in the filing reflect the correction
of an error to previously issued financial statements, [

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restaterents that required a recovery avalysis of incentive-based compensation received by any ofthe
registrant's exceutive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to {§240,10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check merlcwhether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b—2 of the Bxchange Act). Yes (I No X

The aggregate market value of Common Stock held by non-affiliates on June 30, 2023 (based on the closing price of such shares on the NYSE American) wes approxmately
$546.0 million, For purposes of the foregoing calenlation anly, all directors, named exceutive officers and persons kmown to the Registrant to be holders of 5% or more of the
Registrant’s Common Stock have been deened affilistes of the Registrant.
The number of shares of Common Stock outstanding as of February 14, 2024 was 15,349,989,

Documents Incorporated by Reference
The following documents are incorporated by reference into Part I, ltems 10,11, 12, 13 and 14 of this Form 103
The Registrant’s definitive proxy statement for its 2024 shareholder’s meeting,
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CAUTICNARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING S TATEMENTS

Statements i this annual filing that are not histarical facts are forward-looking statements. NHC cautions investors that any forward-looking staterents made involve
risks and uncertainties and are not guarantees of firrure perfonmence. Investors should also refér te the risks identified in "Part 1. ften: JA, Risk Factors” fora discussion of varfous
risk factors of the Conpany and that are mherent in the health care industry. Given these risks and uncertaintics, we can give no assurance that these forward-looking statements
will, in fact, transpire and, therefore, caution investors not to place undue reliance on them The risks included here are not exhaustive. All forward-locking statenents represent
NHC's best judgnent as of the date of this filing,

PART1

ITTME. BUSINESS

National HealthCare Corpormation, which we alse rofer to as NHC or the Conpany, began business in 1971, Our principal business is the operation of skilled mursing
facilities, assisted living facilities, independent living facilities, homecare and hospice agencies, and behavioral health hospitals. Our business activities nclude providing sub—
acute and post—acute skilled nursing care, intermediate nursing care, rehabilitative care, memory and Akzheimer’s care, senior living services, home health care services, hospice
services, and behavioral health services. In addition, we provide management services, accounting and financial scrvices, as well as insurance services to third party operators of
health care facilitics. We alsc own the real estate of 10 healthcare properties and lease these propertios to third party operators. We operate in 8 states and our operations are
primarily located in the Southeastern and Midwestern parts of the United Slates.

Description of the Business

The fellowing table summarizes our operations by ownership status as of December 31, 2023:

Ovmed Leased Managed Total
Skilled Nursing Facilities
Number of facilitics 28 32 8 68
Percentage of total 41.2% A47.0% 1.8% . 100.6%
Licensed beds 3,526 47227 97% 8,732
Percentage of total 40.4% 48.4% 11.2% 100.0%
Assisted Living Facilities
Number of facilities 17 7 2 26
Percentage of total . 654% 269% 7.7% 100.0%
Units 1,293 174 34 1,50
Percentage of ietal 86.1% 11.6% 23% 100.0%
Independent Living Facilities
Numnber of facilities 1 3 i 5
Percentage of total 200% 60.0% 20.0% 100.0%
Retiternent apartments 93 245 137 475
Percentage of total 19.6% 51.6% 28.8% 100.0%
Behavioral Heslth Hospitals
Number ot facilities 3 - - 3
Percentage oftotal 100,0% - - 100.0%
Licensed beds ) 96 - - 96
Percentage of total 100.0% - - 1000%
Homecare Agencies ) 3 - - 35
Hospice Agencies 30 - - 30
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Net Patient Revenues. The services we provide include a conprehensive rmnge of health care services. Iu fiscal 2023, 95.3% of our net operating revenues were derived
fromsueh health care services, Highlights of heallh care services activitics during 2023 were as foliows:

Skilled Nursing Facilities. The most significant pertion of our business and the base for our other health care services is the operation of our sldlled nursing
facilities ("SNFs™). In our facilities, experienced medical professionals pravide medical services preseribed by physicians. Registered nurses, licensed practical
nurses, and cettified nursing assistants provide comprehensive, individualized nursing care 24 hours 2 day. In addition, our facilities provide licensed therapy
services, quality nutrition services, social services, activitics, and housekeeping and laundry services. Revenues fom the 60 facilitics we own or lease are
reported as net patient revenues in our financial statements, Managenkent fee incone is recorded as other revenues from the eight facilities that we manage. We
generally charge 6% of facility net operating revenues for our nanagenent services.

The following table shows the oceupancy perventages for our owned and leascd skilled nursing facilities. We define occtipancy percentage as the ratio ofactual
patient days during any measurement period to the nuiber of operational beds in a facility, The number of beds that arc operational may be less

than the licensed bed capacity. The reduction of operational beds conpared to licensed beds accurs for a variety ofreasons, some of which include confonming
to govemment requireients, improving operational efficiencics, or enhancing the patient experience. We believe reporting occupancy based on operational
beds is consistent with industry practice and provides a more meaingful measure of perfornance.

Year Ended Decenber 31,
2023 2022 2001
Owerall census 87.9% 83,8% 80.6%

Rehabilitative Services. Our licensed therapists provide physical, speech, respiratory and occupational therapy for patients recovering from strokes, heart
attacks, orfhopedic conditions, neurclogical linesses, of other ilnesses, injuries, or disabilities, We maintained a rehabilitation staff of over 1,200 highly trained,
professional therapists in 2023, Most of our rehabilitative services are for pationts in our owned, leased and managed skilled nursing facilities, However, we also
provide services (o 41 additional health care providets, Our rates for these services ate competitive with other market rates.

Medical Specialty Units, All our skilled nursing facilities participate in the Medicare program, and we have expanded our range of offerings by the creation of
facility—specific medical specialty units such as our memory care units and sub-acute nursing units, Our trained staff provides cave for Alzheimer’s patients in
early, middle and advanced stages of the discase, We provide specialized care and programs for persons with Alzheimer’s or related disordess in dedicated units

within many of our skilled nursing facilities. Cur specialized rehabilitation programs are designed to sharten or eliminale hospital stays and help to reduce the
cost of quality health care. We develop individualized patient care plans to target appropriale tedical and functional planning objectives with a prinury goal
whero feasibie for a retumn to home or a similar environment.

Assisted Living Facilities. Our assisted living facilities provide personal care setvices and assistance with general activities of daily living such as dressing,
bathing, neal preparation and medication manageiment, We perform resident assessments to determine what services arc desired or required and cur qualified
slaff encourages residents to participate in a mnge of activities. [n 2023, the rate of occupancy was 78.5% conpared to 71.6% in 2022, Certificates of Need
("CONs") are not required fo build these projects in nost states, and we believe overbuilding has occurred in some of our markets.

Independent Living Facilities. Our independent living facilities offer specially designed residontial units for the active and anbuliatory elderly and provide
varions ancillary services for our residents, inchiding restaurants, activity rooms and social areas. Charges for services are paid fiem private sources without
assistance from govemmental programs. Independent living facilities mmy be liconsed and regulated in some states, but do not require the issuance of a CON
such as is required for skilled nursing facilities. We have, in several cases, developed independent living facilities adjacent to our nursing facilities. These units
are rented by the month; thus, these facilities offer an expansion of our continuum of care, We believe these independent living units offer a positive marketing
aspect to all our senior care offerings and services. In 2023 and 2022, the rate of occupancy was 86.0%.

We have one independent living facility which is a "continuing care cormmnity”, where the resident pays a substantial entrance fee and a monthly maintenance
fee. The resident then receives a full range of services, including skilled nursing and home health, without additional charge.

Behmvioral Health Hospitals, Our comprehensive continuum of care includes behavioral health serviees to both adults and geratre petionts with psychiatric,
emotional, and addictive disorders, Quirently, we aperate three behavioral hospitals for adult and geriatrie patients who require inpatient hospitalization due to
mental disorders, inclnding cognitive flnesses. We aiso offer intensive cutpatient programs with individualized treatonent plans based on the paticnt’s clinical
necds.
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Homecare Agencies. Our home health agencies ("homecares™) assist those who wish to stay at home or in assisted living residences but still require some
degree of medical care or assistance with daily activities, Registored and licensed practical nurses and therapy professionals provide skilled services such as
infusion therapy, wound care and physical, occupational and speech therapies. Homo health aides may assist with daily activities such as assistance with
walking and getting in and out of bed, personal hygiene, medication assistance, light housckeeping and maintaining a safe environment. Under the Medicare
reivbursement paywent systeny, we 1eceive a prospectively determined amount per patient per 30-day period of care, Under our managed care contracts, we may
receive a period of care payment or be paid by a per-visit payment medel. In 2023, we served an average census of 3,321 patients and provided 309,929 visits,

Hospice Agencies. We provide hospice care through Caris Healthcare, LP. ("Caris™), a wholly owned subsidiary of NHC. Caris specializes in providing hospice
and palliative care to over 1,268 patients per day in 30 locations in Georgia, Missouri, South Carolina, Tennessee, and Virginia, Under the Medicare
reimbursement payment systeny, Medicare pays a daily rate to cover the costs for providing services included in the patient care plan. Medicare makes daily
payments based on 1 of4 levels of hospice care. All hospice cate and services offered to patients and their fanlies must follow an individualized written plan of
care that meets the patient’s needs.

Pharmacy Operations. At Decenber 31, 2023, we operated four regional pharmacy locations (twe locations in Tennessee and one location cach in South Carolina
and Missouri). These phanmacies primarily service our patieats that are in an inpatient sctting using a central location to deliver phanmaceutical supplies, Our
regional pharmacies bill Medicare Part D Prescription Drug Plans (PDPs) electronically and directly for inpaticnts who have selected a PDP.

Institutional Special Needs Plan ("I-SNP™). Cur [-SNP, which is called NHC Advantage, is a managed care insyrance compeny that restricts curollment o
Medicare Advantage eligible individuais who, for 90 days or longer, have had or are expected to need the level of services provided in e skilled nursing facility.
We belicve the 1-SNP henefits our patients by providing numse practitioners and care-coordination tcars that continue to cnhance the patient-centered
expetience and our quality of patient care. The L-SNP receives a per menber, per month preminm from Medicare which covers the merbers same health care
benefits as original Medicare, as well as additional benefits including preventive screenings and routine vision coverage. At December 31, 2023, the I-SNP
operated in the states of Tennessee, Missourl, and South Carolina with approximately 1,200 metmbers entolied in the plan,

Other Revenues, We generate revenugs from nmanagement, accounting and financial sotvices to third party operators of healthcare facilities, from insusance services to
our managed healthcare facilities, and from rental income. In fis cal 2023, 4.7% of our net operating revenues were derived from such sources. The significant sources of our other
revenues are described as follows:

Management, Acconnting and Financial Services. We provide nanagement services to skilled nusing facilities, assisted living facilities and independent living
facilities operated by third party opetators, We typically charge 6% of the managed centers’ net operating revenues as a fee for these services. Additionally, we
provide accounting and financial services to other healthcate operators. As of Decenber 31, 2023, we perform management services for eleven healthcare
facilities and accounting and financial services for 16 healtheare facilities.

Insurance Services. NHC owns a Tennessee domiciled insurance company that provides workers’ compens ation coverage to substantially ali of NHCs owned,
leased and nunaged healthcare facilities, A second wholly owned insurance subsidiary is licensed in the Cayman Islands and provides general and professional
tiability coverage in substantially all of NHC’s owned, leased and managed healthcare facilities.

Rentsl Income. The heafthcare properties currently owned and leased to third party operators include nine skilled nuwing facilities and one assisted living
conumunities.

Government Stimwus Income. We roceived govemnment stinmlus funds as part of the Coronavimus Aid, Relief, and Eeononiic Secwity Act (the "CARES ACT™). The
CARES Act provided $2.2 trillion of economy-wide financial stimutus in the form of financial aid to individuals, busincsses, nanprofits, states and municipalities. The CARES Act
appropriated $178 billion ta the Public Hoalth and Social Services Emergency Fund, which is referred to as the Provider Reliel Fund ("PRE"), The Congpany recorded $0, $11,457,000
and $63,360,000 of govermment stimulus income from the PRT for the years ended Decerber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Non—Operating Income, We generate non-operating income from equity in camings of unconsolidated investrrents, dividends and realized gains and losses on
nurketable seeurities, interest income, and other niscellaneous noti-operating income.
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Quality of Patient Care

CMS introduced the Five-Star Quality Rating System to help consumers, their fanilies and caregivers compare skilled nursing facilities more easily, The Five-Star Quality
Rating System gives each skilled nursing operation a rating ranging between one and five stars in various categories {five stars being the best). The Company has always strived

for patient-centered care and quality outcomes as precursors to outstanding financial performance.

In July 2022, CMS faunched its enhanced Five-Star Quality Rating System which integrates weckend staffing rates for nurses and information on annual tumover among
nurses and administrators, The tables below summarize NHCSs overall performunce in these Five-Star ratings versus the sldlled nursing industry as of December 31, 2023:

Industry
WHC Ratings Ratings
Total number of skilled nursing facilities, end of period 68
Number of4 and S-star rated siilled nursing facilities 40
Percentage of 4 and 3-star rated skilled nursing facilities 59% 36%
Average rating for all skilled nursing facilitics, end of period 3.6 9
Development and Growth

We are nndertaking to expand our post—acute and senior health care operations while protecting our existing operations and markets, The following table lists our recent
construction and purchase activities,

Type of Operation Description Size Location Placed in Service

Hospice Acquisition 28 agencies Yarious June 2021

Homecare New Agency 1 agency Anderson, 8C January 2022

: Hospice New Agency 1 agency Tullahorma, TN March 2022
Behavioral Health Hospital New Fagility 64 beds Knoxville, TN April 2022
Behavioral Health Hospital ~. . New Faclity 16beds St. Louis, MO Tune 2022

Hospice ~ New Agency lagency Cedar Bluff, VA March 2023
Stlled Nursing - ~* Acquisition 66 beds Nashville, TN May 2023
Homecare New Agency 1 agency Taliahassce, FL May 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 135 vnits Vero Beach, FL. Tuly 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 95 units Mexitt Island, FL July 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 100 units Stuart, FL July 2023

Business Segments

The Conpany has two repertable operating segments: (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living
facilities, and behavioral health hospitals and {2} honecare and hospice services, The Company also reperts an "all other” category that includes revenues from renfal incone,
management and accounting services fees, insurance services, and costs of the corporate office. See Note 6 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further
disclosure of the Company's operating segients.

Customers and Seurces of Revenues

No individual customes, or related group of customers, accounts for a significant portion of our revenues. We do not expect the loss of a single customer or group of
related custoroers would have a material adverse effect,
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Certain groups of patients receive fiinds to pay the cost of their care froma common source, The foliowing table sets forth sources of net patient revenues Tor the perieds
indicated:

Year Ended Decamber 31,

Source 2023 2022 2021
Medicare ' 4%, 3% 36%
Managed Care ) 10% 10% 11%
Medicaid ’ 30% 28% 29%
Private Pay and Other 26% 25% 24%
Total R ) It 100% 100% 100%

We attempt to attract an increased percentage of Medicare and private pay patients by providing rehabilitative and other pest—agute care services, These services are
designed to speed the patient's recovery and allow the patient to return home as soon as it is practical.

Medicare is a health nsurance program for the aged and certain other chronically disabled individuals operated by the federal govermment. Medicare covers skilled
nursing services for beneficiaries who require nursing cate and/or rehabilitation services following a discharge fiom an acute care hospital For each eligible day a Medicars
beneficiaty is in a skilled nursing fcility, Medicare pays the facility a daily payment, subject to adjnstment for certain factors such as a wage index in the geographic area. The
payment eovers all services provided by the skilled nusing facility for the beneficlary that day, including room and board, nmursing, therapy and drugs, es well as an estimate cf
capital-related costs to deliver those services.

Medicaid s a medical assistunce program for the indigent, operated by individual states with the financial participation of the fedemi government. The states in which we
operate primarily use a cost-based reimbursement system. Under cost-based reimbursement systeis, the skilled nursing facility is reimbursed for the reasonable direct and
indireot allowable costs it incurred in a base year in providing routine resident care services as defined by the program. Seniors who enter skilled nursing facilitios as private pay
patients can beconx eligible for Medicaid ouce they have substantially depleted their assets. Medicaid is generally the largest source of funding for most skilled nursing facilities.

Private pay, managed care, and other payment sources include conmercial insurance, individual patient funds, managed care plans and the Veterans Admin istration.
Although payment rates vary among these sources, murket foroes and costs largely deterning these rates. Private paying patients, private insurance camiers and the ‘eterans
Administration generally pay based on the center’s ¢harges or specifically negotiated contracts.

We contract with managed care organizations ("MCO's"} and insurance carriers for the provision of Lesithoars services by cur owned, leased and managed healthcare’
facilities.

Government Regulation
General

Health carc is an area of extensive regulatory oversight and fiequent regulatory change, The federal goverent and the staies in which we operste regulate various
aspects of our business, These regulatory bodies, among other things, require us armually to license our skilied nursing facilities and other health care busmesses. To operate
skilied nursing facilities and provide health care services we must congply with federal, state and local lsws relating 1o the delivery and adequacy of medical care, distribution of
phanmceuticals, equiptent, personnel, operating pelicies, fire prevention, rate-setting, building codes and environmental protection. Changes in the laws of new interpretations
of existing 'aws as applicd to the skilled nursing facilities, hotne health and hospice, or other components of our health care businesses, may have a significant jmpact on our
operations.

Govemmental and other authorities periodically inspect our healtheare facilitics and home health and hospice agencies to assure that we continue to comply with their
various standards. We must pass these mspections to continue our licensing under state law, to obtain certification under the Medicare and Medicaid prograns, and to continue
cur participation in the Veterans Administration program We can only participate in other third—party prograus if our facilities pass these inspections.

From time to time, we, like others in the health care industry, may receive notices frem faderal and state regulatory agencies alleging that we failod to conply with
applicable standards, These notices may require us to take comrective action and may impose civil money penalties and/or other opetating restrictions. If our healthcare
operations fafl to comply with these directives or otherwise fail to comrply substantially with licensure and cettification laws, rules and regulations, we could lose our certification as
a Medicare and Medicaid provider and/er lose our licenses,

Local and state health and social service agencies and other regulatory authorities specific to their location regulate, to varying degrees, our assisted living facilities.
Although regulations and licensing requirements vaty significantly ffom state to state, they typically address, among other things, persennel education, training and records;
facility services, including admnistration of medication, assistance with supervision of medication management and limited nursing services; physical plant specifications;
furnishing of resident units; food and housekeeping services; emergency evacuation plans; and resident rights and responsibilities, If assisted living facilities fail to comply with
ficensing requirements, these facilities could lose their licenses. Most states also subject assisted living facilities to state or local building codes, fire codes and food service
licensure or certification requiretients. In addition, the nanner and extent to which the assisted living industry & regulated at federal and state levels ate evolving.
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In all states in which we operate, before a skilled nursing facility can make a capital expenditure expeeding certain specified amounts or construct any new skilled health
care beds, approval of the state health care regulatory agency or agencies nust be obtzined, and a Certificate of Need fssued, The appropriate state health planning agency nust
review the Certificate of Need according ta state specific guidelines before a Certificate of Need can be issued, A Certificate of Need s generally issued for a specific maximam
amount of expendifure and the project nust be corpleted within a specific time period. There is no advance assurance that we will be able to cbtain a Certificate of Need in any
instance. In some states, approval is also necessary in order to purchase existing health care beds, although the purchaser is normally permitted to avoid a fall-scale Certificate of
Need application procedure by giving advance written notice of the acquisition and giving written assurance to the state regulatory agency that the change of cwnership will not
result in a change in tho number of beds, services offered and, in same cases, reimburserment rates at the facility.

While thete are currently no significant legislative proposals to eliminate Certificates of Need pertaining to sldlled nursing care in the states i which we do business,
deregulation in the Centificate of Need arca would likely result in increased competition and could adversely affect occupancy rates and the supply of licensed and certified
personnel.

A significant goal of the federal health care system is to transform the delivery of health care by holding providers accountable for the cost and quality of care
provided. Medicare and many canmereial third-party payors are implenenting Accountable Care Organization ("ACO™ models in which groups of providers share in the benefit
and risk of providing care to an assigned group of individuals, Gther relmbursement methodology refoms in which we are participating or expect to partivipate in include value—
based purchasing, in which a portion of provider reimbursement js redistributed based on relative performance on designated economic, clinical quality, and patient satisfaction
wetrics. Also, CMS is implementing programs to bundle acute care and pesi-acute care reimbursement to hold providers accountable for costs across a broader contimnmn of care.
These reirbursement methodologies and similar progras arc Ekely to continue and expand, both in public and commercial health plans. Providers who respond successfully to
these trends and can deliver quality care at lowor costs are likely to benefit financialty,

Patient Confidentiality

We are also subject to laws and regulations enacted to protect the confidentiality of patient health informatien. The U.S, Department of Health and Human Services
("HHS") has issued rules that govem our use and disclosure of protected health information. We have established policies and procedures to comply with HIPAA privecy and
security requirernents. We maintain a company-wide HIPAA corpliance plan, that we believe complies with the HIPAA privacy and security regulations, The HIPAA privacy and
secutity regulations have and will continue to impose significant costs to the Company in order to conply with these standards, Cur operations are also subject to any federal or
state privacy-related laws that are more restrictive than the privacy regulations issued under HIPAA, These laws vary and could impose additional penaltics for privacy and
security breaches,

Medicare and Medicaid Participarion

All skilled nursing facilities, owned, leased or munaged by us are cerfified to paticipate in Medicars. All but eight (seven owned and one managed) of our affiliated skilled
nursing facilities participate in Medicaid, All our humecare and hospice agencies participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, with Medicare comprising the majority of their
revenue, Our behavioral health hospitals alse participate in the Medicare and Medicaid program,

During the fiscal years presented, we received payments from Medicare and, if participating, from Medicaid, We record as receivablos the amounts we ultinately expect to
receive under the Medicare and Medicaid programs and record into profit or less any differences in amounts received at the time of interim or final settlements, There have not
been any adjustments that have had o nmterial adverso offect on the Company within the last three years.

Medicare Legisiation and Regulations
Skilled Nursing Facilities

Medicare s uniform nationwide and reimbuzses skilled nursing facilities under a fixed payment nethodolegy called the Skilled Nursing Facility Prospective Payment
System{" SNF PPS"). The SNF PP includes a case-mix mode! called the Patient-Driven Payment Mode] (" PDPM™), which focuses ot a resident’s condition and care needs, rather
than the atount of care provided to determine vetmbursement levels, PDPM atilizes clinically relevant factors for determining Medicare payment by using ICD-10 diagnosis codes
and other patient characteristics as the basis for patient classification. PDPM utilizes five case-rrix adjusted payment conponents: physical therapy ("PT”), oceupational therapy
("OT™), speech language pathology ("SLP™), nursing and social services and non-therapy ancillary services {("NTA™). Tt also uses a sixh non-case mix conponent te cover
utilizmtion of skilled nursing facility ("SNF”) resources that do not vary depending on resident characteristics.
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Tn July 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rates and policy changes for skilled nursing facilities, which began on October 1,
2023. The fiscal year 2024 rule equates to a net increase of 4.0%, or approxinmtely $1.4 billion, in Medicare Part A payments to SNFs in fiscal year 2024 conpared to 2023 levels. The
rule ncludes a 3.0% market basket rate increase, a 3.6% nurket basket forecast error adjustment, less a 0.2% productivity adjustment, as well as a negative 23%, or approxnately
§789 million, decrease in 2024 SNF Paynent Prospective Systens rates as a result of the second phase of the Patient Driven Payment Model parity adjus tment recalibration.

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Feonomic Security Act (the "CARES” Act) and other subsequent Congressional actions tenporarily suspended Medicare sequestzation
beginning May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2022, The Medicare sequestration policy reduces fee-for-service Medicare payments by 2 percent. Elfective April 1, 2022, sequestration
was reinstated but only 1% was reduced from Medicare payments from April 1, 2022 through Jure 30, 2022, Beginning July 1, 2022, sequestration was increased back to the 2%
reduction of Medicare payrents for the remainder 0f 2022, The CARES Act extended the sequestration policy through 2030 in exchange for the terporary suspension.

Haomecares

Medicate i uniform nationwide and reimburses homecare agencies under a Patient-Driven Groupings Model ("PDGM™). Under PDCM, Medicare provides hemceare
agencies with payments for cach 30-day period of care provided to beneficiaries. I beneficiary is still eligible for care after the end ofthe first 30-day payirent period, a second 30-
day payment period can begin, There are no limits to the mimber of periods of care & beneficiary who rermins eligible for the home health benefit can receive, While payment for
cach 30-day period of care is adjusted to reflect the beneficiary’s healih condition and needs, a special outlier provision exists to ensure appropriate payment for those
heneficiarics that have the most expensive care needs. The payment under the Medicare programis also adjusted for contain variables,

Tn Novesnber 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rates. CMS projects payments o home health agencics in fiscal year 2024 will
increase in aggregate by 0.8%, or §140 million. The increase is the result of & 3.3% market basket update, reduced by a 0.3% productivity adjustent. The increase is offsct by a
behavioral adjustront that will cut payments by a net 2.6%. The hehavioral adjustiment was designed to achieve budget-neutral implementation of the PDPM. Finally, CMS also
adjusted the fixed-dollar loss ratio for outlior payments, which will increaso paynents by 04%.

Hospice
Medicare payment rates are calculated as daily rates for each of four levels of care we deliver. Rates are set based on specific levels of care, arg adjusted by x wage index
to reflect healthcare labor costs across the country and are established annually through federal legislation. The following are the four levels of care provided under the hospice

benefit:

. Routine Home Care. Care that is not classified under any of the other levels ot care, such as the work of hurses, social workers or hotiw health aides,

. General Inpatient Care, Pain control or acute or chronic symptom managenent that cannot be managed M a setting other than an inpatient Medicare-certified
facility, such as & hospital, skilled nursing facility or hospice inpatient facility.

. Continuous Home Care, Care for patients experiencing a medical crisis that requires nursing services to achieve palliation and symptom control if the agency
provides a nininm of eight hours of care within a 24-hour period.

. Inpatient Respite Care. Short-term, inpatient care to give temporary relief to the caregiver who regularly provides care to the patient,

Medicare payments are subject to two fired annual caps, which are assessed on a provider number basis, and are broken into an inpatient cap amount and an overzll
payment cap. These cap amounts are caleulated and published by the Medicare fiscal intermediary on an annual bagis,

In July 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rates. MBS issued a rate increase of 3.1%, or $780 million, effective October 1, 2023,
This increase is the result ofa 3.3% market basket increase reduced by a 0.2% productivity adjustment. The FY2024 hospice payment update also includes an update to the
statutory aggregate cap amount, which limits the overall payments per patient that are made annually, The cap amount for FY2024 is $33,494.
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Medicaid Legislation and Regulations
Skilled Nursing Facililies

State Medicaid plans subject to budget constraits are of patticular concem to us. Changes in federal funding coupled withi state budget problens and Medicaid
expansion under the Affordable Care Act have produced an uncertain environment. Some states wili not keep pace with pest-acute healtheare inflation, States are currently under
pressure to pursue other alternatives to skilled nursing care such as community and home—based services.

Medicaid programs are funded jointly by the federal govemment and the states and are administered by states under approved plans, Most state Medicaid paynents are
made under a prospective paynent systent or under programs which negotiate payment levels with individual providers. Some states use, ot have applied to use, waivers granted
by CMS to inplement expansian, inpose different eligibility or entollment restrictions, or otherwise implement programs that vary from federal standards.

Effective July 1,2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of Tennessee implemented specific individual nursing facility increases. We estimate the resulting increase in
revenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be approximately $15,000,000 annually, or $3,750,060 per quarter.

Effective October 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of South Carolina implemented specific individual nursing facility increases. We estimate the resulting
increase in revenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be approximately $9,0060,000 annuatly, or $2,250,000 per quarter.

Effective July 1, 2023 and for tho fiscal year 2024, the state of Missouri inplemented specific individual nursing facility increases. We estimate the resulting increase in
revenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be approximately $5,000,000 annually, or $1,250,000 per quarter.

We have also received from many of the states In which we operate a supplemental Medicaid paytrent to help mitigate the inflationary labor and medical supplies costs
resulling from the pandemic. For the years ended Decerber 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we have recorded $20,214,000, $19.442,000 and $20,482,000, respectively, dus to these
supplemental Medicaid payments, We have recorded these payments in net patient rovenues in our consolidated statenents of operations.

Competition

Tn most of the comammities in which we operate health care facilities, we compete with other health care facilities in the area. There are hundreds of operators of post-acute
healthcare services in each of these states and no single operator, ncluding us, dominates any of the markets, except for some strall ryral markets which might have limited
conpetition. Tn competing for patients and staff, we depend upon refertals from acute care hospitals, physicians, tesidential care facilities, church groups and other convmunity
service organizations. The reputation in the conmmnity and the physical appearance of our facilities are inportant in obtaining patients since members of the patient’s family
generally participate to a groater extent in selecting skilied nursing facilities than in selecting an aoute cate hospital. We beliove that by providing and emphasizing rehabilitative, as
well as patient-centered healthcare services, we cun broaden our patient base and to differentiate our operations from competing operations.

As we continue to expand into all areas of senior health care, we wonitor proposed or existing competing operations. Our development geal is to ink our skilled nursing
facilities with our senior living communities, home health and hospice aperations, and behavioral health hospitals; therefore, obtaining a competitive advantage for eur aperations.

Buman Capital
Enplovees

As of December 31, 2023, we had 13,123 full-time and part-time enployees {"partners”) through our Administrative Services Contractor (National Health Corporation).
Noue of our pariners were represented by a collective bargaining agrecoent. We believe relations with our partners are good. Our partners are guided by NHC's Cade of Conduct,
and they take pride in their work. The Conpany’s partners appreciate differcnt perspectives and embrace the opportunity to work with those of diverse backgrounds.

Total Rewards

To attract and retain top talent, we believe we mmst offer and maintain competitive total rewerds for our partners, These rewards include not only wages and salares, but
also health, welfare, and retirement benefits. Our partners accrue earned time off ("ETC) with the flexbility to use this tine at their discretion. We offer conprehensive health
insurance coverage to all eligible partners as well as a partner and family sick time program which allows pariners ta acerue paid sick time based on hours worked and to use that
time for themselves or family members i need of care. We offer a 401{k) plan which inchides natching company contributions. Also, to foster a stronger sense of ownership, we
offer an Enployee Stock Purchase Plan where partners iy purchase company stock through payrell deductien,
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We face conpetition in employing and retaining nurscs, technicians, aides, and other high-quality professional and non-—professional enployees. To enhance our
competitive position, we offer a robust educational tuition reimbursement program, an Anerican Dietetic Association approved internship program, specialty designed nurse aide
training classcs, and there is financial scholarship aid available for various health care vocation prograns,

We also conduct an " Adninistrater in Training” course, which is 24 wonths it duration, for the professional training of skilled nursing facility administrators. Presently,
we have six (four nle and two fenale} full-time individuals in this program All six of our regional vice presidents and 52 of our 68 healih care center administrators are graduates
of this program

We regularly utilize third-party consultants to conduet anonymous surveys to scok feedback from our pariners on a variety of topics, inchuding but not limited to,
confidence in comparny leadership, conpetitiveness of cur conpensation and benefits package, career growth opportunities and improvements on how we can continue to nake
our conpany an enployer of cheice. The tesults are shared with our partners and reviewed by senior leadership, who analyze areas of progress or deterioration and prioritize
actions and activities in response to this feedback to drive meaningful improvements in partner engagement,

Health and Safery

The health and safety of our partners is our highest priority. We focus on safety training in order to maintain a safe work environment and minimize work-related injury.
When the pandemic began, we ensured and continue to ensure ihat our partners have access to tasks, thermometers, protective gloves, sanitizing supplies, and 21l personal
protective equipment needed in order to protect thenselves, We closely followed the recommendations of the World Health Crganization, the U.8. Conters for Disease Control and
local govemments, and we took action to ensure cur partners were safe.

Compunity

We have a long and proud history of investing in the communitics where we live and work, Through the National Health Foundation (the "Foundation”) and The
Foundation for Geriatric Education (" TFGE™) we give back by providing grants to nonprofits and providing tuition reinbursement to partners to further their education in the field
of geriatrics. We also have 3 Compassion Fund which is used to help support pariners in tines of need. Many of our partners make a positive impact In the comminities in which
they live by donating their time and talent by volunteering and serving on boards of charitable organizations.

Finvironmental Sustainability

We are working diligently to minimize our effect on the environment by conserving encigy and protecting our natural resources. We are focusing on being more energy
efficient and reducing our water use and wastewater discharges while continuing to provide a healthy enviranment for our patients, partners and visitors, We are committed to
adhering to applicable federal, state and local environmental regulations. Our goal is to minimize envitoniental risks to our patients and in the cormminities which we operate.

Through recycling programs, we are working to reduce the amount of waste sent to landfills, Our electronic waste is recycled through & zore-landtill recycling company.
Available fnformation

“The Conpany's Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Curent Reports on Form &K, and amendnents te these reports filed or fumished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Fxchange Act of 1934, are available fiec of charge at wwwinhccare.com as soon as Teasonably practicable after the reports are
electronically filed or fumished with the U.8, Securities and Fachange Commissiof ("SEC"). The SEC maintains a website that confains these reports as well a3 proxy statements
and other information regarding issuers that file electronically, The SECs website is at www.seo.gov. NHCs website and its content are not deemed incorporated by reference into
this report,
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ITEM 1A, RISKFACTORS

You shonid carefully consider the risk factors set forth below, as well as the other informetion contained in this Annual Repert on Form 10-K. These tisk factors should
be considered in cannection with evaluating the forward—looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-I, because these factors could cause the actual results
and conditions to differ materially from those projected in forward—looldng statements, The risks described below are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and
uncertainties that ate not currently known to us or that we cumently deem to be immmaterial nny also materially and adversely affect our business operations. Any of the following
risks could materially adversely affect our business, tancial condition or results of operations and cash flows,

Risks Relating to Our Operations

COVID-19 and other pandemics, epidencs, or outbreaks of a contagious iflness may adversely affect our operating results, cash flows and financial condition, The
COVID-19 pandemic had a negative impact on our business and results of operations. COVID-19 and other pandermics, epidemics, or outbreaks of a contagious illness, and similar
events, may cause harmto us, our partners (enployees), our patients, our vendors and supply chain partners, and financial institutions, which could have a material adverse effect
on our resuits of operations, financial condition and cash flows, The impacts may include, but would not be Timited to:

¢ Distuption to opertions due to the unavailability of partners due to illness, quarantines, risk of ilness, travel restrictions or factors that limit our existing or potential
workferce,

» Increased costs and staffing requirements related to additional CDC profosols, federal and state workforee protection and related isclation procedures, meluding
obligations to test patients and staff.

s  Decreased availability and increased cost of supplies due te increased demand around essential personai protective equiprent ("PPE"), sanitizers and cleaning supplies
inchuding disinfzcting agents, and food and food-related products due to increased global demand and disruptions along the global supply chains of these manufactures
and distributors.

e Decreased census across all our operations, which could negatively impact our operating cash flows and financial condition.

+ Tlevated partner tumover which may increasc payrell expense, increase third party agency nurse staffing, and recruiting-refated expenses,
e Increased risk of litigation and related liabilities avising in connection with patient or partner iliness, hospitalization and/or death.
e  Significant distuption of the global financial markets, which could have a negative impact on our ability to access capital in the future.

The fusther spread of QOVID-19, and the measures taken by federal and state governients and loca! health authorities intended to limit the spread of the virus, could
impact the resources required to cary out our business as usual and may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows, The extent
to which the COVID-19 pandemic will impact our business and our financial results will depend en future devcloprents, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. Such
developments may include the ongoing geographic spread of the virus, the tining, availability and effectiveness of nedical treatroents and vaccines {including additional doses of
vaccines), the impact of any mutations of the virug, and the type, duration and cfficacy of actions that mmy be taken by various govemmental authorities to contain the vims or
treat its impact, among others. Any of these developnents, individually or in aggregate, could matcrially impact our business and our financial results and condition.

We depend on reimbursement from Medicare, Medicatd and other third-party payors, and reimbursement rates from such payors may be veduced, We derive a
substantial portion of our revenue from third—party payors, including the Medicare and Medicaid prograns, Third—party payor programs are highly regulated and are subject to
frequent and substantial changes. Changes in the reimbursement rate or methods of payment from third—party payors, including the Medicare and Medicaid programs, or the
jnplementation of other measures te reduce reimbursements for our services has in the past, and could in the future, result in a substantial reduction in our revenues and operating
margins. For example, the Budget Control Aot o 2011 requires autonmtic spending reductions to reduce the federal deficit, inposing Medicare spending reductions ofup to 2% per
fiscal year, with a uniform percentage across all Medicare programs. CMS began inposing a 2% reduction en Medicare claims in 2013, and these reductions have been extended
through 2030. The CARES At and related legislation temporarily suspen ded this 2% reduction through March 31, 2022, and reduced the sequestration adjustent from 2% to 1%
from April 1 through June 30, 2022, The full 2% reduction took effect July 1, 2022,
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Net revenue realizable under third—party payor agreciments can change after examination and retroactive adjustment by payors during the claims settlement processes or
as a result of post—paynent audits, Payors nay disallow requests for reimbursement based en determinations that certain costs are not reimbursable or reasonable because
additional documentation is necessary or because certain services were not covered or were not reasonable and medically necessary,

Our hospice agencies are subject to two payment caps that limit Medicare reimbursement each federal fiscal yeay, an inpatient cap and an aggregate cap, The inpatient cap
limits the number of days of inpatient care to na more than 20% of total patient care days. The aggregate cap limits the total Medicare reimbursenent that a hospice may receive
based on an annual per-beneficiary cap amount and the nuniber of Medicare patients served. If payments received by any ane of cur hospice provider numbers exceeds the
ipatient or aggregate caps, we are required to reimburse Medicare for payments received in cxcess of the caps, which could have a nuferial adverse effect on ourbusiness,

We cannot assurc you that adequate reimbursement levels will continue to be available forthe services pravided by us. Further limits on the scope of services reimbursed
and on reinbursement rates could have 2 muterial adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition and results of operations. It is possible that the effects of further refinenents
to payment systens that result in lower payments to us or cuts in state Medicaid fanding could have 2 material adverse effect on ourresults of operations, See Ttem 1, "Business —
Covemment Regulation” and "Business - Medicare Legislation and Regulations",

The industry trend toward value-based purchasing may negatively impact our revennes. There continues 1o be a growing trend in the healtheare industry among both
government and contrercial payors toward valie-based purchasing of healthcare services. Value-based purchasing programs enphasize quality and efficiency of services, rather
than volume of services. For exanple, CMS reinburses SNF providers using the PDPM, a paynent methodology that classifies patients into payment groups based on clinical
factors using diagnosis codes rather than by vokume of services, In addition, CMS requires SNFs, home heaith agencies and hospices to report quality data in order to receive full
reimbursenent, Failure to report quality data or poor perfornmnce rmy negatively ipact the amount of reimbursement received. CMS publishes quality measure data online
through its Care Conpare website, to allow the public to search and compare data for Medicare-certified providers.

Thader the SNF Value-Based Purchasing Program, CMS reduces SNF Medicare payments by 2 percentage points and redistributes the majority of these funds as incentive
payments based on SNF quality measure performance. Tn January 2022, CMS began implementing a nationwide expansion of the Home Health Value-Based Purchasing ("HHVBP)
Model, Under the model, home health agencies will receive increases or decreases to their Medicare fee-forservice payments ofup to 5%, based on perfornance against spegific
quality measures relative to the performance of other providers, Data collected in each performance year will impact Medicare payments two years fater. Calendar year 2023 is the
first periormence year under the expanded HHVBP Model that will affect payments.

Other initiatives aimed at improving the cost of care include altemative payment models, such as ACOs and bundied payment arrangenents. Medicare and many
comurercial third-party payors are mplenenting ACO models, in which groups of providers share in the beneflt and risk of providing care 16 an assigned group of individuals ata
fower cost, In addition, CMS is implementing prograns to bundle acute carc and post-acute care reinbursement to hold providers accountable for costs across a broader
continuum of care. In October 2021, the CMS Inovation Center refcased an outline of its strategy for the next decade, noting the need to accelemte the movement to value-based
care and drive broader system transformation. By 2030, the CMS Innovation Center ains to have all fee-for-serviee Medicare beneficiaries and the vast majority of Medicaid
beneficarics in an accountable care relationship with providers who are responsible for quality and total medical costs. The CMS Innovation Center signaled its intent to
streamline its payment models and Lo increase provider participation through implementation of more mandatory models.

These reimbursement methodologics and other value-based care initiatives are likely to continue and expand, at both the federal and state levels and in public and
commercial health plans. It is unclear whether altemative payment rodels will successfully coordinate care znd reduce costs or whether they will decrease overall reimbursemrent,
As a result, it is difficult to predict how the trend toward value-based purchasing will ultimately affect our business. If we fail to meet or exceed quality performance standards
under any applicable value-based purchasing program, perform at a level below the outcomes demronstrated by our competitors, or ctherwise fail to cffectively provide or
coordinate the efficient delivery of quality health cars services, our reputation in the industry 1y be negatively impacted, we may receive reduced reimburs ement amounts, and we
Ay owe repaynEnts to payors, causing our revenues to decling, Faflure to respond successfully to value-based purchasing trends could negatively inpact our business, results
of eperations and/or financial condition,

By wndertaking to provide management services, advisory services, andfor financial services to other entities, we become at least parfially responsible for meeting
the reguwlatory requirements of those entities. We provide wanagement and/or financial services to skilled nursing fecilities, assisting living facilities and independent living
facilities owned by third parties. The "Risk Factors" contained herein as applying to us may in many instances apply equally to these other entities for which we provide services.
We have in the past and nmy in the future be subject to clains from the entities to which we provide management, advisory or financial services, or to the claims of third parties to
those entities, Aty adverse deternination in any legal proceeding regarding such claims coull have a material adverse offect on our business, our results of aperation, our
financial condition and cash flows.

We provide managemenys services to skitled nursing facifities amd other healthcare facilities ander terms whereby the paywients for our services are subject to
subordination to other expenditures of the healtheare facility. Furthenmore, there are cettain third parties with whomwe have contracted to provide services and which we have
determined, based on insufficient historical coliections and the lack of expected future collections, that the service revenue realization is uncertsin. We may, therefore, ke
expenditures related to the provision of services for which we are not paid,
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The cost to replace ar retain qualified nurses, health cave professionals and other key personnel may adversely affect onr financinl perforniance, and we may not be
able to comply with certain states’ stuffing requirements. We could experionce significant increases in our operating costs due to shottages in qualified nurses, health care
professionals and ofher key personnel. The nurket for these key personnel is highly conpetitive. We, like other health care providers, have experienced difficulties in attracting and
retaining qualified personnel, especially facility adninistrators, nurses, certified nurses' aides and other important health care providers. There is currently a shortage of nurses, and
trends indicate this shorage will continue or worsen in the future. The difficulty our skilied nursing facilities are experiencing in hiring and retaining qualified personne! has
increased our sverage wage rate. We may continue to experience increases in our labor costs due to higher wages and greater benefits required to attract and refain qualified health
care personnel. Our ability to control labor costs will significantly affect our future operating results. Additionally, ifwe fail to attract and retain qualified and skilled personnel, our
ability to conduct our business operations effectively could be harmed.

Certain states in which we operate skilled nursing facilities have adopted minimunn staffing standards and additional states may also cstablish s tmilar requirenents in the
furure. Our ability to satisfy these requirements will depend upen our ability to attract and retain qualified nurses, certified nurses' assistants, and other staff. Failure to comply with
these requirements may result in the imposition of fines or other sanctions. If states do not appropriate sufficient additional funds {through Medicaid program appropriations or
otherwisc) to pay for any additional operating costs resulting from minimumstaffing requirements, our profitability may be adversely affected.

The staffing level required to receive a S-star rating in the CMS Nussing Home Five Star Quality Rating System is determined based on analysis of the rclationship
betwesn stafling levels and moasures of nursing home quality. CMS places a strong cophasis’on registored nurse ("RN") staffing. CMS posts information on nursing home
staffing measures on the Care Compare website including stafl tumover rates and weekend staffing levels, This new data has been incorporated into the Nursing Home Five Star
Quality Rating System.

Although we currently have no collective barganing agreements with unions at our facilities, there is no assurance this will continue to be the case, Ifany of our facilities
enter into collective bargaining agreements with unions, we could experience or ineur additional administrative exponses associated with union representation of our employees.

Our senior managenent team has extensive experience in the heakthcare industry, We believe they have been instrumental in guiding cur business, instituting valuable
performance and quality monitoring, and driving innovation. Accordingly, our future performance is substantially dependent upon the continued services of our senior
management team. The loss of the services ofany of these persons could have a materfal adverse effect upon us.

Disasters and similar events, which may increase as a resilf of climate change, way seriously harm our business, Natural and man—made disasters and sirmilar events,
icluding terrorist attacks and acts of nature such as hurricanes, tomadoes, carthquakes and wildfires, may cause dawage or disruption to us, our employees and our facilitics,
which could have an adverse impact on our patients and our business, In order to provide care for our paticnts, we arc dependent an consistent and relieble delivery of food,
pharmacouticals, utilities and other goods to our facilities, and the availability of ermloyecs to provide services at our facilities, If the delivery of goods or (he ability of enployees
to reach our facilities were interrupted in any taterial respect due to a natural disaster or other reasons, It would have a significant impact on our facilities and cur business,
Furthermore, the impact, or impending threat, of a natural disaster has in the past and may in the future require that we cvacuate one or more facilities, which would be costly and
would involve risks, including potentially fatal risks, for the patients. The impact of disasters and similar events is inherently uncertain, Such events could harm our patients and
enployees, severcly damage or destrey ene or wore of our facilities, harmour business, teputation and financial performance, or otherwisc cause our business to suffer in ways
that we currently cannot predict.

Significant changes in the climate may occur in areas where our facilities are located and we may experience more frequent extreme weather events which may result in
physical damage to or a decrease in demand for our facilities located in these areas or affected by these conditions, In addition, changes in federal and state legislation and
regulation on climate change vould result in increased capital expenditures to frprtove the encrgy efficiency of our facilities without 2 comrespending increase in revenue, Climate
change tay alse have indirect effcets on our business by increasing the cost of (or tmking unavailable) preperty insurance on terms we find acceptable. Should the impact of
climate change be material in nature, including destruction of eur facilities, or occur for lengthy periods of titme, our financizl condition or results of operations may be adversely
affected.

Future acquisitions or new developinents may be difficult te complete, use significant resoirces, or be wnsnccessful and conld expose us fo unforeseen liabilities. We
may selectively pursue acquisitions or new developments in our target nerkets, Acquisitions and new developments may involve significant cash expenditures, debt incurrence,
capital expenditures, additional operating losses, amortization of the intangiblo assets of acquired cotmpanies, dilutive issuances of equity securitics and other cxpenses that could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of opertions, Acquisitions also involve numerous other tisks, including difficuliics integrating acquired
operations, persornel and information systens, diversion of management's time from cxisting operations, potential losses of key employees of custoners of acquired conmpanies,
assumptions of significant liabilities, exposure to unforescen labilitics ofacquired companies and increases in our indebtedness.
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] We cannat assure that we will succeed in obtaining financing for any acquisitions at a reasonable cost or that any financing wifi not contain restrictive covenants that
limit eur operating flexibility. We also mey be unable to aperate acquired facilitios profitably or succeed in achieving improvements in their financial perfermance.

We also nay face conpetition i acquiring any facilities, Cur competitors may acquire or seek to acquire many of the facilities that would be suitable acquisition
candidates for us, This could limit our ability to grow by acquisitions or increase the cost of our acquisitions.

In addition, federal and state regulation may adversely impact our ability to conplete acquisitions or pursue new developments. For sxanple, a Medicare regulation known
as the "36 Month Rule” prohibits the buyer of a Medicare-certified bowe health agency from assuming the Medicare billing privileges ofan acquired agency if the acquired agency
cither enrolled in Medicare or underwent 2 change i najority ownership fewer than 36 months prior to the acgnisition, subject to certain exceptions, Tnstead, the buyer must enroll
the acquired home health agency as a new provider with Medicare, The 36 Month Rule ney increase conpetition for acquisition targets that are not subject to the rule and may
cause significant Medicare billing delays for purchases of hone health agencies that are subjeet to the rule. In eddition, our ability to cxpand opemations in a state depends on our
ability to obtain necessary state Heenses to operate and, where required, centificate of need approval. States mmy linit the number of licenses they issue. The failure to obtain any
required Hoense or certificate of need could inpair our ability to operate or expand our business,

Upkeep of healthcare properties is capital infensive, requiving us to continually divect financial resonrees to the muaintenance and enhancement of our physicel plan
and equipment. As of December 31, 2023, we leased or owned 60 skilled nursing facilities, 24 assisted living facilities, 3 behavioral health hospitals, and four independent living
facilities, Our ability to nmintain and enhance our physical plant and equipment in a suitable ¢ondition to meet regulatory standards, operate cfficiently and romain competitive m
our matkets requires us to commit a substantial portion of our fee cash flow to continued investment in our phys ical plant and equipment. Certain of our competifors nwy operate
centers that ae not as old as our centers, or may appear more modemized than our centers, and therefore may be more attractive to prospective customess. In addition, the cost to
replace our existing centers through acquisition or construction is substantially higher than the camying value of our cenfers. We are undertaking a process to allocate more
aggressive capital spending within cur owned and leased facilities in an effort to address issues that arise in connection with an aging physical plant,

Tf factors, including factors indicated in these "Risk Factors™ and other factors beyond our control render us unable to direct the necessary financial and human resources
to the maintenance, upgrade and modemization of our physical plant and equipment, our business, results of operatiens, financial condition and cash flow could be adversely
impacted,

We are defendants in significant legal actions, which are commonplace Int onr industry, and which could subject us to increased operating costs and substuntial
wrinsured labilities, which would materially awd adversely affect our liguidity and financial condition. As is typical in the health care industry, we are subject to clains that
our services have resulted in resident injury or other adverse effects, We, fike our industry peers, have experionced an increasing trend in the frequency and severity of
professionat fiability and workers” corpensation clains and litigation asserted against us, In some states in which we have significant operations, insurance coverage for the risk
of punitive damages arising from professional liability clains and/or ltigation may net, in certain cases, be available due to state law prohibitions or linttations of availability. We
cannot assure you that we will not be tiable for punitive danage awards that are either not covered or are in excess of our insurance polioy limits, We also believe that there have
been, and will continue {o be, govemmental investigations of long—term care providers, particufarly in the area of Medicare/Medicaid false clains, as well as an increase in
enforcement actions resulting from these investigations. Insurance i not available to cover such losses. Any adverse determination i a legal proceeding or govemmental
investigation, whether cumently asserted or arising in the future, could have a material adverse effect on our financial cenditien.

;

Due to the rising cost and fimited availability of professional liability end wotkers’ conpensation insurance, we are largely self-insured on ali of these programs and as a
result, there is no vt on the naxioun nunber of clains or ameunt for which we or cur insurance subsidiarics can be liable in any policy period. Although we base our loss
estimates on independent actuarial analyses using the information we have to date, the amount of the losses could exceed our estimates, In the event our actual Lability exceeds
our estimates for any given period, our results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely impacted, In additien, cur insurance coverage might not coverall
claims made against us. If wo are unable to maintain our cutrent insurance coverage, if judgments arc obtained in excess of the coverage we maintain, if we are required to pay
uninsured punitive damages, or if the number of clais settled within the sclf-insured retention currently in place significantly ncreases, we could be exposed to substantial
additional Habilities. We cannot assure you that the claims we pay under our self-insurance programs will not exceed the reserves we have set aside to pay claims, The number of
claims within the self-insuted retention may increase.
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Ifwe full 1o compete effectively with other health care providers, onr revenues and profitability may decline, The health care services mdustry is highly competitive.
Our skilled nursing facilitics, assisted living facilities, independent living facilities, hospices, home care services and other operalions compete on a local and regional basis with
other nursing centers, health care providers, and senior living service providers that provide services similar to those we offer. Some of our competitors’ facilities are located in
newer buildings and may offer services not provided by us or are eperated by entities having greater financial and other resotrces than us. Certain of our competitors are operated
by not-for-profit, non-taxpaying or govemmental agencies that can finance capital expendifures on a taxexenpt basis and that receive finds and chatitable contributions

unavailable to us. Consolidations of not-for-profit entities may intensify this competitive pressure. Many competing general acute care hespitals are Jarger and more established
than our facilities.

Thete is also increasing consofidation in the third-party payer industry, incliding vertical integration efforts among third-party payers and healthcare providers.
Healtheare industry participants are increasingly irplementing physicion alignment suategies, such as employing physicians, acquiring physician practice groups and
participating in ACOs or other ¢linical integration models, Other industry participants, such as large enpioyer groups and their affiliates, may intensify conpetitive pressure and
affect the industry in ways that are ditfieult to predict. Trends toward clinical trans parency and value-based purchasing may impact our competitive position and patient volumes.

Our facilities compete based on factors such as aur reputation for quality care; the commitnent and expertise of our staff; the quality and conprehensiveness of our
treatirent prograns; the physical appearance, location and condition of our facilities and to a timited extent, the charges for services. In addition, we conpete with other health care
providers for custoner referrals from hospitals and other providers. As a result, a fuilure to compete effectively with respect to refermls nay have an adverse inpact on our
business. We cannot assure that increased competition in the future wili not adversely affoct our financial condition and results of operations.

Possible changes in the case wix of patients and payor mix may significantly affect our prafitability. The sources and amounts of our patient revenues will be
determined by a number of factors, including licensed bed capacity and occupancy rates of our facilities, the mix of patieats and the rates of reimbursement among payors,
Changes in the case mix of the patients as well as payor mix among ptivate pay, Medicare and Medicaid will significantly affect our profitability, Particularly, any significant
increase in our Medicaid population could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flow, especially if states operting these
programs continue to limit, or more aggressively seek lirrits on, reimbursement rates or service levels,

Private third—party payors centinue to fry to reduce health care costs, Private third—party pzyors are continuing their efforts fo control health care costs through direct
contracts with health care providers, increased utilization roview and greater enrolment in managed care prograns and preferred provider organizations, among other sirategies.
These private payots increasingly are demanding discounted fee structures and the assunption by health care providers of all or a portion of the financial risk The ability of
private payors lo contro] healtheare costs may be enhanced by the increasing consolidation of insurance conpanies and the vertical intogration of health insurers with healthcare
providers. We could ke adversely afiected by the continuing efforts of private thitd—party payors to Himit the amount of refmbursement we receive for health care services, We
cannot assure you that reimbursement under private third—party payor programs will renmin at levels comparable to present levels ar will be sufficient to cover the costs allocable
to patients eligible for reivbursement pursuant to such prograns. Future changes in the reimbursement rates or metheds of private or third—party payors or the implementation of
other measyres to reduce reimburserment for our services could result in a substantial reduction in our net operating revenues. As a result of competitive pressures, our ability to
maintain operating margins throngh price increases to private pationts is limited.

In addition, the failure to obtain, renew, or retain payor agreements with favorable contract terms may negatively impact our resylts of operations and/or revenue. Our
ability to contract with payors depends on our quality of service and reputation, as well as other factors of which we may have little or no control, such as state appropriations and
changes in provider eligibility requirements.

We are permitted to incur substantiatly more debt, which could further exacerbate the risks described above. We and our subsidiaries mey be able to incur substantial
indebtedness in the future. Ffdebt is added, the related risks that we now face could ntensity.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

We conduct business in a heavily regulated industry, and changes in, or violations of regulations nuxy resuli in increased costs or sanctions that reduce our revenue
and profitability. In the ordinary course of our business, we are regularly subject to inquiies, investigations and audits by federal and state agencics to determine whether we are
in compliance with regulations goverming the operation of, and reimbursement for, skilled nursing facilities and nwising hones, assisted Eving and independent living facilities,
hospice, home health agencies, behavioral health hospitals, and our other operating areas. These regulations include those relating to licensure, certification and enrollment with
government prograns, conduct of operations, ownership of facilities, construction of new and additions to existing facilitles, allowable costs, adequacy and quality of services,
qualifications and training of personnel, communications with patients and consumers, billing and coding for services, adequacy and ranner of documentation for services
provided, minimum direct care spending ratios, services and prices for services, and pharmaceuticals and controlled substances. Various Jaws, including federal and state anti-
Iickback and anti—fraud statutes, prohibit certain business practices and relationships that might aflect the provision and cost of health care setvices reimbursable under federal
and/or state health care prograns such as Medicare and Medicaid, including the payient or receipt of reruneration for the refemal of patients whose care will be paid by federal
governmental programs or fee-splitting anangements between health care providers that are designed to induce the referal of patients to a provider for medical products and
services. Furthermore, many states prohibit business corporations fremproviding or holding themselves cut as a provider of medical care,
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In addition, the Stark Law broadly defines the scope of prohibited physician refersals under federal hoalth care prograwms to providers with which they have ownership or
other financial amangements. Many states have adopted, or ate considering, legislative proposals simitar te these laws, some of which extend beyond federal health care prograns,
to prohibit the payment or receipt of renuneration for the refenal of patients and physician referrals regardloss of the source of the paynent for the care.

We also are subject ta potential lawsuits under a federal whistle-blower statute designed 1o cowbat fraud and abuse in the health care industry, known as the federal False
Claims Act. These lawsuits can involve significant monetary awards to private plaiatiffs who successfully bring these suits. Whena private party brings a qui tamaction under the
False Claims Act, it files the complaint with the court under seal, and the defendant will generally not be aware of the lawsuit until the govemnent makes a determnation whether it
will intervene and take a ead in the litigation.

These laws and regulations arc complex and limited judicial or regulatory interpretation exists. We cannot assure you that govemmental officials charged with
responsibility for enforcing the provisions of these laws and regulations will not assert that one or more of our arrangements are n violation of the provisions of such laws and
regulations.

The regulatory environment surrounding the post-acute and long—term caro industry has intensified, particularly for larger for—profit, nulti-facility providers like us, The
federal government has irposed extensive enforcement policies resulting in a significant increase in the number of inspections, citations of regulatory deficlencies and other
regulatory sanctions, icluding terminations from the Medicare and Medicaid programs, denials of payment for new Medicare and Medicaid admissions and civil monctary
penalties.

If we fail to obtain or renew required regulatory approvals or licenses or fail to conply, or ate perceived as failing to comply, with other extensive laws and regulations
applicable to our business, we could have our licenses suspended oz reveked, become incligible to reccive govemment program reinburserment, be required to refund amounts
received from Modicare, Medicaid or private payors, suffer civik or criminal penaltics, suffer damage to cur reputation in various maskets or be required to make significant changes
to our operations, Any of these sanctions could have a rmtorial adverse effect on our operations and fmancial condition. Furthermore, should we lose licenses or certifications for
many of our facilities as a result of regulatory action or otherwise, we could be deemed in default under some of our agreemonts, inchuding agreements goveming outstanding
indebtedness,

We have established policies and procedures that we believe are sufficient to ensure that we will operate In substantial conpliance with these anti-fiaud and abuse
tequirements. From tine to time, we may seek guidance as to the interpretation of these laws; however, there can be no assurance that such laws will ultimately be interpreted in a
menner consistent with our practices. In addition, we could be forced to expend considerable tesources responding to an investigation or other enforcement action under these
laws or regulations, While we believe that our business practices are consistent with Medicars and Medicaid criteria, thosc ctiteria are ofien vague and subject fo change and
interpretation, We are unable to predict the fioture course of federal, state and local regulation or legistation, including Medicare and Medicaid stamtes snd regulations, cr the
intensity of federal and state enforcoment actions, Aggressive anti-fraud actions have had and could have an ndverse offect on our financial position, results of operations and
cash fiows. See Item |, "Business — Government Regulation™,
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We face uncertainty related to the COVID-I9 public health etnergency's ("PHE") expiration avd wind-dows, which coudd have a nmaterial adverse affect on our
business, financial condition, vesults of operations and cash flows, The extent to which the COVID-19 PHEs tenmination will affect our cpcrations will depend on future
dovelopments, which are highly uncertzin and cannet be predicted. There remmins uncertainty as to what changes will be made to the Health and Human Service’s emergency
response requirements for our skilled nursing facilities and senior living facilities in order to better respond to the issues experienced during the COVID-19 PHE. To the extent
COVID-19 is endemic in nature, we nay face continved challenges fromongoing infection control and emergency preparedness requirements made part of state laws or regulations.
Additionally, the long-termeffects of the COVID-19 pandemic may fnciude long-term dectine in demvand for care in skified nursing facilities and senior living facilities.

Our business may be inpacted by healthcare reform efforts. In recent yoats, the U.S. Congress and cerfain state legislatures have considered and passed a large number
of laws intended to result in significant changes to the healthears industry, including the ACA. The ACA affects howhealtheare services are delivered and reimmbursed through the
expansion of public and private health insurance coverage, reduction of growth in Medicare and Medicaid spending, and the establishment and expansion of prograns that tie
reimbursement to quality and integration, The ACA has been subject to legislative and regulatory changes and court challenges. Although the current presidential administration
has indicated that it generally intends to protect and strengthen the ACA, it is possible that there may be continued changes to the ACA, its inplementation or its interpretation,
Changes by Congress or government agencies could eliminate or alter provisions beneaficial to us, while leaving n place provisions reducing our reimbursement or otherwise
negatively inpacting our business,

There is also uncertainty regarding whether, when and what other health reform measures will be adopted, and the inpact of such efforts on providers as well as other
healthcare industry participants, Some nembers of Congress have proposed expanding govemnent-funded coverage, inchding proposals to expand coverage of federally-funded
insurance prograis as an alfemative to private insurance or to establish a single payor system {such refors are often referred to as "Medicare for AIl”), and some states have
implemented or proposed public health insurance options.

Tn addition, CMS adninistrators nay nske changes to Medicaid payment models or grant additional flexibilities to states in the adninistration of state Medicaid prograns,
including by expanding the scape of waivers under which states mmy implement Medicaid expansion provisions, ipese different eligibility or enrollment restrictions, or otherwise
fiuplement prograns that vary from federal standards. Other industry patticipants, such as private payors, ney also introduce financial or delivery systemreforms. We are unable to
predict the nature and success of such initiatives, Healthcare reforminitiatives ney have an adverse offect on our business, financial condition, and operating resuits.

Fe are required to comply with laws geverning the transmission and privacy and security af Tealth information. The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act of 1996, or ("HIPAA"), requires the use of unifortn clectronic data trans misgion standards for healthcate clains and payment transactions submitted or received electronically.
Tn addition, as required by HIPAA, the HIIS has issued privacy and security regulations that extensively regulate the use and disclosure of individually identifiable health
information: fknown as Protected Health Information, or PHI) and require covered entitics, including healthcare providers and health plans, and vendors known as "business
associates,” to mplement administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect the security of PHL Covered entities must report breaches of unsecured PHI without
unreasonable delay to affected mdividuals, HHS and, in the case of larger breaches, the media. The privacy, security and breath notification regulations have imposed, and will
continue to itipose, significant compliance costs on our operations,
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There are numerous other laws and legislative and regulatory initiatives at the federaland state levels addressing privacy and security concems. These laws vary and may
impose additional obligations or penalties. For example, additional federal and state obligations may apply to behaviaral, addictive disorder and other types of sensitive
information. Further, various state laws and regulations may require us to notify affocted individuals in the event of a data breach involving individually identifiable information
{even ifno health-related information is invelved), In addition, the Federal Trade Commission uses s consuner protection authorify to initiate enforcement actions in response to
data breaches. To the extent we fail to comply with one or more federal and/or state privacy and security requirements or if we are found to be responsible for the non-conpliance
of our vendors, we could be subject to substantiat fines or penalties, as well as third-party claims, and suffer harmto our reputation, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial position, results of operations and liquidity.

In addition, health care providers and industry participants are also subject to a growing number ofTequirements intended te promote the interoperability and exchange of
patient health information. For exanple, most health care providers and certain other entities are subject to informmtion biocking restrictions pursuant to the 2st Century Cures Act
that prohibit practices that are likely to interfere with the access, exchange or use of electronic health information, except as required by law or specified by HHS as a reasonable
and necessary activity.

We ave subject to enployinent-related laws and regrlations which could increase onr cost of doing basiness and subject us to significant back pay awards, fines and
fawsuhts. Our operations are subject to a variety of federal, state and local enploymentelated laws end reguiations, including, but not limited to, the U.S, Fair Labor Standards
Act, which governs such mattets as mininumwages, the Family Medical Leave Act, overtime pay, compensable time, record keeping and other working conditions, Title VIl ofthe
Civil Rights Act, the Employee Retirement Incame Security Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the National Labor Relations Act, regulations of the Egual Fmployment
Oppertunity Commission, regulations of the Office of Civil Rights, regulations of the Departirent of Labor (DOL), federal and state wage and hour laws, and a variety of similar laws
enacted by the federal and state govemments that govem these and other employment-related matters. Because labor represents such a large portion of our operating costs,
compliance with these evelving federal and state laws and regulations could substantially increase our cost ef doing business while fuilure to de so could subject us to significant
back pay awards, fines and lawsuits. In additien, federal praposals to infroduce a system of mandated health insurance and flexible work time and other similar initiatives could, if
implemented, adversely affect our operations. Our failure to comply with federal and state employment-related laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial position, results of operations and liquidity.

Our business is subject to a variety of federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations. As u healthcare provider, we face regulatory requirements in areas of
air and water quality control, medical and low—level radioactive waste management and disposal, asbestes nanageiment, response to mold and lead—-based paint in our facilitics and
emplovee safely.

As an operator of healtheare facilities, we alse may be required te investigate and remediate hazardous substances that are located on and/or under the property,
including any such substances that may have migrated off} or may have been discharged or transported fiom the property. Part of cur operations involves the handling, vse,
storage, transportation, disposal and discharge of medical, biological, infectious, toxic, flanmable, and other hazardous materials, wastes, poliutants, or confaminants. In addition,
we are sometimes unable to defermine with cortainty whether prior uses of our facdlities and preperties or surrounding propertics may have produced continuing environmensal
contamination or aoncompliance, particulardy wherc the timing or cost of making such deterntnations s not deemed cost effective, These activities, as well as the possible
presence of such materials in, on and under our propertics, tay result in damege to individuals, property, or the environment; may iterrupt operations er increase costs; may
result in legal Jiability, damages, injuncticns or fines; may resull in investigations, administrative procecdings, penalties or other govemmental agency actions; and may not be
covered by insurance.

We believe that we are in material compliance with applicable environtmental and occupational health and safety requirements. However, we cannot assure you that we will
not encounter environtental liablities in the fiture, and such liabilities may result in material adverse consequences to our operations or financial condition.

e are subject fo federal and state income taxes. Changes in tax Iaws and regulations or the interpretation of such laws could adversely affect owr position on
income taxes and estimated Income Habilities, Uncertain tax positions mey arise where tax iaws may allow for altemative interpretations ot where the timing of recognition of
incone is subject to judgment. We believe we have adeguate provisions for unrecognized tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions. Although we believe we have aceurately
estimated our tax labilities, uncerfainty of interpretation by various tax authorities and the possibility that therc are issues that have not been recognized by management conld
result in additional tax liability, We beligve that our liabilities reflect the anticipated outcome of known uncertain tax positions in conformity with ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes.

We are also subject to regular reviews, examinations, and audits by the Intemal Revenue Service and other taxing authorities with rospect to our taxes. There are
uncertainties and arbiguities in the application of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 {("TaxAct") and it is possible that the IRS could issuc subsequent guidance or take positions
on audit that differ from our interpretations and assunptions, Although we belicve our tax estinmies are reasonable, i 4 taxing authority disagrees with the positions we have
taken, we could face additional tax liability, including interest and penalties. Qur effoctive tax rate could be adversely affected by changes in the mix of eamings in states with
different statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred taxassets and liabilities, change n tax laws and regulations, changes in our interpretations of tax laws, including
the Tax Act. Unanticipated changes in our lax rates or exposure to additional income tax liabifities could affect our profitability. Thers can he no assurance thai payment of such
additional amounts upon final adjudication of any disputes will not have a material impact on our results of operations and financial position.
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Risks Related to Our Structare and Public Company Compliance

Failure to maintain effective internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Surbanes—Cudey Act conld result in a restatement of eur financial statements,
catise investors to lose confidence in owr financial statements and onr company and have a material adverse cffect on o Dusiness and stock price, We produce our
consolideted fnancial statements in accordance with the requirements of U.S. GAAP, Effective intemal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports to help
nitigate the risk of fraud and to operate successfully as a publicly traded corpany. As a public company, we are required to document and test our intemal control procedures in
order to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes—Owley Act of 2002, or Seotion 404, which requires annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our
intemal controls over financial reporting.

Testing and maintaining intemal controls can divert our management's attention from other matters that are important to our business. We may not be able to conclude on
an ongoing basis that we have effective intemal controk over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 or our independent registered public accounting firm may net be
able to issue an unqualificd report if we conclude that our intemal controls over financial reporting are not effective, If either we are unable to conclude that we have effective
internal controls over financial reporting or our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to provide us with an unqualified report as required by Scetion 404,
mvestors could lose confidence in our reported financial information and our company, which could result in a decline in the imatket price of our common stock, and cause us to fail
to meet our reporting ebligations in the future, whick in tum could impact our ability to raise additional financing ifneeded in the fature.

Increasing costs of being publicly owned are likely to inpact our fitnre consolidated firnancial position and results of operations. In connection with the Sarbancs—
Ordey Act of 2002, we are subject to rules requiring cur managenent to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. If we fail to have effective intemnal
controls and procedures for financial reporting in place, we could be unable to provide timely and reliable financial nformation which could, in turm, have an adverse effect ont our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

1

Significant regulatory changes, including the Sarbanes—Oxley Act and rules and regulations promalgated as a result of the Sarbancs—Oxley Act, bave increased, and in
the future, are lkely to further increase general and administrative costs. In order to comply with the Sarbanes—Oxley Act of 2002, the listing standards of the NYSE exchange, and
rules implenented by the SEC, we have Lad to hire additional personnel and utilize additional outside legal, accounting and advisory services, and may continue to require such
additional resources, Morcover, in the rapidly changing regulatory environment in which we operate, there is significant uncertainty as to what will be required to comply with
meny of the regulations. As a tesull, we may be required to spend substantially more than we carrently estimate, and may need to divert resources from other activities, as we
develop our compliance plans.

Provision for losses in our financial stafements may nof be adeguate. 1oss provisions in our financial statements for sclf-insured programs are made on an
undiscounted basis in the relevant period. Thesc provisions ate based on intemal and extemal evaluations of the merits of individual claims, analysis of clains history and
mdependent actuarially determined estimates, Our management reviews the nethods of detenmining thesc estimates and establishing the resulting accrued liabilities frequently,
with any material adjustments resulting from being reflected in current eamings, Although we believe that our provisiens for seif-insured losses in our financial statemenis are
adequate, the ultimate lisbility may be in excess of the amounts recorded. In the event the provisions for losses reflected in our financial statements are inadequate, our financial
condition and results of operations may be materally affected,

Implementation of new information technology could cause business Interruptions and negatively affect our profitability and cash flows. We continue to refine and
impletrent our information technolegy to improve customer service, enhance operating sfficiencies and provide more effective management of business operations, Implementation
of information technology cartes tisks such as cost overrans, ptoject delays and business interruptions and delays, If we experience a matetial business interruption as & result of
the implementation of our existing or future information technology infrastructure or are unabie to obtain the projected benefils of this new infrastructure, it could adversely affect
us and could have a material adverse effect on eurbusiness, results of operations, financial condition and cash tlows.

We depend on the proper function and availability of our information systems. We are dependent on the proper function and availability of our information systems.
Though we have taken steps to protect the safety and security of our information systems and the data maintained within those systems, there can be no assurance that our safety
and security measures and disaster recovery plan will prevent damage or interruption of our systems and operations, and wo may be vulnerable fo losses associated with the
improper finctioning, security breach or unavailability of our information systens. Failyre to maintain proper function and availability of our information systems could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and liquidity,
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In addition, certain software supporting our business and infomation systens are kcensed ta us by independent software developers. Qur inability or the inability of
these developers, to continue to naintain and upgrade our nformation systems and software could disrupt or reduce the efficiency of our operations. In addition, costs and
potential problens and intermuptions associated with the implementation of new or upgraded systens and technology or with maintenance or adequate support of existing systems
also could disrupt or reduce the efficiency of our operations and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of cperations and lquidity,

Cybersecurity risks could harm our ability to operate effectively, Cybersecurity refers to the combination of technologies, processes and procedures established to
protect information technology systems and data from unauthorized access, attack, or damage. We roly on our information systems to provide security for processing,
transmission and storage of confidential patient, resident, enployee, other consumer information, such as peisonally identifisble infommation, including information relating to
health protected by HIPAA. Although we have taken steps to protect the secutity of eur information systems, medical devices that store sensitive data, and the data maintained in
those systems and devices, it is possible that our safety and securify measures will not prevent improper functioning or the improper access or disclosure of personally identifiable
information such as in the event of cyber-attacks. We may be at increased risk because we outsource certain services or functions to, or have systems that interface with, third
parties, Some of these third parties may store or have access to our data and may not have sffective controls, progesses, or practices to protect our information from attack,
damage, or unautherized access. A breach orattack, including those caused by updates and other releases, affecting any of these third parties could hamm our business.

¥ personally identifiable information of our patients or others is improperly accessed, tampered with or distributed, we nay incur significant costs to remediate possible
injury to the affectod patients, and we muy be subjost to sanctions and civil or criminal penalties if we are found to be in viclation of the privacy or security rules under HIPAA or
other similar federal or state laws protecting confidential personally identifiable information.

Security breaches, mcluding physical or electronic brealk—ns, computer viruses, attacks by hackers and simvlar breaches can create system disruptions or shutdowns or
the unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. Additionally, healthcare businesses are increasingly targets of eyberattacks, whercby hackers distupt business aperetions
or obtain protected health infonmation, often demanding large ransoms. As cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required 1o expend significant additional resources to
continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and renediate any cybemsecurity yulnerabilities, The ecounence of any of these events could result in
ham to patients; business interruptions or delays; the loss, misappropriation, corruption, or unautherized access of data; litigation and potential iability under privacy, security
and consumer protection laws or other applicable laws; reputational damage; or federal and state govemmental inquiries. Any failure 1o maintain proper finctionality and seourity
of our information systems could have a nuterial adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations,

We may not be able to meet all our capital needs. We cannot assure you that our business will generate cash flow from operations that anticipated revenue growth and
jmproverment of operating efficiencies will be realized or that future borrowings will be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable s to service any future indebtedness cr to
fund our other liquidity needs, We may need to incurindebtedness, sell assets, or make certain discretionary capital expenditures.

The performances of onr fixed—income ard our equity Investment portfolios qre subject to a variety of investment risks. Our investment portilios are comprised
principally of fixed—incone securitics and cornmen equities. Cur fixed—ncome portfolio is actively managed by an investment group and includes short—tenm investments and
fixed-maturity securities. The performances of our fed-income and our equity pertfolios are subject to a nurber of risks, including:

e Inierest mte risk— the risk of adverse changes in the value of fxed—income securities as a result of increases in market interest rates,

+  Tnvestment credit sk — the risk that the value of certain investments may decrease in value due to the deterioration in financial condition of, or the liquidity available to,
one or nore issuers of those securities or in the case of asset-backed securities, due to the deterioration of the loans or other assets that underlie the securities, which,
each case, also includes the risk of permanent loss.,

e Congentration risk — the risk that the portfolio may be too heavily concentrated in the seouritios of National Health Investors "NHL” or ceriain sectors or industries, which
could result in a significant decrease in the value of the portfolio in the event ofa deterioration: of the financial candition, performance, or outlook of NHI, or those cerfain
sectors or ndustries.

o Liguidity risk — the risk that we wilt not be able to convert investrents into cash on favorable tems and on a thnely basis or that we will not be able to sell them at all,
when we desire to do so. Disruptions in the financial markets or a Inck of buyers for the specific securities thal we are trying to seil, could prevent us from liquidating

securities or cause a reduction in prices to levels that are not acceptable to us.
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In addition, the success of our nvestment strategies and asset allocations in the fixed-income perttalio may vary depending on the market environment. The fxed—
icome portfolio’s performance also nay be adversely inpacted if, among other factors: there is a lack of transparency regarding the underlying businesses of the issuers of the
securities that we purchase; credit ratings assigned to such secutities by nationatly recognized credit rating agencies are based on inconplete information or prove unwarranted; or
our risk mitigation strategies are ineffective for the applicable market conditions.

The conmon equity portfolio is subject to genem! movements in the values of equity markets and to the changes in the prices of the securities we hold, Bquity narkets,
scctors, industries, and individual securities may be subject to high volatility and to long periods of depressed or declining valuations,

I the fixed—incone or equity portiblios, or both, were to suffer a decrease in value due to market, sectors, or issuer—specific conditions to a substantial degree, cur
liquidity, financial position, and financial results could be raterially adversely affected.

Onr stock price is volatile and fluctuations in our operating results, quarterly earnings and other factors may result in declines in the price of owr common stock,
Fquity markets are prone to, and in the last few years have experienced, extrems price and volume fluctuations. Volatility over the past few years has had a significant inpact on the
nurket price of securities issued by nany conpanies, including us and other conpanies in the healthcare industry. ¥ we are unable to operate our businesses as profitably as we
have in the past or as our stockholders expect us te in the future, the market price of our common stock will likely decling as stockhoklers could sell shares of cwr conimon stock
when it bocomes apparent that the narket expectations nuy not be realized. In addition to cur operating results, many econarmc and other factors beyond our control could have
an adverse effect on the price of our common stock inclading:

¢ general economic conditions;

e developments generally affecting the healthcare industry;

e stmtegic actions, such as acquisitions or restructurings, or the introdugtion of new services by us or our competiors;
e newlaws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;

e litigation and govemmental nvestigations;

e changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;

s investor perceptions ofus and our business;

¢ actions by institutional or other large stockholders,;

*  quarterly variations in operating results;

e changes in fmancial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts;

s press rekeases ornegative publioity relating to our competitors orus or relating to trends in health care;
»  sales of stock by insiders;

natural disasters, terrorist attacks and pandemics; and
¢ additions or departures of key personnel,

We may ot be able to pay or maintain dividends and the failure to do so would adversely affect our stock price. We currently pay a quatterly dividend on our
conmen stock and our Roard intends fo continue to pay & quarterly dividend. Howeves, our ability to pay and maintain cash dividends is based on many tactors, including our
financial condition, funds fiom operations, the level of our capital expenditures and future business prospects, our ability to nuke and finance acquisitions, anticipated operating
cost levels, the level of detand for our beds, the rates we charge and actual results that may vary substantially from estimates. Some of the factors are beyond our control and a
change i any such factor could affect ourability to pay or maintain dividends. The failure Lo pay ot maintain dividends could adversely affect cur stock price.

M 18,  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM1C, CYBERSECURITY

The Company’s Board of Directors takes seriously both the responsibility to puard against cybersecurity threats and its conpliance with the SFC Cybersecurity
regulations adopted on July 26, 2023, The Board of Directors receives an annual cybersecurity update from the Chiet Information Officer (CIO) and Chief Infermation Security
Officer (CIS0) at every Novenber Board meeting and, accordingly, received its customary detailed briefing fiomthe CIO and CISO at its Novendber 2, 2023 meeting, The Board also
received an extensive separate briefing this year on cybersecurity threats and regulations presented by the CIO and cutside expert consuliants at its August 3, 2023 meeting.

The CIO reports relovant information regarding cybersecurity threats end risks to the Certification Committee, which is chaired by the Chaimman of the Audit Committes.
The Chaiman of the Audit Committee will then elevate any watters of significance, as warranted, to the full Audit Commitiee, The Audit Cormmittee can then further elevate nutlers
to the full Board of Directors, as necessary or required.

The Company has adopted processes to identify, assess, and manage material sks from cybersecurity threats. It has also adopted processes to evaluate material effects,
or reasonably hkely nuterial effects, of risks from cybersecurity threats and previous cybersecurity incidents, The Corpany has adopted processes to assess and evaluate the
necessity of any material disclosures required on Form 8-K.

The Company’s CIO has more than 40 years of experience in mfommtion technolegy and cyber matters in healthcare. The Company’s CISO has 26 years in cybersecurity
natters and has served as the Conpany’s CISO for 6 years, The Corpany has an Tncident Response Planning Committee who will meet, as necessary, to address, identify, and
nunage any matetial cybersecurity threats. The Company also has a crisis team consisting of the Conpliance Officer, General Counsel, Chief Finaneial Officer, Human Resources
Officer, Facilities Management Administrator, and the Network Systems Administrator, which will be engaged ifan event poses a significant risk to the Coinpany.

The Conpany and the Board of Directors are committed to remaining updated on cvolving cybersecurity reguiations and best practices, as well as the development and
amendment of processes to meet these changing demands.
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TTEM 2, PROPERTIES

Skilled Nursing Facilities

Licensed
State _ _ City Center Name Affiliation Beds

Alabama : . Anniston NHC HealthCare, Anniston Leased(l) 151
Moulton NHC BealthCare, Moulton Leased(l) 136
Georgia Fort Qglethotpe NEIC HealthCare, Fort Oglethorpe Crwmned 135
' ) Rossville NHC HealthCare, Rossville Owned 112
Kentucky (lasgow NHC HealthCare, Glasgow Leased(!) 194
Missouri Desloge NHC HealthCare, Desloge Leased(L) 120
Independence The Villages of Jackson Creck Leased 120
Independence The Villages of Jackson Creek Memory Care Leased 70
Joplin NHC HealthCare, Joplin Leased(1) 126
Kennett 'NHC HealthCare, Kennett Leased(1) 170
Macon Macon Health Care Center Owned 120
" Osage Beach Osage Beach Rehabilitation and Health Care Center Owmed 94
St, Charles NHC HealthCare, St. Charles Leased(l} 120
St. Louis NHC HealthCare, Maryland Heights Leased(l) 220
St. Peters Villages of St. Peters Ieased 130
Springfield Springfield Rehabilitation and Health Care Center Leased 146
West Plains NHC HealthCare, West Plains Owned 14
South Carolina Anderson NHC HealthCare, Anderson Teased(l) 290
Bluffton WHC HealthCare, Bluffton Ovmed 120
Charleston NHC BHealthCare, Charleston Owned 132
Clinton NHC HealthCare, Clinton Owned 131
Columbia NHC HealthCare, Parklane Owned 130
Greeawood NHC HealthCare, Greenwood Leased(l) 152
Greenville NHC HealthCare, Greeaville Owned 176
Taurens NHC HealthCare, Laurens Leased(l) 176
Lexington NHC HealthCare, Lexington Owned 170
Mauldin WHC BealthCare, Mauldin Owned 180
Murrells Inict NHC HealthCare, Garden City Owned 148
Morth Augusta NHC HealthCare, North Augusta Owned 192
Sumter NIHC HealthCare, Sunter Managed 138
Ternessee Athens NHC HealthCare, Athens Leased(1) 8
Chattanooga NHC HealthCare, Chattanooga Leased(1) 200
Columbia NHC HealthCare, Columbia Owned 106
Columbia NHC-Maury Regional Transitional Care Center Owned 112
Cookeville NHC HealthCare, Cookeville Managed 104
Dickson NHC HealthCare, Dickson Lzgased{1) 191
Dunlap NHC HealthCare, Sequatchie Leased(1) 110
Farragut NHC HealthCare, Farragut Owned 106
Franidin NHC Place, Cool Springs Ovmed 186
Franklin NHC HealthCare, Frankiin Leased(1) 80
Gallatin NHC Place, Summmer Owned 92
Hendersonville NHC HealthCare, Hendersonville Leased(l) 122
Johnson City NHC HealthCare, Johnson City Leased(1) 167
Kingsport WHC HealthCare, Kingsport Ovwned 0
Knoxville NHC HealthCare, Fort Sanders Owned 166
Kaoxville Holston Heaith & Rehabilitation Center Owned 94
Knoxville NHC BealthCare, Knoxville Ovwmed 127
Lawrenceburg NHC HeathCare, Lawrenceburg Managed 96
Lawrenceburg NHC HealthCare, Scott Leased(l) 60
Lewisburg NHC HealthCare, Lewisburg Leased(1) 100
Lewisburg NHC HealthCare, Cakwood Leased(1) 50
MeMinnville NHC HealthCars, McMinuville Leased(!) 115
Milan NHC HealthCare, Milan Leased(l) 17
Murfreesboro AdansPlace Ovmed 90
Murfreesboro NHC HealthCare, Murfreesboro Managed 181
‘Nashville Lakeshove, Heartland Owned 66
Nashvilie Lakeshore, The Meadows Managed 113
Nashville The Health Center of Richiand Place Managed 107
Naghville NHC Place at The Trace Owned 90
Nashville West Meade Flace Managed 120
Oak Ridge - NHCHealthCare, Onk Ridge Managed 120
Pulaski NHC HealthCare, Pulaski Leased(l) 102
Smithville NHC HealthCare, Snithville Leased(]) 114
Somerville WHC HealthCare, Sonerville Teased(l) 7
Sparta NHC HealthCare, Sparta Leasced(1) 96
Springfield NHC HealthCare, Springfield Owned 107
Tullahoma NHC HealthCare, Tullahoma Ovwmed 20
Virginia Bristol NHC HealthCare, Bristol Leased(D) 120
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Behavioral Health Hospitals

Licensed
State _ : City Center Name Affiliation Beds

Missouri - - Maryland Heights Maryland Heights Center for Behavioral Health Owned 16

Osage Beach Osage Beach Center for Cognitive Disorders Owmed 16

Tennessee Knoxville Knoxville Center tor Behavioral Medicine Owned(2} 64
Assisted Living Units

State City Center Name Affilintion Units

Alabama Anniston NHC Place/Anniston Owned 67

Kentucky Clasgow NHC HealthCare, Glasgow Leasecd(l} i2

Florida - " Merritt Island Sodatis Senior Living Merritt Island Owned 95

Stuart Sodalis Senior Living Stuart Cwned 96

Vero Beach Sodalis Senior Living Vero Beach Qwned 129

Missouri - &t Chatles *. Lake St, Charles Retirement Center Leased{1) 26

Independence ~ The Villages of Jackson Creck Leased 52

St. Peters ) Villages of St, Peters Leased 52

St, Peters Villages of 8t Peters Memory Carg Owned 60

Scuth Carclina Bluffton The Palmetos of Bluffton Cwned 78

Charleston The Palimettos of Charleston QOwmed 60

Columrbia The Palmettos of Parklane Owned 73

Greenville The Palmettos of Mauldin Owned 45

Murrells Iniet The Palmettos of Garden City Oramed 80

Tennessee Dickson NHC HealthCare, Dickson Leased(!) 20

Farragut NHC Place, Farragut Cwmed 84

Farragut NHC Place, Cavetto Hill Owned 60

Franklin NHC Flace, Cool Springs QOwned 89

Callatin NHC Place, Sunmer Owned 80

Murfreesboro AdansPlace o Owmed 106

Nashville Lakeshore Heartland Qwned 9

: Nashiville Lakeshore, The Meadows Managed 0

Nashville Richland Place Managed 24

Nashville The Place at the Trace Owned 80

Smithville NHC HeathCare, Smithville Leased(!) 6

Somerville NHC HealthCare, Somerville Leased(l) 6
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Retirement Apartments
State_ City Retirement Apartments Affiliation Units
Missouri S8t Chardes T Lake St. Charles Retirement Apts. Leased(1) 152
Tennessee s Chattenooga Parkwood Retirement Apartments Leased(l) 30
Johnson City Colonial Hill Retirerrent Apartments Leassd(L) 63
Musfreesboro CAdamsPlace oo Owned 93
Nashville Richland Place Retirerment Apts. Managed 137
Homecare Agencles
State City Homecare Agencics
Florida Chipley NHC HomeCare of Chipley
Crawfordville NHC HomeCare of Crawfordville
Meritt Island NHC HomeCare of Merritt Island
Panama City NEC HomeCare of Panama City
Port St. Joe NHCHomeCare of Port St, Joe
Quincy NHC HoneCare of Quincy
Taliahassee NHC HomeCare of Tallahassee
Vero Beach NHC HomeCare of Verc Beach
South Carolina ~ Adken NHC HomeCare of Aiken
' ) + Anderson NHAC HomeCare of Anderson
Creenville NHEC HomeCare of Greenvilie
“Greenwood NHC HemeCare of Greenwooad
Laurens NHC HomeCare of Laurens
Mumeils Inlet NHC HoneCare of Murrells Inlet
Summerville NHC HomeCare of Low Country
" West Cohumbia NHC HomeCare of Midlands
Tennessee ) ' Athens NHC HoneCare of Athens
Chattanooga NHC HonxeCare of Chattanooga
Columbia NHC HomeCare of Columbia
Cookeville NEC BomeCare of Cookeville
Dickson NHC HomeCare of Dicksan
TFranidin NHC HomeCare of Franklin
Hendersonville NHC HomeCare of Hendersenville
Johnson City NHC BomeCare of Johnson City
Knoxville NHC HomeCare of Knoxville
Lawrenceburg NHC HoneCare of Lawrencebury
Lewisburg NHC HomeCare of Lewisburg
McMinnville NHC HomeCare of McMinnville
Milan NHC HomeCare of Milan
Murfieesbora NHC HomeCare of Murfreesboro
Nashville Ascension at Home St. Thomsas (3
Pulaski NHC HomeCare of Pulaski
Somerville NHC HomeCare of Sonerviile
Sparta NHC HomeCare of Sparta
Ypringfiekd NHC HomeCare of Springfield
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Hospice Agencies
State _ City Hospice Agencies

Georgia T Rossville R Caris Healtheare — Rossville

Missouri ‘St. Louis Caris Healthcare — 8t. Louis

South Carolina -Andetson Caris Healthcare - Anderson
Bluffion Caris Healthcare — Bluffton
Charleston Caris Healthcare — Charleston
Columbia Caris Healthcare — Columbia
Creenville Caris Healthcare - Greenville
Greenwood Caris Healthcare — Greenwood
Myrtle Beach Caris Healthcare — Myitie Beach
Sumter Caris Healthcare — Sumter

Tennessee Athens Caris Healthcare — Athens
Chattanooga Caris Healthcare — Chattanooga
Colunbia Caris Healthcare — Columbia
Cookeville - " Caris Healthcare — Cookeville
Crossville Caris Healthcare ~ Crossvills
‘Dickson Caris Healthcare — Dickson
Grgeneville Caris Healthcare — Greenevilie

“Johnson City Caris Healthcare — Jolinson City

Knoxville Caris Healthcare — Knoxville
Lenoir City Caris Healthcare — Lenoir City
Milan Caris Healthcare — Milan
Murfreesboro Caris Healthcare — Murfreesboro
Nashville Caris Healthcare — Naghville
Sevierville Caris Healthcare — Sevierville
Somerville Caris Healthcare — Somerville
Springfield Cars Healthcare — Springfield
Tullahoma Caris Healthcare — Tuilahoma

Virginia Big Stone Gap Caris Healtheare — Big Stone Gap

Bristol
Cedar Bluff

Healtheare Facilities Leased to Others

Caris Healthcare — Bristol
Caris Healthcare — Cedar Blaff

The following table ingludes certain information regarding healtheare facilities which are owned by us and leased to others:

Name of Faeility Laocation No, of Beds
Skitled Nursing Facilitles
Solaris HealthCare North Naples Neples, FL 60
Solaris HealthCare Coconut Creek Coconut Creek, FL 120
Solaris HealthCare Daytona Daytona Beach, FL 73
Solaris HealthCare Irperial Naples, FL 113
Solaris HealthCare Windermere Orlando, FL 120
Solaris HealthCare Charlotte Harbor Port Charlotie, FL 180
The Health Center at Standifer Place Chattanooga, TN 444
Solaris HealthCare Lake City Lake City, FL 120
Solaris HealthCare Pensacola Pensacoda, FL 180
Assisted Living No. of Units
Standifer Place Assisted Living Chattanooga, TN !

(1YLeased fromNHI

{2) Knoxville Center for Behavioral Medicine is owned by separate limited Hability companies. The Conpany awns 65% of the operations entity and owns 89%

entity.

(MAscension at Home St. Thomas is owned by a separate limited liability company, The Company owns 50% olthe limited liability company,
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ITEM 3, LEGAL PROCEIDINGS
General and Professional Liability nsurance and Lawsuits

The senior care idustry has experienced increases in both the number of personal injury/wrongful death claims and in the severity of awards based upon alleged
negligence by nursing facilities and their enployees in providing care to residents. The Company has been, and continues to be, subject to claims and legal actions that arise in the
ordinary course of business, inchiding potential clains related to patient care and treatment, The defense of these lawsuils may result in significant legal costs, regardless of the
outcome, and can result in large settlement amounts or damage awards,

As a result of the terns of our insurance policies and our use of a wholly-owned insurance conpatyy, we have retained signifieant self-insured risk with respect to general
and professional fiability, Additional insurance is purchased through third party providers that serve to supplement the coverage provided through our wholly-owned captive
insurance company. We use independent actuaries to assist management in estinating our exposures for claims cbligations (for both asseried and unasserted clains) related to
exposures in excess of coverage limits, and we taintain roserves for these obligations. It is possible that clains against us could exceed our coverage lmits and our reserves, which
would have a naterial adverse effect on our financia! position, results of operations and cash flows,

General Litigation
Qui Tam Litigation

tnited States g srica, ex rel_Jenmifer Cook and Sally Gaither v _fntegrated Behaviorg! Heglth, Iie., NHC HealthCarg, on, LLC, et ase No, 2:20)-

0087 7-AMM (N.D. Alg.} This is a qui tam casc originally filed under seal on June 22, 2020. The United States declined intervention on March 1, 2021. Thereafier, the Plaintiffs filed
an amended Complaint against Dr. Sanja Malhotra, Integrated Behavioral Health, Inc. and other entities that Dr. Malhotra was alleged to own or in which he allegedly had a
financial intetest. The Complaint also named multiple skilled nursing facilities as Defendants, including NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC, an affiliate of National HealthCare
Corporaticn, The Complaint alleged that nurse practitioners affiliated with Dr. Malhotra provided free services to the facilities in exchange for referrals to entities owned by orin
which Dt Malhotra had a financial interest i violation of the False Claims Act and Anti-Kickback Statute, NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC denied the allegations and filed a motion
to dismiss on Novewber 4, 2021, On January 28, 2022, the district court stayed this matter and adminisiratively terminated the notion to dismiss pending the U.S. Suprene Court’s
veview of a petition for certiorar filed in an untelated matter but involving one of the legal arguments raised in the motion to dismiss, Thereafter, the U.S. Supreme Court denied the
petition for certiorari in the unzelated matter. As a resull, NHC Healthcare/Moulton, TIC renewed its motion fo dismiss, The District Court granted NHC Healtheare/Moulton's
Motion to Dismiss, along with other pending Motions to Dismiss, and entered an Order of Distissal on March 23, 2023 and an Amended Order of Dismissal on April 4, 2023, which
dismissed the case in its entirety with prejadice with respect to the claims assertod by the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on April 20, 2023 to appeal the dismissal
to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eeventh Ciresit, Cn Decermber 21, 2023, the Heventh Circuit entered an Order affirming the District Court’s disnissal of the claits.
The Plaintiffs have 90 days fiom the entry of the dismissal Order to file a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari with the United States Supreme Cowrt requesting a review; otherwise, the
Ouder affiming dismissal issued by the Eleventh Circuit will be final,

ITEMA4, MINESAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable,
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PARTI
ITEMS. MARKET FOR REGIS TRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHAS TS OF BQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information

Our common stock is listed and traded on the NYSE-Anertican exchange under the symbol "NHC” On Decenber 31, 2023, NHC had approxinately 13,250 stockholders,
comprised of approximately 1,850 stockholders of record and an additional 11,300 stockholders indicated by security position listings,

Dividend Policy

We do not have a formal dividend policy, but we currently intend to contiug to pay regular quarterly dividends to the holders of our commen stock. The Company has
paid a cormon dividend since 2004, although there can be no assurances that our quarterly dividends will be declared, paid or increased in the future.

Stock Repurchase Programs

Tn 2023, the Comrpany purchased 44,349 shares of its conmon stock for a total cost of $2,482,000, The sharcs were funded from cash on hand and were cancelled and
returned to the status of authorized but unissued.

Equity Compensation Plans
The following table sets forth information regarding our equity compensation plans;
Number of sccurities

remaining available for
future issuance under

Number of securities to be Weighted average equity conpensation
issued upon exercise of exercise price of plans (excluding
outstanding options, outstanding options, securities reflected in
Plan Category warrants and tights watrants and rights column {a})
(@ (b) (©)

Exquity compensation plans approved by security helders 588,534 § 6430 1,751,461
Fiquity compensation plans net approved by security holders = — =
Total 588,534 9§ 61.30 1,751,461
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The following graph and chart conpare the cumulative total steckholder retum for the period from January 1, 2019 through Decenber 31, 2023 on an investment of $160 in
{) NHC's conimon stock, (i) the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index ("S&P 500 Index") and (jii) the Standard & Poor’s Health Care Index {"S&P Health Care Index™). Cunmlative
total stockholder retumn assumes the reinvestment of all dividends, Stock price perfornances shown in the graph are not necessarily indicative of future price performances.

Comparison of Cumulafive Total Retum

LI
406
5180
5100
4148
s1
L3
¥ P
RO 0 2076 FUEES Frs FIRES
e HHE B3 113 FSE] 354 Ak 5134
e LAty 4in S1%6 L0 L) Lrey
- B E P Hoalth Carn Fl’iﬂi?k“ p3ails} 413% 4137 B3 717 5174

28




Table of Contents

ITEM6,  [RESERVED]

ITEM 7, MANAGFMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Oherview

Nationa! HealthCare Corporation, which we also refer to as NHC or the Company, is a kading provider of post—acute care and senior health care services, At December 31,
2093, we operate or manage 68 skilled nursing facilities with 8,732 licensed beds, 26 assisted living facilities with 1,501 units, five independent living facilities, three behavioral
health hospitals, 35 honecare agencies, and 30 hospice agencies located in 8 states. In addition, we provide nanagement services, accounting and financial services, and insurance
services to third pany operators of healtheare properties. We also own the real estate of 10 healthcare properties and lease these properiies to third party operators.

Legislation and Government $timolus Due to COVID-19

The U.8. govemment cnacted several laws beginning in March 2020 designed to help the nation respond to the COVID-19 pandemic. The new laws impacted healthcare
providers in a variety of ways, but the largest legislation fom a monetary relief perspective was the CARES Act. Throu gh the CARES Act, as well as the PPPCHE, the federal
government allocated $178 billion to the Public Health and Social Services Emergency Fund, which is referred to as the Provider Relief Fund. The Provider Relief Fund is
administered through grants and other mochanisis to skilled nursing providers, honx health providers, hospitals, and other Medicare and Medicaid cnrolled providess to cover
uereimbursed health care related expenses ot lost revenue attributable to the public kealth emergency resulting from COVID-19.

The Provider Relicf Fund grants come with terms and condition certifications in which all providers are requited to submit documents to ensurc the funds arc used for
healthcare-related expenses or lost revenue attributable to COVID-15, The Company recorded $0, $11,457,000 and $63,360,000 of government stimulus income from the Provider
Relicf Funds for the yeats ended Deccmber 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The grant income was determined on a systomic basis in linc with the recognition of speeific
expenses and lost revenues for which the grants are intended to compensate. The Company''s assessment of whether the terrs and conditions for amounts received have been mot
for incame recognition and the Company's related income caleulation considered all frequently asked questions and other interpretive guidance issued to date by HHS.
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Executive Summary
Eamings

To monitor our eamings, we have developed budgets and nunagement reports to monitor labor, census, and the composition of revenues, During certain inflationary
times, ournet patient revenues and govemment reimbursement may not keep pace with inflationary increases in aur oxpenses, wh ich may cause net eamings to decline.

Cccupancy

A prinary area of nunagerpent focus continues to be the rates of occupancy within our skilled nursing facilities. The overall census (based on operational beds) in owned
and leased skilled nursing facilities for 2023 was 87.9% compared to 83.8% in 2022 and 80.6% in 2021,

The pandemic caused an increased strain on Anerica’s healthcare workforee, which has created the challenge of maintaining desirable patient census levels. Managenment
has undertaken & nunber of steps in otder to best position our current and fufure operations. This includes working internally to examine and improve systens to be most
responsive to referal sources and payors, as well as find creative initiatives to retain and attract qualificd healthcare professionals. Additionally, NHC is in various stages of
partnerships with hespital systens, payors, and other posi—acute alliances to better position ourselves so we are an active participant in the delivery of posi-acute healthcare
services.

Quality of Patient Care
CMS mtrodueed the Five-Star Quality Rating System (o help consumers, their families and caregivers conpare skilled nursing facilities more easily. The Five-Star Quality
Rating System gives each skilled nursing operation a rating ranging between one and five stars in various categorics (five stars being the best), The Company has always strived

for patient-centered care and quality outcomes as precursors to outstanding financial performance,

Tn Tuly 2022, CMS launched its enhanced Five-Star Quality Rating Systemn which integrates weekend staffing rates for nurses and information on annual turtover among
nurses and administrators, The tables below summarize NECs overall porformance in these Five-Star ratings versus the skilled nursing industry as of Decermber 31, 2023

NHC Ratings Industry Ratings
Tatal nunber of skilled nursing facilities, end of period 68
Nuber of 4 and 5-star rated skilled nursing facilities 40
Percentage of 4 and S-star rated skilled nursing facilities 59% 36%
Average rating for all skilled nursing facilities, end of period 3.6 2.9

Dewelopient and Growth

We are undertaking to expand our post—acute and senior health care operations while protecting our existing operations and tmarkets. The following table lists our recent
construction and purchase activities.

Type of Operation Deseription Size Location Placed in Service
Hospice- Acquisition 28 agencies Various June 2021
Hotrecare New Agency | agency Anderson, 5C January 2022
Hospice New Agency 1 agency Tullahona, TN March 2022
Behavioral Health Hospital New Facility 64 beds Knoxville, TN April 2022
Behavioral Health Hospital © . NewFacility 16 beds St. Louis, MO Tune 2022
Hospice New Agency lagency Cedar Bhff, VA March 2023
Skilled Mursing Acquisition 66 beds Nashville, TN May 2023
Homecare New Agency 1 agency Tallahassce, FL May 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 135 units Vero Beach, FL. July 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 95 units Merzitt Island, FL July 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 100 units Stuart, FL July 2023

Accrued Risk Reserves

Our accrued profossional lizbility and workers’ compensation reserves totaled $103,259,000 and $102,469,000 at Decomber 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are a
primaty arsa of managenent focus, We have sot aside restrictod sash and restricted marketable securities to fund our professional Lability and workers” compensation reserves.

As to exposure for professional lability clains, we have developed performance measures to bring focus to the patient care issucs most likely to produce professional
Hability exposure, including in-house acquired pressure ulcers, significant weight loss and numbers of falls, These programs for cettitieation, which we regularly modify and
improve, have produced measurable improvements in reducing these incidents, Our experience is that achjeving goals in these patient care arcas improves both patient and
employee satisfaction.
Secgment Reporting .

The Company has two reportable operating segments: (1) inpatient services, which inchides 1he operation of skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living
facilities, and behavioral health hospitals; and (2) homecare and hospive services. These reporiable operating segiments are consistent with information used by the Company’s
Chief Bxecutive Officer, as chief operating decision muker ("CODM™), to assess performance and allocate resources. The Company also reports an "all ather” category that
includes Tevenues fromrental income, management and accounting services fees, nsurance services, and costs of the carporate office.

The Company’s CODM evaluates performance and allocates capital resources to each segment based on an operating model that is designed to inprove the quality of
patient care and profitabifity of the Company, while enhancing long-term shareholder value, The CODM does not review assets by segment in his resource allocation and

therefore, assets by segment are not disclosed below,
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The following tables set forth the Conpany’s consolidated statenents of operations by business sognent (in thousands).

Revenuss:
Net patient revenues
Otherrevenues .
Net operating revenues

Costs and Fxpenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Other operating
“Facility rent
Depreeiation and amortization
“Interest a T
Total costs and expenses

Incomx {loss) before non-operating incone
Non-operating income
Unrealized gains on narketable equity securitics

Inceme before incone taxes

Revenues:
Net patient revenues
Other revenues
Government stimulas income
MNet opemting revenues and grant income

Costs and Bxpenses; -
Salaries, wages and benefits
Other operating
Facility rent
Depreciation and amoriization
Interest
Recovery of assets

Total costs and expenses

Incone before nen-operating income

Non-operating incone
Unrealized losses on marketable equity securitics

Income (loss} before income taxes

31

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Other lotal
3 956,077 % 131,537 - % 1,087,614
1,141 - 52,789 53,630
957,218 131,537 52,789 1,141,544
589,279 80,610 42,455 712,344
254,559 23,529 16,085 288,183
33,787 2,172 5,566 41,525
38,172 786 3,076 42,034
24 — - 3
916,121 107,097 64,192 1,084,410
41,097 24,440 (8,043) 57,134
- - 16,660 16,660
- - 14,944 14,044
$ 41,007 $ 24,440 23201 § 88,738
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice Al Other Total
3 900231 § 128,854 -3 1,020,085
136 - 45,060 45,196
11,457 - - 11457
911,824 128,854 45,060 1,085,738
580,707 77,688 27,174 686,169
251,355 26319 11,698 285,372
32,956 2327 5,694 40,977
36,522 691 3276 40,489
563 - - 563
- - (3,728 (3,728)
902,103 107,025 44,714 1,053,842
9,721 21,829 346 31,896
- - 11,144 11,141
- - (15,806) (15,806}
3 9721 § 21,629 4319 3 27,231
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Year Fnded December 31, 2021

inpatient Homecare
o Services and Hospice All Qther Total

Revenues; : DTS ST i - " — =

Net patient revenues $ 268,687 § 96,855 $ - 5 965,542

Otherrevenues o 386 - 45,014 45,400

CGovernnent stimulus income 63,360 - — 63,360

Net operating revenues and grant income 932,433 96,855 45,014 1,074,302

Costs and Expenses:

Salarics, wages and benefits 557,604 59,226 49,233 666,063

Other operating 238,354 16,053 12,347 266,754

Facility rent 32,819 2,064 5,935 40,818

Depreciation and amorstization 36,850 443 3,339 40,672

Interest 845 - - 845

Impairment of assets 4497 - 3,728 8,225

Totalcosts and expenses 871,009 77,786 74,582 1023377

Income (loss) before non-operating income 61,424 19,069 {29,568) 50,925
Nonh-operating incone - - 17,774 17,774
Cain on acquisition of equity nethod investment ' - - 95,202 95,202
Unrealized losses on marketable equity securities o - — (13,863) (13,863)
Income before income faxes oo T o $ 61424 3 19060 % 69,545 3 150,038

Non-GAAP Financial Presentation

The Company is providing certain non-GAAP financial measares as the Cotnpany believes that these figutes are helpful in allowing investors lo more acourately assess
the cngoing nature of the Company’s aperations and measure the Company’s performance more consistently across periods, Thersfore, the Company beligves this information is
neaningful in addition to the mformation contained in (he GAAP presentation of financial information. The presentation of this additional non-GAAP financial information is not
intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP,

Specifically, the Company belicves the presentation of non-GAAT financial informmtion should exclude the following items: the unrealized gains or fosses on our
nurketable equity securities, operating results for start-up healtheare operations not at full capagity, any gains on the acquisition of equity method investnents, gains on the sale
of property and equiptent, stock-based cormpensation expense, and impaimveits ot recoveries of long-lived assets and notes receivable.

The operating results for the start-up operations not at filll capacity inclde the fellowing: for the year ended December 31, 2023, included are operations that began from
2021 to 2023, which is two behavioral health hospitals, two homecare agencies, and two hospice agencies. For the year ended Decerrber 31, 2022, included are facilities that began
operations from 2020 to 2022, which is two behavioral health hospitals, ene hospice agency, and one homecare agency. For the year ended December 31, 2021, included are
facilities that began operations from2019 to 2021, which is two behavioral health hospitals and one memory care facility,
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The table below provides reconciliations of GAAP to non-GAAP items (dollars in thousands, excepl per share daia):

Net income attributable to National HealthCare Corporation
Non-GAAP adjustments:

Unrealized {gains) losses on narketable equity securities

Cain on sale of property and equipment

Gain on acquisition of equity method investment

Stock-based compensation expensc

Operating results for newly-opened operations not at full capacity

Impaimment (recovery) ofassets

Income tax expénse (benefit) on non-GAAP adjustments
Non-GAAP Net Income

GAAP diluted camings per share |
Non-GAAP adfustments:
Unrealized (gains) losses on marketable equity securities
Gein on sale of property and equipment '
Cain on acquisition of equity method investment
Stock-based conpensation expense )
Operating results for newly-opened operations nat at full capacity
Timpairment (recovery) of assets
Non-GAAP diluted earnings per share

Results of Operations

The following table and discussion set forth itors Fom the cons
yoars ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,

Year Fnded December 31,
2023 2022 2021

$ 66,798 § 22445 % 138,590
(14,944) 15,806 13,863

(6,230 - -
— - (95,202)

2,782 2,012 2,620

2,359 5416 922

- {3,728) 8,225
w4 169 (5,228) (6,373)

3 54,934 8 37323 % 62,645
$ 434 § 145 % 899
0.72) 0.76 0.67

(0,30} - —
- - (6.16)

13 013 0.13

0.10 026 0.04

— (0.18) 039

$ 355 § 242 % 4,06

Percentage of Net Operating Revenues

Revenues:

Net patient revenues

Other revenues

Government stinulus income

Net operating revenues and grant income

Costs and Bxpenses:

Salaties, wages and benefits

Other operating

Facility rent

Depreciation and amortiztion

Interest

Tnpairment {recovery) of assets

Total costs and expenses

Incone fromoperations
Non-eperating income
Gain on acquisition of equity methed investiment
Unrealized gains {losses) on merketable equity securities
Inconk before incone taxes
Incone tax provision
Net income
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net income attributable to cormmon stockholders of NHC

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
95.3% 94.8% 89.9%
4.7 42 42
— 1.0 59
100,0 100.0 100.0
624 632 620
252 26.6 24.3
16 33 3.8
37 i 38
01 0.1 0.1
- 0.3 0.8
95.0 971 95,3
5.0 29 4.7
1.5 10 1.7
- - 8.8
13 (14) (1.3)
7.8 2.5 13.9
@0 0.7 [¢5Y)]
5.7 1.8 12,9
0.2 03 60
5.9% 21% 12.9%
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y The following table sets forth the increase or {decrease) i certain items from the consolidated stajements of operations as compared to the prior peniod (dollars in
thousands).

Period to Period Incrense (Decrease)

2023 vs, 2022 2022 vs. 2021
B Amount Percent Arount Percent
Revenues: e BRI ’
Net patient revenues ) h - 58529 57% % 63,543 6.6%
Otherrevenues - " 8,713 19.3 {204) ©.4)
Government stinmlus income {11,457} {100.0) (51,903) (81.9)
" Net operating revenues and grant income 55,806 5.1 11436 1.1
Costs and Expenses:
Salaties, wages and benefits 26,175 38 20,106 30
Other operating {1,189) 0.4) 22,618 85
Facility rent 548 13 159 04
Depreciation and amertization 1,545 38 (183) [(423)
Interest {239} 2.5 {282) (33.4)
Timpairment (recovery) ofassets 3,728 100.0 {11,953) (145.3)
" Total costs and expenses 30,568 2.9 30,465 10
Incone from operations 25238 791 (19,029) (374)
Non—operating income 5519 49.5 (6,633) (37.3}
Cain on acquisition of cquity method investment — — (95,202) (100.0}
Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable equity securities 30,750 194.5 (1,943) {14.0)
Income before income taxes 61,507 2259 (122,807) (8L.9)
Income tax provision (16,196} (223.3) 3,697 338
Net income 45,311 2268 {119,110 (85.6)
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (958) (38.8) 2,965 596.6
Net inceme attributable to common stockholders of NHC $ 44,353 197.6% § (116,145) (#3.81%
2023 Compared to 2022

Results for the year ended December 31, 2023 cotpared to 2022 include a 5.1% increase in net operating revenues and grant incerme. The net operating revenues increase
was primarily driven by the continued oceupancy increase in cur skilled nursing facilities, as well as increases in skilled nursing per diems from some of cur governmental payors.

Exeluding the govemnment stinulus income and the seven skilled nursing facilities in Massachusetts and New Harpshire in which we ceased operations in September 2022, same-
facility net opetating reveres increased 11.3% as compared fo the sare period a year ago.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, GAAP net income attributable to NHC was $66,798,000 compared to net income of $22,445,000 for the same petiod in 2022,
Fxcluding the unrealized gains and losses in our nerketable equity securities portfvlio and other non-GAAP adiustments, adjusicd net income was $54,934,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2023 compared to $37,323,000 for the same perlod a year ago. The increase in non-GAAP eamings for the year ended Docember 31, 2023 compared to the same period
in the prior year was primarily due to the continyed occupancy increase in our skilled nursing facilities, skilled mursing per diemincreases flomsome of our govemiment payors, and
the continued reduction of nurse agency staffing expense within our operations,

Net operating revenues and grant incame

Net patient revenues totaled $1,087,614,000 an increase of 58,529,000, or 5.7%, gorpared to the prior year, Included in net patient revenues for the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2022, tespectively, is $20,214,000 and $19,442,000 of supplenental Medicaid payments that were received to help mitigate the inflatfonary labor and medical supplies
costs caused by the pandemic.

The overall average census i owned and leased skilled nursing facilities for 2023 was 87.9% compared to 83.8% in 2022, The composite skilled nursing facility per diem
incrensed 6.7% in 2023 compared to 2022, Medicare and managed care per diemrates increased 3.3% and 5.9%, respectively, in 2023 conpared to 2022, Medicaid and private pay
per diemmates increased 9.4% and 5.5%, respectively, in 2023 compared to 2022,

New operations, which include one skilled nursing facility acquired May 1, 2023, three assisted living facilities that we began operating on July 1, 2023, two behavioral
health hospitals, two hospice agencies and two homecare agencies, have attrfbuted to an morease of $25, 821,000 in net patient revenues for the year ended December 31, 2023
compared to the same period last year In Septerber 2022, the Company transferred the operations of seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetfs and New
Hanpshire, which resulted in net patient revenues decreasing 348,820,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the same perod last year,
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Other revenues in 2023 were $53,930,000, an increase of $8,734.000, or 19.3%, as further detailed in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements. In 2023, we contributed

tand to a newly-formed limited Eability company resulting in ar equity interest in the new entity. The fair value of the land contributed to the entity was $8,000,000 and the related
cost basis in the land was $1,770,000, which resulted in a gain of $6,230,000.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, we recorded $0 and $11,457,000 in government stimulus income related te funds received fromthe CARES
Act Provider Relief Fund,

Total costs and expenses
Total costs and expenses for 2023 increased $30,568,000, or 2.9%, to $1,084,410,000 from $1,053,842,000 in 2022.

Salarics, wages, and benefits increased $26,175,000, or 3.8%, to $712,344,000 from $686,165,000. Salaries, wages, and benefits as a percentage of net operating revenues
and grant income was 62.4% compared to 63.2% for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We continue fe face workforce and labor shortages within all ofour
operations. The labor and workforce shertages have resulted In us contracting with agency nurse staffing companics. The agency nurse staffing companies charge inflated houtly
rates; therefore, we are working diligently to find solutions to reduce and eliminate the agency nurse staffing within our healthcare operations, For the year ended December 31,
2023 our agency nurse staffing expenses decreased $30,682,000, or approximately 44.5%, cotpared to the same period a ycarago.

New operalions, which inciude one skilled nursing facility acquired May 1, 2023, throo assisted living facilities that we began opcraiing on July 1, 2023, two behavieral
health hospitals, two hospice agencies and two homecare agencics, have attributed to an increase in salaties, wages, and benefits of $13,565,000 for the year ended December 31,
2023 compared to the sarme period last year. In Scpiember 2022, the Comrpany transforred the operations of seven skilied nursing facilities located n Massachusetts and New
Hampshire, which resuited in salaries, wages, and benefits decreasing 331,920,000 for the year ended Decenber 31, 2023 conpared to the same period fast year.

Other operating expenses deoreased $1;189,000, or 0.4%, to $288,183,000 for the year onded December 31, 2023 compared to $289,372,000 for the prior year Other
operating expenses as a percentage of net operating revenues and grant incote was 25.2% and 26,7% for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The ten new
operations listed above attributed to an increase in cther operating expenses of $9,082,00G for the year ended Decerrber 31, 2023 compared to the same period last year, The
transfer of the operations of the seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New Hampshire, as noted above, resulted in other operating expenses decreasing
$15,025,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the prior year. We continue to face inflationary pressurcs in certain categories within other operating expenses as
well, such as food/cietary supplics and drugs/pharmaceutical supplies.

Facility rent expense increased $548,000, or 1.3%, to $41,525,000, Depreclation and amortization increased 3,8% to $42,034,000. Interest expense decreased $235,000 to
$324,000 in 2023 from $363,000 in 2022. At December 31, 2023, we have no outsianding long-term debt.

Other income
Non—operating income increased by $5,519,000, or 49.5% to $16,660,000 compared to the prior year, as further detailed in Note 5 to our consolidated financial statenents,

We recorded unrealized gains in the amount of $14,944,000 for the increase in fair value ofour marketable equity securities portfolio for the year ended December 31, 2023,
The marketable equity securities portfolio consists mainly of publicly-traded healthoare REIT's and other blue-chip public cormpanies held within eur insurance companies.

Income taxes
The income tax provision for 2023 is $23,450,000 (an effective income taxrate of 26.4%).
2022 Comparedto 2021

Results for the year ended Decentber 31, 2022 conpared to 2021 include a 1.1% icrease in net operating revenues and grant income. The net operating revenues and grant
incone increase is primatily driven by the June 2021 acquisition of Carls hospice and the continued ecoupancy increzse in our skilled nursing facilities, These increases were offset
by the reduction in government stimulus ncone of $51.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 conpared to 2021,

For the year ended December 31, 2022, GAAP net incon attributable to NHC was $22,445,000 compared to net income of $138,590,000 for the same petiod in 2621. The
lurge decrease in our reporfed GAAP net income for 2022 was primarily due to the $95.2 million gain recorded in 2021 from the acquisition of Caris. Fxcluding the gain on the Caris
acquisition, as well as the unrealized losses in our marketable equity secutities portfolio and the other non-GAAP adjustments, non-GAAF net income for the year ended Decenber
31, 2002 was $37,323,000 compared to $62,645,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021, The decrease in adjusted net income for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to
2021 is primarily due to the $51,9 million less govemment stinmlus income recorded during the 2022 period. We also continue to incur inflationary wage pressures within alt areas of
our operations,

Net operating revenues and grant income

Not patient revenues totaled $1,029,085,000, an increase of $63,543,000, or 6.6%, compared to the prior year. Included in net patient rovenues for the year ended Decenber
31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, is $19,442,000 and $20,482,000 of supplemental Medicaid payments that were received to help mitigate tho incremental costs in fighting the
pandemie,

The overall average census in owned and leased skifled nursing facilitios for 2022 was 83.8% compared to 80.6% in 2021, The compasite skilied nursing facility per diem
increased 2.3% in 2022 compared to 2021, Medicare and managed cate per diemratos increased 2.3% and 6.0%, respectively, in 2022 compared to 2021, Medicaid and private pay
per diemrates increased 3.0% and 4,7%, respectively, in 2022 compared to 221,

In June 2021, the Conpany acquired the remaining ownership interest in Caris, whick: resylted in net patient rovenues increasing $31,566,000 for the year ended December
31, 2022 compared to the prior year In September 2022, the Company transfered the operations of seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New Hampshire
tesulting in net patient rovenues decreasing 518,732,000 for the year ended Decerber 31, 2022 compated to the prior year.
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Other revenues in 2022 were $45,196,000, a decrease of $204,000, or 0.4%, as further detailed in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements.

For the years cnded December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, we recorded $11,457,000 and $63,360,000 in govemnirent stimulus econ related to funds received fromthe
CARES Act Provider Relief Fund.

Total costs and expenses
Total costs and expenses for 2022 increased $30,465,000, or 3.0%, to $1,053,842,000 from $1,023,377,000 in 2021,

Salaries, wages, and benefits increased $20,106,000, or 3.0%, to $686,169,000 from $666,063,000. Salaries, wages, and benefits as a percentage of net operating revenues
and grant income was 63.2% conpared to 62.0% for the years ended Decenber 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Our Cars acquisition in June 2021 increased salaries, wages, and
benefits $19,040,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022 conpared to 2021. We continue to face workforce and labor shortages within ali of our operations, which increases wage
pressure in regards to retaining and atiracting qualified bealtheare partners (employees). The labor and workforce chalienges have tesulted in us contracting with agency nurse
staffing companies. The agency nurse staffing companies charge inflated hourly tates; therefore, we ure working diligently to find solutions to reduce and climinate the agency
nurse staffing within our healtheare operations, For the year ended Deceiber 31, 2002, our agency numse staffing cxpenses were $68,875,000 compared to 36,391,000 for the 2021
year, In Septeber 2022, the Conpary transferred the operations of seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New Hanpshire resulting in salarics, wages, and
benefits decreasing $18,053,000 for the year cnded Decerber 31, 2022 conipared to the prior year,

Other operating expenses increased $22,618,000, or 8.5%, to $289,372,000 for the year ended Decerrher 31, 2022 compared to $266,754,000 for the prior year. Other
oporating expenses as a pereentage of not operating revenues and grant ncorne was 26.7% and 24.8% for the years ended Decermber 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Our Caris
acquisition increased other operating expenses $10,190,000 for the year ended Decamber 31, 2022 compared to the prior year, The transfor of the operations of the seven skilled
nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New Hampshire, as noted above, resulted in other operating expenses decreasing $6,859,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022
compared to the prier year. We incurred increascd expenses from our professional liability actoarial report in the fourth quarter of 2022 compared to the prior year of $3,284,000. We
alse continue to face inflationary pressurss in certain categeries within other operating expenses as well, such as food/dietary supplies and drugs/pharmacentical supplies.

Facility rent expense increased $159,000, or G.4%, to $40,977,000. Depreciation and amortization decreased 04% to $40,489,000, Interest expense decreased $282,000 to
$563,000 in 2022 from $845,000 in 2021, At December 31, 2022, we have to outstanding long-termdebt,

During 2022, we had a note receivable recovery of $3,728,000.
Other income

Nen—operating income decreased by 36,633,000, or 37.3% to 311,141,000 compared to the prior year, as further detailed in Note 5 to our consolidated financial staterents.
The decrease in our non-operating income is due to the June 2021 acquisition of Caris. Prior to the June 2021 acquisition date, Caris was our most significant equity method
investment with a 75.1% non-controlling ownership interest, From the respective acquisition date, Caris” financial information is now included in the Company’s consolidated
financial staterents and is no fonger accounted for as an equity nethod investment.

In June 2021, a gain of $95,202,000 was recorded on the acquisition of the tenmining ownership interest of Caris. We previously held a nencontrelling interest in the
partnership. Upen acquiring the renaining ownership interest in Caris, we valued the business and our previously held equity position (75.1%) based upon Caris’ fafr value at the

acquisition date,

We recorded unrealized losses in the amount of $15,806,000 for the decrease in fair value of our marketable equity securities portfolio for the year ended December 31,
2022. The matketable equity securities portfolio consists mainly of publicly-traded healthcare REITs and other blue-chip public compenics held within our insuranee companies,

Tncome faxes
The income tax provision for 2022 is $7,254,000 (an effective income taxrate of 26.6%).
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Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial Condition
Sources and Uses of Funds
Our primary sources of cash include revenues fom the operations of our healtheare operations, managenent and accounting services, rental income, and investment
income, Our primary uses of cash include salaries, wages and other operating costs of our healthcare operations, the cost of additions to and acquisitions ofreal property, facility

rent expenses, and dividend distributions. These sources and uses of cash are reflected in our interim condensed consolidated staterments of cash flows and are discussed in
further detail below.

The following is & surnirary of our sources and uses of cash flows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended One Year Change Year Ended One Year Change
12/31/23 123122 $ %o 12/31/22 12/31721 3 %

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted s

cash, and restricted cash

equivalents at beginning of -

period Tt 5 74865 8 119,43 § {44,878} (375 % 119743 § 158502 § (38,759 (24.5)
Cash provided by operating : o - .

activities o 111,216 8742 102,474 1L,172.2 8,742 62,394 (53,652) (86.0)
Cash used in investing activities {17.568) {5,978 {11,590) (193.9} (5,978) {63,889) 59,911 90.9
Cash used it financing activities (42,545) (47,642} 5,007 107 (47,642) {35264) (12,378} (35.1}
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted

cash, and restricted cash X

equivalents at end of period $ 125968 % 74865 § 53,103 683 § 74,865 $ 118,743 § (44,878} (37.5)
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Uperating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended Decenber 31,2023 was §111,216,000 as compared to $8,742,000 and $62,394,000 for the years ended December
31, 2922 and 2021, respectively, Cash provided by operating activities consisted of net income of $65,288,000 and adjustiments for non—cash items of $33,625,000. There was cash
provided by working capital in the amount of $17,396,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to cash used for working capital needs in the amount of §73,697,0600 in
2002,

Included in the adjustments for non-cash items are depreciation expense, equity in eamings of unconsolidated mvestments, unrealized losses on our marketable equity
securitics, recovery of assets, deferred taxes, and stock conpensation.

Investing Activities

Net cash uscd in investing activitics totaled §17,568,000 for the year ended Decenber 31, 2023, as compared to 5,978,000 and $65,889,000 for the years ended December
31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, Cash used for property and equipment additions was 327,901,000, $30,200,000, and $38,39%,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively. Cn May 1, 2023, we acquired the assets of a 66-bed skilled nursing facility in Nashville, Tennessee for approximately $2,700,000. In 2023, the Corpany had
inveshments in unconsobidated companies of $4,661,000, of which the primary investment is a multi-family dovelopment in Franklin, Tennessee. Proceeds fromthe sale of marketable
secusities, et of purchases, resulled in cash proceeds of $17,895,000 and $16,168,000in 2023 and 2022, respactively. For the year ended Decenber 31, 2022, the Company collected
notes receivable of $3,879,000 and reccived proceeds fiomthe sale of property end equipnent of $4,175,000.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities totaled $42,545,000, $47,642,000, and $35,264,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, Principal
payments made under finance lease obligations was $4,985,000, $4,695,000, and $4,423,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Dividends paid to
commion stockholders was $35,560,000, $34,604,000, and $32,030,000 for the yeats ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, Proceeds from the issuance of common
stock totaled $313,000, $2,114,000, and $3,441,000 for 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We repurchased common shares outstanding in the amount of $2,482,000, $9,503,000, and
$836,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively,

Shori—term Hquidity

We expect to meet our short—term liquidity requirements primarily fromour cash flows fromoperating activities, In addition to cash flows frmoperations, we have current

cash on hand of $107,076,000 and unrestricted marketable equity and debt securitis of $116,544,000. We also have unencumbered real estate, as well the borrowing capacity on our
$50 million credit facility, that can be used to meet our contractugl obligations and growth and development plams in the nexl twelve months.

Long—term liguidity

We expect to meet our long—term liquidity requirements primarily from our cash flaws from operating activities, our cumrent cash on hand of $107,076,000, our unres tricted
marketable equity and debt securitics of $116,544,000, and our borrowing capacity on the §50 million credit facility. We also have substantial value in our unencunrbered real cstate
assets which could potentially be used as collateral in future borowing oppoertunities. At Decenber 31, 2023, we do not have any long-tenmdebt,

Our ability to oblain long-tem debt to meet our long-term contractual obligations and to finance our operating requirements, growth and development plans will depend
upon our fature performance, which will be affected by business, economic, financial and other factors, including potential changes in state and federal govenmrent payment rates
for health care, cus tomer demand, success of our marketing efferts, pressures fromconpetitors, and the state of the economy, including the state of financial and credit markets, as
well as many unforeseen facters.
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Contingencies

See Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements for additional mformation on pending litigation and other contingencies,

Guarantees
At December 31, 2023, we have no agreenents to guarantee the debt obligations of other parties,

We have no cutstanding letters of credit. We niay or may not in the fisture elect to use financial derivative instruments to hedge interest rate exposure in the future. At
Decerber 31, 2023, we did not participate in any such financial instruments.

New Accounting Pronouncements
The Company did not adopt any new accounting standards during 2623.
Application of Critical Accounting Pelicies

The preparation of financial staterents in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of asscts and liabilities and disclosure of contingent asscts and liabilities at the date of the financial statoments and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting petiod. Actualresults could differ from those estinutes and cause our reported net income to vary significantly fromperiod
to period.

Our eritical accounting policies that are both jmportant to the portrayal of our financial condition and results and require oyr most difficult, subjective or complex
judgments are as follows:

Net Patieni Revenues and Accounts Receivable

Net patient revenues are derived fiom services rendered to patients for skilled and mtermediate nursing, rehabilitation therapy, assisted living and independent living,
home health care services, hospice services and behavioral health services, Net patient revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company
expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient services. These amounts are due from patients, governmental prograns, and other third-party payors, and include variable
congideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to settlement of audits, roviews, and mvestigations.

The Company recognizes revenue as its performance obligations are completed. Routine services are treated as a single performunce obligation satisfied over time as
services are rendered. These routine services represcat a bundle of services that are not capable of being distinet. The performeance obligations are satisfied aver time as the
patient simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the healthcare services provided, Additionally, there nay be ancillary services which are not included in the daily
rates for routine services, but instead are treated as separate perfomunce obligations satisfied at 4 point in time when those services are rendered. Contract liabilities are recorded
for payments the Company receives in which perforance obligations have nat been canpleted.

The Conpany determines the trmsaction price based on established billing rates reduced by explicit price concessions provided to third party payors. Explicit price
concessions are based on contractual agreements and historical experience, The Company considers the patient’s ability and intent to pay the ameunt of consideration upon
admission. Credit losses are recorded as bad debt expense, which is ncluded as a component of other operating expenscs consolidated statements of operations

Revenue Recognition — Third Party Payors

Medicare and Medicaid program revenues, as well as certain Managed Carc program revenues, are subject to audit and retroactive adjustment by govemment
representatives or their agents. Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments due to audits, roviews or investigations are considered variable consideration and
are included i the determination of the estivated transaction price for providing patient care. These seftlements are estimated based on the tems of the payment agreenient with
the payor, comespondence from the payor and the Conpany’s historical settlement activity, inchuding an assessment to ensure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cunmlative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.

In our opinion, adequate provision has been mude for any adjustmonts that may resull from those reviews. Any differences between our original estimates of
reimbursements and subsequent revisions are refiected in eperations in the perod in which the revigions are made ofien due to final determination or the period of payment no

longer being subject to audit or review.
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Accrued Risk Reserves

We arc self-insured for risks related to workers® cenpensation and general and professional liability insurance. We have two wholly—owned limited purpose inswance
companies that insure risks related to workers’ compensatior. and general and professional liability msurance claims. The acerued risk reserves include a liability for reported clains
and estimates for incurred but unteported claims, Our policy is to engage an external, independent actuary to assist in estinating our exposure for claims obligations (for both
asserted and unasserted claims), We reassess our accrued risk reserves on a quarterly basis.

Professional Liability renmins an area of particular concern to us. The long-term care industry has seen an increase in persenal njury/wrongful death claims based on
alieged negligence by skilled nursing facilities and their enployecs in providing care to residents, The Company has been, and continues to be, subject to clains and legal actions
that arise in the ordinary course of business, including potential claims related to patient care and treatnent. A significant increase in the number of these clains, or an increase in
the amounts due as a result of these claims could have a naterial adverse offect on our consolidated financial position, resulfs of operations and cash flows. Tt is also pessibie that
future events could cause us to make significant adjustments or revisions to these reserve estimates and cause our reported net incorre ta vary significantly from period to period,

We are principally self-insured for incidents occwrring in all centers owned or leased by us. The coverages include both primary policies and excess policies. In all years,
settlements, if any, in cxcess ofavailable insurance policy Iimits and our own reserves would be expensed by us.

[TEM7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVEDIS CLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the potential economic loss arising from adverse changes in the fair valae of financial instruments. Currently, our cxposure to market tisk relates
primarily to our fixed—income and cquity portfolios. These investment portfolios are exposed primarily to, but not limited to, interest rate risk, credit risk, equity price risk, and
concentration risk, We also have exposure to market risk that includes our cash and cash equivalents. The Company's senior managerent has established conprehensive risk
management policies and procedures to manage these rarket risks,

Interest Rate Risk

The fair values of our fixed—income investments Huctuale in response to changes in market interest rates, Increases and decreases in prevailing intercst rates gensrally
translate into decreases and increases, respectively, in the fair values of those instruments. Additionally, the fair values of interest rate sensitive instruments may be affected by
the creditworthiness of the issuer, prepayment options, the Lquidity of the instrurment and other general market conditions, At Decenber 31, 2023, we have available for sale
imarketable debt securities i the amount of $127,727,000. The fixed income portfolio is comprised of investments with prirvarily short—term and intermediate-term maturities. The
portfolio conposition allows flexibility in reacting to fluctuations of interest rates, The fixed income portfofio allows our msumnce company subsidiaties to achieve an adequate
tisk—adjusted retumn while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet cbligations,

Our cash and cash equivalents consist of highly lquid investments with a maturity ofless than three months when purchased. As a result of the short-term nature of our
cash instruments, a hypothetical 1% change in interest rates would have minimal impact on our future earnings and cash flows related to these instruments.

We do not currently use any derivative instruments to hedge our intsrcst rate expasure. We have not ysed derivative instmunents for trading purposes and the use of
such instrunents in the fitture would be subject to approvals by the Investuxnt Conmittee of the Board of Directors,

Credlt Risk

Credit risk is managed by diversifying the fed income portfolio ta avoid concentrations in any single industry group or issuer and by limiting investroents i securities
with Tower credit ratings. Corporate debt securities and asset-backed securities comprise approxinmtely 60% of the fair value of the foed income portfolio, At Decenber 31, 2023,
the credit quality ratings for our fixed income portiokio consisted of the following mvestment and non-investment grades (as a percent of fair value): 7% AAA rated, 42% A A rated,
38% A rated, 12% BBB rated, and 1% BB rated. :

Egqurity Price and Concentration Risk

Qur narketable equity securities are recorded at their fair market value based on guoted market prices. Thus, therc is exposure to equity price risk, which is the potential
change in fair vaiue due to a change in quoted market prices. Al December 31, 2023, the fair value of our marketable equity securities is approximately $137,896,000. Our investment
in NHL conprises approxinately $91,071,000, or 66.0%, of the total fair value of our nutketable eguity securities. We manage our exposure to NHI by closely nenitoring the financial
condition, perfornmnce, and outlook of the conpany. Hypothetically, 2 10% change in quoted nurket prices would result in a related increase or decrease in the fair valie of our
equity investments of approximately §13,790,000. At December 31, 2023, our equity securitics had net unrealized gains of $83,386,000. Of the total unrealized gains in our marketable
equity secutities, approxmately $66,337,000 s related to our investment in NHL
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ITEM 8, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDFPENDENT REGIS TERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of National HealthCare Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statoments

We have audited the accompanying consclidated balance sheets of National HealthCare Corporation (the Conpany) as of Decerrber 31, 2073 and 2022, the related
consolidated statenents of operations, comprehensive income, equity and cash flows for each of the three years it the period ended Decerber 31, 2023, and the related notes and
financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Trem 15(a) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the cansolidated financial
staterents present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results ofits operations and its cash flows for sach
of the thres years in the period ended Decerber 31, 2023, In conformity with U.S. generally acceptad accounting prineiples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internaf contrel
over financial reporting as of Decerrber 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (2013 famework), and our report dated Febraary 16, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon,

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Conpany’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial staterents based
on our audits, We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect 1o the Company in accordance with the US, federal
securitios laws and the applicable miles and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Conmission and the PCAOB,

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB, Those standards require that we plar: and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements arc free of material misstatement, whether due to error or frand, Cur audits mchuded petforming procedures to assess the risks of naterial
misstatement of the financial staterments, whether due to eor or fiaud, and pesforming procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the aceounting principles used and significant cstirates
nade by management, as well as evaluating the overail presentation ofthe financial statements. We believe that cur andits provide a reasonable basis for o opinion.
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Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter conwmmicated below is a watter arising fromthe current period audit of the conselidated financial statements that was communicated or required
to be communicated to the audit comnsttee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and {2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit ratter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as & whole,
and we ate not, by cormunicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit mattor or on the accounts or disclosures o which it relates.

Description of the Matter

How We Addressed the
Mutter in Our Audit

Estimation of Professional Liability Claims Reserves

The Conpany’s accrued risk reserves totaled $103,259,000 as of Decerber 31, 2023. As described in Note 17 to the congolidated financial
statements, the accrued risk reserves include professional Lability claims reserves for unpaid reportod professional liability claims and estimates for
incutted but unreported claims. The Corrpany’s policy with respect to the professional Lability claims reserves is to use an actuary to assist
ranagemon! in estimating the exposure for claims obligations (for both asserted and unasscrted claims).

Auditing managenmont’s professional liability claims reserves was complex and highly judgmental due to the significant estimation required in
determining the reserves, particularly the assunyptions of the severity of asserted claims and the guantity and severity of unknown claims,

We obtained an understanding, evaiated the design and tested the effectivensss of controls over the Conpany’s professional liability claims
reserve determination, including controls over managenent’s teview of the significant assumptions desaribed above. For exarple, we tested
controls over management’s review ofthe actuarlal analysis, the significant acluarial as sumptions and the data inputs provided to the actuary.

To test the professional liability clains reserves, our audit procedures included, among others, testing the completeness and accutacy of the
underlying claims data provided te the Company’s actuarial spocialist, obtaining legal confirmation letters to evaluate inclusion of significant
litigated mutters in the claims data, and reviewing the Company's insurance contracts by policy year to assess (the Company's self-insured
rctentions, deductibles, and ¢overage limits. In addition, we invelved our actuarial specialists to assist in our evaliation of the methodologies
applicd by management's specialist and assessing the acouracy of the Conpany’s reserves. We alse compared the reserves recorded to a range
developed by cur actuarial specialists based on independently selected assunptions

/s/ Emst & Young LLP

We have served as the Commpany's auditor sinee 2009,

Mashville, Tennessee

February 16, 2024
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated S tatements of Operations
(in thousands, excep! share and per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Revenues:

Net patient revenues $ 1,087,614 3 1,029,085 965,542

Other revenues 53,930 45,196 45400

Government stimilus incorme - 11,457 63,360

Net operating tevenues and grant income 1,141,544 1,085,738 1,074,302

Costs ang expenses:

Salaries, wages and benefits 712,344 688,169 666,063

Other operating 288,183 289372 266,754

Facility rent 41,525 40977 40,818

Depreciation and anwrtization . 42,004 40,489 40,672

Interest 324 563 845

Impairment (recovery) of assets : - (3,728) 8,225

Total costs and expenses 1,084,410 1,053,842 1,023,377

Incowe fromoperations ) 57,134 31,806 50,025
Other income:

Non-operating income ™ "+ : 16,660 11,141 17,714

Gain on acquisition of equity method investment - - 95,202

Unrealized gains (losses) on narketable equity securities 14,944 {15,806) (13,863)
Income before income taxes 88,738 27,231 150,038
Income taxprovisicn {23,450} (7,254 (10,951)
Net incotre 63,288 19977 139,087
Net {income) loss attributable to noncentrolling interest 1,510 2468 {497)
Net incone attributable to National HealthCare Corporation $ 66,798 § 22445 138,590
Eamings per share attributable to National HealthCare Corporation stockholdess:

Basic E $ 436 % 146 943

Diluted _ $ 434 % 145 8.99
Weighted average common shares oufstanding:

Basic . - 15,310,142 15,410,222 15,347,129

Dilued 15,377,343 15,447,211 15,416,716
Dividends declared per common share k3 234 % 226 211

The accomparnying notes to cansolldated financial statements are an integral pari of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HFALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensiwe Income

{in thousands}
Year Frded December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Net Income o $ 65288 % 19977 % 139,087
Other comprehensive income {loss):
~ Unrealized gains (fosses) on investments in marketable debt securities 3,434 (12,946) {4,171)
" ''Reclassification adjustment for realized losses {gains) on sale of marketable debt secutities 17 (129) 214)
Income tax(expense) benefit related to itens of other conprehensive income (loss) (523} 1,938 9313
Other corprehensive income (foss), net oftax ©2928 (11,137) (3,452)
Net (income) foss attributable to noncontroling interest 1,510 2,468 (497
Cotnprehensive income attributable to National HealthCare Corporation 5 69,726 % 1,308 § 135,138

The accampanying notes to consolidated financial statements ave an integral part of these consalidaied statemen!s.
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NATIONAL HFALTHCARE CORPORATION
Censolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands)
December 31,
2023 2022
Assels
Cuirent Asscts: )

‘Cash and cash equivalents b3 107,076 $ 38,667
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, current portion 17,725 15,121
Marketable equity securities L7 100,786
Matketable debt securities 5427 23,136
Restricted narketable equity securities 26,779 22,358
Restricted marketable debt securities, surrent portion 12,822 16,244
Accounts receivable 108,545 99,986
Inventories 7,386 7,088
Prepaid expenses and other assets 8,855 10,244
Notes receivable ) 503 302

Total current asscts ' B ' s 406,235 353,932

" Property and Fquipment;

Property and equipment, at cost ) 1,101,681 1,081,219
Aceunmulated depteciation and amottimtion o (608,352) (574,687

Net preperty and equipment 493,329 506,532

Other Assets:

Restricted cash and cash equivalents, less current portion 1,167 1,077
Restricted marketable debt securities, less cument portion 105,478 103,267
Deposits and other assets ' 14,786 12,728
Operating lease —right-ef-use assots 94,201 120,521
Goodwill 168,295 168,295
Intangible assets 7,038 7,038
Investments it unconsolidated compenies 16,267 2,060

Total other assets 411,232 414,986

Total assets 3 131079 1275450

The accompaitying notes (o consolidated financial stalements are an integral part of these consolidated siatements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, excep! share and per share amounts)

December 31,
2023 2022
Liabilities and Equity - =% -

Current Liabilities:

" “Frade accounts payable $ 19,194 § 16,958
Finance lease obligations, current portion 860 4,985
Operating lease liabilities, current portion 29,352 29,075
Accrued payroll 84,110 72,510
Amounts due to third party payers 18,369 16,631
Accrued risk reserves, current portion 30,549 31,365
Other current liabilities 22,991 17,615
Dividends payable 9.051 8,748

Total current liabilities 214476 197,887

Finance lease obligations, Jess current pertion - 860

Operating lease liabilities, less current portion 63,175 91,016

Accrued risk reserves, less current portion : 72,710 71,104

Refundabie entrance fees 6,376 6,207

Deferred income taxes ' 17,200 10509

Other noncurrent liabilities ) 26,379 19,953

" “Total lisblities ~ ' 400,316 397,936
Common stock, $.01 par value; 45,000,000 shares authorized; 15,350,661 and 15,357,746 shares, respectively, issued and

outstanding 153 153
Capital in excess of par value 227,604 226,591
Retained eamings 687,599 556,664
Accunmilated other comprehensive loss (6,604) (9,532)

Total National HealthCare Corporation stockholders” equity 908,752 874,276
Noncontrolling interest : 1,728 3,238

Total cquity 910480 877,514

Total liabilities and equity $ 1310796 § 1275450

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statemenis,
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NATIONAL BEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
{in thotisands)

Year Ended Decerber 31,
2023 2022 2021
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Met income $ 65288 % 19577 % 139,087
Adjustments to reconcile net incore to net cash provided by operating activities: :
Depreciation and amortization 42,034 40489 40,672
Bquity in-eamings ofiiiconsolidated investrents 7 G SRR ’ {2,015) ) @ (5,111)
Distributiens fromuncenselidated investments ) 470 439 6314
Unrealized (gains) losses on marketable equity securities : R (14,944) 15,806 13,863
(Gains) losses on sale of marketable securities 667 1,326 (1,042)
Cain on 2cquisition of equity method investment - - (95,202}
Gain on sale of property and equipment (6,230} - -
Trpairment (recovery) of assets - (3,728) 8,225
Deferred meome taxes 5,768 5,995 {6,294)
Stock-based compensation 2,782 2612 2,620
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable ' (8,559) {3,862) 4,008
Inventories (298) 1,494 199
Prepaid expenses and other assets {665 (1,110 (3,298}
Operating lease obligations (1,244) (430) -
Trade accounts payable 2,236 (5.330) (2.083)
Accrued payroli 11,600 (34,188} 17,292
* ‘Amounts due to third party payors 1,738 (964) 649
Acomed risk reserves 790 4,421 (1,48%)
- Provider relief funds e - (9,443) (6,625)
Contract Liabilities - (15,022) (36,231)
Other current liabilities - 5,376 (2,444) (1,380)
Other noncurent liabilities 6,426 3,382 {11,852)
“-Net cash provided by operating activities 111,216 3,742 62,3%4
Cash Plows From Investing Activitics: )
Puichases of property and equipment (27,501) (30,200) (39,399)
Procecds fromthe sale of property and equipment - 4,175 -
Acquisition of skilled nursing facility (2,700) -
Investments in unconsolidated companics {4,651) - (350)
Acquisition of equity method investment - - (28,713)
(Tnvestments in} collections ofnotes receivable {201} 3.879 8,840
Purchases of marketable securities (29,501) (33,793) {108,187
Sale of marketable securities 47,396 45,961 101,920
‘Net cash used in investing activities {17,568) (5978 (65,889)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Principal payments under finance lease obligations (4,985) (4.695) (4,423}
Dividends paid to common stockholders (35,560) {34,604) {32,030
Issuance of commmon shares 313 : 2,114 3441
Repurchase of conmon shares (2,482} (9.903) (836)
Noncontrolling interest contributions (distributions) - 250 (964}
E‘mrance foe deposits (refunds) 169 (804) (452)
| "Net cash used in financing activities L o {42,545) (47,642) (35,264)
Net Iucrease (Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash
Fquivalents 51,103 {44,878) (38,759}
Cash, Cash Equivelents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period 74,865 119,743 158,502
Cash, Cash. Fquivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents, Fnd of Period $ 125968 3 74865 § 115,743
Balance Sheet Classifications:
Cash and cash equivalents 3 107,076 § 58,667 $ 107,607
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18,852 16,198 12,136
Total Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Fyuivalents 5 125,968 § 74865 3 119,743
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Cons ofidated Statements of Cash Flows

(continued, in thousands)

Year Ended Decenber 31,

2023 2022 2021
Supplemental Tnformation:
Cash payments for interest M 29 8 493 § 845
Cash payments for income taxes 14,571 8,765 22,481
Non-cash activities mciude:
Noncontrolling interest contribution of land - - 2,340

The accompanylng notes to consolidated financial statements are an infegral part af these consoliduied statements.
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Balance at January 1, 2021

Met incone
* Contributions attributable to noncontrolling

bapeat - i T

Other comprehensive loss

Stock-based compensation

Shares sold — options exercised

Repurchase of common shares

Dividends declared to conmen stockhelders
($2.11 per share)

Balance at January 1,2022 -

Net income

Contributions attributable to noncontrolling
interest :

Other conprehensive loss

Stock—based compensation

Shates sold — options cxercised

Repurchase of common shares

Dividends declared to comnon stockholders
{$2.26 por share)

Balance at January 1, 2023

Net income
Other comprehensive incoms
Stock—based cowpensation
Shares sold — options exercised
Repurchase of comtmon shares
“Dividends declared to common stockholders
(234 per share}

Balance at Decenber 31, 2023

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Bquity

(in thousands, except for share and per share amaunts)

Accumulated

Capitalin Other Nomn-
Common Stock Bwess of Retained Comprchensive  controlling Total
Shares Ampunt Par Value Famings Income (Loss) Interest Equity
15369,745  § 153§ 26943 § s63.024  § 5057 § 3083 % 798,260
- - - 138,590 - 497 139,087
- - - - 1,876 1876
- - - - {3,452} - (3,452)
Z - 2,620 - - - 2,630
90,725 1 3,440 - - - 3441
{8437} - (836) - - - (836)
- — - (32,538 - - (32,536}
15,452,033  § 154 3 232167 % 669078 8 1,605 § 5456 % 908,460
- - - 22445 - (2,4168) 19,977
- - - - 250 250
— - - (11,137) - (1L137)
- - 2612 - - - 2,612
54,260 - 2114 - - - 2,114
(148,547) (1 (9,902} - - - (9,503}
- - - {34,859) - — (34,859)
15357,746  § 133§ 22699 § 636064 5 @5 3 3238 § 871514
- - - 66,798 - (1,510 65,288
- - - - 2928 - 2,928
- - 2,782 - - - 2,782
37,264 - 3 - - - 313
{44,349) - (2482) - - - {2,482)
- - - (35,863) = — (35,863)
15350661  § 153§ 227,604 % 687,599 6600 § (728§ 910,480

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial siatements ave an integral part of these consoliduled statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial 5 tatements

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Pelicics
Nature of Operations

National HealthCare Corperation (“NHC' or "the Company”} operates, manages of provides scrvices to skilled nursing facilities, assisted living facilities, independent
living facilities, heme health care agencies, hospice agencics, and behavioral kealth hospitals located in 8 Southeastern and Midwestem states in the United States. The most
significant part of our business relates to skilled and intenmediate nursing care settings in which we also provide assisted living and retirement services, rehabilitative therapy
sarvices, memory and Alzheimer's care services, hone health and hospice services, and behavioml health services. In addition, we provide insurance services, management and
accounting services, and we lease properties to operators of skilled nursing and assisted Hving facilitics. The health care environment has centinually undergone changes with
regard o federal and state reimbursement programs and other payer sources, sompliance tegulations, competition among other health care providers and patient care litigation
issues. We continually monitor these industry developments as well as other factors that affect our business,

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financie staterents, which are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting pringiples ("GAAP), include cur wholly owned and
controlled subsidiaries and affiliates. Al significant interconpany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company presents noncontrolling interest
within the equity section of its consolidated balance sheets. The Company presents the amount of consolidated net income that is attributable to NHC and the noncontrolling
interest in its consolidated statements of operations.

Variable interest eatities (" VIEs*) in which we have an interest have been consolidated when we have been identified as the primary beneficiary. Investments in ventures
in which we have the ability to exercise significant influence but do not have control over are accounted for using the equity method. Eguity method investments are initially
recorded at cost and subsequently are adjusted for our share of the venture’s earnings or losses and cush distributions. Investments in entities in which we lack the ability to
exercise significant infuence are included in the consolidated financial statements at cost unless there has been a decline in the markel value of our investment that is deemed to be
other than temporary,

Use of Esfimates

The prepatation of financial statements in confornity with UL.8. GAAP requires us fo mke estimates and assumptions that affect the roported anounts of assets and
liabifities and disclosure of contingent assets and Hzbilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and exponses during the reperting petiod.
Actual results could differ Fom those estinetes and could canse aur reported net incone te vary significautly from period to period.

Net Patient Revenues and Accounts Recelvable

Net patien revenues are derived from services rendered to patients for skilled and intermediate nursing, rehabilitation therapy, assisted Tiving and independent living,
home health care services, hospice services, and behavioral health services, Net patient revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to wh jch the Company
expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient services. These amounts are due Fom patients, govemmental programs, and other third-party payors, and inchide variable
consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to seftlement of audits, reviews, and investigations,

The Commpany recognizes revenuc as its performance obligations arc completed, Routine services ate treated as a single performance obligation satisfied over time a3
services are rendered. These routine services represent a bundle of services that are not capable of being distinet, The perfonmance obligations are satisfied over time as the
patient sinultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the healthcare services provided. Additionally, there may be ancillary services which are not included in the daily
rates for routine services, but instead arc treated as separate performance obligations satisfied at a peint in time when those services are rendered. Contract labiities are recorded
for payments the Company receives in which performance obligations have not been completed.

The Company determines the transaction price bascd on established billing rates reduced by explicit price concessions provided to third party payors. Explicit price
concessions are based on contractual agreements and historical experience. The Company considers the patient's ability and intent to pay the ampunt of consideration upon
admission. Credit losses are recorded as bad debt expenss, which is included as a comrponent of other operating cxpenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Bad debt
expense was $7,424,000, $4,711,000, and 53,886,000 for years ended Decerrber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, and 2022, the Company has recorded
allowance for doubtful accounts of $8,054,000 and $6,246,000, respectively, as our best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable balance.
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Cther Reverves

Other revenues include revenves ffom the provision of insurance services, management and accounting services to other long—term care providers, and rental incone,
Our insurance revenues consist of premiwms that are generally paid in advance and then amottized into income over the policy period. We charge for management services based
ont a percentage of net revenues. We charge for accounting services based on a monthly fee or a fixed fee per bed of the healthcare center under contract, We record other
revenues as the performance obligations are satisfied based on the terms of our contractual arrangements,

We recognize rental incone based on the ters of our operating leascs, Under certain of our leases, wo receive variable rent, which Is based on the increase in revenues of
a lessee overa base year. We recognize variable rent annually ormonthly, as applicabls, when the actualrevenue of the lessee is camed.

Govermment Grants

We account for govermnment grants in accordance with Istornational Accounting Standard ("TAS”) 20, Accounting for Govermuent Grants and Disclosure of Government
Assistance, and as such, we recoghizo grant income on a systematic basis in line with the recognition of specific expenses and lost tovenues for which the grants are intended to
compensate,

Segment Reporfing

In accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (" ASC") 280, Segment Reporting, the Company is required to report financial and descriptive
information shout its reportable operating segments. The Company has two reportable cperating segments: (1} inpatient setvices, which includes the operation of skilled nursing
facilities, assisted and independent living facilities, and behavioral health hospitals, and (2) homeeate and hospice services. The Company also reports an "all other” category that
includes revenues from rental ncome, management and accounting services fees, nsurance services, and costs of the corporate office. See Note 6 for further diselosure of the
Conpany’s operating segments.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses inchude the costs of care and services that we pravide to the residents of our facilities and the costs of maintaining our facilitics, Qur primary
patient care costs include drugs, medical supplics, purchased professional services, food, and professional liability inswance and ficensing fees. The primary facility costs include
utilities and property insurance.

General and Administrative Cosls

With the Conpany being a healthcare provider, the majority of our expenses are "cost of revenue” items. Costs that could be classified as "general and adninistrative” by
the Company would include its cotporate office costs, exclading stockebased compensation, which were §21,412,000, $20,651,000, and $20,160,000 for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include highly fiquid mvestments with an original maturity of three months or fess when purchased.
Resiricted Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Marketable Securities

Restricted cash and cash equivaients and restricted nwrketable securities represent assets that are prinardly held by cur wholly owned limited purpose insurance
companics for workers' compensation: and professional Hability claims,

Investmeits in Marketable Securities and Restricted Maiketable Securities

Our investments in marketable equity securitics are carried at falr value with the changes i unrealized gains and losses reeognized it our results of operations at cach
measurement date. Our investments in marketable debt scourities are classified as available for sale sceurities and carried at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses
recognizad through accumulated other comprehensive incomo/loss at each measurorment date. For available for sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position, we first assess
whether we intend to sell, or it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the security before recovery of the amortized cost basis, If either of the criferia regarding intent
or requiretrent to sell is met, the sccurity’s cost basis is written down to fair vale through our results of operations. For debt scourities that do not meet the aforementioned
criteria, we svaluate whether the decling in fair value has resulted from credit losses or othey factors. Ifa credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected
fromthe security are compared te the cost basis of the security. If the present value ofcash flows expeoted to be collected is Jess than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss exists
and an allowance for credit losses is recorded for the oredit loss, limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost basis, Realized gains and losses from
securities are recognized in results of operations upon disposition of the securities using the specific identification method on a trade date basis,
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Inventories

Inventeries consist generally af food and supplies and are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined on a first—in, first—out (FIFO) basis.

Marigage and Other Notes Receivable

In accordance with ASC Topic 310, Receivables, NHC evahiates the carrying vatues of its mortgage and other notes receivable on an instrument-by-instrunent basis, On
a quarterly basis, NHC reviews its notes receivable for recoverability when events or circutrstances, including the non—receipt of contractual principal and intercst payments,
significant deteriorations of the financial condition of the bowower and significant adverse changes in general cconomie conditions, indicate that the carrying amount of the note
receivable may not be recoverable. If necessary, impainent is measured a3 the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the discounted cash flows cxpected to be received
under the note receivable or, if foreclosure is probable, the fair value of the collateral securing the note roceivable.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a recevery of a note receivable of $3,728,000 due to the bomower paying off the note, For the year ended
December 31, 2021, the Company recorded a credit loss provision for this same note reveivable of $3,728,00 due to the financial instability of the borrower. The recovery and credit
loss provision of the note receivable is recorded in the consolidated statements of operations under the line item "impairment (recovery) of assets”.

Property and Equipment

Property and equiprent are recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided by the straight-line method over the expected useful lives of the assets estimated as follows:
buildings and improvements, 20-40 years and equipment and furniture, 3-15 yoars, Leasehold improvetments are amottized over periods that do not exceed the non—cancelable
respective lease tenys using the straight-line nethod.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as inourred, Betterments, which significantly extend the useful life, are capitalized, We remove the costs
and related allowanees for accurmulated depreciation or amortization from the accounts for properties sold or retired, and any resulting gains or losses are included in income.

In accordance with ASC Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, we evaluate the recoverability of the carrying values of our properties on 2 property-by-propeity
basis, We review our properties for recoverability when events ar eircumstances, including significant physical changes it the preperty, significant adverse changes in general
economic conditions, and significant deteriorations of the underlying cash flows of the propenty, indicate that the camrying amount of the property may not be recoverable, The
need to recognize inpairnent is based on estinuted fature undiscounted cash flows froma propeity over the remaining useful life cotpared to the carrying value of that property.
Ifrecognition of impairment is necessary, it is measured as the amount by which the carrying amowunt of the property exceeds the estinnted fair value of the property. Managenent
has evaluated long-lived assets and determined there were impairment charges of $0, $0, and $4,497,000 during the years ended Decerber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.
The 2021 fimpairment charges were recorded i the consolidated statements of operations under the lne item "inpainment of assets” and were due to the August 2022 exit of the
seven skilled nursing facilities in Massachusetts and New Hanpshire.

Business Combinations

We account for acquisitions using the acquisition nethod of acceunting in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations. Acquisitions are accounted for as
purchases and are included in our consolidated financal statements from their respective acquisition dates. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed, if any, are measured at fair
value on the acquisition date using the appropriate valuation ethod. Goodwill gonerated fromacquisitions is recognized for the excess afthe purchase price over the fuir value of
tangible and identifiable intangible asscts zcquived and fiabilities assumed. In determining the fair value of identifiable assets, we use various valuation technigues, These
valuation methods tequire us to make estinates and assunptions surroynding projected revenues and costs, future growth, and discount rates,

Lang-Term Leases

The Company’s lease portfolio primarily consists of finance and operating real estate leascs for certai skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living facilities,
hormecare and hospice offices, and pharmacy warehouses, The original terms of the leases typically range fromtwo to fifteen years. Several of the real estate leases inchude renewal
options which vary in length and may not inchide specific zent tenewal amourts. We determine if an arrangement s a lease at inception of a contract. We detenmine the lease term
by assuming excreise of rencwal options that are reasonably certain,

The Company tecords right-of-use assets and liabilities for non-~cancelable real estatc operating leases with original o remaining leasc terms in cxcess ofone year loases
with 7 lease term of 12 months or less at inception arc not recorded and are expensed on a straight-line bas is over the lease torm. We recognize lease components and non-lease

components together and not as separate patts ofa lease forreal estate leases.
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Operating lease right-ofuse assets and liabilities are recorded at the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. The present value of the lease payments are
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate associated with each lease. The variable components of the lease payment that fluctuate with the operations of z health facility are
not ineluded in determining the right-of-use assets and lease labilities. Rather, these variable components are expensed as ineured.

Goodwill and Orher Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fafr value of identifiable net assets acquired in business combinations, Goodwill is not amortized but is
subject to an annual inpairment test. We perform our annual goodwill inpaimment asscssment on the first day of the fourth quarter. Tests are performed mote frequently if events
oecur, of cizcumsiances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying anpunt.

The Conpany’s indefimite-lived intangible assets consist of ttade names and certificates of need and licenses. The Company reviews indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impaitment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or changes in clrcumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the intangible asset may not be recoverable.

Acerued Risk Reserves

We are self-insured for risks related to workers' compensation and general and professional liability msurance, We have two wholly—owned limited purpose insurance
companies that insure these risks. Avemed risk reserves represent the accrual for risks associated with workers’ corpensation and professional Liability claims, The acerued risk
reserves include a liability for unpaid reported claims and estimates for incumed but unreported claims, Cur poliey with tespect to a significant portion of our workers’
compensation and professional and general Hability claims is to use an actuary to assist management in estimating our exposure for claims obligation {for both asserted and
unasserted claims). We reassess our accrued risk reserves on a quarterly basis, with changes in estimated losses being recorded in the consclidated statements of operations in
the peried first identified,

Other Current Llabilities
Other current liabilities primearily represent accruals for current federal and state moome taxes, real estate taxes and other current labilities,
Continuing Care Contracts and Refundable Entrance Fees

We have one continuing care retirement center ("CCRC™) within our operations. Residents at thig retirement center may enter into continuing care contracts with us. The
contract provides that 10% of the resident entry fee becomes non—refindable upon occupancy, and the remaining refindable portion of the entry fee is calcalated using the lessor
of the price at which the apartment is re—assigned or 90% of the original entry fae, phus 40% of any appreciation if the apartment excecds the original resident’s entry fee.

Non-refindable fees are included as a conponent of the transaction price and are amortized into revenuc over the actuarially determined remaining life of the resident,
which is the expected period of occupancy by the resident, We pay the refundable portion of our entry fees to residents when they relocate from our cowrronnity and the apartment
is re-ocoupied. Refundable entrance fees are not included as part of the transaction price and are classified as refundable entrance fees in the Compeny's consolidated balance
sheets, The balances of refundable entrance fees as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were 36,376,00¢ and $6,207,000, respectively.

We annually ¢stinate the present value of the net cost of future services and the use of facilities to be provided to the cumrent CCRC residents and vonpare that amount
with the balance of non—refundable deferred reverme from entrance fees received. If the present value of the net cost of future services exceeds the related anticipated revenues, a
Hability is recorded {obligation to provide firture services) with a corresponding charge to income. The obligation to provide future services is included in other noncurrent
liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. At Deceirber 31, 2023 and 2022, we have recorded a future service obligation in the amounts of §1,606,000 and $2,218,000,
respectively.

Cther Noncwivent Liabilities
Other noncurrent Habilities include reserves primarfly related to various uncertain income tax positions, deferred revenue, and obligations to provide services to our CCRC
residents. Deferred revenue includes the deferred gain on the sale of assets to Natlonal Health Corporation ("National”) and the non-refundable portion of CCRC entrance fees

being amortized over the remaining life expectancies of the residents.
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freome Taxes

We utilize ASC Topic 740, frcome Taxes, which requires an asset and liability approach for financial accounting and teporting for income taxes, Under this guidance,
deferred tax asscts and Babilities are determined based upon differences between financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and arc measured using the enacted tax
Jaws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse, The effect on deferred tax assets and liabifities of a change in tax rates is recognized in incowe in the period
that includes the enactment date, See Note 13 for further discussion of our accounting for income taxes,

Alsa, under ASC Topic 740, ficome Tuxes, tax positions are evaluated for recognition using e more—likely—than—not thresheld, and those tax positions requiring
recognition are measurcd at the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized wupon ultimate scttlement with & taxing authority that has full
knowledge of all relevant information. Lisbilities for income tax matters include amounts for income taxcs, applicable penalties, and interest thereon and are the result of the
potential alternative interpretations of taxlaws and the judgmental nature of the timing of recognition of taxable ncome.

Noncontrolling Interest

The nencontralling interest in a subsidiary is presented within total equity in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, The Company presents the noncontrolling
interest and the amount of conselidated net Income attributable to NHC in its consolidated staterments of opetations, The Company’s eamings per share is caleylated based on net
income attributable to NHC's stockholders, The carrying anount of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted based on an allocation of subsidiary eamings based on ownetship
interest.

Stack—Based Compensation

Stock-based awards granted include stock options, restricted stock units, and stock purchased under our employee stock purchase plan. Stock-based compensaticn cost
is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the awards, and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period only for those equity awards expected to vest,

The fair value of tae restricted stock units is detentined based on the stock price on the dato of grant. We estimated the fair value of stock eptions and stock purchased
under our employee stock purchase plan using the Black—Scholes model This model utilizes the estimated fair value of common stock and requires that, at the date of grant, we use
the expected term of the grant, the expected volatility of the price of our commen stock, risk—fice interest rates and expected dividend yield of our conmon stock. The fair value is
amortized on a straight—line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards.

/

Comprehensive Income

ASC Topic 220, Comprehensive Incore, requires that changes in the amounts of certain ftoms, includling unreaiized gains and losses on marketable debl securitics, be
showm in the consolidsted financial statements as conprehensive incone. We report conprehensive income in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income and also in
the consclidated statements of stockholders' equity.

Concentration of Credif Risks

Our credit risks primarily relate to cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, marketable secuntics, restricted marketable
securities and notes receivable, Cash and cash equivalents are primarily held in bank accounts and overnight investments. Restricted cash and cash equivalents are primarily
invested in commercial paper and certificates of deposit with financial institutions and other interest-bearing accounts, Accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts due fiom
patients (fanded through Medicare, Medicaid, other contractual prograns and through private payors) and from other health care companies for management, accounting and
other services. We perform continual credit evaluations of our clients and maintain appropriate allowances for doubtful accounts on any accounts receivable proving uncollectible,
and continually monitor and adjust these allowances as necessary. Marketable sccurities and restricted marketable securitics are held primarily in accounts with brokerage
institutions. Notes receivable relate primatily to secured loans with health care facilities,

At any point in time we have fands in our operating accounts and restricted cash aceounts that are with thitd party financial institutions. These balnces in the US may
exceed the Federal Deposit Tnsurance Corporation ("FDIC”) insurance limits. While we monitor the cash balances In our operating accounts, these cash and restrieted cash
balances could be impacted if the underlying financial institutions fail or could be subject to other adverse conditiens in the financial markets.

Our financial instruments, principally our notes receivable, are subject to the possibility of loss of the camying values as a result of the failure of other patties to petform
according to their contractual obligations, We obtain various collateral and cther protective rights, and continvally monitor these tights in order to reduce such posaibilities of
credit Toss, We evaluate the nced to provide reserves for potential eredit losses on our financial instruments based ot nanagement's periodic review of the portfolio on an

instrument-by-instrument basis.
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Aceounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted

Tnn Noverber 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update {"ASU™) No. 2023-07, "Segment Reporiing (Topic 280):
Tuprovement to Reportable Segment Disclosures.” The ASU improves reportable segment disclosure requirenionts, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant
scgment expenses. In addition, the amendments enhance interim disclosure requirements, clarify circurmstances in which an entity can disclose mmltiple segmont measures of profit
and loss, and contain other disclosure requirernents. This ASU is offective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning afier
Decerrber 15, 2024.. Farly adeption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the inpact this standard will have on our disclosures.

Note 2 — Coronavirus Pandemic ("COVID-19""}

In early March 2020, COVIT-19, a disease caused by the novel strain of the coronavirus, was characterized as a pandemic by the World Heaith Qrganization, The U.S.
govemment enacted several laws beginning in March 2020 designed to help the nation respond to the COVID-19 panderic. The laws impacted healthcare providers in a variety of
ways, but the largest legislation froma monetary reliof perspective was the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Beonomtic Secutity Act (the "CARES Act"), Through the CARES Act, as
well as the Paycheck Protection Program and Health Care Enhancement Act ("PPPCHE'), the federal government allocated $178 billion to the Public Health and Social Services
Energency Fund, which is referred to as the Provider Relief Fund, The Provider Relief Fund is administered through grants and other nechanisms to skilled nursing providers,
home health providers, hospitals, and other Medicare and Medicaid enrolled providers fo cover unrsimbursed health care related expenses or lost revenue attributable to the public
health emergency resulting from COVID-19,

The Provider Relief Fand grants come with tems and condition certifications in which all providers are required to submit documents to ensure the funds are used for
healthcare-related expenses or lost revenue attributable to COVID-19. The Conpany recorded $0, $11,457,000 and $62,360,000 of govemment stimulus incone from the Provider
Relief Funds for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The grant income was determined on a systentc basis in tine with the recognition of specific
expenses and lost revenues for which the grants are intended to compensate, The Conpany’'s assessnent of whether the terms and conditions for amounts received have been met
for income recognition and the Corpany’s related income calculation considered all frequently asked questions and other interpretive guidance issued to date by the U8,
Department of Health and Buman Services ("HHS™).

Wo have alse received supplemental Medicaid payments from many of the states in which we operate to help mitigate the incremental labor and medical supply costs

resulting from the public health emergeney. We have recorded $20,214,000, 19,442,000 and 520,482,000 in net patient revenues for these supplewental Medicaid payments for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Note 3 — Net Patient Revenues
The Company disaggregates revenue fromcontracts with customers by service type and by payor.
Revenue by Service Type

The Cotpany’s het patient services can generally be classified into the folowing two categories: (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing
facilities, assisted and independent living facilities, and behavioral health hospitals, atd (2) homecare end hospice services (in thousands),

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Inpatient services $ 956,077 % 900231 % 868,687
Homecare and hospice services 131,537 128,854 96,853
Total net patient revenues 3 1,087,614 % 1,029,085 % 965,342
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‘ ]‘:m‘ inpatient and hospice services, revenue is recognized on a daily basis as each day represents a separate contract and performance obligation. For homecare, revenue
is rcc.c:gmzcd when services are provided based on the number of days of service rendered i the period of care oron 2 per—visit basis. Typically, patients and third-party payors
are billed monthly after services are perforned or the patient is discharged, and payments are due based on contract ters.

As our performance obligations relate to contracts with a duration of one year or less, the Company is not required to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction
price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partialiy unsatisfed at the ond of the reporting period. The Company has minimal unsatisfied porformance
obligations at the end of the reporting period as our patients are typically under no obligation to remain admitted in our faclities or under our care. As the period between the time
of service and time of payment is typically onc year o less, the Company did not adjust for the effects ofa significant financing cormponent.

Revenue by Payor

Certain groups of patients receive funds to pay the cost of their care froma cominon source. The following table sets forth sources of net patient rcvenues for the
periods indicated:

Year Bnded Decerber 31,

Source 2023 2022 2021

Medicare et s ' o 34% 3% 36%
Managed Care 0% 10% 11%
Medicaid 30% 8% 9%
Private Pay and Othor 26% 25% 24%
Tasal : ' ' 100% 100% 100%

Medicarc covers skilled nursing services for beneficiaries who require numing care and/or rehabilitation: services following a hospitalization of at least three consesutive
days. For cach eligible day a Medicare beneficiary s in a skilled nursing facility, Medicare pays the facility a daily payment, subject to adjustnent for certain factors such as a wage
index in the geographic area. The payment covers all services provided by the skilled nursing facility for the beneficiary that day, including room and board, nursing, therapy and
drugs, as well as an estinate of capital-related costs to defiver those services,

For homecare services, Medicare pays based on the acuity level of the patient and based on periods of care. A period of care is defined as a length of cure up te 30 days
with rultiple continuous periods alowed. The services covered by the payment include all disciplines of care, in addition to medical supplies, within the scope of the honx health
benefit.

For hospice services, Medicare pays a daily mtc to cover the hospice’s costs for providing services included in the patient care plan, Medicare makes daily payments
based on | of 4 levels of hospice care, All hospice care and services offored te pationts and their fanlies must follow an individualized written plan of care that meets the patient’s

needs,

Our hospice service revenue is subject to certain limitations on payments from Medicare. We are subject to an inpatient cap limit and an overall Modicare payment cap for
each provider number, We monitor these caps on a provider-by-provider basis and estimate amounts dus back to Medicare if we estimate a cap has been exceeded. If applicable,
we record these cap adjustments as a reduction lo revenue.

Medicaid is operated by individual sfates with the financial participation of the federal govemnment, The states in which we operate curmently use prospective cost-based
reinbursement systems. Under cost—based refmbursement systems, the skilled nursing facility is reimbursed for the reasonable direct and indirect allowable costs it incurred i a
base year in providing routine resident care services as defined by the program

Private pay, managed care, and other payment sources inciude conmrercial insurance, ingividual patient funds, managed care plans and the Veterans Adminis tration,
Private paying patients, private insurance camiers and the Veferans Adminds tration generally pay based on the healtheare center's charges or specifically negotiated contracts. For
private pay patlents in skilled nursing, assisted living and independent living facifitics, the Company bills for room and board charges, with the remittance being due on receipt of
the statement and generally by the 10th day of the month the services are performed.

Certain munaged care payors for homecare services pay on a per-visit basis, This rovenue is recorded on an accrual basis based upon the date of services at amounts
equal to its established or estimated per-visit rates,
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Third Party Payors

Laws and regulations goveming the Medicare and Medicaid prograns are complex and subject to interpretation. Noncompliance with such laws and regulations can be
subject to regulatory actions including fines, penaltics, and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid prograns, We believe that we are following all applicable laws and
regulations. ’

Medicare and Medicaid program revenucs, as well as certain Managed Care program revenues, arc subject to audit and retroactive adjustment by govemment
representatives or their agents. Settleronts with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews or investigations are considered variable consideration and
are included in the detenmination of the estimated transaction price for providing patient care. These scttlements arc cstimated based on the terms of the paynent agreement with
the payor, conrespondence from the payor and the Company’s historical settloment activity, including an asscssment to cnsure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of curmilative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty assceiated with the retroactive adjustment is subscquently resolved. Estimated settlements are
adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years are seitled or are o longer subject to such audits, reviews, and investigations. We believe that any
differences betwoen the net revenugs recorded, and final detesmrination will not meterially affect the consolidated financial statements, We have made provisions of approximately
$18,369,000 and $16,631,000 as of Decerber 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, for various Medicare, Medicaid, and Managed Care clairs reviows and current and priot year cost
reports,

Note 4 — Other Revenues

Other revenues are outlined in the table below, Revenues from rental income inchide health care real estate properties owned by us and leased to third party operaters.
Revenues from nanagement and accounting services inclide fees provided to manage and provide accounting servises to other healthcare operators, Revenues fom insurance
services include premiuns for workers’ compensation and professional liability insurance policias that our wholly owned insurance subsidiarios have written for cerfain healthcare
operators to which we provide nanagement ot accounting services, "Other” revenues inclide miscellaneous health care related eamings (in thousands).

Year Ended Decenber 31,
20723 2022 2021

Rental income a $ 23926 $ 23451 § 22,717
Managenent and accounting service fees ' 18,544 16,160 17,139
Insurance services 3,857 4,766 5,019
Other 1373 819 525
Gain on sale of property and equipment 6,230 - —

Total other revenues & 53930 3 45,196 § 45400

Rental Income

The Company leases real estate assets consisting of sldlled nutsing facilities and assisted living facilities to third party operators. Additionally, we sublease four Florida
skilled nursing faclities inchided in our lease from Naticnal Tlealth Investors ("NHI") as noted in Note 7 — Long Tenm Leases, Rental income reflected in the consolidated
statements of opetations consisted of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Operating lease payments $ 22928 % 23,039 $ 22,609
Variabic lease payments 998 412 108
Total rental incoine £ 23926 § 23451 3§ 22,717
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Variable lease payments are based on revenue increases as compared to a base year.

The following table sets forth the undiscounted cash flows for future nininum lease payments receivable for leases in effect at December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

2024 C $ 2,933
2025 ) ] 22,824
2026 - v . 20314
2027 73
2028 e N e 5
Thereafter -
Total future mininumlease payments v ' £ 66,150

Management Fees from National
We have managed skilled nursing facilities for National since 1988, and we currently manage five facilities, See Note 18 regarding our relationship with National.

During 2023, 2022 and 2021, we recognized approximately $5,200,000, $4,332,000, and $3,915,000, respectively, of management fees and interest on management fees.
Unrecognized and unpaid management fees and interest on menagenent foes from National total $19,049,000 and $18,843,000 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The unpaid fees from these five facilities, because collection of substantially alf of the contmct consideration was not probable when the performance obligation was
satisfied, will be recognized as rovenues only in the period in which the amounts are received. Under the tems of our management agreenent with National, the payment of these
fees to us may be subordinated to ather expenditures of the five skilled nursing facilities, We continue to manage these facilities so that we may be able to collect our fees in the
future and because the inoremental savings Fomdiscontinning services to a facility may be small compared to the potential bencfit. We may receive payment for the unrecognized
management fees in whole or in part in the fature only if cash flows from the operating and investing activitics of centers or proceeds fromthe sale of the centers are sufficient to
pay the fees, There can be no assurnce that such future improved cash flows will oceur,

Management Fees and Financial and Accounting Services for Other Healthcare Centers

We provide nanagement services and financial and accounting services to certain healtheare Facilities (i addition to the five National centers) operated by third party
owners. For the years ended Decerber 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we recognized menagement fees and financial and accounting fees of $13,344,000, $11,828,0010, and $13,224,000 from
these centers, respectively,
Insurance Services

For workers’ compensation insurance services, the premivm revenues reflected In the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021 were $2,611,000, $2,689,000, and 52,974,000, respectively. Associated losses and cxpenses are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations as " Salaties, wages
and benefits.”

For professional liability insurance services, the premium revenues reflected in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended Decorber 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021 were $1,246,000, $2,077,000, and $2,045,000, respectively., Associated losses and expenses including those for self-insurance are included in the conselidated staterments of
operations as "Other operating costs and expenses”.

Guain on Sale of Praperty and Equipment

In 2023, we contributed land to a newly-formed limited Hability company resulting in an equity inlerest in the new entity. The fair value of the land contributed te the new
entily was $8,000,000. The related cost basis of the coptibuted land was $1,770,000, which resulted in a gain of $6,230,000,

Note 5 — Non—Operating Income

Non-operating income includes equity in eamnings of wnconsolidated investoents, dividends and other realized gains and losses on marketable securities, and interest
income (0 thousards).

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Equity in eamings of unconsotidated mvestients $ 2015 % 477§ 5111
Dividends and not realized gains or logses on the sale of securities 6,262 5,530 7,598
Interest income 8,383 5,134 4,665
Total non-operating income $ 16660  § 1,141 8 17,774
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Caris HealthCare, LP, (" Caris")

On June 11,2021, the Conpany acquired the remaining 24.9% equity interest in Caris HealthCare, L.P. (" Caris™). Prier to the June 11, 2021 acquisition date, Carls was our
most significant equity method investment with a 75.1% nen-conirolling ownership interest. From the respective acquisition date, Caris’ financial information is now included in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and is no fonger accounted for as an equity method investrent,

Note 6 - Business Segments

The Company has two reportable operating segments: (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living
facilities, and behavioral health hospitals; and (2} homecare and hospice services. These reportable cperating segments are consistent with information used by the Company's
Chief Executive Officer, as chief operating decision maker ("CODM™), to ass¢ss performance and allocate resources. The Company also reports an "all other” category that
includes revenues from rental income, management and accounting setvices fees, msurance services, and costs of the corporate office.

The Conpany’s CODM evaluates performance and allocates capital resources to gach segment based on an operating model that is designed to improve the quality of
patient care and profitability of the Company while enhancing long-term shareholder vatne, The CODM does net review assets by segment in his resource allocation and therefore,
assets by segment are not disclosed below,

The following tables set forth the Company’s consolidated statements of operations by business segnent {in thousandsy.

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Inpatient Homecare
Sorvices and Hospice All Other Total
Revenues: R R
Net patient revenues § 956,077 % 131,537  § - 3 1,087,614
Otherrevenues * - CoE 1,141 - 52,789 53,930
Net cperating revenues 957,218 131,537 52,789 1,141,544
Costs and Expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits ' 589,279 80,610 42,455 712,344
Other operating 254,559 23,529 10,095 288,183
Facility rent ) 33,787 2,172 5,566 41,525
Depreciation and amortization 38,172 786 3,076 42,034
Interest o 24 - - 324
Total costs and expenses 916,121 107,097 61,192 1,084,410
Incowe (loss) before non-operating incone 41,097 24,440 (8,043) 57,134
Non-operating incone - - 16,660 16,660
Unrealized gains on marketable equity securities _ - - 14,944 14,944
Income before income taxes $ 41,097 § 24440 § 23200 % 88,738

59




Table of Contents

Revenues:
Net paticnt revenues
Other revenues
Governinent stimmlys income
Net opemting revenues and grant incorme '

Costs and Bxpenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Other operating 10
Facility rent
Depreciation and amortization
Interest

Recovery of assets

Total costs and expenses

Income before non-operating income
Non-opetating income

Unrealized losses on marketable equity securities

Incone (loss) before income taxes

Year Fnded December 31, 2022

Inpatient Hotrecare
Services and Hospice Al Other Total
900,231 § 128854 % - % 1,029,085
136 45,060 45,196
11,457 - - 11,457
511,824 128,854 45,060 1,085,738
580707 77,688 27,774 686,169
251,355 26,319 11,698 289,372
32,956 2,327 5,694 40,977
36,522 691 3,276 40,489
563 - - 563
- - (3,728) (3,728)
902,103 107,025 44,714 1,053,842
9,721 21,829 346 31,896
- - 11,141 11,14
- -~ (15,808) {15,806)
971 § 2,829 % @319 $ 27231
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Year Ended Decenber 31, 2021

Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hosprice All Other Total

Revenues:

Net pationt revenues $ 868,687 § 96,855 $ - 8 965,542

Other revenues e : 386 - 45,014 45,400

Gevernment stinmlns income 63,360 - - 63,360

Net operating revenues and grant income R ’ T 932,433 96,855 45014 1,074,302

Costs and Expenses:

Salaries, wages and benefits 557,604 59,226 49,233 666,063

Other operating 238,354 16,053 12,347 260,754

Facility rent 32,819 2,064 5,935 40,818

Depreciation and amartization 36,890 443 3,339 40,672

Interest 845 - - s

Tnpairment of assets o 4457 - 1,728 8,225

Total costs and cxpenses . 871009 77,786 74,582 1,023,377

Incone (loss) before non-operating income 61,424 19,069 (29,568) 50,925
Nen-operating income g h - - 17,774 17,774
Gain on acquisition of equity method investment - - 95,202 95,202
Unrealized {osses on marketable equity securities - - (13,863) (13,863}
Tincome before income taxes 5 61424 8 19069 § 89,545 §$ 150,038

Note 7 — Long-TermTcases
Cperating Leases

At Decerrber 31, 2023, we lease from NHI the real property of 28 skilled nursing fucilities, five assisted living centers and three independent living centers under one
nmster lease agreement. As part of the lease agreement, we sublease four Flotida skilled nurs ing facllities to a third-party operator. The lease includes basc rent plus a percentage
rent.

The annual base rent was $34,075,000 in 2023. The annual base reat is §32,625,000 in 2024, $32,225,000 in 2025, and $31,975,000 in 2026 with the lease term expiring at
December 31, 2026, The percentage rent is based on a quarterly calenlation of revenue increases and is payable on a quarterly basis, Percentage rent expense under the NHI lease
agreements for 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $5,549,000, $3,887,000 and $3,721,000, respectively.

We have a right of first refusal with NHI to purchase any of the properties should NHI receive an offer from an unrelated party during the term of the lease or up to 180
days after tormination of the related lease,

Finance Leases

Effective March 1, 2614, NHC began leasing and operating three senior healthcare facilities in the state of Missourl under three separate lease agreements. Two of the
healthcate facilities ate skilled nursing facilities that also include assisted living facilities and the thitd heakthcare facility is  memory cate facility. Each of the leases is a ten-yeat
lease with two five—year renewal options. Under the terms of the leases, base rent totals §5,200,000 annually with rent thereafter escalating by 4% of the increase in faility revenue
over the 2014 base year. With the ten-year leasc term ending on March 1, 2024, we have chosen not to renew or extend the leases and will be extting these fhree healthcare
operations at that time,

Fixed assets recorded under the finance leases, which are included in property and equipment in the consclidated balance sheats, are as follows (in thousands);

December 31,
2023 2022
Buildings and personal property $ 39,000 § 38,011
Aceumnlated anortization (38,354) (34,482)
$ o7 § 4,529
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Lease Classification

. The Company recorded the following on the consolidated balance sheets (it thousands):

Decenber 31,
Right-of-Use _Asscts Balance Sheet Classification 2023 2002
Finance lease assets i Net property and equipment $ 647 8 4,529
Operating lease right-of use assets Operating lease right-of-use assets 94,201 120,521
Total ) $ 94848 3 125,050
Decenber 31,
Lease Liabilities Balance Sheet Class Hication 2023 2022
Current: ’ B
Finance lease liabilities Finance lease obligations, current portion 3 80 3 4,985
Opernting lease liabilitics Operating lease liabilities, current portion 29,352 29,075
Nonecurrent:
Finance lease liabilities Finanee lease obligations, less current portion - 860
Operating lease liabilities Operating lease liabilities, less current portion 63,175 91,016
Total -~ 3 91387 § 125,936
Weighted-avorage remaining lease tems and discount rates were as follows:
December 31,
) . 2023 2022,
Weighted-average temaining lease terms {in years)
Finance ) 0.2 12
Operating o 3.0 4.0
Weighted-average discount rate
Finance 6.0% 6.0%
Operating 6.6% 6.6%
Lease Costs
Lease costs recorded in the consolidated statement of operations are as follows (1 thousands):
December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Finance lease costs:
Depreciation ofleased assets 3 3882 ¢ 3878 § 3,908
Tnterest of lease Habilities 215 534 807
Total finance lease costs ) 4007 4412 4,712
Operating lease costs:
- "QOperating lease cosis 34953 36,051 36,079
Variable lease costs 5,549 3,887 3,721
Short-term lease costs 1,023 1,039 1,018
Total cperating lease costs 41,525 40,977 40,818
Total lcase costs § 45622 § 45389 § 45,530

62




Table of Contents
Mirirmm Lease Payments

The following table summarizes the maturity of cur Fnance and aperating lease liabilities as of Decenber 31,2023 {in thousands):

Finance Operating
) Loases Leases
2024 R : ' $ 867§ 3402
225 - 33,645
206 : g - 32,955
2027 - 496
2008 ' - 19%
Thereafter o - 32
Total minimum lease payments R Lo e R § 867 § 101,768
Less: amounts representing interest (N (9,241)
Present value of future minimmm lease payments ' R 860 92,527
[ess: current portion S ) (860) (29,352)
Noncurrent lease liabilities $ -3 63,175
COther
Supplemontal cash flow data were as Tollows (in thousands):
December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measyrement of leass liabilities:

Operating cash flows for eperating leases $ 36,198 § 36051 % 36,079

Operating cash flows for finance leases 215 534 807

Fitancing cash flows for finance lsases 4,985 4,695 4,423

Note 8 — Earning Per Share

The following table sunmurizes the eamings and the weighted average rumber of conmon shares used in the caloulation of basic and diluted camings per share (in
thousands, except share and per share amaunls):

Year Faded Decenber 31,
2023 2022 2021
Basic: .
Weighted average common shares cutstanding _ 15,310,142 15,410,222 15,347,129
Net income attributable o common stockholders of Natlonal Healthoare Corpotation p 66,798 B 245§ 138,590
Farnings per cormon share, basic $ 436 § 146 $ 9.03
Diluted: :
Weighted average common shares outstanding 15,310,142 15410,222 15,347,129
Dilutive effect of stock options 67,201 36,989 69,587
Assumed average common shares outstanding 15,377,343 15447211 15,416,716
Net ingoe attributable to common stockhalders of National Healtheare Corporation $ 66,798 § 45§ 138,590
Famings per conmron share, diluted 3 434§ 145 % 899

Tn the above tahle, eptions to purchase 588,534, 375,638, and 291,046 shares of our comron stock have been excluded for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and
2021, respectively, due to their anti-dilutive inpact.
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Note 9 - Brves ments in Marketable Secnrities

Marietable securities consist of the following (in thonsands):

December 31,2023

December 31, 2022

Amortized Fair Anortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value
Investments available for sale: : o
) Marketable equity securities b 30,176 $ 114,117 % 30,176 ¢ 100,786
-~ Corporate debt securitics o - 2497 2441 14,317 13,885
Asset-backed securities - - 500 494
U.8, Treasury securities i s : e 2,950 2,986 9,009 8,757
Restricted investments available for sale:
Marketable equity securities - ' - : 24,134 26,779 24,226 22,358
Corporate debt securities ) 59,586 57,731 54412 51,009
Asset—backed securities : ' © 19,388 17,659 24,605 22,437
1.8, Treasury securities 46,771 42,863 45,989 41,294
State and nunicipal securities 4,106 4047 4,877 47
$ 189,648 265623 % 208211 % 265,751
Included in the marketable equity sccurities available for sale are the following (ir thousands, except share amounis):
Decenber 31, 2023 Deccber 31, 2022
Fair Fair
Shares Cost Value Shares” Cost Value
NHI Common Stock. 1,630042 % 24734 3 91,071 1,630,642 3 24734 % 85,152
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt securities classified as available for sale, by contractual maturity, are as follows (in thotsands):
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Fair Fair
Cost Value Cost Value
Maturities:
Within | year 3 19664 3 19328 § 33662 % 33,037
1to 5 years 81,517 77,118 81,500 76,394
6to 10 years 33,515 30,802 38,547 33,216
QOver 10 years 642 479 - -
$ 135338 § 127,727 § 153,709 § 142,647

Gross untealized gains related to marketable equity sccurities are $84,514,000 and $71,269.000 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Gross unrealized losses
related to marketable cquity securities are $928,000 and $3,227,000 as of Decerrber 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. For the year ended Decembeor 31, 2023, the Company recognized
net unrealized gains of $14,944,000. For the years ended 2022, and 2021 the Company recognized net unrealized losses of $15,806,000, and $13,863,000, respectively, in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Gross unrealized gains related to available for sale marketable debt securities are $326,000 and $9,000 as of Decermber 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Gross unrealized
losses related to available for sale marketable debt securities are $7,937,000 and $11,071,000 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively,

The Company’s unrealized losses in our available for sale marketable debt seourities were determined to be non-credit related. The Comrpany has not recognized any credit
related impairments for the years ended Decerrber 31,2023 and 2022,
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For the matketable debt securities in gross unreafized loss positions, (2) it is more likely than net that the Conpany will not be required to sell the investment secutities
before recovery of the unrealized losses nor does the Company have the intent to sell before recovery of unrealized losses, and (b) the Company expects that the contractual
principal and interest will be received on the investrent securities,

Proceeds from the sale of available for sale marketable securitics during the years ended Decenber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were $47,396,000, $49,561,000, and $101,920,000,
respectively, Net investment losses of $667,000 and $1,326,000 and net investment gains of §1,042,000 were realized on these sales during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,
and 2021, respectively.

Note 10 — Fair Value Measurements

The accounting standard for fair value measurements provides a framework for measuring fair value and tequires expanded disclosures regarding fair value measurements,
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received for an asset or the exit price that would be paid to transfer a ligbility in the principal or most advantageous market in an
orderly transaction between merket participants on the measurement date. This accounting standard es tablishes # fair value hisrarchy, which requires an entity to maximize the use
of observable inputs, where available. The following summarizes the three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1-The valation is based on quoted prices i active markets for identical instruments.

Level 2— The valuation is based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar instrunents in active markets, quoted prices for identical or sintiar instrunents in
matkets that are not active, and nodel-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the nurket,

Tevel 3 — The valuation is based on unobservable inputs that arc supported by minimal or no market activity and that are significant to the fair vatue of the instrument,
Level 3 valuations are typically performed using pricing models, discounted cash flow methadologies, or similar techniques that incorporate management’s own estimates
of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the nstrument, or valuations that require signifieant munagement judgment or estimation,

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measwrement.

The Company's non-financial assets, which inoludes goodwill, intangible assets, property and equipment and right-of-use assets, are not required to be measured at fair
valup on a recurring basis, However, on 4 periodic basis, or whenever events or changes in clrcunstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable, the Company
assesses its long-lived assets for inpairment, When inpainrent has occurred, such long-lived assets are written down to fair value.

Vaiuation of Marketable Securities

The Company determines fair value for murketable sccurities with Tevel L nputs through quoted market prices. The Company determines fair value for narketable
securities with Level 2 inputs through broker or dealer quotations or altemative pricing sources with reasonabie levels of price transparcney. Our Level 2 marketable securities have
been initially valued at the transaction price and subsequently valued, at the end of cach manth, typically utilizing third party pricing services or other market observable data. The
pricing services utilize industry standard valuation models, including both incorne and arket-based approaches and obscrvable market inputs to deternine value, These
observable satkot inputs nclude reportable trades, benchmark yields, credit spreads, broker/dealer quotes, bids, offers, and other industry and ecenomic events.

We validated the prices provided by our broker by reviewing their pricing methods, obtaining market valies from other pricing sources, analyzing pricing data in certain
instances and confiming that the relevant markets arc active. After completing our validation procedures, we did not adjust or override any fair value measurements provided by
our broker as of Decernber 31, 2023 or 2022,

Other
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivelents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value due to their
short—term nature, The estirated Tair value of notes receivable approximates the carrying value based principally on their underlying inferest rates and ters, maturities, collateral

and credit status of the receivables, At December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were o mteral differences between the camying ampunts and fair values of NHC's financial
instruments,
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The following table summarizes fair value measurements by level at Decewber 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 for assets and labilities measured at fair value on a recurring

basis (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurcnents Using

Quoted
Prices in
Active Signiticant
Markets Other Significant
For ldentical Observable Unobservable
Fair Assets Inputs Inputs
December 31, 2023 Value (Level 1) (Level 2) {(Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents -0 7 T ' $ 107076 $ 167076 § - % -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18,892 18,892 - -
Marketable equity securities 137,896 137,896 - -
Corporate debt securities 60,171 42,860 17,311 -
Asset-backed securities 17,659 - 17,210 449
U.S, Treasury secutities 45,850 45,850 - -
State and nmnicipal securities 4047 - 4,047 —
Total financial assets § 391,581 § 352574 % 38568 § 449
Fair Value Measurements Using
Cuoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets Other Significant
For Identical Cbservable Unabservable
Fair Assets Inputs Inputs
Decenber 31, 2022 Valye {Level 1) {Level2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents § 58,667 § 58,667 % - § -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16,198 16,198 — -
Marketable equity securities 123,144 123,144 - -
Corporate debt securities 64,894 48,525 16,369 -
Asset-backed securities 22,931 - 22,931 -
U.S. Treasuty secutities 50,051 ) 50,051 - -
State and rounicipal securities 4,771 - 1,337 3434 -
Total financial assets 3 340,656 3 267922 3 42734 § -
Naote 11 — Property and Bguipment
Property and cquipment, at cost, consists of the following (i thousands):
Decenber 31,
2003 2022
Land $ 65579 % 67,165
Leasehold improvements 129,801 125,142
Buildings and improvements 700,044 688,433
Furniture and equipment 195,159 187,743
Construction In progress 11,098 12,736
Property and equipmen, at cost 1,101,681 1,081,219
Less: Accurmilated depreciation (608,352) (574,687)
5 493326 3 506,532

Net property and cquipment
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Note 12 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2023, we evaluated potential triggering events that wight be indicators that our goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles were impaired. The Cormpany
perfors its goodwill impairment analysis for each Teperting unit that constilutes a component for which {1} discrete finaneial mformation is available and (2} segment management
regularly reviews the operating results of that component, in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 350, Mntangibles - Goodwill and Other, No goodwill or intangible asset
impaisments were recorded during the yeas ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021,

The following table represents activity in geodwill by segment as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Year Fuded December 31, 2023

Tnpatient Homoeeare and
Services Hospice All Other Total
Javuary §, 2022 3,741 164,554 - 168,295
Additions — — - —
December 31, 2022 _ 3,741 164,554 - 168,255
Additions — - — -
December 31,2023 3 3741 § 164,554 & - § 168,295

As part of the Caris acquisition in June 2021, we alsc reeorded indefinite-lived intangible assets that consisted of the trade name ($4,340,000) and certificates of need and
licenses {$2,698,000).

MNote 13 — Tncome Taxes

The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following components (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Current taxprovision
Federal $ 14520 % 17 3 15,072
State 3,137 251 1,164
Total current tax provision 17,657 008 16,236
Deferred taxprovision
Federal 4,142 4,595 (3,866}
State ' 1,651 1,691 (1419
Total deferred tax provision 5,793 6,280 (5,285)
Incone taxprovision $ 23450 § 7254 % 16,951
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The deferred taxassets and liabilities, consisting of temporary differences tax effected at the respective income taxrates, are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2023 2002
Deferred taxassets:

Accrued risk reserves $ 1898 3§ 2,209
Accmed expenses ' 7,346 6441
Financial reporting deprociation in excess of tax depreciation 5,653 3,505

" Stock based compensation TR ' 931 742
Deferred revenue 4,987 3,393
Operating lease liabilities 23,658 30,558
Other 567 1,711
Total gross deferred taxassets 45,040 50,559
Less: valuation allowance (594 {978)
Deferred taxassets less valuation allowance $ “46 5 49,581

Deferred tax liabilities:

Unrealized gains on marketable securities 8 (19,97 3% (15,390}
Deferred gain on sale of assets, net {2,055) {2,0435)
Book basis in excess oftaxbasis of imtangible assets (3,387) (3,063)
Book basis in excess of taxbasis of securities (3,393) (3,164)
Long—letm investiments (8,753} (6,155}
Operating lease asscts {24,087) {30,667)
Total deferred tax liabilities 5 (61,646) $ (60:450)

Net deferred taxBability 3 (17,200) § (10,909)

A roconeilistion of income tax expense and the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to income before income taxcs is as follows (in
thousands):

Year BEnded December 31,

2023 A2 2021
Taxprovision at federal statutory rate $ 18,635 § 5719 $ 31,508
Iacrease (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:

State, net of federal benefit 4,600 1,034 : 1,113
Nontaxable revaluation gain - - (19,758)
Unrecognized tax benefits 1,227 730 (158)
Expiration of statute of limitations ' (1,491} (1,032) {1,900
Tax (expense) benefit of noncontroliing interest 317 518 (104

Other ' 162 285 251
Total increases {decreases) 4815 1,535 {20,557

Eifective incote tax expense $ 23450 8 1254 3 10,951

Our deferred tax assets have been evaluated for realization based on historizal taxable income, tax planning strategies, the expected timing of reversals of existing
temporary differences and future taxable income anticipated. Cur deferred tax assets, with the exoeption of certain state tax nef operating losses and certain deferred tax assets
associated with unrealized losses on marketable securities, are more lkely than not 1o be realized in fuli due to the existence of sufficient taxable income ofthe appropriate character

under the taxlaw. As such, the only valuation allowance reiates (o state nel operating losses and unrealized losses on marketable securitics.

Uncertain tax positions may arise where tax laws may allow for altemative interpretations or where the timing of recognition of income is subject to judgment, Under ABC
Topic 740, tax positions are cvaluated for recognition using a more—kely—than-not threshold, and those tax positions fequiring recognition are measured at the largest amount of
taxbenefit that is greater than 50 percent likely ofbeing realized uporn: ulktimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information.

In accordance with current guidance, the Company has established a liability for unrecognized taxbenefits, which are differences between a tax position taken or expected
{0 be taken in a tax retumn and the benefil recognized and neasured. Generally, a liability is created for an unrecognized tax benefit because it represents a company’s potential
future obligation to a taxing authority for a tax position that was not recognized per above, We believe that our finabilities reflect the anticipated cutcome of known uncertain tax

positiens in conformity with ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes. Our liabifties for unrecognized tax benefits ate preseated in the consolidated balance sheets within other noncutrent
liabilities.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousanids):

Liabiity
For
Deferred Liability For Interest
Tax Unrecognized and Liability
Assel Tax Benefits Penaltics Total

Balance, January 1, 2021 3 5666 8 9893 § 2614 § 12,507
Additions based on taxpositions related to the current year 665 665 - 665
Additions (reductions) for taxpositions of prior yeass (441) (187 543 356
Reductions for statute of limilation expirations {435) (1,469) {867) (2,336}
Balance, Decermber 31,2021~ 5455 8,502 2290 11,182
Additions based on taxpositions related to the current year 636 636 - 636
Additions (reductions) for tax positions of prior years (1,097} {273) 900 627
Reductions for statute of limitation expirations (240 (760} (512) {1,272)
Balance, December 31,2022 7 4,754 2505 2,678 11,183
Additions based on tax positions related to the current ycar 1,454 1,454 - 1454
Additions (reductions) for tax positions of prior years {198} 324 1,583 1,907
Reductions for statute of limitation expirations ) {361) (1,030} {823) (1,853)
Balance, Decerrber 31, 2023 $ 5645 § 9253 8 3438 3 12,691

Unrecegnized tax benefits of $4,149,000, net of federal benefit at December 31, 2023, attributable to permancnt differences, would faverably npact our effective tax rate if
recognized. We do not expect significant increases or decreases in unrecognized tax benefits for the 2024 year, except for the effect of decreases related to the lapse of statute of
lirmitations estinatad at $1,102,000,

Interest and penaltics expense relaled to ULS. federal and state income tax retums are included within income tax expense, The Company is ne longer subject to US,
federal and state examinations by tax authorities for years before 2020 {with few state oxceptions).

Note 14 — Stock Repurchases

During 2023, the Company purchased 44,349 shares ofits cammen stock for a total cost of $2,482,000. The shares were finded fomcash on hand and were cancelled and
returned to the status of authorized but unissued. .

Note 15 -~ Stock—Based Compens ation

NHC recognizes stock-based cotpensation for all stock options and restricted stoek granted over the requisite service period using the fair value for these grants as
estinated at the date of grant either using the Black-Scholes pricing model for stack options or the quoted market price for restricted stock.

The Compensation Commitlee of the Beard of Directors ("the Comimittee") has the authority to select the participants to be granted options; to designate whether the
option granted is an incentive stock option ("ISO"), 2 non—qualified option, or a stock appreciation right; to establish the number of shares of common stock that may be issued
upen exercise of the option; to establish the vesting provision for any award; and to cstablish the termany award may be outstanding. The exercise price of any 180’ granted will
not be less than 100% of the fair matket value of the shares of common stock on the date granted and the term ofan ISO may not be any more than ten years. The exorcise price of
any non—qualified options granted will not be less than 100%, of the fair matket valse of the shates of common stock on the date granted urless so detennined by the Comrittee.
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Tn May 2020, our stockholders approved the 2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the "2020 Equity Tneentive Plan™) putsuant to which 2,500,000 shares of our conmon
stock were available to grant for restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, stock options, and enployes stock purchase plans. At December 31, 2023, 1,751,461 shares were
available for future grants under the 2020 Fquity Incentive Plan,

Additionally, we have an employec stock purchase plan that allows employees to purchase our shares of stock through payroll deductions, The plan allows erployess to
terminate participation at any {ime.

Compensation expense is recognized only for the awards that ultimately vest, The Company accounts for forfeitures when they oecur Steck-based conpensation totaled
$2,782,000, 52,612,000, and $2,620,000, for the years cnded December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Stock-based compensation is inchuided in salaries, wages and benefits in
the consolidated statements of operations. The total intrinsic value of shares cxercised (and tax deductions taken) was $2,769,000, $583,000, and $2,844,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively,

At December 31, 2023, the Cotrpany had $3,351,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to uivested stock-based compensation awards. This unrecognized
compensation cost will be amortized over at approximate two and a half year period,

Stock Options

The Cotrpany is required to estimate the fair value of stock-based awards on the date ol grant. The fuir value of each option award is estimated using the Black—Scholes
option valuation model with the weighted average assunptions indicated in the following table. Hach grant is valied as a single award with an expected term based upon expected
employment and termination behaviot, Compensation cost is recognized over the requisite service period in a manner consistent with the option vesting provisions, The straight—
line attribution method requires that compensation expense is Teceghized at least equai to the portion of the grant—date fair value that is vested at that date, The expected volatility
is derived vsing weekly historical data for periods immediately preceding the date of grant. The risk-free interest rate is the approximate yicld on the United States Treasury Strips
having a life equal to the expected option life on the date of grant, The expected life is an estimate of the numwber of yoars an option will be held betore it is excreised, The following
table surmmatrizes the assumptions used to value the options grunted in the periods shown.

Yeur Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Risk—fiee nterest rate 4.52% 1.83% 0.21%

Bxpected volatility 25.3% 31.4% 34.9%

Bpected life, in years 29 29 22

BExpected dividend yield 4.41% 357 3.00%

The followig table summarizes option activity:
Weighted Aggregate
Number of Average Intrinsic
Shares Frercise Price Value

Options outstanding at January 1, 2021 866,956 7211 -
Options granted 55,706 TO.80 -
Options excreised (541,736) 7139 -
Optiens cancelled {6,000 72.94 -
Options outstanding at December 31, 2021 374,926 72.95 -
Options granted 302,266 6472 -
Options exercised (32,597 64.49 -
Options cancelled ) (199,451) 75,98 -
Options outstanding at December 31, 2022 445,144 66.62 -
Options granted 299,278 54.44 -
Options exercised (103,481) 6472 -
Options cancelled (52,407) £0.58 —
Options outstanding at December 31, 2023 588,534 61.30 18,315,405
Options excrcisable at Decerber 31, 2023 162,781 70.87 3,507,939
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Weighted
Average

Options Weighted Remaining

Outstanding ' Average Contractual
Decenrber 31, Esercise Life in
2023 Exercise Priccs Price Yoars
507,639 8534 - $69.19 ) 5921 36
80,895 $71.64 - §77.92 7443 1.5
588,534 $ N 61,30 ] 33

Note 16 — Credit Facility

In May 2023, we entered into an unsecured $50,000,000 credit facility that has a 364-day maturity date. Toans bear interest at the one-month secured overnight financing
rate ("SOFR”) plus 1,25%. T we maintain cerain aggregate deposit levels within the financial institution, the credit facility shall bear interest at one-month SOFR plus 1.10%. The
credit facility is available for general corporate purposes, including working capital and acquisitions, The credit facility agrecment contains customary representations and financial
covenants, inchading covenants that restrict, among other things, assel dispositions, additional indebtedness, investments, sale-leasebacks, and certain contingent liabilities, The
credit facility contains custosmry events of default and remedies,

As of Decenbor 31, 2023, we have no outstanding balance on the credit facility,

Note 17 — Contingencies and Guarantees
Acerued Risk Reserves

We are sclf-insured for risks related to workers” compensation and gencral and professional liability insurance. We have two wholly—owned limited purpose insurance
companies that insure tisks refated to workers' compensation and general and professional liability insurance elaims both for our owned and leased entities and certain of the
entities o which we provide management or accounting services, The liabifity we have recognized for reported claims and estinates for mcwired but unreported clains totals
$103,259,000 and $102,469,000 at Decermber 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The liability is included in accrued rislc reserves in the consolidated balance sheets and is subject to
adjustment for actual clatirs incurred. It is possible that these claims plus unasserted claims could exceed our msurance coverages and our reserves, which could have a naierial
adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Ag a result of the terms of our insurance policies and our use of wholly owned limited purpose insurance companics, we have refained significant insurance risk with
respect to workers’ compensation and general and professional liability. We consider the professional services of independent actuaries to assist us in estimating our exposutes
for claims obligations (for both asserted and unasserted claims) wlated to deductibles and exposurcs in excess of coverage limits, and we meintain reserves for these obligations.
Such estinates are based on many variables including histotical and statistical infornation and other factors.

Warkers' Compensation

For workers’ compensation, we utilize a wholly owned Tennessee domiciled property/casualty insurance company to write coverage for NHC affiliates and for third—party
customers. Policies are written for a duzation of twelve wonths and cover oaly risks related to workers® compensation losses, All custorers ate conpanies which operate in the
long—term care industry. Basiness is written on a ditect basis.

General and Professional Liability Insurance and Lawsuils

The senior care indusiry has experienced significant increases in both the number of personal infury/wrongful death clains and i the severity of awards based upon
alleged negligence by skilied nuising facilities and their enployees in providing care to residents. The Conpany has been, and continues to be, subject to clains and legal actions
that atise in the ordinary course of business, including potential clains related to patient care and treatment, The defense of these lawsuits may result in significant legal costs,
regardless of the outcome, and can result in Jarge settlement amounts or damage awards.

Tnsurance coverage for all years includes primary policfes and excess policies. The primary coverage is in the amount of 4 per incident claim and a per location claimwith
an annual primary policy aggregate linit that is adjusted on an annual basis. Additional insurance is purchased through third party providers that serve to supplenent the
coverage provided through our wholly owned captive insurance conpany.

There is certain additional litigation ncidental to our business, none of which, based upon informetion available to date, would be material to our financial position, results
of operations, or cash flows, In addition, the long—term care industry is continuously subject to scratiny by govemmental regulators, which could result in [itigation or clains
related to regulatory compliance matters.
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Cui Tam Litigation

United States of Awerica. ex rel, Jennifer Cock and Sally Gaither v Injegrated Behgvioral Health, e, NHC HealthCare/Moylton, LLC. el_al. Case No, 2:20-
CV-00877-AMM (N.D Ala} This is a qui tam case originally filed under seal on June 22, 2020, The United States declined intervention on March 1, 2021, Thereafter, the Plaintiffs
filed an amended Conplaint against Dr. Sanja Malhotra, Integratcd Behavioral Health, Inc. and other entities that Dr. Maihotra was alleged to own or in which he allegedly had &
financial interest. The Complaint also naned mukiple skilled nursing facilities as Defendants, ncluding NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC, an affiliate of National HealthCare
Cotporation. The Complaint alleged that nurse practitioners affiliated with Dr. Malhotra provided free services to the facilities in exchange for refermls to entities owned by orin
which Dr. Malhotra had a financial interest in violation of the False Claims Act and Anti-Kickback Statute. NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC denied the allegations and filed a motion
to dismiss on Noverrber 4, 2021. On January 28, 2022, the district court stayed this matter and administratively torminated tho notion te dismiss pending the U.S, Supreme Court's
review of a petition for certiorari fited in an unrelated roatter but involving one of the legal arguments raised in the motion to dismiss. Thereaftcr, the U.S. Supreme Court denied the
petition for certiorar in tho unrelated matter. As a result, NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC renewed its motion to dismiss. The District Court granted NHC Healthcare/Moulton’s
Motion to Dismiss, along with other pending Motions to Dismiss, and entered an Order of Dismissal on March 23, 2023 and an Amended Order of Dismissal on April 4, 2023, which
distrissed the casc in its entirety with prejudice with respect to the claims asserted by the Plaintiffs. The Plaintifts flled a Notice of Appeal on April 20, 2023 to appeal the dismissal
to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. On December 21, 2023, the Heventh Circuit entered an Order affirning the District Court’s dismissal of the claims.
The Plaintiffs have 90 days from the entry of the dismissal Order (o file a Petition for a Writ of Certiomari with the United States Supreme Court requesting a review; otherwise, the
Order affirming dismissal issued by the Bleventh Circut will be final,

Governmental Regulations

Laws and togulations governing the Medicare, Medicaid end othor federal heallheare progrars are complex and suhject to interpretation, Management believes that it is
following all applicable laws and regulations in all material respects. However, compliance with such laws and rogulations can be subject to future govemment review and
intezpretation as well as significant regulatory action including tines, penalties, and oxclusions from the Medicare, Medicald and other federal healthcare programs.

Debt Guarantees

At December 31, 2023, no agreement to guarantee the debt of ather parties exists,

Note 18 — Relations hip with National Health Corporation

National Health Corporation (' Natlonal"), which is wholly owned by the National Health Corporation Leveraged Enployee Stock Ownership Plan (" ESOP"), was formed in
1986 and is our administrative services affiliatc and contractor, As discussed helow all of the persenncl conducting our business, ncluding our executive management team, are
enployees of National and may have ownership interests in National only through their participation as enployees in the ESCP,

Management Contracts

We currently manage five skilled nursing facilities for National under a nanageiment contract. The management contract has been extended until January 1, 2028. See Note
4 for additional mformation regarding management services fees recognized fromNational.

Financing Activities
In conjunction with our managerent contract, we have entered into a ling of eredil amangetent whereby we nay have amounts due from National from time te time, The

axdrm loan commitment under the line of credit is $2,000,000, At December 31, 2023 and 2022, National did not have an outstanding balance on the line of credit.

|
The maxirum line of oredit commitment amount of $2,000,000 i also the amount of 2 deferred gain that has been outstanding since NHC sold certain assets to National in

1988, The amount of the deferred gain is expected to remain deferred until the management contract with: National expires, currently scheduled in January 2028, The deferred gain is
included in deferred revenue in the censclidated balance sheets,

Payroif and Refated Services

The personnel canducting cur business, including our executive management teamy are employees of National and may have ownership interests in National only through
their participation in the ESOP. National provides payroll services to NHC, provides employee fringe benefits, and maintains certain liability insurance. We pay to National all the
costs of personnel employed for our benefit, as well as an administrative fee equal to 1% of payroll costs, The administrative fee paid to National for the yesrs ended December 31,
2023, 2022, and 2021 was $5,431,000, 85,074,000, and §5,112,000, respectively. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has recorded $1,499,000 and §$74,000, respectively, in
accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheets as a result of the tining differences between interimpayments for payroliand enployee benefits services costs.
National's Ownership of Our Stock

At Decermber 31, 2023 and 2022, National owns 1,084,763 shares, or approxinately 7,1%, of our outstanding conmon stock,
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Consolidation Considerations

Because of the contractual and nmnagement relationships between NHC and National as deseribed in this note above, we have considered whother National should be
consolidated by NHC under the guidance provided in ASC Topic 810, Consolidation. We do pot consolidate National because (1) NHC does not have any obligation or rights
(current or future) to absorb losses or to receive benefits fomNational. The ESOP participants bear the current and future financial gain or burden of National, (2) National’s equity
at tisk is sufficient to finance its activities without past or future subordinated support from NHC er other parties, and (3) the equity holders of National (that is collectively the
ESOP, its trustecs, and the ESOP participants) pesssss the charactetistios of a controlling financial interest, including voting rights that arc proportional to their economic interests.
Supporting the assertions above is the following: {1} substantive independent trustees arc appointed for the benefit of the ESGP participants when decisions must be made that
may create the appearance of a conflict of interest between NHC and the FSOP, and (2) National was designed, forned and is operated for the purpose of creating variability and
passing that variability aleng to the ESOP participants—that is, to provide retiroment benefits and value to the cirployees of NHC and NHC’s affiliates. The contractual and
ranagenent relationships botween NHC and National are with the sldlled nursing facilitics that are substantially less than 50% of the fair value of the total assets of National, NHC
dees not have a variable interest in National as a whole.

Note 19 — Variabte Interest Entity

Accounting guidance requires that a variable interest entity (" VIE"), according to the provisions of ASC Topic 810, Consolidation, must be consolidated by the primary
beneficiary. The prinary beneficiary is the party that has both the power to direet activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the eniity’s ecenanic performance and the
obligation to absorb losses of the entity ot the right to receive benefits fromthe entity that could potentially be significant to the VIL We perform ongoing qualitative analysis to
determine ifwe are the primary bencficiary of 2 VIE. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, we are the primary beneficiary of one VIE and therefors consolidate that entity.

Springfield, Missouri Lease

) In December 2010, we signed an operating agreement to lease Springfield Rehabilitation and Health Care Center, a 120-bed skilled nmursing facility located in Springfield,

* Missouri, The ters of the lease include a ten-year lease and include five additional, five-year loase options as well as a purchase option. The operating lease agreement was
established on the same date third party owners purchased the real estate of the 120-bed skilled nursing facility. The third-party owners purchased the real estate for 34,500,000,
which is the amount NHC loaned the owners to purchase the facility under the terrs of the lease agreoment and the mortgage note. The risks and rewards associated with the
operations of the facility and any appreciation or deprecation in the value of the real estate of the facility is beme by NHC. A mortgage note receivable from the third-party owners
of $11,047,000 at Decenber 31, 2023 and 2022 is eliminated in our consolidated financial statenents, Tand and builklings and fmprovements of §11,047,000 at Decerher 31, 2023 and
2022 have been recorded in our consolidated financial statements, as well as the operations of the facility because we are the primary beneficiary in the relationship.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DIS AGRIEEMENTS WITHACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Based on their evaluztion as of Decenber 31, 2023, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finuncial Officer ot the Cormpany have concluded that the Conpany’s disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended} were effective to ensure that the information

required to be disclosed by us in this Annual Repert on Form 10-K was recorded, processed, sunmmarized and reported within the tine periods specitied in the SEC's nules and
instructions for Form 10-K.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

We are responsible for establishing and meintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rals 13a—15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended). We assessed the effectiveness of our intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, In making this essessment, our managenent used the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cormmission ("COSO") i Intemal Controb-Integrated Framework (2013 Framework). We have
concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our intemal controf over financial reporting is effective based on these criteria. Our independent registered public aceounting firm, Bmst &
Young LIP, has issued an aitestation report ox the effectiveness ofthe Company’s intemal control over financial reporting inchided hezein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGIS TERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockhalders and Board of Directors of National HealthCare Corporation
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited National HealthCare Comporation’s infernal control aver financial reporting as af December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Conwittee of Sponsoring Organizatiens of the Treadway Commuission (2013 framework) (the COSQ criteria), In our opinion, Natienal
HealthCare Corporation (the Covpany) nuintained, in all nuterial respects, cffective intemal control over financial reporting as of Decermber 31, 2023, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of
the Company as of Decetrber 31, 2023 and 2022, the related conselidated stafements of operations, conyprehensive incone, equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
perod ended December 31, 2023, and the telated notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) and our report dated February 16, 2024 expressed an
unqualificd opinion thereon.

Busis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for nintaining effective interal control over financial repotting and for its assessment of the cffectiveness of intemal centrol
over fimancial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, Our tresponsibility is to cxpress an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are 2 public accounting firm registercd with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securitics laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the andit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was meintained in all material respects,

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of intemal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
design and operating offectiveness of intemal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary In the circumstances, We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Taternal Control Over Financial Reporting

A conpany’s internal control over financial reperting is a process designed to provide reasonable assuance regarding tho reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with gonemlly aceepted accounting principles. A conpany’s internal conirel over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pettain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions ofthe
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assutance that transactions are recorded as necessary to pernit preparation of financial staterients in accerdance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the conpany are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and dircciors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection ofunanthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial staterments,

Because of its inherent linitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evalation of effectiveness to
fiture periods are subject to the risk that controls tray become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
detferiorate.

fs/ Emst & Young 1.1P

Nashville, Tennesses
February 16, 2024
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Changes in Internal Contrel

There were 110 changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have rmterialtly affected or are reasonably likely to
neterially affect our intemal control over financial reporting.

ITEMSB, OTFHIR INFORMATION

Nene.

ITEMYC,  DISCLOSUREREGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
Not Applicable,

PART L

[TEM1). DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The ‘information in our definitive 2024 proxy statement set forth under the captions Directors of the Company and Execulive Officers of the Companyis hereby
ncorporated by reference. :

ITEM11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information in our definitive 2024 praxy statement set forth under the caption Compensafion Discussion & Analysis is hershy incorporated by reference,

ITEM12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENIFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMFNT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

This information is incorporated by reference from our definitive 2024 proxy statement.

ITEM13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDFPENDENCE

The information in our definitive 2024 proxy statement set forth under the caption Cerfain Relationships and Related Transactions is hereby incorporated by referonce,

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information in our definitive 2024 proxy statement set forth ynder the caption Report of the Audit Conmitte is hereby incorporated by reference (which will be filed
within 120 days ofthe end of the fiscal year to which this report relates).
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" PARTIV
ITEM15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
(a) (0 Financial Staterments:
The following financial staterments are inchided in Trem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are filed as part of this report:

Report of Independent Rogistered Public Accounting Firm (PCAORB [D42)

Consolidated Statements of Operations — Years ended December 31, 2023, 2023, and 2021
Consolidated Statements of Conprehensive Income — Years ended Deceiber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021
Consolidated Balance Sheets — At December 31, 2023 and 2022

Consolidated Staterents of Cash Flows — Years ended Decermber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021
Consolidated Statements of Bquity — Years ended Decender 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2 PFinancial Statesrent Schedule:

NATIONAL HFALTECARE CORPORATION
SCHEDULE T — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YRARS ENDID DECEMEER 31, 2023, 2022, AND 2021
{in thousands)

Colunn A Colymn B Column C Colwmn D Colummn E
Additions
Balance— Charged to Charged Balance—
Beginning Costs and to other End of
Description of Period Expenses Accounts Deductions Period
For the year ended Decerber 31, 2021
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 5672 % 38%6 3 - 3 3,147 8 6,411
Accred risk reserves 3 99,537 8 82219 3§ - 4 R3,708 § 638,048
For the year onded December 31, 2022
Allowance for doubtiul accounts 3 6411 § 4711 § - 3 4,876(1) 3 6,246
Acerued risk reserves $ 08048 § R S - 3 [ 102,469
For the year ended Decerrber 31, 2023
Allowance for doubtfu! accounts $ 6246 § 744§ - § 561601 § 8,054
Accrued fisk reserves CF 102469 3 836§ ~ 3 0514 % 103,259

{1} Amounts written off, net of recoveries
Al other financial statement schedules are not required under the related instructions or arc inapplicable and therefore have been omitted,
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3 Exhibits:
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit No. Description Page No. or Location
31 Certificate of Incorporation of National HealthCare Corporation Incorporated by refercnce to Exiibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s
regisiration statement on Form S—4 (File No, 333-37185) dated
Qctober 3, 1997)
32 Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorpotation of National HealthCare Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 attached to Form 10-Q
Corperation filed on August 3, 2017
33 i 5 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the current report on
HealthCare Corporation Form8-K fited on December 20, 2006
34 Certificate of Designation Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stack Incorperated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 te the Registrant’s

(egistration staterncnt on Form 8-A, dated August 3, 2007

3.5 Restated Bylaws as amended February 14, 2013 Incurporated by reference to Béhibit 3.5 to the quarterly report
on Form 10-0Q) filed on May &, 2013

4,1 Torm of Common Stog] Incotporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 attached 1o Form 10-Q
filed on August 3, 2017
42 Description afeach clags of securities registered under Section 12 of'the Exchange Act Incorporated by reference te Exhibit 4.2 attached to Form 10-K
filed on February 21, 2020
10.1 Master Acreencnt of Lease dated ss of Qetober 17, 1991 by and among National Health Incorporated by reference to Bxhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's
Investors, Inc. and Nationa! HealthCorp, LP. registration statement en Form S—4 filed Cetober 3, 1997
162 Formof Service Agreement by and between Nalipnal Health Corporation and Mational Tncorperated by reference to Exhibit 16.5,1 to the Registrant's
HealthCare Corporafion registration statement on Form 84 filed October 3, 1997
103 Anendment Na. 1 to Master Agreement to Leage between National Health Tnvestors, Inc, Tncarporated by reference to Extiibit 10.19 from 2005 Form 10-K
and Nationa! HealthCorp L.P. filed March 16, 2006
10.4 Incorporated by reference to Exibit 10.20 from 2005 Form 10-K
filed March 16, 2000
10.5 Incorporated by reference (o Exhibit 10.21 from 2005 Form 10-K
filed March 16, 2006
10.6 Incotporated by reference to Bxhibit 10.22 from 2005 Forn 10-K
filed March 16, 2006
0.7 5 as Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16,23 from 2005 Form 10-K
and National HealthCare Corporation filed March 16, 2006
*10.3 National HealthCare Corporation's 2010 Onnibus Bquity ngentive Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to 2010 Proxy Statement
filed April 1, 2010,
*10,9 Fimst Aivendnent dated February 14, 2011 to the National FHealth Care Corporation 201 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,16 from 2015 Form 10-K
Omnibys Bquity Incentive Plan fited February 19, 2016,
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*10,10

*10u1t

*10.12

10,13

16.16

10.17

10,18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

1025

21

23

Anmendment dated March [0, 2015 to National HeglthCare Corporation's 2010 Ormibus

Equity Incentive Plan

2017 NHC Exscutive Officer Perfornance Based Conpensation Plan

National HealthCare Corporation’s 2020 Opmibus Fquity Ingentive Plan

Anmendment to Parchase and Sale Agreement with Modifications to Master Agreenent to
Lease between National Health Investors. Ing, and National HealthCare Corporation

Agreenent to Lease betwegn NHL-REIT of Northeast, LLC, Landlord and NHYOP, 1.7
and National HealthCare Corporation. Co—Tenants,

Anended and Restated Amendment No, to Master Agreenxnt to Lease between
National Health nvestors, Inc. and Nationa! HealthCare Corporation

Amendmest No. 7 to Master Agreement to Lease between National Health Investors. Ine.
and National HealthCare Corparation

Contribution Agreement dated December 29, 2011 betwecn National HealthCare
Comporation and Caris HealthCare, L. pursuant to which NHC acquired a 7.5% interest
arig_fromMcRag in exchange for $7.500,000

A%swnment of mgimbership interest in Solaris Hosmce LLC dated Dectmbu 29,2011 and

Purchase and Sale Agrecment and Extension of Master Lease dated Decerrber 26, 2012
between Natignal Health Investoss, ne. and National HealthCare Corporation

Amendment No. 8 to Magter A greement to Lease between Natignal Health Investors, Inc.

and Nationa! HealthCare Corporation

Purchase and Sale Asreement duted June 11. 2071 between NHC/OP. LE, a wholly
wired subsidiary of NIIC, and Nomman C. MoRae and McRae Investment Company, LLC

Amendment No. 9 to Magter Agreenpnt to Leagg between National Health Investors, Inc
and National HealthCare Corporation

Amendient No. 10 to Master Agreement to Lease betwegn National Health Investors,
Inc. and Nationa! HealthCare Corporation

Nationat HealthCare Comeration Coneral Poliey on nsider Trading
National HealthCare Corporation Compensation Recoupment Policy,

Code of Ethics of National HealthCare Corporation

Subsidiaries of Registrant

Congent of Independent Reglstered Public Accounting Finn— Emst & Young LLP
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Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to 2015 Prowy
Statement filed April 1, 2015.

Incorporated by refercnce to AppendixB to 2617 Proxy
Statement filed April 4, 2017,

Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to 2020 Proxy
Statement filed April 6, 2020

Tngorporated by reference to Exhiibit 10.1 of National HealthCare
Corporation's Form 10~ filed on Noverber 5, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,4 of National HealthCare
Corporation's Form 10-Q filed on Noventher 5, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of National HealthCare
Corporation's Form 10-Q filed on November 5, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of National HealthCare
Corporation's Form 10-Q filled on Novenber 5, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,26 to Naticnal
HealthCare Corporation's annual report on Ferm 10-K filed on
February 21, 2014

Incorparated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to National
HealthCare Corporation's annual report o Form 10-K filed on
February 21, 2014

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,29 to National
HealthCare Corporation's annual report on Ferm 10-K filed on
February 21, 2014

Incorporated by teference to Exhibit 10.20 to National
HealthCare Corporations annual report on Form 10-K Filed on
February 19, 2021

Incorporated by refsrence to Exhibit 10.21 to National
HealthCare Corperation annualreport on Form 10-K Filed on
February 18,2022

Incorperated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 ef National HealthCare
Corporation’s Form 10-Q filed on Novenber 3, 2022

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of National HealthCare
Corporation's Form 10-Q filed on Novenber 3, 2022

Filed Herewith
Filed Herewith

Avallable at NHC's website www.nhecare.conior in print upon
request to:

National HealthCare Corp.

Attn: Investor Relations

P. O, Box 1393

Murfreocsboro, TN 371331358

Telephorne (615) 890-2020

Filed Herewith

Filed Herewith
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311 Rule 13a—14(2)/ 15d—14(a) Certification of Chief Fxccutive Officer Filed Herewith
1.2 Rule 13a-14{a)/15d—14{n} Certification of Chiel Financial Officer Filed Herewith
32 Certification pursuant 1o {8 U.S,C, Section 1350 by Chief Frecutive Officer and Chief Filed Herewith
Financial Officer
10LINS Inline XBRL Instance Document {the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline
KBRL docuiment)
101.5CH Inline XBRL Taxonoty Extension Schema Dogument
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxononty Extension Caleulation Linkbase Document
101 DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
1 IAB nline XBRI, Tasonotty Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.FRE Inline XBRL Taxonemy Fxtension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive File {ermbedded within the Inline XBRL document and inchided in Exhibit 101)

*Indicates manegement contract or compensatery plan or arrangement,
ITEM16.  FORM10-KSTMMARY
Not applicable,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Bchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION

Date: February 16, 2024 BY: /s/Stephen F, Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report ias been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: Febmuary 16, 2024 /s/ Stephen F, Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Fxccutive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Gfficer}

Date: February 16, 2024 /s/ Brian F. Kidd
Brian F. Kidd
Seniot Vice President and Chicf Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer}

Date; February 16, 2024 {s/ Robent G, Adans
Robert G Adams
Chairman of the Board

Date; February 16, 2024 /s/ 1 Paul Abemathy
J. Paul Abernathy
Director

Date: February 16,2024 /s/ W. Andrew Adams
W. Andrew Adums
Director

Date; February 16, 2024 {s{ Bmest G, Burgess,
Frnest G. Burgess
Director

Date: February 16, 2024 {s/ Banil F, Hassan
Emil E, Hassan
Director

Date: February 16, 2024 /a/ Sandra Y, Trail
Sandra Y. Trail
Director

Date; February 16, 2024 /s/ Richard F. TaRoche, Jr,

Richard F. LaRoche, Jr,
Director
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
GENFRAL POLICY ON INSIDER TRADING

This Insider Trading Policy describes the standards of National HealthCare Comporation, its subsidiaries and affiliates {collectively, the "Company®) en trading, and
causing fhe trading of, the Cowrpany's securities or securities of certain other publicly traded corpanies while in possession of confidential infonmtion. This Policy is divided nto
two parts: the first part prohibits trading in certain circunstances and app lies to all directors, officers and employees and their respective inmediate family menbers ofthe Company
and the second part inposes special additional trading restrictions and applics to all (i} directors of the Conpany, (if) executive cfficers of the Conpany at the level of Senior Vice
President and above (together with the directors, " Company Insiders"), (iif) the employees listed on AppendixA and (iv) certain other etployees that the Company may designate
from time to tine as "Covered Persons” because of their position, responsibilities or their actual or potential access to material information ({{H({iv) above collectively, “Covered
Porsons™).

One of the principal purposes of the federal securities laws is to prohibit so-called "insider trading.” Sinply stated, insider trading occurs when a person uses natertal
nonpublic information obtained through involvenent with the Company to muke decisions to purchase, sell, give away, or otherwise trade the Corpany's securities or to provide
that informmtion to others outside the Company, The prohibitions agamst insider trading apply to trades, tips and reconmendations by virtually any person, including all porsons
associated with the Company, if the infomation invelved i¢ "material" and "nonpublic." The terns "material’ and "nenpublic” are defined in this Policy under Part I, Section C.
below. The prohibitions apply to any director, officer or employee of the Cormpany, who buys or sells sccurities on the basis of material nonpublic information that he or she
abtained about the Company, ifs customers, suppliers, or other companies with which the Company has centractual relationships or may be negotiating transactions.

PARTI
A Applicability.,

This Policy applies to all trading or other transactions in the Company's securities, including common stock, optiotis and any other sccurities that the Corpary may issue,
such as preferred stock, notes, bonds and convertible securitics, as well as to derivative secutities relating to any of the Company's securitics, whether or not issued by the
Company.

This Policy applies to all empleyees of the Company, inchuding all employees of National Health Corporation (collectively “Emplayees™), all officers of the Conpany
("Officers™) and all members ofthe Company's board of directors ("Ditectors™) and each of'their respective fanily members, This Policy also applies to all those other parties listed
previously above,

‘This Policy also applies to any entities that any Director, Officer, Employee or Covered Berson influences or controls, including any corporations, partnerships or trusts
{collectively referred to as "Contrelled Entities™), and transactions by these Controtled Entitics should be treated for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if
they were for the account of the contrelling person.




B.

The Policy cantinues to apply to transactions in Conpany securities even after termination of employment or service (as applicable} or directorship. If a Director, Officer,
Enplayee or other Covered Person is in possession of material nonpublic information when his or her employment or service (as applicable) er directorship teminates, such person
nay hot engage in transactions subject to this Policy until that information has become public or s no lenger material.

General Polley; No Trading or Causing Trading While in Possession of Material Nonpublic Infornmtion.

(4]

(i)

No Director, Officer or Fuployee or other Covered Persons o any of their mmmediate family merbers may purchase or sell, or offer to purchase or sell, any Cormpany
security, whether ornot issued by the Company, while in possession of material nonpublic information about the Company (the terms "matexial” and "nonpublic” arc
defined in Part {, Section C. (i) and (if) below).

No Director, Officer or Employee or other Covered Persans or any of thelr immediate family members who lmows of any rmterial nonpublic information about the
Conmpany nmy communicate that information to ("tip") any other person, including family wembers and friends, or otherwisc disclose such information without the
Company’s authorization.

(iif) Ne Director, Officer or Employee ot other Covered Persons or any of their immediate family mendbers nay purchase or seliany security of any other commpany, whether

or not issued by the Company, while in possession of material nonpublic information about that compary that was obtained in the course of his or her involvement
with the Company, No Director, Officer, Fmployee or other Covered Persons or any of thelr immediate family members who knows of any sush material nonpublic
information may communicate that i formation to, or tip, any other person, including family mermbers and friends, or otherwise disclose such information without the
Company's authorization.

{iv) For corpliance purposes, you should never trade, tip ot recommend secutities (or otherwise cause the purchase or sale of securities) while in possession of

information that you have resson to believe is material and nonpublic unless you first congult with, and obtain the advance approval of, the Trade Clearance
Committee (which is defined in Part I, Section C. (iil) below).

(v) Bonu fide gifts of securities are fransactions subject to this Policy.

{vi) Covered Persons nwst "pre-clear” all trading in securities of the Conmpany in accordance with the procedures set forth in Part Ti, Section C, below.

Definitions.
(i) “Matcrial™; Insider trading restrictions come into play only if the information you possess is "material.” Materiality, however, involves a relatively low threshold.

Tnformation is generally regarded as "material if it has nmtket significance, that is, if its public dissemination is ikely to affect the market price of securities, or if it
otherwise is information that a reasonable investor would want to know before making an invesimmt decision, Information dealing with the following subjects is
reasonably likely to be found material in particular situations:




a, financial performance, especially eamings, or any cvent that could have a significant impact on financial results;
b. significant changes in the Company's prospects, projections or strategic plans;

c. significant write-dowwns in assets or increases in reserves;

d, developments regarding significant litigation or govemment agency imvestigations;

e. lquidity problems;

f  changes in eamings estimates or unusual gains or losses in operations;

g changes in the Company's senjor management or the board of directors;

L. changes in dividends or significant repurchases of common stock under the stock repurchase program;
i, exraordinary borrowings;

j.  significant changes in accounting methods or policies;

k  award orloss of a significant contract;

L cybersecuity risks and incidents, including vulnerabilities and breaches;

m  changes in debf ratings;

n, proposals, plans or agreements, even if preliminary in nature, invelving mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, recapitalizations, strategic alliances, licensing
arrangements, or purchases or sales of substantial assets; and

o. offerings of Company securities,

Material information is not limited to histotical facts but may also include projections and forecasts. With respect fo 2 fulure event, such as a morger, acquisition or
introduetion of a new product, the point at which negotiations or product development are determined to be material is determined by balancing the probability that the event will
ocour against the magnitude of the effect the event would have on a company’s operations or stock price should it oeour, Thus, information conceming an event that would have a
large effect on stock price, such as a merger, may be material even i the possibility that the event will ocour is relatively snall When in doubt about whethet particular nonpublic
information is material, you should presume it is material, If you are unsure whether information is material, you should gither consult the Trade Clearance Comumittee before
making any decision to disclose sueh information (other than fo persons who need to knowif) or to trade in or recommend secarities to which that information relates or assurme
that the information is material,

(i) "Nonpublic”: Tnsider trading prohibitions come into play only when you possess information that is nmterial and "nonpublic.” The fact that information has been
disclosed to a fow members of the public does not make ¥ public for insider trading purposes. To be "public" the information st have been disseminated In a
manner designed to reach investors generally, and the investors must be given the oppottunity to absorb the information, Even afler public disclosure of infornation
about the Company, you nust wait until the ¢lose of business on the second frading day after the information was publicly disclosed before you can treat the
information as public. Nonpublic infornation may include:




a. information available to a select group of analysts or brokers or institutional mvestors;
b, undisclosed facts thal are the subject of nirors, even ifthe rumors are widely circulated; and

¢. information that has been entrusted to the Company on a confidential basis until a public announcement of the informtion has been made and enough tine has
elapsed for the market to rospond to a public announcement of the informmation {normally two (2) trading days).

As with questions of materiality, if you are not sure whether information is considered pullic, you should either consult with the Frade Clearance Commitfee or
assume that the information is nonpublic and treat it as confidential,

(i) "Trade Clearance Conmittee™ The Company has appomted the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and General Counsel as the Trade Clearance
Committee for this Policy. The duties of the Trade Clearance Comirittee include, but are not limited to, the following:

a,  assisting with inplementation and enforcement of this Policy;
b. circulating this Policy to all enployees and ensuring that this Policy is amended as necessary fo romsin up-to-date with insider trading laws;
¢, pre-clearing all trading in securities of the Company by Covered Persons in sccordance with the procedures set forth in Part 11, Section C. below; and
d. providing approval ofany Rule 10b5-1 plans under Part 11, Section A. (iv} bolow and any prohibited transactions under Part If, Section D. below.
D. Exceptions.

The trading restrictions of this Policy do not apply to the following:

) 4010%) Plan, Investing 401(k) plan contributions in a Company stock fund in accordance with the terms of the Company's 40i(k) plan. However, any changes in your
investment clection regarding the Company’s stock are subject to trading restrictions underthis Policy.

() ESPP, Purchasing Company stock threugh periodic, automatic payroll contributions to the Corpany's Employee Slock Purchase Flan (" ESPP™). Howovey, elocting to
enroll in the ESPP, meking any changes in your clections under the ESPP and selling any Corpany stock acquired under the ESPP are subject to trading restrictions
under this Policy.




E

(iii} Options, Percising stock options granted under the Conpany's stock option plan(s) for cash, a net exercise or the delivery of previously owned Conpany stock.

However, the sale of any shares issued on the exercise of Conpany-granted stock options and any broker-assisted cashless exercise of Company-granted stock
options are subject to trading restrictions under this Policy.

{iv} Restricted Stock. The grant or vesting of restricted stock issued in the ordinary course ef business or vesting according to its tems.
(v} Muiual Fund Transactions, Transactions in mutual fands that are invested in securities ofthe Conpany,

{vi) NHC Nonqualified Defarred Compensation Plan ("Deferred Cormp Plan”). Tnvesting Deferred Comp Plan contributions in Conpany stock in accordance with the terms

ofthe Deferred Cotp Plan through periodic, autormatic payroll and/or bonus compensation contributions ta the Deferred Conyp Plan,

Violations of Insider Trading Laws,

Penalties for trading on or commnicating material nonpublic information can be severe, both for individuals involved in such unlawful conduct and their enployers and

supervisors, and may include jail ters, ciiminel fines, civil penalties and civil enforcement injunctions. Given the severity of the patential penalties, compliance with this Policy is
absolutely mandatory.

(i) LegalPenalties. A person who violates insider trading laws by engaging in transactions in a conpany’s securities when he or she has natetial nonpublic infermation

can be sentenced to a substantial jail termand requived 1o pay a criminal penalty of several times the amount of profits gained or logses avaided,

In addition, & person wha tips others may also be lable for transactions by the tippees to whom he or she has disclosed material nonpublic infornmtion. Tippers can
be subject to the same penaltics and sanctions as the tippees, and the SEC has imposed large penaltiss even when the tipper did not profit fromthe transaction.

The SEC can alse seek substantial civil penalties from any person who, at the time of an insider trading violation, "directly or indirectly controlled the person whe
conmitted such violation," which would apply to the Conpany and/or managenent and supervisory persennel. These control persons nay be held liable for up to
the greater of $1 million or three times the amount of the profits gained or losses avoided. Even for violations that result in 2 snrll or no profit, the SEC can seek
penalties frama company and/or its management and supervisory personnel as control persons. )

The SEC offers whistlchlower awards to persons who provide infornmtion leading to the mposition of the civil monetary penalty.

{ii) Company-imposed Penaltics. Fnployees who violate this Pelicy may be subjeet to disciplinary action by the Company, including dismissal for cause, Any exceptions

to the Policy, if permitted, may only be granted by the Trade Clearance Comimittee and nmst be provided before any activity contrary to the above requirements takes
place.




F, Inquiries,

T you have any questions regarding any of the provisions of this Policy, please contact the Trade Clearance Conmittee by {i) calling the hone office at 615-890-2020; (i)
emailing the Committee al tradeclearancecommitttec@nhccare.cony or (i) emailing the then members of the Committes using their NHC email address.

PARTH

A, Blackont Periods.
All Covered Parsons arc prohibited from trading in the Company's securities during blackout periods as defined below.

(i) Quarterly Blackout Periods, Trading in the Conpany's securities is prohibited during the period beginning at the close of the market on the fifteenth (15th) day of the
last month of cach fiscal quarter and ending at the close of business on the second (2nd) trading day following the date the Conpany's financial results arc publicly
disclesed and Form 10-Q or Form 10-K is filed, During these petiods, Covered Persons gencrally possess or are presumed to possess material nonpublic information
about the Company's financial results.

(i) Other Blackout Periods. From time to time, other types of material nonpublic information regarding the Comrpany (such as negotiation of mergers, acquisitions or
dispositions, investigation and assessment of cybersecutity incidents or new procuct developments) may be pending and not be publicly disclosed, While such
rmatetial nonpublic information is pending, the Campany may impose special blackout periods during which Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the
Company's securities. If the Cotnpany tposes a special blackout period, it will notify the Covered Parscns affected.

(i) Stock Repurchase Plans. The Company may adopt stock repurchase plans fromtime fn time that allow the Company to repurchase its own stock. Trading in Company
securities by Covered Persons is prohibited while the Company is actively engaging in repurchases and for two {2} days following a repurchase peried.

{iv) Exception, Thesc trading restrictions do not apply to transactions under a pre-existing written plan, contract, instruction, or atrangement under Rule i¢b5-1 under the
Securities Fxchange Act of 1934 (an "Approved i0b5-1 Plan") that:

a  has been reviewed and approved at least one month i advance of uny trades thereunder by the Trade Cleatance Committee {or, if revised or amended, such
revisions or amendments have been reviewed and approved by the Trade Clearance Conmttes at least one month in advance ofany subsequent trades);

b. provides that no trades may oceur thercunder until expiration of the applicable cooling-off periad specified in Rule 10b5-1{c)(iXB), and no trades ocour until atter
that time. The appropriate cooling-off period will vary based on the status of the Covered Person. For directors and officers, the cooling-off pericd ends on the
later of () ninety days after adeption er certain modifications ofthe 10b5-1 plan; or {y) two business days following disclosure of the Company's financial results
in a Fonn 10-Q or Form 10K for the quarter in which the 10b3-1 plan was adopted. For all other Covered Persons, the cooling-off period ends 30 days after
adoption or modification of the 10b5-1 plan. This required cooling-off peried will apply to the entry inte a new 10b5-1 plan and any revision or modification of a
10b5-1 plan;




¢, was entered into in good faith by the Covered Person at a time when the Covered Person was not in possession of nmterial notipublic nformation about the
Company; and

d. gives a third party the discretionary authority to exeoute such purchases and sales, ouiside the control o¥'the Covered Person, so long as such third party does
not possess any material nonpublic information about the Company; or explicitly specifies the scourity or securities to be purchased or scld, the number of
shares, the prices and/or dates of transactions, or other formulafs) describing such transactions.

e. is the only outstanding Approved 10b5-1 Plan entered into by the Covercd Person (subject to the exceptions set out in Rule 10b5- 1))

No Approved 10b5-1 Plan may be adopted during a blackout period.

B. Trading Window,

Covered Persons are generally permitted to trade in the Company's securilics when no blackout period is in effect. This means that Covered Persons can usually trade
during the period beginning on the day that a blackout period under Past IT, Section A, above ends and ending on the day that the next blackout period under Part IL, Section A.
begins. However, even during this trading window, a Covered Person who is in possession ofany material nenpublic infornmtion should not trade in the Cormpany's securities untit
the information has been made publicly available or s no longer malerial. In addition, the Company rmy close this trading window if a special blackout peried under Part 11, Section
A. (i) above is imposed or the Company is repurchasing shares under Part I, Section A. (iii) above and will re-open the trading window onee the blackeut period has ended.

C. Pre-clearance of Securities Transactions,

(i) Because Covered Persons are likely to obtain nwaterial nonpubtic information on a regular basis, the Company requires all such persons to reffain from trading, even
during a trading window under Part I, Section B. above, withouf first pre-clearing all iransactions in the Cowpany's seourities.

(i) Subject to the exerption in subsection (iv) below, no Covered Person may, directly or indirectly, purchase or sell {or atherwise make any trans fer, gift, pledge or loan
of) any Commpany sceutity at any time without first obtaining prior approvel from the Trade Clearance Commitiee. These procedures also apply to transactions by

such persen's spouse, other persons living in such person’s househeld and minor children and to transactions by entities over which such person exercises controk.
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(i) The Trade Clearance Committee shall record the date each request is received and the date and tine each request is approved or disapproved. Unless revoked, a grant
of permis sion will normally remain valid until the close of trading two business days following the day on which it was granted. If the transaction does not occur
during the two-day period, pre-clearance of the transaction rmist be re-requested.

(iv) Pre-clearance is not required for purchases and sales of securities under an Approved 10b5-1 Tlan, With respect to any purchase ot sale under an Approved 10b5-1
Plan, the third party effecting transactions on behalf of the Covered Person should be instructed to send duplicate confirmations ofall syeh transactions to the Trade
Clearance Conittee.

Prohibited Trans actions,

{ii Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the Company’s cquity securitics during a blackout period imposed uader an "individual account" retirerent or
pension plan of the Company, during which at least 50% of the plan participants arc unable to purchase, sell or otherwisc acquire or transfer an fterest in equity
secutitics of the Company, due to a torrpotary suspension of trading by the Company or the plan fiduciary.

(il Covered Petsons, including any person's spouse, other persons living in such person's houschold and minor children and entitios over which such person cxercises
control, are prohibited from engaging in the following transactions in the Company's securities unless advance approval is obtained from the Trade Clearance

Conmitiee:

a. Short-termtrading, Covered Persons who purchase Company securities may not sell any Company securities of the same class for at loast six months affer the
purchase;

b. Short sales, Covered Persons may not sell the Company's securities shott;
¢. Options trading. Covered Persons may not buy or sell puts or calls or other derivative securities on the Cormpany's securities;
d. Trading on wargin or pledging. Covered Persons may not hold Company securitics in a margin account or pledge Cormpany securities as collateral for a loan; and
e. Hedging, Covered Persons mmay not enter into hedging or monetiation transactions or similar arrangements with respect to Company securities.
This Policy Controls.
In the event the terms of this policy conflict with any other Conpany policy addressing insider trading, then this policy shall control,
Acknowledgment and Certification,

All Covered Persons are required to sign the aftached acknowledgment and certification,
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND CERTIFICATION

The undersigned does hereby acknowledge receipt of the Company's Tnsider Trading Polioy. The undersigned has read and understands (or has lhad explained) such
Policy and agrees to be govemed by such Policy at all tines in connection with the purchase and sale of secumties and the confidentiality of nonpublic information,

(Signature)

(Please print name)

Date:




Robert G, Adans
Andrew W. Adams
Richard F, LaRoche
Finest G Burgess TIT
J. Paul Abernathy
Sandra Y. Trail

Emil E. Hassan
Stephen F. Flatt

R. Michacl Ussery
Brian F, Kidd

Josh A, MeCreary

B. Anderson Flatt, Jr.

Vicki L Dedson
LcRoy B. Mclntosh
Justin Epley
Trevor Layland

Pete Colling

Appendix A




Exhibit 10.25

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Compens ation Recoupment Policy

1. Purpose, The purpose of this Compensation Recoupnent Policy of the Corpany (as amended from time to time, the "Policy™), dated as of November 2, 2023 (the
" Adoption Date™) is to deseribe the circunstances in which cument and former Beecutive Officers will be required to repay or retum Erroneously Awarded Conpensation to
menbers of the Company Group. The Company has adopted this Policy to conply with Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reformand Consumer Protection Act of 2010, as
codified by Section 10D of the Exchange Act, Fachange Act Rule 10D-1 promulgated thereunder, and the rules and requirements of the NYSE-American (incliding Section 811 of
the NYSE-Awmerican Comwpany Manual) (such legal requirenents, and rules and requirenents of the NYSE-American, collectively, the " SEC/NYSE-American Clawback Rules™).
Bach Bxecutive Officer shall be required to sign and retum to the Company an acknowledgment to this Policy in the form attached hereto as Bhibit A pursuant to which such
Exzcutive Officer will agree to be bound by the tenis and comply with this Policy.

2. Administration. This Policy shall be adninistered by the Board. The Board is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make ali determinations
necessary, appropiate, or advisable for the administration of'this Policy, and any such deterntinations made by the Board shall be in the Board’s sole discretion, and shall be final
and binding on all affected individuals. Subject to applicable legal requirements and the rules and requirements of the NYSE-American, the Board may delegate any or all of its
powers and duties under the Policy to authorized officers of the Company, subject to such [imieations on such delogated powers and dutics as the Board may impose, ifany. Except
as atherwise required by applicable legal requirenients or the rules and requirenents of the NYSE-Amorican, any determinations of the Board hereunder need not be uniform with
respect to one or nore Exccutive Officers (whether curent or former),

3. Definitions. For purposes of this Policy, the following capitalized tetrs shalt have the meanings set forth below:
(a) "Accounting Restatement” shall mean an accounting restaterent due to the material noncongpliance of the Conpany with any financial reporting requirerment
under the sceurities laws, including any reqaired accounting restatement (i) to comreet an crror in previously issued financial statermonts that is material to the previously issned

financial statements (s "Big R restatement), or {ii) that would result in a material misstatemont if the emor were coireeted in the current petiod or left uncorrected in the current
period (2 "little 1 restatement),

) "Board” shall mean the Board of Directors ot the Conpany.

{c) v Cizwbagk Tigible Incentive Compensation” shall mean =lt Tncentive-Based Conpensation Received by any current or former Bxecutive Officer on or after the
NYSE-American Effective Date, provided that:

{i) such Incentive-Based Compensation is Received after such individual began serving as an Exeeutive Officer;

(i) such individual served as an Executive Officer at any time during the performance period for such Incentive-Based Compens ation;




(i) such Incentive-Based Conpensation is Received while the Company has a class of securities listed on the NYSE-American; and
@) such Incentive-Based Compensation is Received during the applicable Clawback Period.

(d) *Clawhack Periad” shall mean, with Tespect to any Accounting Restatenent, the three completed fiscal years of the Company memediately preceding the
Restatement Date and any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) of less than nine months within or imnediately following those three
conpleted fiscal years.

(&) “Common Stock' shall mean the common stock ofthe Conpany.

4] "Company” shal mean National HealthCare Corporation, a Delaware corporation,

[(:3] "Company Group” shall mean the Company, together with cach of its dircet and indirect subsidiarics.

(h) "fnpneously Awarded Conpensation™ shall mean, with respect to any current or former Execu tive Officer in connection with any Accounting Restatement, the
armount of Clawback Higible Incentive Compensation Received by such current or former Bxecutive Officer that exceeds the anount of Clawback Hligible Incentive Compensation
that otherwise would have been Received by such current er former Executive Officer had such Clawback Higible Incentive Compensation been determined based on the restated
amounts as reflected in connection with such Accounting Restatement, computed without regard to any taxes paid,

{) "Exchange Act” means the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

0] "Brecutive Officer” shall mean any officer as defined in Rule 10D-1(d) (or any successol provision thercof) under the Exchange Act,

[(] " Financial Reporting Measures” shall mean measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting piinciples used in preparing the
Cotpany’s financial statements, and any other measuros that are derived wholly or in part fromsuch measures. For purposes of this Policy, stock price and total shareholder retum
(and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from stock price or total sharcholder retum) shali be considered Financial Reporting Measures. For the avoidance of doubt, &

Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented within the Conpany’s financial statements or inchuced in a filing with the SEC,

(tH "Ineentive-Based Compensation™ shall rean any compensation that is granted, eamed or vested based wholly or In part upon the attaintent of a Financial
Reperting Measure.

(ma} "NYSB-American” shall mean the New York Stock Bxchange-American,
) "NYSE-Anerican Effectivg Date” shall mean October 2, 2023,
(o) "Received” shall mean when Incentive-Based Conpensation is received, and Tncentive-Based Compensation shali be deemed received in the Conpany’s fiscal

period during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Conpensation award is attained, even if payment or grant of the Incentive-Based
Compensation occurs after the end of that period.




(p) "Restaterent Date” shall mean the earlier to oceur of {i) the date the Board, 3 Committee of the Board, or the officets of the Company authorized to take such
action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Conpany is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (if) the date a
coutt, regulater or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restateinent.

[C)] "SEC” shall mean the U.S, Securities and Exchange Commission.
4, Recoupment of Frroneously Awarded Compens ation.

(a) In the event that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, (i} the Board shall determine the amount of any Eroncously Awarded
Compensation for each applicable current or former Exceutive Officer (whether or not such individual is serving as an Executive Officer at such time} {the "Applicable Bxecutives™)
in connection with such Accounting Restatement, and (if) the Conpany will reasenably promptly require the recoupiment of such Frroneously Awarded Compensation from any
such Applicable Becutive, and any such Applicable Executive shall surrender such Erroneously Awarded Compensation o the Conpany, at such time(s), and via such mothod(s),
as determined by the Board in accordance with the terms of this Policy, Tn such event, any such Applicable Exceutive shall enter into any recoupment or similar agreement as mmy
be tequested by the Board in connection with the Company’s recoupment of Erroneously Awarded Conpensation from such Applicable Excoutive pursuant to the terms of this
Policy.

®) For Incentive-Based Compensation based on {or derived fiom) stock price or total sharehokder retum where the amount of Brronecusly Awarded Compensation is
not subject to mathermtical recalculation directly from the inforation in the applicable Accounting Restaterment, (i) such amount shall be determined by the Board based on a
reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement ot the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was Received, and
{ii} the Cormpany will maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the NYSE-American,

() The Roard shall determine, in its sole discretion, the method(s) for recouping any Enonecusly Awarded Compensation fiomany Applicable Bxecutive, which may
include one or note of the following:

(i requiting one or more cash payments ta the Company Group from such Applicable Becutive, including, but not Tmited to, the repayment of cash
Incentive-Based Compensation previously paid by the Company Group to such Applicable Executive;

(i) secking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, cxercise, settlonent, sale, transfer or other disposition of any equity-based awards previously wede
by the Conpany to such Applicable Bxecutive and/or otherwise requiring the delivery to the Conpany of shares of Conmmon Stock held by such Applicable Executive;

{iii) withholding, reducing or eliminating future cash conpensation (including cash incentive payments), future equity awards and/or other benefits or
amounts otherwise to bie paid or awarded by the Compeny Croup to such Applicable Bxecutive;

iv) offseiting amounts agamst cormpensation or other amounts otherwise payable by the Conpany Greup to such Applicable Becutive; and

3




) cancelling, adjusting or offsetting against some or all cutstanding vested or unvested equity awards of the Conpany held by such Applicable Bxecutive;
and/or

(v taking any other remedial and recovery actions with respect to such Applicable Executive permitted by applicable legal requirernents and the rules and
regulations of the NYSE-Ametican, as determined by the Board.

{d) Notwithstanding anything hercin to the contrary, the Company shall not be required to recover Eroncously Awarded Compensation from any Applicable
Brecutive pursuant to the terms of this Policy if (1) the Company’s Compensation Cotmittee determines that such recovery would be impracticable, and (2) any of the following
conditiens is met:

6] the direct expenses paid to a third party to assist in enforeing the Policy would exceed the amount te be recovered, provided that, before concluding that
it would be impracticable to recover any amount of Eroneously Awarded Compensation based on expense afenforcement pussuant to this clause (i), the Corpany has (x)

made a reasonable atterpt to recover such Frroneously Awarded Compensation, (y) documented such reasonable attempt{s) fo recover, and (2) provided such
documentation to the NYSE-American;

{ii} recovery would violate home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022, provided that, before detemining that it would be
impracticable to recover any amount of Hrroneously Awarded Compensation based on violation of home country law, the Company has obtained an opinion of home
country counsel, aceeptable to the NYSE-American, that recovery woukd result in such a violation, has provided copy of the opiniot: is provided to the NYSE-American;
or

(iif} recovery would likely cause an otherwise taxqualified retirement plen, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company Group,
to fail to neet the requitements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder,

5. No Indemnification, Fte. The Company Group shall net () indermify any current or former Executive Officer against (i) the loss of any Erroneously Awarded
Compensation that is repaid, retumed or recovered pursuant to the teims of this Policy, or (H) any claims relating to the Company Group’s enforcoment of its rights under this
Policy, or {y) pay or reimburse any current or fonmer Executive Officers for insurance premiums to recover losses meurred under this Policy.

6. Supersedure. This Policy will supersede any provisions in {x) any agreement, plan or other arrangement applicable to uny member of the Company Group, and {¥)
any organizational documents of any entity that is part of Company Group that, in any such case, (a) exenpt any Incentive-Based Coempensation fiomthe application of this Policy,
{b) waive or otherwise prohibit or restrict the Company Group's right to recover any Erroneously Awarded Compensation, meluding, without linstation, in connection with
exercising any right of sctofFas pravided herein, and/or (c) require or provide for indermification to the extent that such indermification is prohibited under Section 5 abave.

7. Amendment; Termination; Interpretation, The Board nmy amend or terminate this Policy at any time, subject to complance with all applicable logal requireiments
and the rules and requirements of the NYSE-American. It is intended that this Policy be interprefed in a manner that is consistent with the SELYNYSE-A merican Clawback Rules.
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8. Other Recoupment Rights; No Additional I'ayments,

(a) Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition te, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company
Group pursuant to (i) the tems of any recoupment provisions in any enployment agreement, incetive or equity compensation plan or award or other agreement, (ji) any otherlegal
tequirenents, including, but not limited to, Scction 304 of Sarbanes-Odey Act of 2002 {subject to Section 80 of this Policy below), and (iil) any other legal tights or remedies
available to the Company.

{b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contraty, to the extont that the Board determines that any Hronecusly Awarded Conpensation includes any amounts that
have been actually reimbursed to the Company Group from any Applicable Exccutive pursuant te Section 304 of the Sarbancs-Oxley Act {any such amounts that have been
reimbursed to the Company Group, the " icable SOX Recol nt Amount™), in order te prevent duplicative recovery, the amount of any Prroneously Awarded Compensation
ta be recevered fromany such Applicable Fxecutive shall bo reduced by the Applicable SOX Recoupment Asmount.

9. Swecessors. This Policy shalt be binding and enforceable against all current and former Executive Officers and their beneficiaries, heirs, cxecutors, administrators ot
other legal representatives,




Fachibit A
Form of Acknowedgment

By signing below, the undersigned acknowledges and confims that the undersigned has received and reviewed a copy of the National HealthCare Corporation
Conpensation Recoupment Policy (the "Policy™), Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this acknowledgment shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the

Policy.

By signing this acknowledgment, the undersigned acimowledges and agtecs that the undemigned is and will continue to be subject to the Policy and that the Policy will
apply both during and afler the undersigned's employment with the Conpany Group. Further, by signing below; the undersigned agrees to abide by the terms of the Policy,
including, without Hmitation, by returning any Emoneously Awarded Compensation to the Company Group to the extent required by the Policy. .

Signature

Print Name

Date



EXHIBIT 21
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Nzme % Owned State of Organization
INHC/Delaware, Inc. 100% Delawarc
INHC/OP, LP. 100% Delaware
National Health Realty, L1LC 100% Delaware
Prender Goup Ins, Co. 100% [Tennessee
National Healthcare Center of Fort Oglethompe, LP. 100% [Tennessce
MNutritional Support Services 100% [Tenmessee
NHC HealthCare/Anniston, LLC 100% lAlabama
INHC Place/Anniston, 11O 100% Alabama
INEIC HealthCare/Moulton, LLC 100% Alabamm
[Premier Plus Insurance Co. 100% (Cayman Iskands
Knoxville Center for Behavioral Medicine, LLC 65%% Delaware
Maryland Heights Properties, LLC 100% Delaware
Middlebrook Property Partners, LIC 28.968% Delaware
INFIC Delaware [nvestments Inc, 100% Delaware
INFIC-Maury Regional Transftional Care Center, LLC 80% Delaware
Osage Beach Center for Behavioral Health, LLC 100% Delaware
[Post Acute Service Solutions, LLC 100%% Delaware
St, Peters 1T Holdings, LIC 100% Delaware
The Health Center of Hermitage, LLC 100% Delaware
INHC HealthCare/Lake City, Inc. 100% Florida
INHC HealthCare/Pensacela, Inc. 100% Flotida
NHC Plage Merritt sland, LLC 100% Florda
INHC Place Stuart, LLC 100% Florida
INHC Place Vero Beach, L1C 1005 [Florida
Hudson HealthCare Advisors, LLC 100%% Florida
Georgia HealthCare Advisors, LLC 100% Georgia
NHC HealthCarg/Rossville, LLC 100% (Georgia
INHC HealthCare/Glasgow, LLC 100% Kentucky
Buckley HealthCare Center, LLC 100% Massachusetts
Holyoke HealthCare Center, LLC 100% Massachusetts
Fohn Adams HealthCare Center, LLC 100% Massachusetts
[Taunton HealthCare Center, LLC 100%% Massackusetts
IMaryland Heights Center for Behavioral Health, LLC 100% Missomi
IMissouri HealthCare Advisors, LLC 100% Iiss ourd
NHC Advantage, LLC 75.56% Missouri
[INHC HealthCare/Desloge, T1.C 100% Pissowurl
INHC HeaithCare/Joplin, LTL.C 100% Missouri
INHC HealthCare/Kenustt, LLC 1005 Missouri
NHC Place/Lake St, Chatles, LLC 100% Migsouri
INHC HealthCare-Macon, LLC 100% Missouri
INHC HealthCare/Maryland Heights, [1C 160% Missouri
INHC BealthCare-Osage Beach, ILC 100% IMissouri
[INHC HealthCare-Springfield Missous, LLC 100% Missour
[NHC HealthCare/St. Chatles, LLC 100% Missouri
INHC HealthCare/West Plains, LLC 100% Missouri
INHC Hemecare Missouri, LLC 100% Missouri
ISt Peters Memory Care Operations, LLC 100% Missourl
St. Peters Memory Care Realty, LLC 100% Missourd




Villages of St. Peters, LILC 100% Missourd
Villages of Jackson Creek, LLC 100% Misgouri
Villages of Jackson Creek Memory Care, LLC 100% Missouri
Heartland HealthCare Center, L1LC 100% INew Haipshire
Pear! Street HealthCare Center, LLC 100% New Hanpshire
Villa Crest HealthCare Center, LLC 160% New Hampshire
NHC HealthCare/Aiken, LLC 100% South Carolina
NHC HealthCare/Anderson, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Bluffion, L1C 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare-Charleston, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Clinton, 1.1.C 100%% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Garden City, LILC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Greenville, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Greenwood, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Laurens, LLC 100% South Caroling
NHC HealthCare/Lexington, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Mauldin, LLC 100% South Carolina
NHC HealthCare/North Augusta, LILC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Paridane, LLC 100% South Carclina
INTIC Homecare — South Carolina, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC Place-Charleston, LLC 100% South Carolina
[The Palmettos of Bluftton, LLC 100% South Carolina
The Palmettos of Garden City, LLC 100% South Carolina
[The Palmettos of Parklane, LLC 100% South Carolina
South Carolina HealthCare Advisors, ILC 100% South Carelina
|AdansPlace, LLC 160% [Tennessce
Caris HealthCare, LP. 100% [Tennessee
HealthCare Transition Center, LLC 100% Tennessee
Knoxville Health Care Center, LP, 100% [Tennessec
INFIC Farragut Mermory Care, LLC 100% [Tennessse
NHC HealthCare/Athens, LLC 100% [Tenncssee
INHC HealthCare/Chattanooga, 1LC 100% [Temmessee
INHC HealthCare/Columbia, LLL 100% Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Cootl Springs, I1.C 100% Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Dickson, 1L.LC 100% [Tennessec
NHC HealthCare/Farragut, LLC 100% [Tenncssee
INHC HealthCare/Franklin, LLC 100% Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Hendersonville, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Heartland, LLC 100% Tennessece
INHC HealthCare/Hillview, L1.C 100%% Tennessce
INHC HealthCare/Holston Hills, LLC 100% [Tennessce
NTIC HealthCare/Johnson City, LLC 100% Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Kingsport, LLC 100% [Tennessee
[INHC HealthCare/Knoxville, LLC 100% [Tennessec
INHC HealthCare/Lewisburg, LLC 100%% [Tennessee
NHC HealthCare/McMinnville, LLC 100% Tennessce
INFIC HealthCare/Milan, LLC 100%% Tennessee
NHC Health Care/Qakwood, LLC 100% [Tenncssee
NHC HealthCare/Pulaski, LLC 100% Tennessee
INHC HealthCate/Scott, LLC 100% [Tennesses
INHC HealthCare/Sequatchic, LLC 100% [Tennessce
INHC HealthCare/Smithville, LLC 100% [Tennessee




INHC HealthCare/Somerville, LLC 100% [Tetnessee
INHC HealthCare/Sparta, LLC 100% [Fennessee
INHC HealthCare/Springfield, LLC 100% [Tennessec
NHIC TTealthCare-Sumner, LLC 100% Tenncssee
INHC HealthCare/Tulishoma, LLC 100% Tennessee
INHC-Maury Regional HealthCare, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC Middlebrook Behavioral Services, LLC 100% [Tennessce
INHC Middlebrook Properties, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC Place at the Trace, LILC 100% Tcnnessee
National Hospice, Inc. 100% [Tennessee
Renal Health Services, LIC 100% ITennessce
Standifer Place Propertics, LLC 100% Tennossee
ITennessee HealthCare Advisors, LLC 100% Tenncssee
[Tecnmessee Home Care Holdings, LLC 50% [Tennessec
City Corporation 100% Tennessce
\City Center, LP. 09% [Tetnessee
Medical Personnel Services, LLC 100% [Tennessee
[Tranzicn, LLC 100% [Tennessee
[INHC HealthCare/Bristol, LLC 100% Virginia




Exhibit 23
Consent of Independent Registered Pulkic Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the follewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registmtion Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-120462) pertaining to National HealthCare Corporation’s 2005 Stock Option, Employee Stock Purchase, Physician Stock
Purchase & Stock Appreciation Rights Plan and 2004 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan

(2) Registration Statements {Forms $-8 No, 333-167685 and No, 333-216085) pertaining to National HealthCare Corporation’s 2010 Onmibus Bguity Incentive Plan
(3) Registration Statements (Form S-8 No. 333-238900) pertaining to National HealthCare Corporation’s 2020 Omnibus BEquity Incentive Plan

of our reporis dated Febraary 16, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of National HealthCare Corporation, and the effoctiveness of internal
control over financial reporting of National HealthCare Cotpotation, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of National HealthCare Corporation forthe year
ended December 31, 2023,

Nashville, Tennessee
February 16, 2024



EXTHBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

1, Stephen F. Flatt, certify that:

L.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1¢-K of National HealthCare Cotporation;

Based on my knowledge, this aniual repart does not contain any untrue statenent of a material fact oz omit to state a material fact necessary to nuke the statements made,
in light of the circunstances under which such statements were nade, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on nry knowledge, the financial staterents, and other financial infornmation included i this report, fairly present in all materfal respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this repor;

The registrant's other centifying officer and Tare responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure gontrols and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e}) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(fy and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Dosigned such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to cnsure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is mede known to us by others within those cntities, particularly during the period in
which this repor is being prepared;

Designed such intemal control over financial reperting, or caused such interal control aver financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assumnce regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the prepatation of financial statemonts for external pumposcs in accordance with generally
acccpted accounting prineiples;

Bvaluated the cffectiveness of the registrant's disclesuro controls and procedurss and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this repott any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter {the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably lkely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial roporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal conirol over financial reporting, to the registrant's avditors
and the audit committee ofthe registrant's board of ditectors {or persons perfotming the equivalent function);

All significant deficiencies and rmaterial weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal control over financial reperting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, surmrize and ropott financial infornation; and

Any frand, whether or not material, that involves nanagement or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal centrol over financial
reporting.

Date: February 16,2024

/s/ Stephen F, Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Bxecutive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTERICATION

1, Brian F, Kidd, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of National HealthCare Corporation;

2, Based on my knowledge, this annual report dees not contain any untrue statement ofa meterial fact or owit to state & material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which sueh statements wers made, not misleading with tespect to the period covered by this annual report;

3, Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all matetial respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods prescated i this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and Tare responsibie for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Bxchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e} and 15d-15()) and intemal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that waterial
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is wade known to us by others within thosc entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b, Designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assutance regarding the reliabilicy of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statemonts for cxternal purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

¢. Fvalated the effcctiveness of the registmnt's disclosure controls and procedures and presented i this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this repott based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change it the registrant's internal ontrol over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter {the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual repert) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's intemal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other cestitying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control over financial repouting, to the registrant's auditots
and the audit committee ofthe registrant's board of directors (or persons petforming the equivalent function):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
gffect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves nunagement or other enployees wha have a significant role in the registiant’s internal control over financial
reporting,

Date: February 16,2024 !

/s/ Brian F. Kidd
Brian F, Kidd
Seniot Vice President and Chiet Financial Officer




Fxhibit 32
Cerfification of Annual Report on Form 10-K

of Natienat HealthCare Corporation
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

"The undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S,C. Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Aot of 2002, that, to the undersigned's best knowledge and belief, the Annual

Report on Form 10-K for National HealthCare Comporation ("Issuer") for the period ending December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Fxchange Conmmission on the date
hercof (the "Report"):

{a} fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Sccurities Fxchange Act of 1934; and

[G)] the information contained in the Report faitly prosents, in all material respects, the financial condition and resulls of operations of the Issuer,

This Certification accompanies the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Jssuer for the year ended December 31, 2023.

This Certification is executed as of February 16, 2024,

/s/Stephen F. Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Brian F. Kidd
Brian F. Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief Financlal Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Scetion 906 has been provided to the Comrpany and wilt be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securitics
and Bxchange Cormmission or its staffupon request.



'able of Conitents

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C, 20549

FORM10-Q

XQUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TC SECTICN 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly pericd ended March 31, 2024
OR
CITRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTHON 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number _00{-13489

(Bxact name of registrant as specified in its Charter)

Delaware
{State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization

100 E. Vine Street
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37130

{Address of principal exceutive offices)
(Zip Code)

(615) §90-2020

Registrant's telephone number, including arca code

Securities registered pursuant fo Section 12(t) of the Exchange Act:

52-2057472
(LR.S. Enployer
identification No.)

Title of each class Trading Nane of each exchange en which
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Comimon, $0.01 par value NHC NYSE American

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) Has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d), of the Secyrities Fxchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the reglstrant was required to filo such reports ), and (2) has been subject to such filing requircment:

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation ST (§ 232405 of

this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such period that the registrant was required to submit such files). YesX No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large acoelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accclerated filer, smaller reporting comparny, or an emerging growth company.

See the definitions of "large aceclerated filer,” "accelerated filer,” "smaller reporting company,” and "emerging growth cormpany” in Rule 12b-2 ofthe Exchange Act.

Large Accelerated filer X Accelerated filer O
Non—accelerated filer [ Straller reporting company [
Frrerging growth company [

Ifan emerging growth company, indicats by check mark if the rogistrant has elected not to use the extended transition perlod for complying with any new or revised financial

accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ]
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant Is a shell conpany {(as is defined in Rule 12b—2 ofthe Exchange Act), Yes 0 No X

15,399,724 shares of common stock of the registrant were outstanding as of May 1,2024,

s for the past 90 days. Yes X No [
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PART L FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Ttem 1. Financial Staterments,

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(unaudiled)
Three Months Ended
March 31
2024 2023
Revenues:
Net patient revenues $ 385823 % 258,007
Other revenues 11,353 11,550
Net operating revenues 207,176 269,563
Cost and expenscs:
Salaries, wages, and benefits 183,138 167,824
Other operating ] 71429 71,489
Facility ren:t 10,348 10,052
Depreciation and amertization 10,586 10,048
Interest 46 98
Tatal costs and expenses 281,547 259,551
Income fromoperations 7 15,629 10,012
Other incotne;
Non-operating income - 5,683 4323
~ Unrealized gains on marketable cquity securities 14,369 1,386
Incore before income taxes ) 35,713 15,721
Incone taxprovision ) : (9,462} (4.436)
Net incone o 26,251 11,285
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (38 438
. . )
Net incone attributable to National HealthCare Corporation 3 26213 3 11,723
Farnings per share atttibutable to National HealthCare Corporation stockholders:
Basic $ [ A 0,76
Diluted $ 169§ .76
Weighled average common shares outstanding:
Basic 15,350,240 15,337,423
Diluted 15,505,096 15,356,335
Dividends declared per comron share ' $ 0355 % 0.57

The accompanying notes o interiim condensed consolidated financial statements are an Integral part of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Interim: Condensed Consaolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(unaudited — in thousands)

Net income o $

Other comprehensive income/{loss):
Unrealized gains/{losses) on investments in rarketable debt securities
Reclassification adjustment for realized gains on sales of marketable debt securities
Tncone tax{cxpens e¥benefit related to iters of other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax

Net (incone)loss atiributable to noncontrolling interest

Cotrprehensive income attribuiable to National HealthCare Comoration §

Three Months Ended
March 31
2024 2023

26251 § 11,285

@72 1,958

(10) -
45 (279}

437 1,679

(38) 438

25776 § 13,402

The accompanying notes (o Interim condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements.

4




Table of Contents

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condens ed Consolidated Balanee Sheets

(in thousands)

March 31, Decenber 31,
2024 2023
unaudited
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 93,982 § 107,076
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, current pottion 26,010 19,725
Marketable equity securities ' 123,040 111,117
Marketable debt securities 484 5427
Restricted narketable equity sceurities 29,616 26,779
Restricted marketable debt securities, surrent portion 4,790 12,822
Accounts receivable ) 125,664 108,545
Inventories 6,763 7,386
Prepaid expenses and other assets 6,750 8,855
Notes receivable 487 503
Total current assets 417,586 406,235
Property and Bquipment:
Property and equipment, at cost 1,065,543 1,101,681
Accurmilated depreciation and amortization (576,845) (608,352)
Net property and equipment 488,698 493,329
Othor Assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, less curent portion 1,140 1,167
Restricted marketable debt secutities, less cunent portion 119,042 109478
Deposits and ofher assets 13,738 14,786
Operating lease right-of-use assets 87,356 94,201
Goodwill 168,295 168,295
Intangible assets 7038 7,038
Investments in unconsolidated cormpanies 16,747 16,267
Total other assets 413,356 411,232
Total assets 1319640 3 1,310,796

The accompanying notes to interim condensed consolidated financial statemenis ave an integral parl of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HFAL THCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condensed Consolidated Balanee Sheets (continued)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

March 31, December 31,
2024 2023
naidited

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Fquity

Cugrent Liabilities:
Trade accounts payable $ 20697 § 19,194
Finance lease obligations, cuirent portion - B 860
Operating lease labilitics, current pertion 29,733 29,352
Acemied payrofl 64,156 84,110
“2'Awounts due to third party payors - ’ 19,988 18,369
Accrued risk reserves, cument p_ortion 30,800 30,549
“Other current liabilities 24,302 22,991
Contract liahilities 7,667 -
Dividends payable ' 5,086 9,051
Total current liabilities 206429 214476
Operating lease liabilities, less current portion 56,004 63,175
Accrued risk reserves, less current portion 77437 72,710
Refundable entrance fees 5,708 6,376
Deferred income taxes 19,639 17,200
Other noncument liabilities 27,909 26,379
Total iabilitics 393,126 400,316
Fquity:
Comnon stock, $.01 par value; 45,000,000 shares authorized; 15,399,724 and 15,350,661 shares, respoctively, issucd
and outstanding 154 153
“ Capital in excess of par valug o 226,509 227,604
Retained earnings 704,726 687,599
Accuimiated other comprehensive loss (7,041) (6,604)
Total National HealthCare Corporation stockholders® equity 924,748 908,752
Noncentrolling interest = Sl T 1,766 1,728
Total equjty 926,514 910,480
Total iabilities and equity $ 1319640 § 1,310,796

The accompanying noles to interim condensed consolidaied financial statements ave an integral pavt of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flovs
(unaudited — in thousands)

Three Months Ended
March 31
_ 004 2023
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income % 26251 § 11,285
Adjustments to reconeile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 10,586 10,048
Fquity in eamings of unconsolidated investments (67} (1,535}
Unrealized gains on marketable equity securities (14,399 (1,386}
(CainsYlosses on sale of narketable securilies (344) 492
Gain on sgle of unconsolidated company (1,024) -
Defetred indome taxes 2,484 33
Stock-based compensation 793 639
Changes in operating assets and liabiiities:
Accounts rccewable (17,119) (3,148)
Inwenfories -+ 623 142
Prepaid capenses and other assets 3,153 1,957
" Qperating lease obligations - 55 (316)
Trade accounis payable 1,503 {4,018)
“Acerued payroll (19,954) (15,800
Amounts due to third party payors 1,619 48
Accrued risk reserves 4978 3157
Contract liabilities 7,667 -
Other current linbilities 1,311 5,407
Other noncurrent Labilitics 1,530 6,554
Net cash provided by operating activities 9,646 13,857
Cash Flows From Tnvesting Activitles:
Purchases of property and equipment {5,955) {6,640}
Proceeds from sale of unconsclidated company 2,100 -
Investments in unconsolidated companies (1,488) -
Collections of nofes receivable i6 2
Purchases of marketable securities (8,703} (10,281}
Procecds fromsale of marketable securities 11,615 15492
" ‘Net cashused in investing activities (2,415) {1,427)
Cash Ilo“s Frem Finaneing Activitles:
* Principal payments under finance lease obligations {R60} (1,218)
Dividends paid to common stockholders (9,051) (8,748)
" Issuance of cormon stock 2412 -
Reputchase of common shares (9,900) (2,482)
Entrance fee refimds = (668} (171
Net cash used in financing activities (12,067} (12,619)
Net Decrease in Cash, Cash Bquivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Eguivalents (4,836) (189)
Cash, Cash Bquivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period 125,968 4865
Cash, Cash Iiguivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Fquivalents, End of Peried $ 121,132 § 74,676
Balance Sheet Classifications:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 93982 % 46,144
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 27,150 28,532
Total Cash, Cash Bquivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents $ 121,132 § 74,676

The accompanying notes to interim condensed consoliduted financial statements are an integral pait of these consolidated staterments.
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NATIONAL HFALTHCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condensed Cans olidated Statements of Stockholders’ Bquity
(in thousands, except share and pei share ainounts)

(unaudited)
For the three months ended March 31, 2024:
Accunulated
Capital in Other Non- Total
Common Stock Excess of Retained Comprehensive controlling Stockholders’
Shares Anvunt Par Value Famings Loss Interest Equity
Balance at January 1, 2024 15350661 - $ 153 227604 8 687,599 % (6,604) 1,78 % 910,480
Net incone - — - 26,213 - 38 26,251
Other conprehensive loss - - - - 43N - (437)
Stock—based compensation - - 793 - - - 793
Shares sold — options exercised 150,194 1 3412 - - - 8,413
Repurchase of common shares {101,131) - (9,900} - - - (9,900}
Dividends declared to coninon stockholders '

($0.59 per share} ' — - - (9,0%6) — - (9,086)
Balance at March 31,2024 5399724 § 54 § 226900 § 74726 § 7HD 3 1,766 526,514
For the three months ended March 31, 2023;

Accunuilated
(apitalin Other MNon- Total
Common Steck PBwess of Retained Comprehensive  controlling Stockholders’
Shares Amount Par Value Eamings Income (Loss) Interest Fquity
Balance at January 1,2023 15357,746 % 153 % 226991 § 656,664 3 9532 § 3238 % 877,514
Net inceme/(loss) - - - 11,723 - {438) 11,285
Other conmprehensive incone el - - - - 1,679 - 1,670
Stock-based conpensation ) - - 639 - - - 639
Shares sold - options exercised : ’ 7,046 — - - - - -
Repurchase of conmon shares {44,349) - (2,482) - - - (2A32)
Dividends declared to conmon stockholders i

($0.57 per share) ' - - - (8,733) - (8,733

Balange at March 31, 2023 15320443 § 153§ 225,148 § 659,634 % (7,850 3 2,800 879,902

The accompanying nofes to interim condensed consolidated fnancial statements ave an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Notes to Interim Condensed Conselidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2024
(unaudited)

Note 1 — Deseription of Business

National HealthCare Corporation {"NHC” or the "Cormpany ™) is a leading provider of senior health care services. As of March 31, 2024, we operate or manage, through
certain affiliates, 65 skilled nursing facilities with a total of 8,421 licensed beds, 24 assisted living facilities with 1,365 units, five independent living facilities, three behavioral heaith
hospitals, 35 homecare agencies, and 30 hospice agencies. We operate speciatized care units within certain of our healthearc centers such as Alzheimer's disease care units and
sub-acute nursing units. In addition, we provide insurance services, management and accounting services, and we lease properties to operators of skilled nursing and assisted
living facilitios, W operate in 8 states and are located primarily in the seutheastem United States.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The listing below is not intended to be a comprehensive list of all our significant accounting policies. In many cases, the aceounting treatnent of a particular trensaction is
specifically dictated by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP™), with limited need for management's judgment in their application, There are also arcas in which
nenagement’s judgment in selecting any available altomative would not produce a naterially different result. See our audited December 31, 2023 consolidated financial staterents
and notes thereto which contain accounting policies and other disclosures required by U.S, GAAP. Our audited Decenber 31, 2023 consolidated financial staternents are available
at our web site: wwwanhceare,com.

Basis of Fresentation

The wnaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements to which these notes are attached include all nomaal, recurring adjustments which are necessary to
fairly present the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of NHC. Alf significant intercompany transactions and balances have been efiminated in censolidation.
The consolidated financial staterments include the accounts of all entities controlled by NHC. The Corpany preseats noncontrolling interest within the equify section of its
consolidated balance sheets. The Company presents the amount of consclidated net incowe that is gttributable to NHC and the nencontrolling interest in its consolidated
statenents of operations.

We assume that users of these intorim financial statements have read or have access to the sudited Decerber 31, 2023 consolidated financial statenents and that the
adequacy of additional disclosure needed for a fair presentation, except in regard to material contingencies, may be determined in that context. Accordingly, footnotes and other
disclosures which would substantially duplicate the disclosure contained in our mest recont annual report to stockholders have becn emitted. This interim financial information s
not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for a full yoar fora variety of reasons.

FEstimates and Assumptions

‘The preparation of financlal statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estirates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and fiabilities at the date of the financlal statements and the repetted anounts of rovenues and expensus during the reporting period.
Actua) resulis could differ from those estimates and could cause our roported net income to vary significantly fromperiod to period.

Net Patient Revenues and Acconnis Receivable

Net patient revenues are detived from services rendered to patients for ekilled and intermediate nursing, rehabilitation therapy, assisted living and independent living,
home health cate services, hospice services, and behavioral health services. Net patient revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company
expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient services. These amounts are due from patients, governmental prograrrs, and other third-party payors, and inchude variable
consideration for retroactive revenue adjustents due to settlement of audits, reviews, and inves tigations.

The Company recognizes revenue as its petformance obligations are completed. Routine services are treated as a single perforrance cbligation satisfied over time as
services sre rendered. Thase routine services represent a bundle of services that are not capable of being distinct. The performance cbligations are satisfied over time a3 the
patient sirmultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the healtheare services provided, Additionally, there may be ancillary services which are not included i the daily
rates for routing services, but instead are treated as separate performance obligations satisfied at 2 point in time when those services are rendered. Contract lighilities are recorded
for paynents the Conpany receives in which perfornence obligations have not been conpleted.
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The Company determings the transaction price based on established billing rates reduced by explicit prico concessions provided to third party payors. Explicit price
concessions are based on contractual agreements and historical experience. The Corrpany considers the patient's ability and intent to pay the amount of consideration upon
admission, Credit losses are recorded as bad debt expense, which is included as a component of other operating expenses in the interim condensed consolidated statemenis of
operations. Bad debt expense weas $2,471,000 and $1,811,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of March 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, the
Conpany has tecorded allowance for doubtful accounts of §9,174,000 and $8,054,000, respectively, as our best estimte of expected losses inherent in the accounts receivable
balance,

Orher Revenues

Other revenues inchide revenues from the provision of insurance services, management and aecounting services to other long—term care providers, and rental incone.
Qur insurance revenues consist of pretviuns that are generally paid in advance and then amortized into income over the policy period. We charge for managemont services based
on a petcentage of net revenuss, We charge for accounting services based on a monthly foe or a fixed foe per bed of the healthcare center under contract, Wo rocord other
revenucs as the performance cbligations are satis fied based on the tenws of our contractual arangements.

We tecognize tental income based on the terms of our operating leases. Under certain of our leases, we receive variable rent, which is based on the increase in revenues of
a fessee aver a base year, We recognize variable rent annually or monthly, as applicable, when, based on the actualrevenue of the lessee is eamed.

Segment Reporting

It accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 280, Segment Reporting, the Company is required to report financial and descriptive
information about its reportable operating segments. The Company has two reportable operating segments; (13 inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing
facdlitics, assisted and independent living facilitics, and behavioral health hospitals, and (2) hotecare and hospice services, The Conpany also reports an "all ather” category that
includes revenues from rental income, menagement and accounting services fees, insurance services, and costs of the corporate office. See Nate 6 for further disclosure of the
Company’s operating segments,

Other Operaling Expenses

Other operating expenses include the costs of care and services that we provide 1o the regidents of our facilities and the costs of maintaining our facilities. Our primary
patient care costs incluide drugs, medical supplies, purchased professional services, food, and professional liability insurance and Hoensing fees, The primary facility costs include
utilities and preperty insurance.

General and Admwinistrative Costs

With the Conpany being a healthcare provider, the majority of our expenses are "cost of revenue” iteirs, Costs that could be classified as "general and administrative™ by
the Conpany would include its corporate office costs, excluding stock-based campensation, which were $6,164,000 and $5,653,000 for the three menths ended March 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively,

Lang-Term Leases

The Company’s lease portfolio primarily consists of operating real estate leases for certain skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living facilities, homecare
and hospice offices, and pharmacy warchouses. The original tems of the leases typically range fromtwo to fifteen years. Several of the real estate leases include renewal options
which vary in length and may not include specific rent renewa! snounts. We determine if an amangement is a lease at inception of a contract. We determine the lease term by
assuming cxereise of rencwal options that are reasonably certain.

The Company records right-ofuse assets and liabilities for non-cancelable real estate operating leases with original or remaining lease terms in cxcess of one year. Leases
with a lcase term of 12 months o less at incoption are not recorded and are expensed on a straight-line bagis over the lease tetm We recognize lease componeats and non-lease

companents together and not as scparate parts of 2 lease for rcal estate leases,
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. Operating fease right-of-use assets and liabilities are recorded at the present value of the lease payments over the leese term. The present value of the lease paynents are
discounted using the mcrenental borrowing rate associated with each lease. The variable components of the lease payment that fluctuate with the operations ot'a health facility are
not included in determining the right-ofuse assets and lease liabilities. Rather, these variable components are expensed as incured.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided by the straight-line method over the expeeied useful lives of the asscts estimated as follows:
buildings and improvenents, 20-40 years and equipment and fumiture, 3-135 years. Leasehold inprovements arc amortized over periods that do not exceed the non-cancelable
respective lease terms using the straight-line method.

Buisiness Combinations

We account for acquisitions using the acquisition mothod of accounting in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations. Acquisitions are accounted for as
purchases and are included in our consolidated financial statements from their respective acquisition dates, Assets acquired and liabilities assumed, if any, are neasured at fair
value on the acquisition date using the approptiate valuation methed. Goodwill generated fromacquisitions is recognized for the excess of the purchase price over the fair vahie of
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and Labilities assumed. In determining the fair value of identifiable assefs, we usc various valuation techniques, These
valuation methods requite us to make estimates and assumptions surounding projected revenues and costs, futute growth, and discount rates.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assels

Coodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assols acquired in business ¢ombinations. Goodwill is not amortized but is
subject to en annual inpairment test, We perform eur annual goodwill impairment assessment an the first day of the fourth quarter. Tests are performed more frequently if events
occur, or circunstances change that would more likely than nat reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its camying amount,

The Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trade narws and certificates of need and licenses. The Company reviews indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impaimment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the intangible asset may not be recoverable,

Accrued Risk Reserves

We are selfinsured for risks related to workers’ conpensation and general and professional liability insurance. We have two wholly—owned limited purpose insurance
corpanies that insure these risks, The accrued risk resetves include a liability for reported claims and estimates for mourred but unreported clains, Our policy is to engage an
external, independent actuary to assist in estinating our exposure for clains obligations (for both asserted and unasserted claims). We reassess our accrued risk reserves on a
quarterly basis,

Professional liability remains zn area of particular concem to us. The long-term care industry has seen an increase in personal injury/wrongful death claims based on
alleged negligence by skilled nursing facilitics and their enployees in providing care to residents. The Company has been, and continues to be, subject {o claims and legal actions
that arise in the ordinary course of business, including potential clains related to patient care and treatment. A significant increase in the number of these claits, or an increase in
the gnounts due as a result of these claims could have a material adverse effect an our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. It is also possible that
future events could cause us to neke significant adjustments or revisions to these reserve estimates and cause our reported net income to vary significantly from period to period.

We are principally selfinsured for incidents occurting in all centers owned or leased by us. The coverages include both primary pelicies aud excess policies. In all years,
settlements, ifany, i exess of available insurance policy lits and our own reserves would be cxpensed by us.
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Continuing Care Contracts

We have one continuing care retirerent center (" CCRC™) within cur operations. Residents at this retirerrent center say snter into continuing care contracts with us, The
contracts provide that 10% of the resident entry fee becomes nen-refundable upon occupancy, and the remaining refundable portion of the eniry foe is caleufated using the lesser
of the price at which the apartment is re-assigned or 50% ofthe original entry fee, plus 40% ofany appreciation i the apartment value cxceeds the original resident’s entry fee,

Non-refundable fees are included as a component of the transaction price and are amortized into revenue over the actuarily determined remmining life of the resident,
which is the expected period of oceupaney by the resident. We pay the refundable portion of our entry fees to residents when they relocate from cur community and the apartment
is re-occupied. Refindable entrance foes are not included as part of the transaction price and are classificd as noncurrent linblities in our consoclidated balance sheets.

We also annually estimate the present valuc of the cest of future services and the use of facilities to be provided to the current CCRC residents and compare that amount
with the balance of non-refandable deferred revenue from entrance foos received. If the present value of the cost of future services excecds the related anticlpated revenucs, a
liability is recorded with a corresponding charge to income, As of March 31, 2024, and Ikcember 31, 2023, we have recorded a future service obligation liability in the amount of
$1,606,000. This obligation is reflected within other nencument lizbilities in the interimcondensed consolidated balance sheets,

Other Noncirvent Liabilities

Ofher noncurrent labilities include reserves primarily related to various uncertain incorre 1ax positions, deferred revenue, and obligations to provide future services to our
CCRC residents. Deferred revenue inclades the deferred gain on the sale of assets to National Health Corporation ("NationaP”) and the non-refimdable portion. (16%) of CCRC
entrance fees being amortized over the remaining life expectancies of the residents.

Other noncurent liabilities also include funds received related to the Employes Retention Credit ("ERC'), a refindable tax eredit for businesses that sustained a partial
suspension of aperations limiting cormmerce due to COVID-19 or had significant declines in gross receipts during 2020 and 2021,

Noencontrolling Interesi

The noncentrofling nterest in a subsidiary is presented within total equity in the Conpany's interim condensed consolidated balance shoets, The Company presents the
noncontrolling interest and the amount of consolidated net mcome attibutable to NHC in its interim condensed consolidated statements of eperations. The Company’s eartings
per share is caleulated based on net income attributable to NHC's stoekhelders. The camying amount of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted based on an allocation of the
subsidiary eamings, contributions, and distributions,

Yariable Interest Entities

We have equity interests in unconsolidated Timited liability companies that operate variouis post-zoute and senior healtheare businesses. We analyze our investments in
these Timited ability cornpanies to determine if the company is considered a variable interest entlty {"VIE") and would require conselidation. To the extent that we own inferests in
a VIR and we () have the power to direct the activities of the VIE and () have the obligation or rights to absorb the VIEs losses or receive its benefits, then we would be
determined to be the primary beneficiary and would consolidate the VIE To the extent we own interests in 3 VIE, then at each reporting period, we re-assess our conclusions as to
which, if any, party within the VIE is considered the primary beneficiary.

The Company's maxirum expasure to losses in its investments In unconsolidated VIFs cannot be quantified and may ormay not be Kmited to its thvestment in the
unconsolidated VIE The investments in uncons olidated ViFs arc classified as "investments in unconsolidated companies” in the interim condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Recently Issued Accounting Guidance

Tn Novemier 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board {"FASB”) issuad Accounting Standards Update (*ASU") Ne. 202307, " Segment Reporting (Topic 280);
Improvement to Reportable Segment Disclosures” The ASU Improves reportabie segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant
segment expenses. In addition, the amendmoents enhance interim disclosure requirements, clarify circumstances in which an entity can disclose multiple scgment measures of
profit and loss, and contai other disclosure requirenents. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning afier Decerrber 15, 2023, which will be the Company's fiscal year
2024, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after Decerber 15, 2024, We are currently evaluating the irpact this standard will have on our disclosures.
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Note 3 — Net Patient Revenues

The Company disaggregates revenue fromcontracts with customers by service type and by payor.

Revenue by Service Type

The Company’s net palient services can generally be classified into the following two categories: (1) inpatient services, which includes the eperation of skilied nursing

facilities, assisted and independent living facitities, and behavioral healih hospitals, and (2) homecate and hospice services (in thousands).

Net patient revenues:
Inpatient services
Fomecats and hospice
Total net patient revenucs

Three Months Ended

March 31
2024 2023
$ 252254 % 226,169
33,569 11,838
3 285823 § 258,007
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For inpatient and hospice services, revenue is recognized on a daily basis as each day represents a separate contract and performance obligation, For honecare, revenue
is recognized when services are provided based on the nurber of days of service rendered in the period of care or on a per-visit basis. Typically, patients and third-party payors
are billed monthly after services are performed or the patient is discharged, and payments are due based on contract tens,

As our performance obligations relate to contracts with a duration of one year or less, the Comypany is not Tequired to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction
price allocated to perfornance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting peried. The Company has minimat unsatisfied performance
obligations at the end of the reporting period as our patients are typically under no obligation to remain admitted in our facilities or under our care. As the period between the time
of service and time of payment is typically one year or less, the Company did not adjust for the effeets of a significant financing component.

Revenue by Payor

Certain groups of patients receive nds to pay the cost of their care froma common sowrce, The fellowing table sets forth sources of net paticnt revenucs for the periods
indicated:

Three Months Ended

March 31
Source - 2024 2023
Medicare - i 4% 6%
Managed Care - 10% 1%
Medicaid ' 28% 2%
Private Pay and Other 28% 26%
Total e i 160% 100%

Medicare covers skifled nursing services for beneficiaries who require numing care and/or rehabilitation services following a hospitalization of at least three consecutive
days. For each cligible day a Medicare beneficiary is in a skilied nursing facility, Medicare pays the facility a daily payment, subject to adjustment for cerlain factors such as a wage
index in the geographic avea, The payment covers all services provided by the skilled nursing facility for the beneficiary that day, including roomand board, nurs ing, therapy and
drugs, as well as an. estimate of capital-related costs to deliver those services.

For homeeare services, Medicare pays based on the acuity level of the patient and based on periods of care. A period of care is defined as a length of carc up to 30 days
with multiple continuous periods allowed. The services covered by the payment include all disciplines of care, in addition to medical supplies, within the scope of the heme health
benefit.

For hospice services, Medicare pays a daily rate to covor the hospice’s costs for providing services inchided in the paticnt carc plan. Medicare makes daily payments
vased on 1 of 4 levels of hospice care, All hospice care and services offered to patients and their familics must follow an individualized written plan of care that meets the pationt’s
needs,

Qur hospice service revenue is subject to certain limitations on payments from Medicare, We are subject {o an inpatient cap limit and an overall Medicare payment cap for
each provider nunber, We monitor these caps on a provider-by-provider basis and estimate amounts due back to Medicare if we estimate a cap has been exceeded. If applicable,
we record these cap adjustments as a reduction to revenue.

Medicaid is operated by individual states with the fmancial participation of the federal government. The states in which we operate currently use prospective cost—based

reimbursement systems. Under cost-based reimbursement systems, the skilled nursing facility is reimbursed for the reasonable direct and indirect allowable costs it incutred in a
base year in providing routine resident care services as defined by the program.

Private pay, managed care, and other payment sources include conmmercial insurance, individual patient funds, managed cars plans and the Veterans Administration,
Private paying patients, private jnsurance carriers and the Veterans Administration generally pay based on the healthcare center's charges or specifically negotiated contracts. For
private pay patients in skilled nursing, assisted living and independent living facilities, the Company bills for roomand board churges, with the rerttance being due on receipt of
the staterrent and generally by the 10th day of the month the services are performed.

Certain managed care payors for homecare services pay on & per-visit bagis. This revenue is recorded on an accrual basis based upon the date of services at amounts
equalto its established or estimated per-visit rates,
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State Relief Supplemental Funding

The Conpany received supplemental Medicaid payments from various states, including healtheare relief funding under the American Rescue Plan Act (" ARPA") and
other state specific relief programs. The funding generally incorporates specific use requirements primarily for direct patient care including labor related expenses or various
patient care related expenses. We have recorded $3,462,000 and 34,883,000 in net patient revenues for these supp lemental Medicaid payments for the three months ended March
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Cantract Liabifities

Inchuded in the Company’s interim condensed consolidated balance sheets are contract liabilities, which represent payments the Commpany receives in advanco of services
provided, As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company has recorded $7,667,000 and $0, respectively, in contract liabilities related to receipts during the first quarter
0 £2024 from the Change Healthcare/Optum Payment Disruption {"CHOPD") Accelerated and Advance Payment program These payments were issucd to providers who
experienced delays in the submission or processing of Medicare claims payments as a result of the Change Healthcare/Optum cyber incident, which began February 21, 2024.
Recouptrent of the accelerated payments began in the first quarter 0£ 2024,

A summary of the activity related to contract liabilities follows (i thousands);

Balance at Decenber 31,2023 - T < o o 3 -

Payments received ) i ] 9,881

Payments tecouped R ) : (2,214)
Balance at March 31, 2024 $ 7,667

Third Party Payors

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid prograns are conplex and subject to interpretation. Noncompliznee with such laws and regulations can be
subject to regulatory actions including fines, penalties, and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. We believe that we ere following all applicable laws and
regulations.

Medicare and Medicaid program revenues, as well as certain Managed Care program revenucs, are subject to audit and retroactive adjustment by govermment
representatives or their agents. Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustrents due to audits, reviews or investigations are considered variable consideration and
are included 1 the determination of the estinated transaction price for providing paticnt care. These settlements arc estitnated based on the tems of the payment agrcement with
the payor, correspondence from the payor and the Conpany’s historical scftlement activity, including an assessment te ensure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognized willnot occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subseguently resclved. Estimated settlerments are
adjusted in future periods as adjustivents become known, or as years are settled or areno longer subiect to such audits, reviews, and investigations. We believe that any
differences between the net revenues rocorded, and final determination will not materially affect the consolidated financial statements. We have made provisions of approximately
$19,988,000 and $18,365,000 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, rospectively, for various Medicare, Medicaid, and Managed Care clains reviews and current and prior
year cost reports.

Note 4 — Other Revenuces

Other revenues ate outlined i the table below. Revenues from rental income include health care real estate propotties owned by us and leased to third party operators.
Revenues from nenagenent and accounting services include fees provided to manage and provide accounting services to other healthcare operators. Revenues from insurance
services inchude premiums for workers® conpensation and professional Eability insurance policies that cur wholly owned insurance subsidiaries have written for certain healthcare
operators to which we provide management or accounting services, "Other” revenues nelude miscellancous health care rclated eamings (in thosisands),

Three Months Ended

March 31
2024 2023
Rental incone b 5959 § 6,043
Management and accounting services fees 4,438 4,007
Insurance services 872 1,048
Other 84 368
Total ather revenues $ 1,253 4 11,536

Rental Incone

The Cermpany leases real estate assets consisting of skilled nursing facilitios and assisted Lving facilities to third party operators, Additionally, we sublease four Florida
skilled mursing facilities included in our lease from National Health Investors ("NH["} as noted in Note 7 Long Term Leases.

Management Fees from National Health Corporation

We manage five skilled nursing facilities owned by National Health Corporation ("National”). For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, we recegnized
management fees and inferest on management fees of $1,320,000 and $1,190,000, respectively, for these centers,
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Insurance Services

For workers’ compensation nsurance services, the premium revenues reflected in the interim condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three months
ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were $582,000 and $736,000, respectivcly, Associated losses and expenses including those for sclf-insurance are included in the interim condensed
consolidated statements of operations as "Salarics, wages and benefits "

For professional liability insurance services, the prenmum evenues reflected in the interim condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended

March 31, 2024 and 2023 wore $290,000 and $312,000, respectively. Associated losses and cxpenses including those for sclf-insurance arc included in the interim condensed
consolidated statements of operations as “Other eperating costs and expenses”.

Note 5 — Non—Operating Income

Non—operating incomme is comprised of the following (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31
2024 2023
Dividends and net realized gains and losses on sales of securities 5 2,056 3§ 1,233
Interest incoms ) 2,538 1,558
Equity in eamings of unconsolidated mvestments 67 1,535
Cain on sale of unconsolidated company 1,024 -
Total non-operating income 5 5685 § 4,323

Gain on sale ofunconsolidated company

In January 2024, the Company sold its 50% joint venture cwnership interest in a homecare agency located in Nashville, Tennessee. The total consideration paid to the
commpany was $2,100,000, which resulted in a gain of $1,024,000,

Note 6 - Business Segments

The Company has two reportable opezating segrments: (1) mpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing facilitis, assisted and independent living
facilities, and behavioral health hospitals; and (2) homecare and hospice services. These teporiable operating segments are consistent with infometion used by the Cormpany's
Chief Bxecutive Officer, as chief operating decision maker ("CODM”"), to assess performance and allocate resources. The Company also reports an "all other™ category that
includes revenues fromrental incorme, management and accounting services fees, insurance services, and costs ofthe corporate office,

The Conpany’s CODM evaluates performence and allocates capital resources to cach segnient based on an operating model that is designed to improve the quality of
patient care and profitability of the Conpany while enhancing long-term shareholder value. The CODM does nol review assets by segment in his resource allocation and therefore,
assets by segment are not disclosed below.
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The following table sets forth the Conpany’s unaudited interim condensed consolidated statements of operations by business segment (in thousands).

Revetes:
Net patient revenues
Qther revenues
Net Qperating wyenues

Costs and expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits
Other operating
Rent )
Depreciation and amertization
Interest
Total costs and expenses

Income/(foss) fromoperations
Non-operating income
Unrealized gains on marketable equity securities

Income before incone taxss

Revenues:
Net patient revenues
Other revenues
Net operating revenues

Costs and expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits
Other operating
Rent
Depreciation and amortization
Interest
Total costs and expenses

Income/(loss) fromeperations
Non-operating mcome

Unrealized gains on marketable equity securities

Income before income taxes

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

Inpatient Honecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total
$ 252254 % 33,569 - % 285,823
15 - 11,338 11,353
252,269 33,569 11,338 297,116
150,490 21,009 11,239 183,138
68,683 5972 2,774 77,429
8,112 566 L&70 10,348
5,630 187 %9 10,586
46 - - 46
237,361 21,734 16,452 281,547
14,908 5,838 (5,114) 15,629
“ - 5,685 5,685
- - 14,399 14,399
$ 14908 3§ 5,835 1457 § 35,713
Three Months Ended March 31, 2023
Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total
$ 226,169 § 31,838 - % 258,007
271 - 11,285 11,556
226,440 31,838 11,285 269,563
138,939 20,244 8,641 167,824
62,264 5,499 3,726 71,48%
8,168 558 1,366 10,092
9117 185 46 10,048
98 - - 98
218,586 26486 14479 259,551
7,854 5,352 (3,194 10012
. - 4323 4323
- - 1,386 1,386
3 S 1854 3 5,352 2515 % 15,721
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Note 7 — Long-Term Leases

Operating Leases

At March 31, 2024, we lease from NHI the real propery of 28 skilled nursing facilities, five assisted living centers and three independent living centers under one lease
agreement. As part of the lease agreement, we sublease four Florida skilled nursing faciiities to a third-party operator. The lease includes base rent phis a percentage rent. The
annual base rent is $32,625,000 in 2024, $32,225,000 in 2025, and $31,975,000 in 2026 with the lease term expiring in December 2026, The pereentage rent is based on a quartetly

calculation of revenue increases and is payable on a quarterly basis. Total facility rent expense to NI was $9,472,000 and $9,295,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively.

Minimum Lease Pavments

The following table summerizes the maturity of our operating lease liabilities as of March 31, 204 {in thousands):

Operating
Leases
2025 T $ 34,351
2026 33,590
2027 - 24,933
2028 493
2029 : : 207
Thereafter . 21
Total minitmm lease paynents 93,595
Less; amounts representing interest (7,858)
Present vzlue of future minimum lease payments 85,737
Less: current portion (29,733
Noncurrent lease liabilities 5 56,004
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Note 8 — Earnings per Share

Basic net income per share is computed based on the weighted average murber of conmon shares outstanding for each period presented. Diluted net income per share
reflects the potential dilution that would have occurred if securities to issue common stock were exercised, converted, ot resulted in the issuance of comton stock that would have
then shared in our eamnings.

The following table sunmarizes the eamings and the weighted average number of common shares used in the calsulation of basic and diluted eatnings per share (in
thousands, except for share and per share amounts):

Three Months Ended
March 3]
2024 2023
Basic: .
Weighted average comimon shares outstanding 15,350,240 15,337,423
Net income attributable to National HealthCare Corporation § 26213 3 11,723
Eamings per common share, basic ¥ 171§ 0.76
Diluted:
Weighted average common shates outstanding 15,350,240 15,337,423
Bffects of dilutive instruments 154,856 18,012
Weighted average common shares outstanding 15,503,096 15,356,335
Net income attributable to National HealthCare Corporation b 26213 § 11,723
Barnings per coniron share, diluted 3 1.69 § 0.76

For the three months ended March 31, 2024, 245,726 stock options have been excluded from the ealculation of dilsted weighted average shates of comimon stock
outstanding becanse the inclusion of these scourities would have an anti-dilutive effect, For the three months ended March 31, 2023, 691,580 stock options have been excluded
from the caleulation of diluted weighted average shares of convmon stock outstanding because the inclus jon of these secunities woukd have an anti-dilutive effect,

Note 9 — Investments in Marlcetable Securities

Cur nvestments in marketable equity sccurities are catried at fair value with the changes in unrealized gains and losses recognized in our results of operations at cach
measurement date. Our investments in matketable dobt securitics are classificd as avallable for sale scourities and carried at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses
recognized through acounmlated other comprehensive income at each ncasurement date. Any oredit-related decline in fal market values below the amortized cost of pur available
Tor sale debt securitics are recorded in our results of eperations through an allowance for credit losses. Realized gains and losses fromsecuritics sales are recognized in results of
operations upen disposition of the securities using the specific identificaticr: mothod on a trade date basis, Refer to Note 10 for a description of the Company's methodolegy for
determining the fair value of matketable securities.

Marketable securities consist of the following (in theusands):

March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Aortized Fair Anortized Fair
Cost Valuc Cost Value
Investments available for sale:
Marketable equity sceurities 5 30,176 8 123,040 $ 30,176 § 111,117
- Comorate debt securities : : 494 484 2497 2441
I8, Treasury Seeurities ‘ : - - 2,990 2,086
Restricted investents available for sale:

" Marketable equity securities 24,495 26,616 24,134 26,779
Corporate debt securities 61,488 59,398 59,586 51,731
Asset-based securities 19,026 17438 19,388 17,659
U.S. Treasury securities 47323 43,004 46,771 42,863
State and municipal securities 407 3,992 4,106 4047

% 187,081 § 276972 § 189,648 265,623
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Inctuded in the marketable equity securities are the following (¥ thovsands, except share amounis):

Maxch 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Fair Fair
Shares Cost Value Shares Cost Value
NF Commnon Stock 1630642 8 24734 § 102,453 163062 § 24,74 § aL071

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt securitios classified as available for sale, by contmctual maturity, are as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2024 Decerrber 31,2023
Fair Fair
Cost Valug Cost Value
Maturisies: :

Within 1 year 3 21299 % 20,785 % 19664 § 19,328
1to 5 years ) B 71738 73,370 81,517 77,118
6to 10 years ) 32,012 28,925 33,515 30,802
Over 10 years ’ o 1,361 1,236 642 479
§ 132410 § 124316 § 135338 § 127,727

Gross unrealized gaims related to marketable equity seourities are $98,459,000 and $84,514,000 as of March 31, 2024 and Decerrber 31, 2023, respectively. Cross unrealized
losses related to marketable equity securities are $474,000 and $928,000 as efMarch 31, 2024 and Decerrber 31, 2023, respeotively, For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and
2023, the Conpany recognized net anreaiized gains of $14,395,000 and $1,386,000, respectively, for the changes in fair market value of the marketable equity securities in the interim
cendensed consolidated staterments of operations,

Gross unrealized gains related to available for sale narketabie dobt securities are $179,000 and $326,000 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. Gross
unreatized losses telated to available for sale marketable debt scourities are $8,273,000 and 57,937,000 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

The Company’s unrealized losses in our available for sale marketable debt securities were determined to be non-credit related. The Conpany has not recognized any credit
related impaimonts for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023,

For the marketable seourities in gross unrealized loss positions, (a) it is moro likely than not that the Company will not be required to sell the investment seourities before
recovery of the unrealized losses, and (b} the Compeny expects that the contractual principal and intercst will be received on the investment sourifies.

Proceeds from the sale of available for sale marketable securitios during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were $11,615,000 and $15,492,000, respectively.
Investment gains of $344,000 and investment losses of $492,000 were realized on these sales during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respegtively.

Note 10 — Fair Value Measurements

The asepumting standard for fair valze measurements provides a framework for measuring falr value and requires expanded disclosures regarding fair value measureiments.
Fair vahie is defined as the price that would be received for an asset or the exit price that would be paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market i an
orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date, This accounting standard establishes a fair value hierarchy, which requires an entity to nexinize the use
of obsetvable inputs, where available. The following summarizes the three levels ofinputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level I —The vahiation is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments.

Level 7 — The valuation i based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
rmarkets that are not active, and modek-based valuation techniques for which all significant agsumptions are observable in the market,

Tevel 3 — The valuation is based on unobservable inputs that are supported by minimal or no warket activity and that are sign ificant to the fair vahie of the instrument. Lavel 3
valuations are typically performed using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodelogies, or sintlar techniques that incorperate 1management’s own estinmtes of
assumptions that market participants would usc in pricing the instrument, or valuations that require significant managenent judgnent or estinmtion.
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A finaneial instrument’s fevel within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measureiment.

The following table summarizes fair value neasurements by level at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 for assets and liabilities measured at fair valoe on a recurring
basis (in thousands):

Fair Value Measureirents Using

Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets Other Significant
For Identical Observable Unobservable
Fair Assets Inputs Inputs
_ March 31, 2024 Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents i S $ 939582 § 93,082 § - 3 -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 21150 27,150 - -
Marketable equity securities ' 152,656 152,656 - -
Corporate debt secutities ) 59,882 42,611 17,271 -
Asset—backed securities 17,438 - 16,961 477
U5, Treasury securities 43,004 43,004 - -
State and municipal securities ' 3,992 - 3,992 —
Total financial assets 5 398,104 § 350403 § 38,224 § 477
Fair Value Measurenents Using
Quoted :
Prices in ;
Active Significant ;
Markets Cther Significant
For Identical Observable Unobservable
Fair Assets Inputs Inputs
December 31, 2023 Vahlie (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3
Cash and cash equivalents § 107076 § 107,076 $ - 3 -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18,892 18,892 - - :
Masketable equity securities < - 137,896 137,89 - -
Corpoerate debt securities 60,171 42,860 17,31 - :
Asset-backed securities - 17,659 - 17,210 445
U.8, Treagury securities 45,850 45,850 - - |
State and municipal securities 4,047 - 4,047 - :
Total financial assets $ 391,501 § 352574 § 38,568 & 449

Note 11 — Goodwikl and Other Intangible Assets

AtMarch 31, 2024, the Company reviewed the camying value of goodwill for {mpairment indicators. As a result of the review, there were no impainvent indicators
regarding the Corrpany’s goodwill that required a quantitative test te be performed. However, our accounting estimates could nwterially change from peried to period due to
changing market factors. We will continue to nonitor future events, changes in citcumstances, and the potontial impact thereof, If actual results are not consistent with our
assumptions and estimates, we may be cxposed to future goodwill impainment losses.

At March 31, 2024, the following table represents the activity related to our goodwill by segment (in thousands),

Inpatient Honecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total
Tanuary 1, 2024 $ 3,741 % 164,554 8 - 8 168,295
Additions - - — -
March 31, 2024 $ 41§ 164554 § - § 168,295

We zlso have recorded indefinite-lived intangible assets that consist of trade names ($4,340,000) and certificates ofneed and licenses ($2,698,000).
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Nofe 12 - Stock Repurchase Program

During the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Conpany repurchased 101,131 shares of #s cormen stock for a total cost 0f $9,900,000. During the three months
ended March 31, 2023, the Company repuichased 44,349 shares of its common stock for a total cost of $2,482,000. The shares were funded from cash on hand and were cancelled
and returned to the status of authorized but unissued,

Note 13 — Stock—Based Compensation
NHC recognizes stock-based conpensation expense for sl stock options granted over the requisite service period using the fair value at the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes pricing model. Stock—based conpensation totaled $793,000 and $639,000 for the three wonths ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Stock—based

compensation is inchuded in "Salaries, wages and benefits™ in the interim condensed consolidated statements of operations,

AtMarch 31, 2024, the Conpany had $7,652,00 of unrecogrized compensation cost related to unvested stocle-based conpensation awards, This unrccognized
cormensation cost will be amortized over an approximate three-year period,

Stock Options

The following table sumerizes the significant assumptions used to vahie the options granted for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and for the year ended
December 31, 2023,

March 31, Decembor 31,
2024 2023
Risk—fiee interest rate 4.33% 4.52%
Expected volatility 24.1% 29.3%
Bapecied lifs, in years 29 29
BEapecled dividend yield 2.64% 441%

The following table summarizes our outstanding stock eptions for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and for the year ended December 31, 2023,

Weighted Aggregate
Number of Average Intrinsic
: Shares Exarcise Price Value
Options oufstanding at January 1, 2023 445144 % 6662 8§ —
Optiens granted 299,278 54.44 -
Options exercised {103,481) 64.72 -
Options cancelled (52,407) 60.58 -
Options outstanding at December 31, 2023 388,534 . 6130 -
QOptions granted 245,726 94.07 - :
QOptions exercised ’ (137,874) 60,95 — |
Optiens outstanding at March 31,2024 696,386 § 7293 % 15,025,015 !
I
Options excreisable at March 31, 2024 174105 8 6848 3 4,531,876 i
Weighted Average
Options Remaining
Outstanding Weighted Average Contractual
March 31, 2024 Exercise Prices Exercise Price Life in Years
2377405 - 5394 . 6919 58.92 35
318,981 7164 - 9410 89.51 4.0
696,386 - 72,93 3.7

2




Table of Contents

Note 14 — Income Taxes

The Company's income tax provision as a percentage of our income before inconc taxes was 26.5% and 28,2% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2623,
respectively,

Typically, these percentages vary from the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 21% primarly due fo state income taxes, excess lax benefits from stock-based
compensation, benefits resulting fomthe lapsing of statute of limitations of items in our tax contingency reserve, and non-deductile expenses. Fer the three months ended March
31, 2024 and 2023, the accrual of state income tax was the most significant reconciling ftem

Our quartetly incoms tax provision, and our estimate of our annwal effective income taxrate, is subject to varation duc to several factors, including volatility based on the
amount of pre-tax income ot loss,

The Company is na longer sybject to ULS, federal and state cxaminations by taxauthorities for years befbre 2020 (with certain state exceptions ).

Note 15 — Credit Facility

Tn May 2023, we entered into an unsecured $50,000,000 credit facility that has & 364-day maturity date. Loans bear intcrest at the onc-month secured overnight financing
rate (" SOFR™) plus 1.25%. If we maintain certain aggregate deposit levels within the financial institution, the credit facility shall bear interest at ong-month SOFR. plus 1.10%. The
credit facility fs available for general corporate purpeses, including working capital and acquisitions. The credit tacility agreement contains customary representations and financial
covenants, including covenants that restrict, among other things, asset dispositions, additional indebtedness, invesiments, sale-leasebacks, and certain contingent liabilities. The
credit facility contains customary events of default and remedies.

As of March 31, 2024, the Company had no cutstanding balance on the credit facility, We do not expect to renew this credit facility upon its maturity date.

Note 16 — Contingencies and Commitments
Acerued Risk Reserves

We have wholly-owned limited purpose insurance conpanies that insure tisks related to workers’ cormpensation and professional lability insurance claims both for cur
owned and leased entities und certain of the entities to which we provide management or accounting services. The liability we have rece gnized for reported claims and estimates
for mneurred but unreported clains totals $108,237,000 and $103,259,000 at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 323, rospectively. The liabifity is included i accrued risk reserves in
the interim condensed consolidated balance sheets and is subject to adjustment for actual clains incwmed. It is possible that these clains plus unasserted claims could exceed our
insurance coverages and ourreserves, which could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

As a result of the terms of our insurance policies and our use of wholly owmed linited purpose insurance companics, we have retained significant insurance risk with
respect to workers’ conpensation and general and professienal Kability. We consider the professionsl services of independent actuaries to assist us i estimating our exposures
for claiins obligations (for both asserted and unasserted clains) related to deductibles and exposures in excess of coverage limits, and we maintain reserves for these obligations.
Such estimmates are based on many variables incliding historical and statistical information and other factors,

Workers' Compensation

Far workers' conpensation, we utilize 2 wholly-owned Tennessee domiciled property/casualty insurance conpany to write coverage for NHC effiliates and for third—party
customers, Policies ate written for a duration oftwelve months and cover only risks related to workers” conponsation losses. All customers are companies which operate in the
sendor care industry. Business is written on a divect basis.

General and Professional Liability Insurance and Lawsuits

The senior care industry has cxperienced significant increases in both the rumber of personal injury/wrongful death claims and i the severity of awards based upon
alleged negligence by skilied nursing faclities and their employees in providing care to residents, The Conpany has been, and continues to be, subject to clains and legal actions
that arise in the ordinary cousse of business, including potential clajms related to patient care and treatment. The defense of these lawsuits may result in significant legal costs,
regardless of the outcarme, and can resull i large seftlement amounts or daimige awards. Additional insurance is purchased threugh third party providers that serve to supplement
the covetage provided through our wholly owned captive insurance company.

There is cortain additional litigation incidental to our business, none of which, based upon information available to date, would be material to our financial position, resnlts
of operations, or cash flows. In addition, the long—term care industry is costinyously subject to scrutiny by govemmental regulators, which could result in litigation or claims

related to regulatory compliance matters.
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Lui Tam Litigation

United States of America,_ex rel,_Jennifer Cook and Sally Gaither v ntegrated Behavioral Heajth, Inc., NHC HealthCare/Moulton. LLC. el al., Case No. 2:20-
CV-00877-AMM (N,D. Afa.) This is a qui tam case originally filed under seal on June 22, 2020. The United States declincd intervention on March {, 2021, Thereafter, the Plaintiffs
filed an amended Conmplaint against Dr, Sanja Malhotra, Integrated Behavioral Health, Inc, and other entitics that Dr. Malhotra was alleged to ewn or in which he allegedly had a
financial interest. The Complaint also named multiple skilled nursing fcilities as Defendants, including NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLG, an affiliate of National HealthCare
Cotporation. The Complaint alleged that nurse practitioncrs affliated with Dr. Malhotra provided free services ta the facilities in exchange for referrals to entities owned by or in
which Dr. Malhotra had a financial interest in violation of the False Claims Act and Anti-Kickback Statute. NHC Healtheare/Moulton, LLC denied the allegations and fled a motion
to dismiss on November 4, 2021. On January 28, 2022, the district court stayed this matter and administratively terminated the motion to dismiiss pending the U.S. Supreme Court's
roview of a petition for certiorari filed in an unrelated matter but invelving one of the legal arguments rised in the motion to dismiss. Thereafter, the U.S. Supreme Court denied the
petition for certiorari in the unrelated matter. As a result, NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC renewed its motion to disniss. The Distriet Court granted NHC Healthcare/Moulton’s
Motion to Dismiss, along with other pending Motions to Dismiss, and entered an Order of Dismissal on March 23, 2023 and an Amended Order of Dismissal on Aptil 4, 2023, which
dismissed the case in its entirety with prejudice with respect to the claims asserted by the Plaintiffs, The Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on April 20, 2023 to appeal the dismissal
to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, On December 21, 2023, the Hleventh Circuit entered an Order affirming the District Court's dismissal of the claims.
The time period for the Plaintilfs to file a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari with the United States Supreme Court has expired making the Order aftirming dismissal issued by the
Eleventh Circuit final.

Governmental Regulations

Laws and regulations goveming Medicate, Medicaid and other federal healtheare programs are cotmplex and subject to interprelation. Managenent believes that it is
following all applicable laws and regulations in all material respects. However, compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future govemment review and
interpretation as well as significant regulatory action inchiding fines, penalties, and exclusions from the Medicare, Medicaid and other federa] healthcare prograims.

Trem 2, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,

Forward--TLooking Statenents

References throughout this document to the Company include National HealfhCare Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries. In accordance with the Securities and
Exchange Commissions "Plain Fnglish” guidelines, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q has been written in the first person, Tn this decument, the words "we”, "our”, "ours” and
"us” refer only to National HealthCare Corperation and its wholly—cwned subsidiazies and not any other person.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10~Q and other information we provide from time te- time, contains certain "forwaré-looking” statements as that term is defined by the
Private Sceuritics Litigation Reform Act of 1993, All stateinenis regarding our expected future financial position, results of operations or cash flows, continued performance
inprovements, ability to service and refinance our debt obligations, sbility to finance growth opportunitics, ability to control our patient carc liability costs, ability to respond to
changes in govemmeat regulations, ability to cxecute our three—year strategic plan, and similar statements including, without lmitations, those containing words such as

[T

"helieves”, "anticipates™, "expects”, "intends™, "estinates”, "plans”, and other gimilar expressions are forward—locking statencnts.
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. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertaintics that may cause our actual results in fature periods to differ materially from those
projected or contenplated in the forward—looking statements as a result of, but not limited to, the following factors:

¢ national and local economic conditions, including their effect on the availability and cost of labor, utilitics and materials;

e the effect of governiment regulations and changes in regulfations governing the healthcare ndustry, including our conpliance with such reguations;

® changes in Medicare and Medicaid payment levels and methodologies and the application of such methodologies by the govemment and its fiscal intermediaries;

¢ liahilities and other clains asserted against us, mcluding patient care liabilities, as well as the resolution of current litigation (see Note 16: Contingencies and Commitments);
e the ability to attract and retain qualified personnef;

* the availability and terns of capital to fund aequisitions and ¢apital improvements;

e the competitive environment in which we operate;

e our need to make investments continually in our processes and information systens to protect the privacy of patients, partners and other persons and reduce the risk of
successfil cybersecurity attacks;

s damnge to curreputation, tegulatory penaliies, legal claims and liability under state and fedoral laws that we could suffer upon any cybersecurity or privacy breaches;
e the ability to maintain and increase census levels; and
s demographic changes.

See the notes to the quarterly financial statements, and "Ttem 1, Basiness™ in our 2023 Annual Repost on Form 10-K for a discussion of various govermnmental regulations
and ather operating factors relating to the healthcare industry and the risk factors inherent in them. This may be found on our web site at wwwnhecare.com. You should carcfully
consider these risks hefore naking any investment in the Company. These risks and uncertaiaties are nof the enly ones facing us. There may be additional risks that we do nat
presently know of or that we currently deem inmmaterial, T any of the risks ceour, our business, financial condition or results ef operations could be materially adversely affected, In
that case, the trading price of our shares of stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. Given these risks and uncertaintics, we can give no assuratices
that these forward—looking statements will, in fact, transpirc and, therefare, caution investors not to place undue reliance on them

Orverview

National HealthCare Corporation ("NHC” ot the "Conpany”) is a leading provider of senior health care services. As of March 31, 2024, we operate or manage, through
certain affitiates, 65 skilled nursing facilities with a total of 8,421 licensed beds, 24 assisted living facilities with 1,365 units, five independent living facilities, three behavioral health
hospitals, 35 homecare agencics, 2nd 30 hospice agencies, We operate specialized carc units within certain of our healtheare centers such as Alzheimer's disease caro units and
sub-acute nursing units. In addition, we provide insurance services, management and accounting services, and we lease properties to opemtors of skilied nursing and assisted
living facilitics. We operate in 8 states and are located primarily in the southeastern United States,

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Mininm Staffing Standards

On April 22, 2024, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (' CMS”) isgued the Mininum Staffing Standards for Long-Term Care ("LIC") Facilities and Medicaid
Institutional Payment Transparency Reporting final rule, ncluded in this final rule are new comprehensive minimura nurse stalfing requirements, which aim to significantly reduce
the risk of residents receiving unsafe and low-quality care within LTC facilities. CMS s finalizing a total nurse staffing standard of 3.48 houts per resident day {"HPRDY), which
rust inchide at least 0.55 HPRD of direct registered nurse ("RN”) care and 2.45 HPRD of direct nurse aide care, Facilities may use any combination of nurse staff (RN, licensed
practical nurse and licensed vocational nutse, or nurse aide) to aceount for the additional 0.48 HPRD needed to comply with the total nurse staffing standard.
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CMS is also finalizing enhanced facility assessment requirements and 2 requirenent to have an RN onsite 24 hours a day, seven days a week ("24/7°), to provide skilled
nursing care, The 24/7 RN onsite can be the Director of Nursing; however, they must be available to provide diveet resident care.

This final rule provides a staggered mplementation timeframe of the minimumnurse staffing standards and a 24/7 RN requirement based on geegraphic lecation, as well as
possible exenptions for qualifying facilities for some parts of these requirements based on workforce unavailability and other factors.

Sunmary of Goals and Aress of Focus
Ocetipancy

A prinmry area of nunagement focus continues to be the rates of cecupancy within our skilled nursing facilities. The overall census in owned and Teased skilled nursing
facilities for the three menths ending March 31, 2024 was 88.5% compared to 87.4% for the sane period a year ago.

Dug to America’s healtheare labor shottage, the challenge of maintaining desirable patient census lovels has been amplified, Management has underiaken a number of
steps in order to best position our current and future health care facilities. This inciudes working intemnally to cxamine and improve systens to be most responsive to referral
souzces and payors, as well as find creative injtiatives to retain and attract qualified healthcare professionals. Additionally, NHC is in various stages of partnerships with hospital
systems, payoss, and other post—acute alliznces to better position oursclves so we are an active patticipant in the delivery of post-acute healthcate services.
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Quality of Patient Care

. CMS introduced the Five-Star Quality Rating Systemto help consumers, their families and caregivers compare skilled nursing facilities more easily. The Five-Star Quality
Rating System gives each skilled nursing operation 2 rating ranging between ene and five stars in various categories {five stars being the best). The Conpany has always strived

for patient-centered care and quality outcomes as precursors to outstanding financial performance.

The tables below sumnarize NHCs overall performance in these Five-Star ratings versus the skilled nursing industry as of March 31, 2024;

_ WHC Ratings Industry Ratings
Total namber of skilled nutsing facilities, end of period 65
Number of 4 and 5-star rated skilled nursing facilities 40
Percentage of 4 and 5-star rated skilled nursing facilities 2% 36%
Average rating for all skilled numing facilities, end of period 36 29

,

Development and Growth

We are undertaking to expand our senior care operations while protecting cur existing operations and markets. The following table lists our recent developrent activities,

Type of
Operation Description Size Location Placed in Service
“Hospice - T New Agency 1 agency Cedar Bluff, VA March 2023
Skilled Nursing Acquisition 66 beds Nashville, TN May 2023
_ Homecare © T New Agency 1agency Tallahassee, FL ) May 2623
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 135 units Vero Beach, FL Tuly 2023
‘Assisted Living Facility " New Operations 95 units Metritt Island, FL Tuly 2023
Assisted Living Facilily New Operations 100 units Stuart, FL July 2023
Hospiee - New Apency | agency Mortistown, TN April 2024
Accrued Risk Reserves

Our accmied professional liability and workers’ conpensation reserves totaled $108,237,000 at March 31, 2024 and are a primary arca of management focus. We have sef
aside restricted cash and cash equivalents and warketablke securities to fund our estinuted professional liability and workers” conpensation liabilities.

As to oxposure for professional liability claims, we have developed performance cettification criferia to measure and bring focus to the patient cure Issues most likely to
produce professional Liability expesure, ncluding in-house acguired pressure ulcers, significant weight loss and nunbers of falls, These prograns for certification, which we
regularly modify and inprove, have produced measurable improvements in reducing these incidents. Our experience is that achieving goals in these patient care areas mproves
both patient and enployee satisfaction.

Govemnnent Reinbursement Programs
Medicare - Skilled Nursing Facilities

Tn July 2023, CMS released its final rule cutlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rates and policy changes for skilled nursing facilities, which began on Ootober I,
2023. The fiscal year 2024 rule equates to a net increase of 4.0%, or approximately $14 billion, in Medicare Part A paynents to SNFs in fiscal year 2024 conpared to 2023 levels, The
rule includes a 3.0% market basket rate increase, a 3.6% market basket forecast ermor adjustiment, less a 0.2% productivity adfustment, as well as a negative 2.3%, or approxinately
789 million, decrease in 2024 SNF Payment Prospective Systems rates as a result of the second phase of the Patient Driven Payment Model parity adjustent recalibration.

In March 2024, CMS released its proposed rule outlining fiscal year 2025 Medicare payment rates and policy changes for skilled nursing facilities, which will begin on
October 1, 2024, The fiscal year 2025 proposal cquates to a net 4.1% increase in Medicare Part A payments to SNEs in fiscal year 2025 compared to 2024 fovels, The ruls includes a
wmarket basket increase of 2.8%, an increase of 1.7% to the market basket forccast error adjustment, and a negative 0.4% productivity adjustment. These fignres do not incorporate
the SNF Value Based Purchasing (" VBP") reduction for certain SNFs subject to the net reduction in payments under the SNF VBP; thosc adjustments are estimated to total $196.5
million in fiscal year 2025.

For the first three months of 2024, our average Medicarc per diem rate for skilled nursing facilities increased 4.7% as compared to the sarmo period in 2023,
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Medicaid — Skilled Nursing Facilities

Effective July 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of Tennessee implemented specific individual nursing facility increases. We estimate the resulting increase in
revenue for the 2024 fiscal year wilt be approximately $15,000,000 annvally, or $3,750,000 per quarter.

Effective October 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of South Carclina implemented specific individual nursing Facility increases, We estimate the resulting
increase in revenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be approximtely $9,000,000 annually, or $2,250,600 per quarter.

Effective July 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of Missouri inplemented specific individual nursing factlity increases. We estinate the resulting increase in
revenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be approxinately $5,000,000 annually, or $1,250,000 per quarter.

We have alsc teceived from many of the states in which we operate a supplemental Medicaid payment to help mitigate the inflationary labor and medical supplies costs
resulting fromthe pandemic, We have recorded $3,462,000 and $4,883,000 in net patient revenues for these supplenental Medicaid payments for the three months ended March 31,
2024 and 2023, respeetively.

For the first three months of 2024, our average Medicaid per diem increased 12.0% compared to the same peried in 2023,

State Medicaid plans subject to budget constraints are of particular concem to us. Changes in federal funding coupled with state budget problems and Medicaid
expansion under the Affordable Care Act have produced an uncertain environment. Some states will ot keep pace with post-acute healtheare inflation. States are currently under
pressure to pursue other alternatives to skilled nursing care such as community and homc—based servicos. Medicaid programs are funded jointly by the federal govemmnent and
the states and are administered by states under approved plans. Most state Medicaid payments are made under prospective payment system or under programs which negotiate
payment levels with individual providers. Some states use, or have applied to use, waivers granted by CMS to jirplement expansion, impose different cligibility or cnroliment
restrictions, or otherwise implement programms that vary from federal standards.

Medicare —~ Homecare Programs

In November 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicars payment rates. CMS projects payments to home health agencies in fiscal year 2024 will
increase in aggregate by 0.8%, or $140 million. The increase is the result of a 3.3% market basket update, reduced by a 0.3% productivity adjustment. The increase is offset by a
behaviotal adjstment that will cut payments by a net 2.6%. The behavioral adjustment was designed to achisve budget-neutral implenentation of the PDPM. Finally, CMS also
adjusted the fixed-dollar loss ratio for outlier payments, which will increase payments by 0.4%.

Medicare — Hospice

In July 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rates, (M8 issued a rate increase of 3,1%, or $780 million, effective October 1, 2023
This increase is the result of a 3.3% narket basket increase reduced by a 0.2% productivity adjustment, The FY2024 hespice payment update also includes an update to the
statutory aggregate cap ampunt, which linits the overall payments per patient that are made annually, The cap amount for FY2024 is $33494,

In March 2024, CMS released its propesed rule outlining fiscal year 2025 Medicare payment rates. CMS issued a rate mcrease of 2.6%, or $703 million, effective Octaber 1,
2004, This increase is the result ofa 3.0% market basket increase 1educed by a 04% productivity adjustment. The FY2025 hospice payment update also includes an update to the
statutory aggregate cap amount, which lingts the overall payments per patient that are nade annually, The proposed cap amount for FY2025 is $34,365,
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Segment Reporting

The Company has two reportable operating segments; (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living
facilities, and behavioral health hospitals; and (2) homecare and hospice services. These repariable operating segments are consistent with infornation used by the Company’s
Chief Bxgoutive Officer, as chief operating decision maker ("CODM™, to assess perfornence and allocate resources, The Company also reporis an “all other” category that
includes revenues from rental income, nanagement and accounting services fees, nsurance services, and costs of the corporate office,

The Conpany’s CODM evaluates performance and allocates capitel resources to eack segiment based on an operating model that is designed to mprove the quality of
patient care and profitability of the Conpany while enhancing long-termsharcholder value. The CODM does not review assets by segment in his resource allocation and therefore,
assets by segment are not disclosed below.

The following table sets forth the Company’s unaudited interim condensed conselidated statements of operations by business segment (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total
Revenues:
Net patient revenues b 252254 § 33,569 - 3 285,823
Other revenues 15 - 11,338 11,353
Net operating revenues 252,265 33,569 11,338 297,176
Costs and expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits 150,850 21,009 11,239 183,138
QOther eperating 68,683 5972 2,774 77,429
Rent 8,112 566 L,670 10,348
Depreciation and amortization 9,630 187 769 10,586
Tnterest 46 - - 46
Total costs and expenses 237,361 21,734 16,452 281,547
Tncome/{loss) from operations 14,508 5,835 3,114 15,629
Noteopeating iscome ¢ - - 5,685 5,685
Unrealized gains on marketable equity secuities - - 14,399 14,359
Incomne before incone taxes 3 14908 § 35835 14910 § 35713
Three Months Ended March 31, 2023
Tnpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total
Revenues:
Net patient revenues $ 226,169 % 31,838 - 5 258,007
Other revenues 271 - 11,285 11,556
Net operating revenues 226,40 31,838 11,285 268,563
Costs and expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits 138,939 20,244 8,641 167,824
Other operating 62,204 5,499 3,726 71,489
Rent 2,168 558 1,366 10,092
Depreciation and amorfization 9,117 185 46 10,048
Interest S 98 - - 58
Total costs and c@enses 218,586 26486 14,479 259,551
Tncome/(loss) fiemoperations 7854 5352 (3,184) 10,012
Non-operating income - - 4323 4323
Unrealized gains on matketable equity securities - - 1,386 1,386
Incomne before ingome taxes 3 7,854 % 5352 2515 § 15,721

29




Table of Contents

Non-GAAT Financial Presentation

The Company is providing certain non-GAAP financial measuies as the Company believes that these figures are helpful in allowing investers to more accurately assess
the angoing nature of the Company’s operations and measure the Company’s performance more congistently across periods, Therefore, the Conpany believes this information is
meaningfil in addition to the information contained in the GAAP presentation of financial infonmation. The presentation of this additional non-GAAP financial information is not
intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP,

Specifically, the Company believes the presentation of non-GAAP financial information that ¢xcludes the unrealized gains or lesses on our marketable equity securities,
operating results for start-up healthcare operations not at full capacity, gains on sale of unconsolidated conpanies, and share-based compensation expense is hetpful in allowing
investors to assess the Company's operations more accurately.

The operating results for the newly constructed healthcare facilities not at full capacity for the three months ended March 31, 2024 include facilities that began operations
from 2022 to 2024, which is two bebavioral health hospitals, two homecare agencies, and two hospice agencies, For the three nonths ended March 31, 2023, included are facilities
that began operations from 2021 to 2023, which is two bekavioral health hospitals, one homecare agency, and two hospice agencics.

The tables below provide reconciliations of GAAD to non-GAAP items {dollars in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended

March 31
2024 2023
Net income attributable to Nationai Healthcare Comporation b R $ 26,213 % 11,723
Non-GAAP adjustments ) )

Untealized gains on marketable equity securities L s e - C o (14.399) {1,386)
Operating results for newly opened facilities or agencies not at full capacity ) (457) 1,217
Galn on sale ofunconsolidated company o o (1,025) -
Share-based compensation expense 793 639
Income tax provision/(bencfit) on non-GAAP adjustments 3923 (122}

Non-GA AP Net income § 15048 8 12,071
GAAP diluted earnings per share 3 169 8 0.76
Non-GAAP adjustments
Unrealized gains on niatketable equity securities 0.69) (3.06)
Operating results for newly opened facilities or agencies not at full capacity 0.02) 0.06
Gain on sake of unconsclidated company (0.05) -
Share-based compensation expense 0.04 063
Non-GAAP diluted earnings per share $ 097 3 0.7
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Results of Operations

The following table and discussion set forth iterms from the interim condensed consolidated statements of operations as a petcentage of net operating revenues for the
three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

Percentage of Net Operating Revenues

Three Months Ended

March 31
_ A 2023
Net operating revenues ; : ©100,0% 100.0%
Costs and expenses;
“Salaries, wages, and benefits o ; 616 623
“Other operating 26.0 265
Facility tent 35 37
Depreciation and amortization 35 37
Interest 0.1 0.1
Total costs and expenses 94.7 96.3
Income fromoperations 53 37
Non—operating income 19 1.6
Unrealized gains on nutketable cquity securities 48 0.5
Incotre before income taxes 120 58
Income taxprovision (3.2} {1.6)
Net incone 88 4.2
Net (income)loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 0.9 0.1
Net income attributable to stockholders of NHC B.8% 4.3%

Threg Months Ended Marcl 31, 2024 Compared to Three Months Ended AMarch 31, 2023

Results for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 conypared to the first quarter of 2023 include a 10.2% increase in et operating revenues. For tho quarter ended Mareh 31,
2024, GAAP et income attributable to NHC was $26,213,000 conpared to $11,723,000 for the sane period in 2023. Excluding the unrealized gains in our marketable equity secaritics
pertfolio and other non-GAAP adjustirents, adjusted net inconx for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 was $15,048,000 compared to $12,071,00G for the same period in 2023, The
increasc in adjusted net income for the first quarter of 2024 compared to the first quarter of 2023 was primarily due the continued occupancy increase in our skilled nursing and
assisted living facilitics, skilled nursing per diem increascs from sote of our govemmental payors, and the continued reduction of nurse agency staffing expense within our
operations.

Net operating revenues
Net patient revenues increased $27,816,000, or 10.8%, compared to the same period last yoar,

The total census at owned and leased skilled nursing facilities for the quarter averaged 88.5%, compared te an average of 87.4% for the same quarter a year ago. Overall,
the composite skilled nursing facifity per diem increased 8.8% compared to the same quarter a year ago. Our Medicare per dlem rates inereased 4.7% and managed care per diem
rates increased 5.8% compared to the sane quarter a year age, Medicaid and private pay per diemates increased 12.0% and 10.5%, respectively, compared to the same quarter a
year ago. For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, 33,462,000 and $4,883,000 have been included in our net patient revenues for supplemental Medicaid
payments that ate in addition to our Medicaid skilled nursing per diems.

New operations, which include one skilled nursing facility acquired May 1, 2023, three assisted living facilities that we began operating on July 1, 2023, two behavioral
health hospitals, two hospice agencies and two homecare agencies, have aitributed to an ncrease of $7,727,000 in net patient revenues for the quarter ended March 31, 2024
compared to the same quarter in the prior year.

On March 1, 2024, the Company cxited a lease and transferred the operations of two skilled nursing facilities (included assisted living units) and one memory care
facility located in Missowrd. The exiting of these operations resulted in net patient revenues decreasing $1,972,000 for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 cempared to the same

quarter in the prior year.

Other revenues decreased $203,000, or 1.8%, cormpared to the same quarter last year, as further detailed in Note 4 to our inferim condensed consolidated financial
statements.
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Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to the same peried of 2023 mcreased $21,996,000, or 8.5% to $281,547,000 from
$259,551,000.

Salaries, wages, and benefits as a percentage of net operating revenues was 61.6% conpared to 62.3% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
We continue to face workforce and labor shortages within all of cur operations, which increases wage pressure in regards to retaining and attracting qualified healtheare pariners
{employees), We centinue to work diligently ta find solutions to reduce and eliminate the agency nurse staffing within our healthcare operations, Our agency staffing expense
decreased approximately 51% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to the same period of 20623,

New aperations, which inclide one skilled nursing facility acquired May 1, 2023, three assisted living facilities that we began operating on July 1, 2023, two behavioral
health hospitals, two hospice agencies and twa homecare agencics, have attributed to an increase of $3,591,000 in salares, wages, and benefits for the guarter ended March 31,
2024 compared to the same quarter in the prior year.

On March 1, 2024, the Conpany exited the lease and transferred the operations of two skilied nursing feilities {included assisied living units) and one memory care
ficlity located in Missouri. The exiting of these operations resulted in salaries, wages, and benefits decreasing $1,799,000 for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 compared to the
same quarter in the prior year.

Other operating expenses as a percentage of net operating revenues was 26.1% and 26.5% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. New
operations, which include one skilled nursing facility acquited May 1, 2023, thrce assisted living facilities that we began operating on July 1, 2023, two behavioral health hospitals,
two hospice agencies and two homeeare agencics, have attributed to an increase of $2,176,000 in other operating expenscs for the quarler ended March 31, 2024 gompared to the
same quarter in the prior year We continue to face inflationary pressures in ocrtain categorics within ofher operating cxpenses as well, such as food/dietary supplies and
drugs/pharmaceutical supplies.

Other income

Non—operating income increased by $1,362,000 compared to the same period last year, as frther detailed in Note 3 to our interim condensed consolidated financial
statemrents. In January 2024, the Corpany sold its 0% joint venture ownership interest in a homecare agency located in Nashville, Tennessce, The total consideration paid to the
company was $2,100,000, which resulted in a gain of $1,025,000.

Income taxes
The income tax provision for the three months ended March 31, 2024 s $9,462,000 {an effective income taxrate of 26,5%).
Noncontrolling interest

The noncontrelling interest n subsidiaries is presented within total equity of the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, The Company presents the noncontrolling
interest and the amount of consolidated net income attributable to NHC i its consolidated statements of operations. The Conpany’s eemings per share is caleulated based on net
income attributable to NHC’s stackholders. The carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted based on an allocation of subsidiary eamings based on ownership
interest.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023 Compared to Three Months finded March 31, 2022

Results for the quarter ended March 31, 2023 conpared to the first quarter of 2022 include a 14% decrease in net operating revenues and grant incone. The net operating
revenues and grant income decrease was primarily driven by the reduction in government stimuilus income of $10,620,000 during the first quarter of 2023 compared to the same
period a year ago, as well as us exiting seven skilled nursing facilities in Massachusetts and New Hanpshire during the third quarter of 2022. Bechiding the govemment stimulus
income and the seven skilled nursing facilities in Massachusetts and New Hampshire, samo-facility net operating revenues increased 7.1% during the first quarter of 2023 compared
to the same petiod a yearago.

For the quarter ended March 31, 2023, GAAP net income attributable to NFC was $11,723,000 compared to nef income of $15,318,000 for the same period in 2022, Exctuding
the unrealized gains in our marketable cquity securities porifolio and other non-GAAP adjustrments, adjusted net income for the quarter ended March 31, 2023 was $12,071,600
compared to $14,081,000 for the same perod in 2022, The decrease in adjusted net income for the first quarter 0f 2023 conpared to the first quarter of 2022 was primarily due to the
$10,620,000 less in govemment stimulus income recorded during the current quarter.
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Net operating revenues and grant income

Net patient revenues increased $1,670,000, or 0.7%, compared to the sane period last year.

‘The total census 2t owned and leased skilled nursing facilities for the quarter averaged 87.4%, conpared to an average of 82.7% for the saine quarter a year ago. Overall,
the corposite skilled nursing facility per diem increased 3.3% compared to the same quarter a year ago. Our Medicare per diem rates increased 2.1% and managed care per diem
rates increased 2.7% compared to the same quarter 2 year ago. Medicaid and private pay per diemmtes increased 3.6% and 3.1%, respectively, compared to the same quarler a year
ago, For the threc months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, $4,883,000 and $5,538,000 have been included in our net patient revenues for supplemental COVID-19
Medicaid payments.

In September 2022, the Company trans ferred the operations of seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusctts and New Hampshire resulting in net patient
revenues decreasing $16,603,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared fo the same quarter last year,

Other revenues decreased $470,000, or 3.9%, compared to the same quarter last yoar, as further detailed in Note 4 to our Interim condensed consolidated financial
statements,

During the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, we recorded $0 and $10,620,000 in govemment stinulus incone related to fands received from the
CARES Act Provider Relief Fund.
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Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2023 conpared to the same period of 2022 decreased $5,215,000, or 2.0% te $259,551,000 from $264,766,000,

Salaries, wages, and benefits as a percentage of net operating revenues and grant incone was 62.3% conpared to 61.2% for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively. We continue to face workforce and labor shortages within ail of our operations, which inereases wage pressure in regards to retaining and attracting gualified
healtheare partners {enployees). The labor and worldorce shortages have resulted in us contracting with agency nurse staffing companies, The agency nurse staffing conmpanics
charge nflated houtly rates; therefore, we are working diligently to find solutions to teduce and climinate the ageney nurse staffing within our healtheare operations, For the
quarter ended March 31, 2023, our egency nurse slaffing expense decreased 34,941,000, or approximately 34%, conwpared to the same period a year ago.

In September 2022, the Company transferred the operations of seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New Hampshire resulting in salaries, wages,
and benefits decreasing $11,884,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023 conpared to the same quarter last year.

Other operating expenses as a percentage of net operating revenues and grant income was 26.5% and 26.6% for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The transfer of the operations of the seven skilled nursing facilities located i Massachusetts and New Hanpshire, as noted above, resulted in other operating
expenses decreasing $5,206,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to the same quarter last year, We continue te face inflationary pressures in corlain categories
within other operating expenses as well, such as food/dietary supplies and drugs/pharmaceutical supplies.

Chther income

Non—operating incorre increased by $1,124,000 compared to the same period last year, a3 further detailed in Note 5 to our interim condensed consolidated financial
statemcnts,

Ihoome faxes

The income tax provision for the three nonths ended March 31, 2023 s $4,436,000 (an effective income taxrate of 28.2%).
Noncontrolling interest

The nencontrolling interest i subsidiaties is presented within total equity of the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, The Company prescnts the noncentrolling
interest and the amount of consolidated net income attributable to NEHC in its consclidated statements of operations, The Company’s earnings per share is caleulated bas ed on net
income atiributable to NHCs stockholders. The camrying amount of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted based on an allocation of subsidiary camings based on ownership
interest,
Liquidity, Capital Resources. and Financial Candition

Our primaty sources of cash include revenues fromthe operations of our healthcare and senior living facilities, nemagement and aceounting services, rental incone, and
investment income, Our primary uses of cash mclade salaties, wages and other operating costs of our healthcare and senior living facilities, the cost of additions to and
acquisitions of rea property, facility rent expenses, and dividend distributions. These sources and uses of cash are reflected in our interim condensed consolidated statements of

cash flows and are discussed in further detail below.

The following is a sunmmary of our sources and uses of cash flows (dollars in thowusands):

Three Months Fnded
March 31 Three Month Change
2024 2023 3 %

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents, at beginning of

period $ 125968 74865 8 51,103 68.3%
Cash provided by operating activities k ' 9,646 13,857 {4,211) (304)
Cash used in investing activities o (2415 {1427 (988) {69.2)
Cash used in financing activities e (12,067 (12,619) 532 4.4
Cagh, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents, at end of petiod $ 121132 § 74676 3 46435 62.2%
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Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2024 was $9,646,000 as conpared to 13,857,000 in the same period last year. Cash provided
by opergting activities consisted ofnet income of $26,251,000 and decreases to operating cash flows related to adjustients for non—cash iters of $1,627,000. There was cash used
for working capital needs in the amount of $14,634,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to $6,017,000 for the same peried a yearago,

On February 21, 2024, Change Healthcure was the target of a ransomware attack. The Conpany uses Change Healthcare as an intermediary to process and pay our
govermnmental and insurance company healthcare clains, With Change Healthcare’s systems being down during the first quarter of 2024, we had to manually bill the majority of
our skilled nursing claims for the months of February and March 2024. Although we nanually billed our skilled nursing healthcare ¢lains in February and March 2024, we
were not paid as we typically would in the ordinary course of business. At March 31, 2024, our patient accounts recetvable balances ncreased approximately $15 million fromour
Deceniber 31, 2023 accounts receivable balances, We believe this increase in accounts receivable is temporary and over the next several nonths we expect our accounts
receivable balances and operating cash flow to be back to normal levels.

Inchuded n the adjustments for non-cash items are depreciation expense, equify in camings of unconsolidated investments, unrealized gains on our marketable equity
securities, gain on sak of an unconsolidated company, deferred taxes, and stock compensation.

Investing Activities

Net cash usced in investing activities totaled $2,415,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024, compared to $1,427,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023,
Cash used for property and cquipment additions was $5,955,000 and $6,640,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively. Procecds from the sale of
matketable secutities, net of purchases, resulted in cash provided by investing activity of $2,912,000 and 5,211,000 for the three nonths ended March 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively, In January 2024, the Company seld its 50% joint venture ownership interest in & homecare agency resulting in proceeds from the sale of $2,100,000.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities totaied $12,067,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to $12,619,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023,
‘We made principal payments under cur finance Jeasc obligations in the amount of $860,000 and $1,218,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Cash
used for dividend payments to common stockhokless totaled $9,051,000 in the current year period corpared to $8,748,000 for the same period a yoar ago. Cash provided by the
issuance of comrmon stock totaled $8,412,000 for the quarter ended March 31, 2024, We repurchased commen shates outstanding i the amount o $5,900,000 and $2,482,000 for the
three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Short—term Hquidity

We expect to meet our short-term liquidity requirements primarily fromour cash flows from operating activitiss. In addition to cash flows from operatians, our cument cash
on hand of $93,982,00C and our marketable equity and debt securities of $123,524,000 ure expected to be adequate to meet our contractual obligations, operating liquidity, and cur
growth and developrent plans in the next tweive months, We also have substantial value i our unencunbered real estate assets, which could potentially be used as collateral in
future bormowing opportunities.

Long—term Hguidity

We expect to meet our long-term: liquidity requirements primarily from our cash flows fom operating activities, our current cash on hand of $93,982,000 and our marketzble
equity and debt securities of $123,524,000. We also have substantial value in our unancumbered real estate assets, which could potentially be used as collateral in fature borrowing
opportunities.

Our ability to meet our long—term contractual obligations, and to finance our operating requirenents and growth plans will depend upon our fiture performance. Our
future performance will be affected by business, econonie, financial and other factors, including potential changes in state and federal govemment payment rates for healthcare,

customer denand, success of our matketing efforts, pressures from conpetitors, and the state of the economy, including the state of financial and credit markets, as well as many
unforeseen factors,

Commitment and Contingencies
Governmental Regulations

Laws and regulations goveming the Medicare, Medicaid and other faderal healthcare programs are complex and subject to mterpretation. Management believes that it is
following all applicable laws and regulations in all material respects. However, compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future government review and
interpretation as well as significant regulatory action including fines, penalties, and exclusions from the Medicare, Modicaid, and other federal healthcare prograins.
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Hem 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Market risk represents the potential econemic loss arising from adverse changes in the fair value of financial instruments, Cuently, our exposure to market risk relates
primarily to our fixed—income and equity portfolios, These investment portfolios are exposed primarily to, but not linted o, inferest rate risk, credit risk, equity price risk, and
concentration Tisk. We also have exposure to narket risk that includes our cash and cash cquivalents. The Company's senior ranagenent has established conprehensive risk
management policies and procedures to manage these market risks.

Interest Rate Risk

The Esir values of our fixed—income investmenis fluctuate in response to chunges i market interest rates. Increases and decreases in prevailing interest rates generaily
translate into decreases and increases, respectively, in the fair values of those instruments. Additionally, the fair values of interest mie sensitive struments may be affected by
the creditworthiness of the issuet, prepayment options, the lquidity of the instrument and other general narket canditions. At March 31, 2024, we have available for sale
marketable debt securities in the amount of $124,316,000. The fixed maturity portfolio is comprised of investments with primarily short—term and intermediate—term maturities. The
fixed meturity portfolio allows our nsurance conpany subsidiaries to achicve an adequate risk-adjusted return while naintaining sufficient liquidity to meet obligations,

Our cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid ivestments with 2 maturity of less than three months when purchased. As a result of the short—termnature of our
cash instraments, a hypothetical 1% change in inferest mtes would have mininal itpact on our future eamings and cash flows related to these instraments,

We do not cusrently usc any detivative instruments to hedge our intercst rate exposure. We have not used derivative struments for trading purposes and the use of
such instruments in the future would be subject to approvals by the Investment Comrittee of the Board of Dircetors.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is managed by diversifying the fied rmaturity portfolio to aveid concentrations in any single industry group or issuer and by limiting investments in securities
with lower credit ratings.

Equity Price and Concentration Risk

Our marketable equity securitios are recorded at their fair market value bas cd on quoted market prices, Thus, there is exposurc to equity price risk, which Is the potential
change in fair value due to a change in quoted market prices. At March 31, 2024, the fair value of our marketable equity securities is approximately $152,656,000. Of the §152.7
million equity securities portfoiio, our investment in NHI comprises approximately $102,5 million, or 67.1%, of the total fair value, We manage our exposure 1o NHI by closely
monitoring the financial condition, performence, and outlook of the company. Hypothetically, a 10% change in quoted market prices would result in a related increase or decrease
in the fair valie of our equity investments of approximately $15.3 milion. At March 31, 2024, our equity securities had net unrealized gains of $98.0 million, Of the $98.0 million of
unrealized gains, $77.7 million is related to our investment in NHI.

Ttem4.  Controls and Procedures.

As of March 31, 2024, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of the Conpany's managenent, including the Chief Exceutive Officer
("CEQ™ and Chief Financial Officer (" CFO"), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure contrels and procedures, Based on that evaluation, the
Conpany’s management, including the CED and CFO, concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2024.

During the period covered by this repert, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected or are reasonably likely
to materfally affect our intemnal control over financial repornting.
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PART TI. OTHER INFORMATION

ftem 1, Legal Proceedings.
For a discussion of prior, current, and pending litigation of material significance to NHC, please see Note 16 af this Form 10-Q.
Item 1A,  Risk Factors.

During the three nonths ended March 31, 2024, there were no material changes to the risk factors that were disclosed in Item LA of National HealthCare Corporation’s
Annual Repart on Form 16-K for the year ended December 31,2023,

Ttem 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securifies and Use of Proceeds,
Not applicable

Ttem 3. Defaults Upon Senior Scenrities,
None

Ttem4, Mine Safety Disclosures,

Not appiicable

Ttem 3. Other Information.
None
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Ttem 6. Exhibits,

(a)  List of exthibits

FXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
No, Description
3l
32
on Form 10-Q filed on August 3, 2017.)
33 Certificate of Designation Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock {Incomgrated by reference tg Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s registration statement on Fonn
8-A, dated August 3, 2007.)
34 Restated Bylaws as amended February 14, 2013 (Incorporated by reference to Fshibit 3.5 to the quarterfy report on Form 10-C filed on May 8 2013
4.1 Fortn of Comnon Stock (fncorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed on August 3, 2017.)
10.1 Asendrrent No. 9 to Master Agreerment to Lease between National Health [nvestors, Inc. and National HealthCare Corporation {Incorporated by reterence to
Bxhibyit 10.1 to the quaderly report on Fonm 10-Q filed on Novewber 3, 2072.)
10.2 Amendment No. 10 to Masler Agreement to Lease between National Health Investors. Ing. and National HealthCare Corporation (Incorporated by reference o
it 10.2 to the quarterdy report on Form 10-0 fled on Noverber 3, 2022,
311
1.2 Rule 13a-14{)/15d-14{a} Cettification of Chief Financial Office
32
10LINS Inline XBRL Instance Docunent (the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRLtags are embedded within the Inline
XBRL docunent)
101.8CH Tnline XBRL Taxonamy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL Inline XBRI, Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB Infine XBRL Taxonomy Fxtension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxononty Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page nteractive Fils (ewbedded within the Infine XBRI. document and include m Bxhibit 101}
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this repoit to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto
duly autherized.

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
(Registrant)

Date: May 9, 2024 /s/ Stephen F. Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Bxeeutive Officer

Date: May 9, 2024 /s/ Brian F, Kidd
Brian F. Kidd
Sendor Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

1, Stephen F. Flatt, certify that;

1,

2

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of National HealthCare Corporation;

Rased on my knowledge, this quarterly report daes not confain any untme statement of a naterial fact or omit to state a material fact necessary fo muke the statements
made, in light of the circunstances under which such statenents were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

Resed on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the regisiant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying cfficer and I are responsible for establishing and raintaining disclosure controls and procedures {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(cy and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(£)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure contrels and procedurcs to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
1material information relating to the registrant, including its consclidated subsidiaries, s made known to us by cthers within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this repost is being prepared; :

Designed such internal control over financial reperting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to bo designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assumnce regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extomal purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

Bvaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report out conclusions about the sffoctiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as ofthe end of the period covered by this repert based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this repott any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occuired during the reglstrant’s most recent fiscal guarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an armual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control aver financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officet and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evalyation of internal control ever financial repotting, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant's bourd of directors (crpersons performing the equivalent function);

a.

Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation ofintemal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to recard, process, sunmariz and report financial informution; and

Any fraud, whether or not nuterial, that involves nenagement or other employees whe have a significant role in the registrant's internal contrel over financial
reporting.

Date: May 9, 2024

/s/ Stephen . Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Brecutive Otlicer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION
1, Brian F, Kidd, certify that:
1. [ have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of National HealthCare Corporation;
2, Baged on ny knowledge, this gnarterly report does not confain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to stale 2 materiz] fact necessary to make the statements

nade, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were nde, not misleading with respect to the peried covered by this quarterly report;

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this repert;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and naintaining disclosure controls and procedures {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(c}) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Bxchange Act Rules 3a-15{0) and 15d-15(B) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or cansed such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensurc that
rmaterial information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made nown to us by others within those entities, particulatly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such ntemal contrel over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to previde
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statoments for cxemal purpesoes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedutes, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such svaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's mos| recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial teporting; and

5 The registrant's ather certifying officer and T have disclesed, based on our most recent avaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 1o the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

4.

Date; May 9, 2024

Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of infernal control over finarcial reporting which are reascnably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial infonmation; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that invoives nunageient or other employces who have a significant role in the registzant's internal control over financial
Teporting.

{5/ Brian F. Kidd
Brian F. Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit32
Certification of Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

of National HealthCare Corporation
For the Quarter Faded March 31, 2024

The undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.8.C. Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the undersigned's best knowledge and belief, the Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for National HealthCare Corporation ("lssuer") for the period ending March 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimission on the date hereof
(the "Report"):

(a) fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) ofthe Securities Fxchanige Act of 1934; and
&) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all materal respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Issuer.

This Certification accompanies the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Issuer for the quarterly period ended March 21, 2024,

This Certification is executed as of May 9, 2024,

/s/Stephen F. Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Exgcutive Officer

/s/ Brian F, Kidd
Brian F, Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Seetion 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Cormpany and fumished to the Securities
and Bxchange Commission or its staffupon request.



ATTACHMENT I

Five Year Projection Statement




The financial forecast consists of prospective financial statements that present, to the best of the applicant’'s
knowledge and belief, an entity's expected financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
All documents are prepared in accordance with generally acceptec accounting principles by a Certified

Pubiic Accountant that has compiled, examined, or applied agreed-upon procedures to prespective financial
statemenis,

Company Name Telephone Number:

National HealthCare Corporation £15-890-2020

Street Address: Fax Number:

100 E. Vine Street 615-B90-0123

City: County: State: Zip:
Murfreesboro Rutherford TN 37130
E-mail Address:

[ No Emal bkidd@nhccare.com
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Signature of Certified Public Accountant and License # Date




REVENUES
Net Patient Service Revenue
Apartment Rents
Other Revenue
Total Revenues

EXPENSES

Nursing Setvices
Ancilliaries

Dietary Expenses

Social Services

Activities

Medical Records

Laundry and Linen
Housekeeping

Facility Operations and Maintenance
Depreciation

Taxes and Insurance
Employee Benefits
General and Administrative

Total Expenses

Net Income

*8/01/24 - 12/31/24

NHC Healthcare/Tryon, LLC

Projected Statement of Operations
For the Years Ending December 31, 2024 through 2029

Year Ended December 31,

2024* 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
$ 3,464,963 $ 8,565,389 $ 8,822,351 $ 9,087,022 $ 9,359,632 $ 9,640,421
846,386 2,092,266 2,155,034 2,219,685 2,286,276 2,354,864
2,844 7,031 7,242 7,459 7,683 7,914
4,314,194 10,664,687 10,984,627 11,314,166 11,653,591 12,003,199
1,562,551 3,862,625 3,078,504 4,097,859 4,220,795 4,347,419
315,933 780,086 804,416 828,548 853,405 879,007
492,723 1,218,011 1,254,551 1,292,187 1,330,953 1,370,882
47,143 116,538 120,034 123,635 127,345 131,165
44,464 109,914 113,211 116,608 120,106 123,709
13,059 32,281 33,250 34,247 35,275 36,333
58,638 147,424 151,847 156,402 161,094 165,027
141,355 349,429 359,912 370,709 381,830 393,285
318,175 786,528 810,124 834,427 859,460 885,244
25,000 95,000 105,000 115,000 120,000 125,000
118,125 292,005 300,765 309,788 319,082 328,654
252,106 623,206 641,902 661,159 580,994 701,424
812,698 1,514,580 1,560,028 1,606,828 1,655,033 1,704,684
4,002,968 9,928,537 10,233,543 10,547,399 10,865,371 11,192,732
$ 311,226 $ 736,150 $ 751,084 $ 766,767 $ 788,220 § 810,467




Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Patient accounts receivable, nat
Other current assets
Total current assets

Assets Limited As To Use - Operating Raserve

Maveable Equipment
Moveabie equipment, at cost
Accumulated depreciation
Moveahle equipment, net

Total assets

Liabilities and Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued wages and ofher liabilities
Total current liabilities

Deferred Credits

Deposits and unearnad deposit revenue -
nonrefundable
Total deferred credits

Total liabilities
Equity
Retained Eatnings

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

NHC Healthcare/Tryon, LLC

Projected Balance Sheets
December 31, 2024 through 2029

December 31,

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
$ 184,169 $ 782,755 $ 1,468,080 $ 2,179,632 $ 2,918323 $ 3,685,034
303,264 312,362 321,733 331,385 341,326 351,566
25,000 25,500 26,010 26,530 27,061 27,602
512,433 1,120,617 1,815,823 2,537,647 3,286,711 4,064,202
490,368 501,493 513,355 525,573 538,052 550,757
500,000 750,000 950,000 1,150,000 1,350,000 1,550,000
(25,000) (115,000) (220,000} (335,000) {458,000} (580,000}
475,000 635,000 730,000 815,000 895,000 970,000
$ 1,477,801 $ 2,257,110 $ 3,089,176 $ 3,878,120 $ 4,719,762 § 5,584,959
$ 174164 $ 179,389 $ 184,771 § 190,314 $ 195,023 § 201,904
392,411 412,032 432,633 454,265 476,978 500,827
566,575 591,420 617,404 644,578 673,001 702,731
150,000 175,000 200,000 225,000 250,000 275,000
150,000 175,000 200,000 225,000 250,000 275,000
716,575 766,420 817,404 862,578 923,001 977,731
761,226 1,480,650 2,241,774 3,008,541 3,796,761 4,607,228
761,226 1,490,690 2,241,774 3,008,541 3,796,761 4,607,228
$ 1,477,801 $ 2,257,110 $ 3,059,178 §$ 3,878,120 § 4,719,782 $ 5,584,959




NHC Healthcare/Tryon, LLC

Projected Statement of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2024 through 2029

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

Gash Flows From Operating Activities

Net Income $ 311,226 $ 736,150 § 751,084 § 766,767 & 788,220 $  &10,467
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation 25,000 95,000 105,000 115,000 120,000 125,000
Deposit amortization (55,000) (154,233} {161,945) {170,042) (178,544} (187,471}
Deposit receipts 205,000 172,547 186,845 195,042 203,544 212,471
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts recelvable {303,264) (9,008) (9,371} {5,652} {9,942} {10,240)
Cther current assets {25,000) (500} (510} {520} (531) (541)
Accounts payable 174,164 5,225 5,382 5,543 5,709 5,881
Accrued wages and other liabilities 392,411 19,621 20,602 21,632 22,713 23,849
Net cash provided by operating activities 724,637 864,712 897,187 923,770 951,171 979,415
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchase of property and equipment {500,000)  (255,000) {260,000) (200,000) {200,000) {200,000}
Net change in assets Umited to use - operating reserve {490,368) {11,125) {11,862) (12,218) {12,479) {12,705)
Net cash used in investing activities {990,368) (266,125) (211,862) (212,218) (212,479) {212,708)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Capital contributions ' - - - - - -
Net cash provided by financing activities - - - - - -
Net Increase In Cash and Cash Egquivalents (265,831) 558,587 685,325 711,551 738,692 766,710
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 450,000 184,169 782,755 1,468,080 2,179,632 2,918,323

$ 184,169 $ 782,755 § 1,468,080 $ 2,179,632 $ 2,918323 § 3,885,034

Cash and Cash Equivalents - end of year



NHC Healthcare/Tryon, LLC

Projected Operating Reserve Requirement
For the Years Ended December 31, 2024 through 2029

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
Total Projected Operating Expenses
Projected SNF Expense $7,828651 §$8,034,077 $8,282,701 $8,539,272 $8,804,058 $9,077,333
Projected Apartment Expense 1,753,472 1,799,460 1,845,842 1,893,127 1,941,314 1,990,329

9,582,123 9,833,537 10,128,543 10,432,399 10,745,371 11,067,732

Total Projected Depreciation Expense

Projected SNF Depreciation 15,000 84,000 92,800 102,295 108,660 110,993
Projected Apartment Depreciation 10,000 11,000 12,100 12,705 13,340 14,007
25,000 95,000 185,600 115,000 120,000 125,000
Total Patient Days - SNF 21,500 21,930 22,369 22,816 23,272 23,738
Total Patient Days Attibutable to Aparment Residents 600 600 600 600 600 600
% of SNF Patient Days Attributable to Apartment Residents 2.79% 2.74% 2.68% 2.63% 2.68% 2.53%
% of SNF Days Attributable to SNF Only Resldents 97.21% 97.26% 97.32% 97.37% 97.42% 97.47%
Calculation of Excluded SNF Expenses 7,610,232 7,814,266 8,060,531 8,314,712 8,677,074 | 8,847,893
Calculation of Included SNF Expenses 218,419 219,811 222,169 224,560 226,084 229,441
Calculation of Included SNF Depreciation 419 2,298 2,492 2,690 2,750 2,805
Expenses Subject to DOI Approved Operating Reserve 1,961,472  2,005972 2,063,420 2,102,283 2,152,207 2,203,027
Operating Reserve Percentage 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25%
Projected Reserve Requirement $ 490,388 ¢ 501,493 $ 513,355 $ 525,573 § 538,052 § 550,757

Projected Occupancy as of Year End 98.0% 96.0% 96.0% 96.0% 96.0% 96.0%




ATTACHMENT HI

Current Interim Financial Statements
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ATTACHMENT IV

Resident Contracts



STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA APARTMENT RENTAL AGREEMENT
COUNTY CF POLK (WITH NO INITIAL DEPOSIT)

THTS AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of the
day of , 20 by and

between NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC a limited liability company

doing business as White ©Oak Village Apartments hereinafter

referred to as "Owner" and , a regident of the
State and County aforesaid, hereinafter referred to as
"Resident."

WITNESS ETH:

FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the receipt and sufficiency of
which the parties hereto acknowledge, and the full and faithful
performance of all terms, covenants and conditions herein
contained, the Owner hereby agrees to rent to the Resident, and
the Resident hereby agrees to rent from the Owner, Apartment No.

, located at White Oak Village, Tryon, North Caroclina

(hereinafter called the '"premigesg," "complex," or "apartment
complex™) for Regident's sole occupancy, according to the
following terms, covenants, and conditions:

1. TERM. The term of this Agreement shall begin on the

day of 20 , and end upon

the first of the following to occur:

(a) The last day of the month following the Resident's
death, or at such time thereafter as the Resident's
belongings have been removed from the premises; or

(b) Resident's default as hereinafter defined; or

(¢) Owner's having determined, and having given written
notification therecf, that the Resident:

(i} is socially  incompatible with the  Owner's
employees, other residents, or guests;

(ii) has demonstrated possible emotional instability;
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(d)

(iii)poses a risk to the 1life and well-being of
him/herself or others;

(iv) has destroyed, or attempted to destroy, property
belonging to the Owner, him/herself or others; or

(v} faills to fully comply with all terms and
provisions contained in this Agreement; or

(vi} has acted in any other unreasonable fashion or
poses for the Owner, its employees, residents or
guests, any other unreasonable risks; or

The last day of any month prior to which the Resgident

hag given to the Owner;

{1) In the event %the Resident ig to be transferred,
based upon written medical certification, to a
hospital or to White OCak Manocr - Tryon Nursing
Center, at least ten (10} days prior written
notice; or

{1i) In the event the Resident 1is to be transferred,
based upon written medical certification,
anywhere else, at least thirty (30) days prior
written notice; or

(iii) In the event the Resgident is to be transferred
anywhere else, without written medical
certification, at 1least (60) sixty days prior
written notice; or

At such time as, if ever, the apartment is destroyed

by fire or other calamity, or if the apartment, or a

substantial porticn of the complex, ig acqguired

through condemnation proceedings, making it such,
under the circumstances, that the apartment 1is no

longer reasconably fit for its intended use.
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In the event the Regident 1is transferred as
provided in Paragraph (i) above, to a hospital, he/she
shall have sgixty (60) days from date of transfer to
return to his/her apartment, and to have the within
Agreement remain in full force and effect, so long as
all terms, covenants and conditions herein contained,
including those pertaining to rental payments, have
been {and are then being) fully complied with.

In the event the Resident 18 transferred, as
provided in Paragraph (i} above, to White Oak Manor -
Tryon Nursing Center, the Resident shall have thirty
(30} days from date of transfer to return to his
apartment, and to have the within Agreement remain in
full force and effect, so long as all terms, covenants
and conditions herein contained, including those
pertaining to rental payments, have been (and are then
being) fully complied with.

In the event that the Resgident, upon being
transferred elsewhere as provided above, wishes to
again become & tenant of the Owner, after the within
Agreement has terminated, and isg certified, in
writing, by a qualified physician, as being again able
to reside in the apartment complex, Owner agrees toO
give the Resident, to the extent reasonable possible,
a priority as far as the next available apartment,
with retention deposits and rental rates to be those
then in effect, and a new Apartment Rental Agreement
to be entered into.

In the situations described in Paragraphs (i) and
(ii) above, the Owner may, but shall have no legal

duty to, waive the requirement regarding written
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notification based upon terms and conditions mutually
agreeable to both Owner and Resident.

If for any reason, a resident would be precluded
from occupying a living unit in the facility under the
terms of the contract for continuing c¢are, the
contract is automatically canceled and all monies will
be promptly refunded to the resident or their legal
representative within 230 days after the termination
date of the agreement.

TRANSFERS. A transfer fee wmay apply if you desire to
transfer from your current apartment to ancther. After 10
vears of residency in the same apartment, a transfer fee
may be waived. A 50% transfer fee will apply 1f transfer
occurs within 5-10 years of residency. If request is made
prior to 5 years, 100% of the transfer fee wili apply. An
exception to applying the transfer fee may apply if a
prearranged admission agreement signed by both parties
stipulates a desire to transfer to another specific
apartment within one year. The transfer fee is not a preset
cost but is based on cost to refurbish vacated apartment.

MARRIAGES. 1If a current resident (g} of White 0Oak Village
becomes married, the rent will increase based on the rent
schedules 1n effect at that time for twoc persons. No
additional deposit is required and the balance outstanding
on any deposit(s) will continue to amortize 1n accordance
with each Regident's original Rental Agreement. A new
Rental Agreement will be negotiated between White Oak
Village and the husband and wife as Residents. Other than
for medical reasons there are no qualifying requirements
for a spouse to meet as a condition for entry. In the event

the spouse does not medically qualify for admission, the
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agreement will terminate and alternate placement will be

reguired.

RENT.

Resident agrees to pay monthly rental to the Owner

in the amount of said rent to be payable in

advance on or before the first day of each month for which

due and owing, provided, however:

(a)

(b)

The rent for a partial month at the beginning of the
term shall be prorated;
Although the Owner will attempt to keep rental
increases to a minimum, during any calendar vyear
following the first full calendar year of this
Agreement, the Owner may, due to an increase in the
cost of operation, or for any other reason, upcn
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Resident,
increase the monthly rental payable hereunder so long
as the sum of the increases in monthly rental during
any calendar year does not exceed the greater of:
(1) 8ix ( 6%) percent of the average monthly wrental
during the preceding calendar year; Or
(i1} An amount equal to the average monthly rental
during the preceding calendar year multiplied by
the percentage increase in the "Consumer Price
Index" figures for January and December of the

preceding calendar year, the Consumer Price Index

being the "Consumer Price Index U.8. City
Average All Items Figures for Urban Wage

Earners and Clerical Workers {(Including Single
Workers), "which index is currently published in

the "Monthly Labor Review" of the Bureau of Labor
Statistice of the United States Department of

Labor, or its successor index.
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(¢) All rental payments shall be due and payable on or
before the first day of the month for which due and
owing, and if received on or after the tenth (10) day
of that particular month shall accrue a five (5%)
percent late charge (5% of the monthly payment) which
sum shall be immediately due and payable and
collectible as additional rent.

USE OF APARTMENT; COMPLIANCE WITH RULES AND REGULATIONS;

SMOKING POLICY. Regident will make no unlawful or

offensive use of the apartment and the common  areas
belonging to the Owner and will comply with all laws,
ordinances and regulations of duly constituted governmental
authorities. Resident will use the apartment only as a
private dwelling for him/her and such other persons as may
be authorized. In addition, Resident agrees to abide by the
reasonable rules and regulations promulgated from time to
time by Owner generally applicable to all occupants and
designed for the general health, welfare, and comfort of
the other occupants. In addition to all such other rules
and regulations, Resgident specifically acknowledges that
Oowner has a policy prohibiting the use of all tobacco
products in the apartments as well as on the White Oak
Village property, and Resident agrees to abide by said
policy. Any resident who wviolates this policy by using
tobacco products in his/her apartment or on the White Oak
Village property or by allowing anyone else to use tobacco
products in his/her apartment or on the property will be
deemed to be in default under this agreement and subject to
the provisions of Paragraph 14 of this Agreement, including
eviction and reimbursement of Owner's costs, expenses and
attorney's fees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Resident

further acknowledges that this tobacco policy does not
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apply to other residents who signed their Apartment Rental
Agreements prior to the implementation of this policy in
September, 2008.

USE OF PREMISES. Resident shall have the use, possession

and enjoyment during the term of this Agreement of the
apartment above identified jointly with any other tenant,
but all common areas, including stairways, walkways and
grounds, shall be used and enjoyed with other residents,
and no portion of the same may or shall be permanently or
temporarily appropriated by Resident to Resident's
exclusive use, enjoyment or possession.

CARE OF APARTMENT AND REPAIRS. Resident will take gocd

care of the apartment and common areas and will report
promptly to Owner any repairs which may be needed. Owner

shall keep and maintain the apartment in tenable condition

and shall have the right to make at reasonazble times any
and all repalrs, rencovations and alterations as it shall
determine necesgsgary or desirable. Resident shall reimburse
Owner  for expenses  incurred by Owner for repairs
attributable to Regident's abuse or mistreatment of the

apartment (including appliances) or the common areas.

ALTERATTIONS BY RESIDENT , Resident shall make no
alterationg to the apartment without the prior written
consent of the Owner, which consent shall not be

unreasonably withheld.

PETS. Resident may not keep any pets or animals of any
kind anywhere upon the premises without the prior written
consent of the Owner. Even after the Owner's consent has
been given, this consent may be reasonably withdrawn by the
Owner according to its sole judgment and discretion based
upon what it believes to be in the best interest of the

complex and the other residents. A $500 pet deposit is
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11.

1z2.

13,

required 1f a pet 1is maintained in the apartment. The
deposit may be refunded at the discretion of Management.

POSSESSION OF FIREARMS. No person, including residents,

friends of residents or family members, may possess or
carry, whether openly or concealed, any guns, rifles,
pistols or firearms of any type on the premises. Violation
of this policy shall be deemed a violation of the Apartment
Rental Agreement and may constitute grounds for discharge
or cancellation of the Agreement.

RIGHT OF ENTRY. Owner's representative may enter the
apartment at any reasonable time to examine same and/or
make such alterations and repairg as Owner may determine.

SURRENDER OF PREMISES. Upon the expiration or termination

of this Apartment Rental Agreement, Resident shall
surrender the apartment to the Owner in the same condition
as at the beginning of the <term, ordinary wear and tear
excepted,

INSURANCE, RISK OF LOSS AND RENTAL ABATEMENT, Resident

ghall be sclely responsible for  insuring Resident's

personal belongings. If the apartment 1is damaged by fire,
cagsualty, or act of God, regarding which the Resident was

neither negligent nor at fault, the Owner shall promptly
repair the damages and the rental provided for herein shall
be abated on a daily basis sc long as the Resident is
unable tec occupy the premises while repairs are being made.
However, at such time as the premises are again tenable,
the obligation Lo pay rent shall resume. In the event that
the damages involved are caused by negligence or fault on
the part of the Resident, the rental provided for herein
gshall not abate, but ghall be paid, as agreed, 1in timely
fashion, and the Resident ghall be further responsible for

paying any sums deductible under the Owner's insurance
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16,

coverage, which the Owner would otherwise be required to
pay.
LIABTILITY AND INDEMNIFTICATION, The Owner shall not be

liable for any damages or injuries to person or property
occasioned anyone whatsoever, including other residents,
employees, guests, or the like, by reason of Resident's use
or occupancy of the apartment or the common areas, and
Resident shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Owner
from and against any and all c¢laims for damages or
ligbility arising from iIinjuxry to person or property
regardless of how occurring. Furthermore, Owner shall not
be liable to Resident, his family, emplcyees or guests, for
any injuries or damages caused by acts or omigsions of
other residents or occupants, whether caused on or off the
property owned by the Owner. Finally, the Owner shall not
be liable for any loss or damage resulting from failure,
interruption or malfunction in the wutilities provided
Resident in connection with his/her occupancy of the
apartment.

CONDEMNATION. If the apartment or all or any part of the

premiges shall be at any time taken for any public or
quasi-public use under any statute or by right of eminent
domain, Owner shall be entitled to and shall receive the
award or payment therefore (hereinafter called the
"Award"), and Resident shall assign, and does hereby assign
and transfer, such Award to the Owner free and clear of
every claim of every kind whatsocever by or on the part of
the Resident.

DEFAULT. This Apartment Rental Agreement is made upon the
condition that the Resident shall faithfully perform all of
the terms, covenants and conditions herein contained by

him/her to be performed as herein set forth or in other
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18.

agreements heretofore or hereafter entered intc between the

Owner and the Resident, and Resident shall be in default

if:

{(a) Any rental payment due hereunder shall at any time be
in arrears and unpaid for fifteen (15} days after
receipt by Resident of written notice making demand
therefore; cor

(b) Resident shall fail to observe or perform any of the
covenants, agreements, or conditions set forth herein
and gaid failure sghall continue for a pericd of
fifteen (15) days after receipt by Resident of written
notice of such failure from Owner.

In the event of a default, Owner may at its option, declare
the term of this Agreement ended and repossess the
Apartment, and shall further be entitled to all other
rights and remedies set forth herein. A waiver of any
default by Cwner shall not constitute a waiver of any other
or subsequent default. The Owner shall be entitled to be
fully reimbursed for all costs and expenses incurred in
enforcing its rights hereunder, including a reasonable
attorney's fee, and shall be entitled to have accrued
monthly interest, at the maximum rate allowed by law, as to
any payments due and owing hereunder.

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. Should the apartment complex be

sold or leased to another party, Owner shall have the right
to assign this lease to the new owner. However, Resident
may not assign or transfer this lease or sublet the
apartment or any part thereof without the prior written
consent of the Owner, which consent the Owner may withhold.

SUBORDINATION. This Apartment Rental Agreement is subject

and subordinate to all ground or underlying leases and to

all mortgages or deeds of trust which may now or hereafter
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20.

21,

affect such leases or the real property on which the
apartment ig located. In the event of foreclosure, any
retention deposits or security deposits will be refunded to
the Resident on the basis of the applicable retention
schedule. Furthermore, every effort will be made to have
the mortgagee honor all agreements between the Cwner and
Resident and continue the apartment complex as an operating
entity.

NOTICES., Any notice required or provided for herein shall
be deemed to have been sgerved sufficiently or received if
the same shall be in writing and either hand delivered or
mailed, postage prepaid, to a party's present address, or
to such other address as that party may subseguently
provide.

DISPOSITICN OF PERSONAL PROPERTY. Upon the expiration or

termination of this Agreement, Owner shall have the right,
after ten (10) days written notice, to remove, at the
Resident's sole cogt and expense, from the premises, all of
the Regident's persconal belongings and other property
remaining therein, and to dispose of same as the Owner in
its sole Jjudgment ghall determine, with no liability
therefore. In addition, as te any expenses thereby
incurred, or incurred by the Owner in cleaning Resident's
apartment, Resident shall reimburse Owner therefore.

SERVICES OFFERED.

{a) Meals. Owner will provide Resident with one meal pexr
day, the meal to be determined by Owner, and to be
gserved in the common dining area.

(b) GQuest Meals. Are available at $10.00 per meal.

(¢} Utilities. All utilitiesg, except telephone expenses,

will be paid for by the Owner. However, the cost of
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(£)

(1)

M

(k)

telephone installation and removal shall be paild by
Resident.

Janitorial Services. Owner will provide services in

all service areas, halls and community areas.

Maid Service. Owner will provide maid service twice a

month, on a regularly scheduled Dbasis, to c¢lean
Resident's apartment if so desired by Resident.
Laundry. Once each week, Resident's flat laundry will
be picked up outgide the door of Resident's apartment,
cleaned and returned.

Laundromat. Laundry facilities are available free of

charge at the apartment complex for Resident's use
{(Resident must provide detergent)

Transportaticon. Transportation will be available at

certain scheduled times, to be determined by the Owner
in view of the needs of the Resident and the other
occupants of apartments.

Nursing Center. A bed in the adjoining nursing center

will be made availlable, on a priority basis, whenever
Resident's health, as determined by Regident's
physician, so requires.

Nurse €Call S8ystem. Is located in the master bedroom

and bath of each apartment and is connected to the
nurse's station at the adjacent nursing facility. If
activated, a trained member of the Nursing Department
will respond to the apartment.

Health Services Available. 8killed and Intermediate

Nursing Care {(Medicare and Medicaid Certified) .

Storage Facilities, Cwner shall provide, at

Regident's sole risk, reascnable storage space for
Regident's belongings other than furniture and other

household furnishings.
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23,

(m) Recreaticnal Facilities. Recreational facilities are

available for Resident's use on first come / first
gerved bagis.

{n) Basic Cable TV Service. Basgic Cable TV service is

provided by the Owner. Additional services can be
purchased by the Resident.

(0) Personal Services. The following are available at the
regident's expense:
Beauty/ Barber Shop
Accommodations for overnight gquests
Daily delivery of local and national newspapers

ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT. This Apartment Rental

Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties
hereto with respect to the sgubject matter hereof and sets
forth all representations and warranties and supersedes any
and all prior or contemporaneous cral or written
agreements, representations, warranties or understandings
with respect to the subject matter herecf. No amendment or
modification of thisg Agreement shall be binding unless
evidenced by an agreement in writing signed by both the
Resident or hig/her legal representative) and the Owner.

NORTH CAROLINA LAW. Notwithgtanding anything else herein

contained to the contrary, the following rights afforded by

North Carolina law shall apply. Specifically:

(a) In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(a)(l), Resident
may rescind this Agreement within thirty (30) days
following the later of the execution of the contract
as set forth below or the receipt of a disclosure
statement that meets the reguirements of N.C.G.S. §b8-
64. Furthermore, Resident 1g hereby notified that
he/she 1is not required to move into the apartment
described below prior to the expiration of the thirty

day period described herein.
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(e)

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(a)(2), if a
resident dies before occupying a living unit in the
facility, or if, on account of illness, injury, or
incapacity, a resident would be precluded <from
occcupying a living unit in the facility, under the
terms of the contract for continuing care, the
contract 1s automatically canceled. All fees and
deposits will be fully refundable to the resident or
their Legal Representative within 30 days of
notification to the facility.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(a){3), 1f an
executed contract is rescinded or cancelled under the
terms of this contract, all unearned fees and deposits
will be fully refundable to the Resident or their
Legal Representative within 30 days of notification to
the facility.

In acccrdance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) (3}, Owner
will follow the following procedure to change
resident's accommodations, 1f necessary, for the
protection of the health or gafety of the Resident or
the general and economic welfare cf the residents. All
decisions regarding your permanent transfer from White
Oak Village will be made after consultation with you
and, when appropriate, with your family or designee.
White Oak Village's decision will be binding.

Tn accordance with N.C.G.S. 858-64-25(b) (8), Resgident
is hereby informed that Owner has no religiocus or
charitable affiliation. Furthermore, there 1is no
affiliate organization that will be responsible for
the financial and/or contractual obligations of the

Owner.
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{f) In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) (9), Resident
has no property rights hereunder.

(g} In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b)(10), White
Oak Village's policy, regarding adjusting fees and/or
\rental sums hereunder, 1ig that if the Resident is
voluntarily absent from the facility, no adjustment
will be made. In other words, all fees owed Owner
hereunder, in the event of the voluntary absence of
the Resident from the premises, will nevertheless be
due and payable as otherwise provided for herein.

(h) In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) (11), there is
no requirement that the Resident apply for Medicaid,
public assistance, or any public benefit program. More
specifically, no such benefits are available to the
Resident under thig Agreement or while living at White
QOak Village.

(1) In accordance with N.C.G.S. 8§858-64-40(b), "The Board
of Directors or other governing body of a facility or
its designated representative shall hold semiannual
meetings with the residents of the facility for £free
discussions of subject including, but not limited toc,
income, expenditures, and financial Trends and
problems as they apply to the facility and discussions
of proposed changes 1in policies, programs, and
services. Upon request of the most representative
residents' organization, a member of the governing
body of the provider, such as a board member, a
general partner, or a principal owner shall attend
such meetings. Residents shall be entitled to at least
seven days advance notice of each meeting. An agenda

and any wmaterials that will be distributed by the
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24,

25.

governing body at the meetings shall remain available
upon request to residents."

APPLICABLE LAW. This Apartment Rental Agreement shall be

governed by and construed according toc the laws of the

State of North Carolina.

BINDING EFFECT. This Apartment Rental Agreement and all

terms, covenants and conditions hexein contained, shall
extend te and be binding upon the parties hereto and upon
their respective heirs, administrators, gugccegsors,

executors, and assigns.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereunto set their

hands and seals as of the date and year first above written.

NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC
d/b/a WHITE OAK VILLAGE APARTMENTS

B s
(Name and Title)

(SEAL)

(Resident)

RESIDENT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE/SHE HAS READ THIS AGREEMENT BEFORE

STIGNING, UNDERSTANDS ITS CONTENTS, AND AGREES TO ABIDE BY ALL OF

ITS TERMS AND PROVISIONS.
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STATE QF NORTH CAROLINA APARTMENT RENTAL AGREEMENT
COUNTY OF POLK (WITH RETENTICN SCHEDULE INCLUDED)

THTS AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of the
day of , =20 by and

between NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC a limited liability company
doing business as White Oak Village Apartments hereinafter

referred to

as "Owner" and : , a resident of the

State and County aforesaid, hereinafter zreferred tco as
"Resident."
WITNESS ETH:

FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the receipt and sufficiency of
which the parties hereto acknowledge, and the full and faithful
performance of all terms, covenants and conditions herein
contained, the Owner hereby agrees to rent to the Regident, and
the Resident hereby agrees to rent from the Owner, Apartment No.

. located at White ©Oak Village, Tryon, North Carolina

(hereinafter called the ‘"premises," '"complex," or "apartment
complex") for Resident's sole occupancy, according to the
following terms, covenants, and conditions:

1. TERM. The term of this Agreement shall begin on the

day of 20 and end upon

the first of the following to occur:
(a) The last day of the month following the Resident's

death, or at such time thereafter asg the Regident's
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(d)

belongings have been removed from the premises; ox

Resident's default as hereinafter defined; or

Owner's having determined, and having given written

notification thereof, that the Resident:

(1) 1is socially incompatible with the Cwner's
employees, other residents, or guests;

(ii) has demonstrated possible emotional instability;

(iii) poses a risk to the 1ife and well-being of
him/herself or others;

{(iv) has destroyed, or attempted to destroy, property
belonging to the Owner, him/herself or others; or

(v) fails to fully comply with all terms and
provisions contained in this Agreement; or

{vi) has acted in any other unreasonable fashion or
poses for the Owner, its employees, residents or
gquests, any other unreasonable risks; or

The last day of any month prior to which the Resident

hag given to the Owner;

(i) In the event the Resident is to be transferred,
based upon written medical certification, to a
hospital or to White Oak Manor - Tryon Nursing
Center, at least ten (10) days prior written
notice; or

(ii) In the event the Resident is to be transferred,
baged upon written medical certification,
anywhere else, at least thirty (30) days prior
written notice; or

(iii) In the event the Regident 1is to be transferred
anywhere else, without written medical
certification, at least (60) sixty days prior

written notice; or
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At such time as, if ever, the apartment is destroyed
by fire or other calamity, or if the apartment, or a
gubstantial portion of the complex, is acquired
through condemnation proceedings, making it such,
under the circumstances, that the apartment is no

longer reasonably fit for its intended use.

In the event the Resident is transferred as
provided in Paragraph (i) above, to a hospital, he/she
shall have sixty (60) days from date of transfer to
return to his/her apartment, and to have the within
Agreement remain in full force and effect, so long as
all termg, covenants and conditions herein contained,
including those pertaining to rental payments, have
been (and are then being) fully complied with.

In the event the Resident is transferred, as
provided in Paragraph (i) above, to White Oak Manor -
Tryon Nursing Center, the Resident shall have thirty
( 30) days from date of transfer to return to his
apartment, and to have the within Agreement remain in
full force and effect, so long as all terms, covenants
and conditions herein contained, including  those
pertaining to rental payments, have been (and are then
being) fully complied with.

In the event that the Regident, upon Dbeing
transferred elsewhere as provided above, wishes to
again become a tenant of the Owner, after the within
Agreement  Thas terminated, and 18 certified, in
writing, by a qualified physician, as being again able
to reside in the apartment complex, Owner agrees to
give the Resident, to the extent reasonable possible,
a priority as far as the next availlable apartment,

with Retention Deposits and rental rates to be those
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then in effect, and a new Apartment Rental Agreement
to be entered into.

In the situations described in Paragraphs (i) and
(ii) above, the Owner may, but shall have no legal

duty to, waive the requirement regarding written

notification based upon terms and conditions mutually

agreeable to both Owner and Resident.

RETENTION DEPOSIT. At the time of executing this

Agreement, Resident has paid to the Owner a Retention

Deposit of

The purpose of paying the Retention

Deposit is to reduce the monthly rent when compared to the
Straight Rental payment plan. Subject to the Retention
Schedule herein contained, all such monies paid by the
Regident to the Owner sghall remain the property of the
Resident, However, periodically, as provided Dby the
Retention &chedule, the ©Owner shall be entitled to and
become the owner of portions of the Retention Deposit, and
eventually, according to the terms of the Agreement, shall
become the owner of the entire fee. Notwithstanding
ownership by the Resident of a porticn of the fee, as
provided in the Retention Schedule, throughout the entire
term of this Agreement, the Owner shall have the absolute
right to use the entire fee as the owner may, in its sole
judgment, determine and shall be sclely entitled to all
benefits derived therefrom, including all interest earned
thereon,

The Retention Schedule i1s ag follows:
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LENGTH QF OCCUPANCY

Upon
Year
Year
Year

Year

Occupancy
1

2
3
4

AMOUNT
RETAINED

AMOUNT

REFUNDED

20%
20%
20%
20%

20%

B0%
60%
40%
20%

0

o0
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In the event this Agreement shall terminate due to
Resident's death or default as provided in Paragraphs i(a)
or 1i{b) above, the balance of the Retention Deposit to
which the Resident would otherwise Dbe entitled shall
immediately become the property of the Owner and neither
the Resident, nor anyone c¢laiming in his/her behalf; ghall
have any further entitlement thereto. However, should this
Agreement terminate as provided in Paragraphs 1l(c), (d), or
(e) above, Resident or hig legal zrepresentative, as the
case may be, shall be entitled to such refund as the
Resident may be due according to the Retention Schedule
described above. Refunds of this nature will be promptly
made to the Resident or his/her legal representative but
under no circumstances later than 30 days after the
termination date of the agreement.

If for any reason, a resident would be precluded from
occupying a living unit in the facility under the terms of
the contract for continuing care, the contract 1is
automatically canceled and all monies will be promptly
refunded to the resident or their legal representative but
within 20 days after the termination date of the agreement.

TRANSFERS . A transfer fee may apply 1if you desire to

transfer from your current apartment to another. After 10
yvears of residency in the same apartment, a transfer fee
may be waived. A 50% transfer fee will apply if transfer
occurs within 5-10 years of residency. If request 1is made
prior to 5 years, 100% of the transfer fee will apply. An
exception to applying the transfer fee may apply if a
prearranged admission agreement signed Dby both parties
stipulates a desire to transfer to another specific
apartment within one year. The transfer fee is not a preset

cost but ig based on cost to refurbish current apartment.
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MARRIAGES. If a current resident(s) of White Cak Village

becomes married, the rent will increase based on the rent
schedules in effect at that <time for two persons. No
additional deposit is required and the balance outstanding
on any deposit (g) will continue to amortize in accordance
with each Resident's original Rental Agreement. A new
Rental Agreement will be negotiated between White Oak
Village and the husband and wife as Residents. Other than
for medical reasons there are no gualifying requirements
for a spouse to meet as a condition for entry. In the event
the spouse does not medically qualify for admission, the
agreement will terminate and alternate placement will be
required.

RENT. In addition to paying the Retention Deposit provided
for above, Resident alsc agrees to pay monthly rental to

the Owner in the amount of salid rent to be

payable in advance on or before the first day of each month

for which due and owing, provided, however:

() The rent for a partial month at the beginning of the
term shall be prorated;

(b) Although the Owner will attempt to 1keep rental
increases to a minimum, during any calendar year
following the first full <calendar vyear of this
Agreement, the Owner may, due to an increase in the
cost of operation, or for any other reason, upon
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Resident,
increase the monthly rental payable hereunder so long
as the sum of the increases in monthly rental during
any calendar year does not exceed the greater of:

(i) s8ix (6%) percent of the average monthly rental

during the preceding calendar year; or
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(1i) An amount equal to the average monthly rental
during the preceding calendar year multiplied by
the percentage increase in the "Consumer Price
Index" figures for January and December of the
preceding calendar year, the Consumer Price Index
being the "Consumer Price Index U.S. City
Average All Items Figures for Urban Wage
Earners and Clerical Workers (Including Single
Workers), "which index is currently published in
the "Monthly Labor Review" of the Bureau of Labor
Statistics of the United States Department of
Labor, or its successor index.

(¢) All rental payments shall be due and payable on or
before the first day of the month for which due and
owing, and if received on or after the tenth (10) day
of that particular month shall accrue a five (5%)
percent late charge (5% of the monthly payment) which
sum shall be immediately due and payable and
collectible ag additional rent.

USE QF APARTMENT; COMPLIANCE WITH RULES AND REGULATIONS;

SMOKTING POLICY. Resident will make no unlawful or

offensive use of the apartment and the common areas
belonging to the Owner and will comply with all laws,
ordinances and regulations of duly constituted governmental
suthorities. Resident will use the apartment only as a
private dwelling for him/her and such other persons as may
be authorized. In addition, Resident agrees to abide by the
reasonable rules and regulations promulgated from time to
time by Owner generally applicable to all occupants and
designed for the general health, welfare, and comfort of
the other occupants. In addition to all such other rules

and regulations, Resident specifically acknowledges that
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Owner has a policy prohibiting the use of all tobacco
products in the apartments as well as on the White Oak
Village property, and Resident agrees to abide by said
policy. Any resident who violates this policy by using
tobacco proeducts in his/her apartment or on the White Oak
Village property or by allowing anyone else to use tobacco
products in his/her apartment or on the property will be
deemed to be in default under this agreement and subject to
the provisions of Paragraph 14 of this Agreement, including
eviction and reimbursement of Cwner's cogtsg, expenses and
attorney's fees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Resident
further acknowledges that this tobacco policy does mnot
apply to other residents who signed their Apartment Rental
Agreements prior to the implementation of this pelicy in
September, 2008.

USE OF PREMISES. Resident shall have the use, possession

and enjoyment during the term of this Agreement of the
apartment above identified jointly with any other tenant,
but all common areas, including stairways, walkways and
grounds, shall be used and enjoyed with other residents,
and no portion of the same may or shall be permanently or
temporarily appropriated by Resident to Regident's
exclugive use, enjoyment or possession.

CARE OF APARTMENT AND REPAIRS. Resident will take good

care of the apartment and common areas and will report
promptly to Owner any repalrs which may be needed. Owner
shall keep and maintain the apartment in tenable condition
and shall have the right toc make at reasonable timeg any
and all repairs, renovations and alterations as it shall
determine necessary or desirable. Resident shall reimburse

Owner for expenses incurred by Owner for repairs

9 Revised 8/1/24



10,

11

12.

13,

14,

attributable to Resident's abuse or mistreatment of the
apartment (including appliances) or the common areas.

ALTERATIONS BY RESIDENT. Regident shall make no

alteraticns to the apartment without the prior written
congsent of the owner, which consgent shall not be
unreasonably withheld.

PETS. Resident may not keep any pets or animals of any
kind anywhere upon the premises without the prior written
consent of the Owner. Even after the Owner's consent has
been given, this consent may be reasonably withdrawn by the
Owner according to its sole judgment and discretion based
upon what it believes to be in the best interest of the
complex and the other residents. A $500 pet deposit is
required if a pet is maintained in the apartment. The
deposit may be refunded at the discretion of Management.
POSSESSION OF FIREARMS. No person, including residents,
friends of residents or family members, may possess OT
carry, whether openly or concealed, any guns, rifles,
pistols or firearms of any type on the premises. Violation
of this policy shall be deemed a violation of the Apartment
Rental Agreement and may constitute grounds for discharge
or cancellation of the Agreement.

RIGHT OF ENTRY. Owner's representative may enter the
apartment at any reasonable time to examine same and/or
make such alterationsg and repairs as Owner may determine.

SURRENDER OF PREMISES. Upon the expiration or termination

of this Apartment Rental Agreement, Resident shall
surrender the apartment to the Owner in the same condition
as at the beginning of the term, ordinary wear and tear

excepted.

INSURANCE, RISK OF LOSS AND RENTAL ABATEMENT . Regident

shall be solely responsible for insuring Resident's
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perscnal belongings. If the apartment is damaged by fire,
casualty, or act of God, regarding which the Resident was
neither negligent nor at fault, the Owner shall promptly
repair the damages and the rental provided for herein shall
be abated on a daily basis so long as the Resident is
unable to occupy the premises while repairs are being made.
However, at such time as the premises are again tenable,
the obligation to pay rent shall resume. In the event that
the damages involved are caused by negligence or fault on
the part of the Resident, the rental provided for herein
shall not abate, but shall be paid, asg agreed, 1in timely
fashion, and the Resident shall be further responsible for
paying any sums deductible under the Owner's insurance
coverage, which the Owner would otherwise be regquired to
pay.

LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION, The Owner shall not be

liable for any damages or injuries to person or property
occagioned anyone whatsoever, including other residents,
employees, guests, or the like, by reason of Resident's use
or occupancy of the apartment or the common areas, and
Regsident sghall indemnify, defend and hcld harmless COwner
from and against any and all claims for damages or
liability arising from injury to person Or property
regardless of how occurring. Furthermore, Owner shall not
be liable to Resident, his family, employees or guests, for
any injuries or damages caused by acts oOr omigsions of
other residents or occupants, whether caused on or off the
property owned by the Owner. Finally, the Owner shall noct
be liable for any loss or damage resulting from failure,
interruption or malfunction in the wutilities provided
Resident in connection with his/her occupancy of the

apartment.
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17.

CONDEMNATION. If the apartment or all cor any part of the

premises shall be at any time taken for any public or

quasi-public use under any statute or by right of eminent

domain, Owner shall be entitled to and shall receive the
award or payment therefore (hereinafter called the

"Award"), and Resident shall assign, and does hereby assign

and transfer, such Award to the Owner free and clear of

every claim of every kind whatsoever by or on the part of
the Resident.

DEFAULT. This Apartment Rental Agreement is made upon the

condition that the Resident shall faithfully perform all of

the terms, covenants and conditions herein contained by
him/her to be performed as herein set forth or in other
agreements heretofore or hereafter entered into between the

Owner and the Resident, and Resident.shall be in default

if:

(a) Any rental payment due hereunder shall at any time be
in arrears and unpaid for fifteen (15) days after
receipt by Resident of written notice making demand
therefore; or

(b) Resident shall fail to observe or perform any of the
covenants, agreements, or conditiong set forth herein
and said failure shall continue for a period of
fifteen (15) days after receipt by Resident of written
notice of such failure from Owner.

In the event of a default, Owner may at its option, declare

the term of this Agreement ended and repossess the

Apartment, and shall further be entitled to all other

rights and remedies set forth herein. A walver of any

default by Owner shall not constitute a waiver of any other
or subsequent default. The Owner shall be entitled to be

fully reimbursed for all costs and expenses incurred in
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19.

20,

21.

enforcing its rightg hereunder, including a reasonable
attorney's fee, and shall be entitled to have accrued
monthly interest, at the maximum rate allowed by law, as to
any payments due and owing hereunder.

ASSTCNMENT AND SUBLETTING. Should the apartment complex be

sold or leased to another party, Owner shall have the right
to assign this lease to the new owner. However, Resident
may not assign or transfer this lease or sublet the
apartment or any part thereof without the prior written
consent of the Owner, which consent the Owner may withhold.

SUBORDINATION., This Apartment Rental Agreement is subject

and subordinate to all ground or underlying leases and to
all mocrtgages or deeds of trust which may now or hereafter
affect such leases or the zreal property on which the
apartment is located. In fhe event of foreclosure, any
Retention Deposits or security deposits will be refunded to
the Resident on the basis of the applicable retention
schedule. Furthermore, every effort will be made to have
the mortgagee honor all agreements between the OCOwner and
Resident and continue the apartment complex as an operating
entity.

NOTICES. Any notice required or provided for herein shall
be deemed to have been served sufficiently or received if
the same shall be in writing and either hand delivered or
mailed, postage prepaid, to a party's present address, O
to such other address as that party may subsequently
provide.

DISPOSITION OF PERSONAL PRCPERTY. Upon the expiration or

termination of this Agreement, Owner shall have the right,
after ten (10) days written notice, to remove, at the
Resident's sole cost and expense, from the premises, all of

the Resident's personal belongings and other property
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remaining therein, and to dispose of same as the Owner in
its sole Jjudgment shall determine, with no liability
therefore. In addition, ag to any expenses thereby
incurred, or incurred by the Owner in cleaning Resident's
apartment, Resident shall reimburse Owner therefore,

SERVICES OFFERED.

(a) Meals. Owner will provide Resident with one wmeal per
day, the meal to be determined by Owner, and to Dbe
served in the common dining area. BAdvanced planning
with Owner 1s required for this deduction.

(b} Guest Meals. Are availlable at $10.00 per meal.

(¢) Utilities. All utilities, except telephone expenses,
will be paid for by the Owner. However, the cost of
telephone installation and removal shall be paid by
Resident.

(d) Janitorial Serviceg. Owner will provide services in

all service areas, halls and community areas.

(e} Maid Service. Owner will provide maid service twice a

month, on a regularly scheduled basis, to clean
Resident's apartment if so desired by Resident.

(f) Laundry. Once each week, Resident's flat laundry will
be picked up outside the door of Resident's apartment,
cleaned and returned.

{g) Laundromat. Laundry facilities are avallable free of

charge at the apartment complex for Resgident's use
(Resident must provide detergent).

(h) Transportation. Transportation will be available at

certain scheduled times, to be determined by the Owner
in view of the needs of the Resident and the other
occupants of apartments.

(1) Nursing Center. A bed in the adjoining nursing center

will be made available, on a priority basis, whenever
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Resident's  health, ags determined by Resident's
physician, so requires.

Nurge (Call Svystem. Is located in the master bedroom

and bath of each apartment and is connected to the
nurse's station at the adjacent nursing facility. If
activated, a trained member of the Nursing Department
will respond to the apartment.

Health Services Available. Skilled and Intermediate

Nursing Care (Medicare and Medicaid Certified).

Storage Facilities. owner shall provide, at
Regident's sole rigk, reasonable storage space for
Regident's belongings other than furniture and other
household furnishings.

Recreational Facilities. Recreational facilities are

available for Resident's use on first come / first
served basgis.

Bagic Cable TV Service. Basic Cable TV service is

provided by the Owner. Additional services can be
purchased by the Resident.

Personal Services. The following are available at the
regident's expense:

Beauty/ Barber Shop

Accommodations for overnight guests

Daily delivery of local and national newspapers
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ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT. This Apartment Rental

Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties
hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and sets
forth all representations and warranties and supersedes any
and all prior or contemporaneous oral or written
agreements, representations, warranties or understandings
with respect to the subject matter hereof. No amendment or
modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless
evidenced by an agreement in writing signed by both the
Resident (or his/her legal representative) and the Owner.

NORTH CAROLINA LAW. Notwithstanding anything else herein

contained to the contrary, the following rights afforded by

North Carolina law shall apply. Specifically:

(a) In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(a) (1), Resident
may rescind this Agreement within thirty (30) days
following the later of the execution of the contract
as set forth below or the receipt of a disclosure
statement that meets the requirements of N.C.G.5, §58-
64 . Furthermore, Resident 1is hereby notified that
he/she 1is not required to move into the apartment
described below prior to the expiration of the thirty
day period described herein.

(b) In accordance with N.C.G.S. 858-64-25(a){2), 1if a
regident dies before occupying a living unit in the
facility, or if, on account of illness, injury, or
incapacity, a <resident would be precluded from
occupying a living unit in the facility, under the
terms of the contract for continuing care, the
contract is autcmatically canceled. All fees and
depogits will be fully refundable to the resident or
their Legal Representative within 30 days of

notification to the facility.
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In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(a) (3), if an
executed contract ig rescinded or cancelled under the
terms of this contract, all unearned fees and deposits
will be fully refundable to the Resident or their
Legal Representative within 30 days of notification to
the facility.

In accordance with N.C.G.S8. §58-64-25(Db) (3), owner
will follow the  following procedure to  change
regident's accommodaticns, if necessary, for the
protection of the health or safety of the Resident or
the general and economic welfare of the residents. All
decisions regarding your permanent transfer from White
Oak Village will be made after consultation with you
and, when appropriate, with your family or designee.
White Oak Village's decision will be binding.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) (8), Resident
is hereby informed that Owner has no religious or
charitable affiliation. Furthermore, there 1s no
affiliate organization that will be responsible for
the financial and/ocr contractual obligaticns of the
Cwner.

In accordance with N.C.G.8. §58-64-25(b) (9}, Resident
has po property rights hereunder.

In accordance with N.C.G.S8. §58-64-25(b){(10), White
Oak Village's policy, regarding adjusting fees and/or
rental secums hereunder, is that 1f the Resident 1is
voluntarily absent from the facility, no adjustment
will Dbe made. In other words, all fees owed Owner
hereunder, in the event of the voluntary absence of
the Regident from the premises, will nevertheless be

due and payable as otherwise provided for herein.
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26.

(h} 1In accordance with N.C.G.8. §58-64-25(b) (11}, there is
no requirement that the Resident apply for Medicaid,
public assistance, or any public benefit program. More
specifically, no such benefits are available to the
Resident under this Agreement or while living at White
Oak Village.

(1) In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-40(b), "The Board
of Directors or other governing body of a facility or
its designated representative shall hold semiannual
meetings with the residents of the facility for free
discussions of subject including, but not limited to,
income, expenditures, and financial trends and
problems as they apply to the facility and discussions
of ©proposed changes 1in policies, programs, and
services. Upon request of the most representative
residents' organization, a member of the governing
body of the provider, such as a board member, a
general partner, or a principal owner shall attend
such meetings. Residents shall be entitled to at least
seven daysg advance notice of each meeting. An agenda
and any materials that will Dbe distributed by the
governing body at the meetings shall remain available
upon request to residents.'

APPLICABLE LAW. This Apartment Rental Agreement shall be

governed by and construed according to the laws of the
State of North Caroclina.
BINDING EFFECT. This Apartment Rental Agreement and all

terms, covenants and conditions herein contained, shall
extend to and be binding upon the parties hereto and upon
their respective heirs, administrators, guccessors,

executorg, and assigns.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereunto set their

hands and seals as of the date and year first above written.

NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC
d/b/a WHITE CAK VILLAGE APARTMENTS

(Name and Title)

(SEAL)

(Regident)
RESIDENT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE/SHE HAS READ THIS AGREEMENT BEFORE
SIGNING, UNDERSTANDS ITS CONTENTS, AND AGREES TO ABIDE BY ALL OF
ITS TERMS AND PROVISIONS.
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Facility Use Only:
Apt. & Bldg, # J

Oak Village

A.PPLICATIO\I FOR ADMISSION

Please Print or Type — (Each person nust submit separale applications even if married)

L Fuil Name:
2 Spouse:
3,

Present Address: (If you maintain more than one home, please indicate):

4, Present Phone Number:.__
5, Social Security #: Medicare .
&. Health Insurance Co.: Policy #:
7. Financial/ Legal Representative(s):
Name! Name:
Address: Address:
Phone: _ Phone -
8. Marital Status: O] Single [ Married [ Widow/Widower
9. Veteran; [ Yes [ No If yes, branch of service:
10. Birthdate: Place of Birth:
11, Former Cecupation(s):_
12. Hobbies, special talents or interests:

1
70 Oak St. e Tryon, NC 28782-3450 » B28-859-3871
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13,

14.

15'!

16,

17,

18.

Church Affiliation:

How long affiliated? _
N’em'ze of Minister, Priest or Rabbi:
Address;

Special Neads (or Handicaps);

Names of Living Children (or next closest relative);

Names - Addresges Telophono #

Medical Fiistory: (Please check any of the following ilinesses or diseases which applies
currently or In the past}

1 High Blood Pressure

O Sitoke 1 Depression
[} Digbetes i Heart Attack 7 Mental Iness
1 Congt;:stive Beart Failure m Arteriosolerosts [1 Mental Retardation
[ Asthma 7 Chronic Long Disease 1 Musoular Dystrophy
3 Uleers 1 Reoctal Bloading [ Caneer
7 Anemla 1 Surgeries in the lasi five yeats

White Oak Village is 4 tobacco-free campus,
Will anyone residing in your apattraent use tobacco products?  [1Yes [INo

Physiciar who will prepare your medical evaluation form certificate:
Physician’s Name:

Telephions #:
Office Address:

Do yon aufhorize WHITE OAR VILLAGE to discuss your healfh with the above physician?
YEs [ No []

List all cuvently prescribed medications:

2
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20,

21

Vst ell hospitaiizationsfinstitutions in past five yeass: {Specify reason and datefs))
Hospital/Institution Date Reason

Have you ever been denied admission to another retixemment community?

ves[1 No T

{If your answer is Yes, explain)

Emergency Contact Persort:
Address:

Telephone #: Ermall Address;

List one persom {not & relative) whom you have kmowny at least five years, whom you wish to
use as a personal reference:

A complete application will also include a completed Medicel Bvaluation Porm,

1 maks this application for admission to WHITE OAKX, VILLAGE APARTMENTS of my own
free will and acoord, with fhe knowledge that I may always change my mind, I declare the
answers to be true, full and complete. To the best of my knowledge and belief, T am capable of
living at White Ok Village Apartments without extraordinary care and that the facilities,
services, fees, costs, refunds and policies have been explaired to me and are acceptable as
presented. L herehy give White Oak Village Apartments, Ine, the right to seek ont any necessﬁry
jnfermation and/or reference, including those references set forth in this Application, in
processing the Application, '

Signature of Applicant

Date

3
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Facility Use Only:
Apt. & Bldg.

‘White Oak Vil

L1

lasge

INDEPENDENT LIVING RETIREMENT COMMUNITY
WELLNESS EVALUATION FORM

(This physical examination must be completed by patient(s) primary care physician)

PLEASE PRINT NEATLY

Name: Birthdate: / /

Social Security Number; " Male
Address:

“t Female

How long has this individual been a patient of yours or seen at this practice?

Reason for Review! P Pre-Residency
- Change in Condition

" Other

MEDICAL REVIEW FINDINGS; Date of Exam:

Wi Ht: BP Pulse: Rhythms:

Resp: Temp:

General Appearance:

Skin:

Equilibrium; Tremor Reflexes:

Vision: Does patient require the use of glasses, readers or contacts?_
Hearing: Does paiient reguire the use of hearing aids?

Do you recommend an audiology consult?

Oral Health: Does patient require the use of dentures or partials?
Lungs: ‘ Does patient require the use of oxygen?

Heart: Extremities:

Tuberculin Test: Negative: Positive: {x-ray If positive)

70 Qak Street * Tryon, NC 28782 * 828-858-5871 * 828-859-2073 (fax)
iy,
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Date of lagt Balance Test; ({f not in last 6 mornihs, please administer)

Results;

Is patient ambulatory?

OYes TiNo

Does patient require uss of the following?

MEDICAL HISTORY:
Primary Diagnoses(s):

Waller

Cane

Rollatot
Motosized Chalr
Wheelchalt
Scooter

(o o R i

Secondary Diagnoses(s);

(Please check amy of vhe following inesses or diseases which apply curremlypr I the past)

Trate of Onset

"Resolved?
Y orN

Controlled with
Medications?

"Hinh Bldod Frégaue

YorN

Yiabates

Congestive Heart Pailure

Agthmae

Ulcars

Anemis

Depression

Mental ness

Totelleciug] Disability

Mustalar Dystrophy

Cancer

Stroke

Heart Attack

Arvterioselerosia

Chronic Lurg Disease

Rectal Bleading

Memory Loss

Cataracts

Axthalils

Macular Degeneraiion

mmmmmmmumrﬁmgmmmmmmmmd

Significant Vision Logs

Present Iinesses not listed above and date of onget:

70 Oak Strest * Tryon, NC 28782~ 828-850-6871 * 528-860-2073 (fax)
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Past Tinesses not Hsted above and dates:

Mental / Braotional Ilnesses; Please provide history, if any (If ever institutionalized, please provide dates
and locatlon{s) ,

Operation(s) and date(s):

Allergies:

Medjcations:
Food Alletgies
Seasonal:
Anaphylactic:
Diet: :

Aleochol Use: Soclally

o Weekly
Dally

Is patient on any medication that contraindicates use of alcobol? (If yes, please list)

+

Is patient a tabaceo user (any form of tobacco)? NYes [INo
(White Oak is o fobacco-free campus)

Does patient require any orders for: 0 Physical Therapy:
(7 Oceupational Therapy:
i1 Speech Therapy:

Does patient have any cognitive jmpairment? JYes DNo Ifves, B Minor U Moderate D Severs
Does Patient have memory loss? NV¥es CNo If yes, £ Minor T Moderate [J Severe

Is patient capable of correctly adrministeting, filling and refilling their own medications?
DYes [ No (Please attach cmrrent medication list)

Is patient physically end mentally capable of living it an independent Hiving environment, withoui
svpervision?  UYes ONo

" (Ff no, please explain):

Is there any other diagnosis that would prevent patient from living independently?

70 Oak Bireat * Tryon, NG 28782 * B26-859-5671 * 826-859-2078 (fex)
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White Oal is a traditional, free-standing apariment community that requires residents to exit thely
building and wall outside to our dining room. Residunts must also be able to shop for grocerdes.

Is patient able, without assistance, to atiend dally noon meals served in the Campus Community Dining
Room or ghle to prepare meals? 7 Yes O No

In the event of fire, flood or any emergency situgtion, would you consider this patient able to exit:C With
Assistance I Without Assistance ‘

Do you consider this patient more appropriate for! f1Independent Living
- C Assisted Living

Any additional information;

Teertify that ] have physically examined this patient and have aceurately described the individual’s
medinal state, cognitive status, and medication reglmen, '

Date: Signature of Physician

Printad Name of Physician:

Physzician Fhone Numbey: Fax Number:

Examining Physician — Return this form via:
MAIL:

WHITE OAK VILLAGH

INDEPENDENT LIVING APARTMENTS
ATTN: RITA MOTTER

70 QAK STREET

TRYON, NC 28782-3450

FAK: B828-559-20073
ATTN: RITA MOTTER

1 hereb& give permission for my physician to release my medical fnformation to;
WHITE OAX VILLAGE APARTMENTS

Patiert's Signature:

Patient's Printed Narne:

Drate:

70 Oak Street * Tryon, NG 28782 * BRB-B59-5871 * B28-850-2073 (fax)
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